

Norwegian University of Life Sciences Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Department of Paraclinical Sciences

Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis 2021:75

Insect larvae meal as a feed ingredient for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Effects on intestinal function, health, and microbiota

Mel av insektlarver som ingrediens i fôr til Atlantisk laks (*Salmo salar*): Effekter på tarmens funksjon, helse og mikrobiota

Yanxian Li

Insect larvae meal as a feed ingredient for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*):

Effects on intestinal function, health, and microbiota

Mel av insektlarver som ingrediens i fôr til Atlantisk laks (*Salmo salar*): Effekter på tarmens funksjon, helse og mikrobiota

> Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis Yanxian Li

Norwegian University of Life Sciences Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Department of Paraclinical Sciences

Ås (2021)

Thesis number 2021:75 ISSN 1894-6402 ISBN 978-82-575-1851-6 "When you are studying any matter, or considering any philosophy, ask yourself only what are the facts and what is the truth that the facts bear out. Never let yourself be diverted, either by what you wish to believe, or by what you think would have beneficent social effects if it were believed. But look only, and solely, at what are the facts."

-Bertrand Russell

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	1
List of abbreviations	3
Summary	4
Summary in Norwegian (sammendrag)	6
List of papers	8
Introduction	9
General background	
Plant feedstuffs as main ingredients used in Norwegian salmon feeds	
Insect larvae meal as an alternative feed ingredient for salmon aquaculture	11
Intestinal health problems associated with alternative feed ingredients	
The multifunctional intestine	15
Histomorphology	15
Digestive function	
Immune function	
Barrier function	21
Xenobiotic metabolism	
Intestinal microbiota	23
Microbiota and intestinal health	24
Interplays between intestinal microbiota and diet	25
Temporal and spatial variation of Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota	
Aims of the study	
Hypotheses	
Summary of results	
Discussion: materials and methods	
Materials	
Methodological considerations for microbiota profiling	
Experimental design	

Sample collection
DNA extraction
Amplicon PCR
Bioinformatics
Statistics
Methodological limitations
Discussions: main findings
Insect meal diets do not impair the intestinal health in Atlantic salmon
Insect meal diets ameliorate the intestinal steatosis in Atlantic salmon
Temporal and spatial variations of the Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota
Insect meal diets modulate the Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota
Main conclusions
Conclusions on methodology
Conclusions on main findings
Future perspectives
References
Appendix: papers I-IV

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work presented in this thesis was performed at the Nutrition and Health Unit, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, NMBU, from 2015 to 2021. Funding for the studies came from the AquFly project financed by the Research Council of Norway. In addition, I was granted a scholarship from the China Scholarship Council (CSC) to pursue my Ph.D. degree in Norway.

Six years in the making. I would not have made it this far without supports from my supervisors, colleagues, friends, and family. I am proud of the knowledge and skills that I have acquired from my Ph.D. training under the supervision of Professor Åshild Krogdahl and Associate Professor Trond Kortner. I am grateful for your mentorship and supports, both in academia and in my personal life. Thank you, Åshild, for the shrimp treat in the summer at Hvitsten and the game meat fest during the Christmas season, both of which were incredible cultural experiences for me. You inspire me to be a better person through your compassion and dedication to science and your sympathy and kindness to people around you. Thank you, Trond, for the casual talks on science and life when we shared the office space. You inspire me to be an independent scientist through your pedagogic style of training on molecular biology. "Know what you are doing" is the best piece of advice I took from you.

The lovely and kind colleagues at the Nutrition and Health Unit have certainly made this journey easier and enjoyable for me. Thank you, Karina and Alex, for your training on the microbiota wet-lab works, for the excellent time we spent together optimizing the microbiota workflow, and for the great advice on work-life balance. Thank you, Leonardo, for your friendship and the excellent collaboration on the microbiota work. Thank you, Ellen, the one who knows all at the lab, for your instructions on enzymatic analysis and not the least, for answering various questions that I had on living in Norway. Thank you, Elvis, for your training on histology and the fun chit-chat we had when we shared the office at Adamstuen. Thank you, Anne, for the ski trip to your cabin and the tour guide around Oslo. Thank you, Sissel, for the kindness and hospitality you showed to me during your stay in our group. It was so sweet of you to give me a "red envelope" during the Lunar New Year. Thank you, Jie and Weiwen, for all the high-quality time we spent together making authentic Chinses foods and playing board games. Thank you, the rest of the Nutrition and Health Unit,

whom I had the privilege to work with. They are Abdelaziz, Anusha, Armin, Arturo, Daphne, Elin, Guro, and Nicole.

Through project collaboration, I also had the pleasure to meet Erik-Jan Lock and Ikram Belghit from the institute of marine research (IMR). Together we co-authored several highly cited papers from the AquaFly project. Erik-Jan was kind enough to guide me through the Cath the Worm seminar held at Turku, Finland, in 2016, which was a unique experience.

I like to thank open-source communities, especially the R and QIIME2 community, that make resources and training freely available. A special thanks to organizers of the useR Oslo, who voluntarily spend their time organizing R talks and tutorials and seeking sponsors for free pizza!

I also want to thank the former supervisor of my master's thesis, Professor Yanjiao Zhang, and the former senior fellow graduate student, Haibin Hu. They made my pursuit of a Ph.D. degree in Norway possible. Thank you, Haibin, for your guides and help when I first arrived in Norway.

When writing the last paper, I was critically ill and admitted to the hospital. I want to thank the healthcare personnel at Oslo University Hospital for their excellent skills and committed care that allowed me to recover swiftly and continue my thesis writing.

Lastly, I want to thank my family for their supports and love. My parents, who never had the chance to get a formal education, have always strived to support my education, even if it means their son would be thousands of miles away. As a first-generation Ph.D., I am indebted for their efforts, supports, and enormous love. My wife, Jintao, has been my source of strength. Thank you for your patience, encouragement, care, and love.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AMPs	mid intestine15
antimicrobial peptides17	OTUs
ASVs	operational taxonomic units
amplicon sequence variants	PI
BBM	proximal intestine15
brush border membrane17	pIgR
BSA	polymeric Ig receptor17
bovine serum albumin	PRRs
BSF	pattern recognition receptors 19
black soldier fly9	SBMIE
DI	soybean meal induced enteritis13
distal intestine15	SCFAs
DMSO	short-chain fatty acids24
dimethyl sulfoxide	sIgA
MACs	secretory IgA17
microbiota-accessible carbohydrates	UMIs
	unique molecular identifiers44
MI	

SUMMARY

To feed an increasing global population with finite resources, the food production sector must minimize resource input and maximize nutritional outputs for human consumptions. Human-edible plant feedstuffs are the main ingredients used in modern salmon feeds. To secure sustainable developments, the salmon aquaculture needs to decrease its dependency on human-edible feedstuffs and incorporate unexploited feed resources in its raw material portfolio. Being part of the salmonids' natural diet, insects can be part of the solution. Among insect species with potentials as alternative feed ingredients for aquaculture, black soldier fly is produced at an industrial scale for its good nutritional value. Feed conversion ratio, growth performance, and fish health are primary concerns when evaluating the performance of alternative feed ingredients. While the nutritional value of black soldier fly larvae meal for fish has been extensively evaluated in recent years, its influence on fish health remains to be fully explored.

The intestine is the first organ exposed to the diet and of pivotal importance for the growth, development, and protection against pathogens. A well-functioning, healthy intestine is the key to convert feeds into fish biomass efficiently. In this thesis, two feeding trials, one in freshwater and one in seawater, were conducted to generate new knowledge regarding the effects of insect meal diets on the intestinal function, health, and microbiota in Atlantic salmon. The feeding trials shared a similar experiment setup with major differences in the insect meal inclusion level and the life stage of experimental fish.

In the 8-week freshwater trial, pre-smolt Atlantic salmon were fed either a reference diet or an insect meal diet containing 60% black soldier fly larvae meal. The histological examination showed normal histological structures of intestinal segments except for steatosis in the proximal intestine in both diet groups. However, the steatosis was less severe in salmon fed the insect meal diet. These histological findings were supported by the expression profiles of genes related to lipid metabolism. The expression profiles of genes relevant to immune and barrier function were both generally unaffected by diets. However, salmon fed the insect meal diet showed increased expression of genes indicative of immune tolerance (*foxp3*), stress response (*hsp70*), and detoxification activity (*cyp1a1* and *mta*). The insect meal diet markedly modulated the intestinal microbiota. Overall, the microbial diversity was lower in the digesta of salmon fed the insect meal diet but higher in the mucosa. A group of bacterial genera, dominated by members of the *Bacillaceae* family, was enriched in salmon fed the insect meal diet. We also found that microbiota in the intestine closely resembled that of the feeds but was distinct from the water microbiota. Notably, bacterial genera associated with the diet effect were present in the feed samples as well.

In the 16-week seawater trial, post-smolt salmon were fed either a reference diet or an insect meal diet containing 15% black soldier fly larvae meal. The histological examination showed steatosis in the proximal and mid intestine in both diet groups, albeit less severe in the proximal intestine of salmon fed the insect meal diet. Typical signs of soybean meal-induced enteritis were observed in all the intestinal segments in both diet groups. The only significant diet effect was a higher degree of submucosa cellularity in the proximal intestine of salmon fed the insect meal diet. Regarding gene expression analysis, few genes showed diet-induced differences in the expression level. The insect meal diet markedly modulated the intestinal microbiota, although the insect meal inclusion level was one-quarter of the freshwater feeding trial. In contrast to what we found in the freshwater feeding trial, the microbial diversity was higher in both digesta and mucosa of salmon fed the insect meal diet. Bacterial genera enriched in salmon fed the insect meal diet largely confirmed our results from the freshwater trial.

Collectively, these studies showed little evidence that insect meal diets containing 15% or 60% black soldier fly larvae meal impaired the intestinal function or health in Atlantic salmon. On the contrary, insect meal diets improved intestinal health status by reducing excessive lipid deposition in the proximal intestine. Despite a four-time difference in the insect meal inclusion level between these two feeding trials, the insect meal diets reproducibly modulated the salmon intestinal microbiota enriching a particular group of bacterial genera dominated by members of the *Bacillaceae* family. Additional work will be needed to elucidate the functional implications of these microbial changes in terms of host health and disease resistance.

Insect meal has become a realistic, sustainable feed ingredient for aquaculture. The present thesis work generated new knowledge regarding how diets containing insect meal may influence the intestinal function, health, and microbiota in Atlantic salmon. It strengthens the knowledge basis for applying insect meal in aquaculture at a full scale. For å sikre matvareforsyningen til en stadig økende befolkning med begrensede råvareressurser, må matproduksjonssektoren minimere ressursinnsats og maksimere ernæringsverdi for humant konsum. Moderne laksefôr inneholder mye planteråvarer som også kan brukes til matproduksjon. For å bidra en bærekraftig utvikling av lakseoppdrett, må næringen redusere sin avhengighet av fôrråvarer som konkurrerer med humant konsum, og i større grad ta i bruk uutnyttede fôrressurser i råvareporteføljen. Insekter er en del av det naturlige kostholdet til laksefisk i vill tilstand, og kan være en del av løsningen. Svart soldatflue er blant de insektartene som har størst potensiale som en alternativ fôringrediens i akvakultur, og produseres i dag i industriell skala på grunn av sin gode næringsverdi. Fôrfaktor og fôrutnyttelse, vekst og fiskehelse er viktige faktorer som må evalueres når man studerer effekter av alternative fôringredienser. Ernæringsverdien av larver fra svart soldatflue har blitt grundig evaluert i fisk de siste årene. Det er imidlertid lite kunnskap om slike produkters mulige effekter på fiskehelse.

Tarmen er det første organsystemet i en organisme som eksponeres for fôret og dets ingredienser. Responsene i tarmen er av avgjørende betydning for et dyrs vekst, utvikling og beskyttelse mot patogener. En velfungerende, sunn tarm er nøkkelen til å konvertere fôr effektivt til fiskebiomasse. Denne studien omfattet to fôringsforsøk, et i ferskvann og et i sjøvann, gjennomført for å gi ny kunnskap om effekter av fôr med mel fra insektlarver på tarmfunksjon, helse og mikrobiota i atlantisk laks. Fôringsforsøkene hadde lignende forsøksdesign der fôr med store forskjeller i innhold av insektmel ble evaluert.

I ferskvannsforsøket ble atlantisk laks fôret to ulike fôr i åtte uker før smoltifisering, et referansefôr uten mel av insektlarver, eller et fôr som inneholdt 60% mel av larver fra svart soldatflue. Histologiske undersøkelser viste normal tarmstruktur, bortsett fra symptomer på steatose, dvs. opphopning av fett, i de fremre tarmavsnittene i begge fôrgruppene. Imidlertid var steatosen mindre alvorlig hos laks som fikk fôret med insektmel. De histologiske funnene ble bekreftet av ekspresjon av gener relatert til fettmetabolisme. Ekspresjonsprofilene til gener som er relevante for immun- og barrierefunksjon, viste ikke klare forskjeller mellom fôr. Imidlertid viste laks som ble gitt fôr med insektmel, økt ekspresjon av gener som indikerer immuntoleranse (*foxp3*), stressrespons (*hsp70*) og detoksifiseringsaktivitet (*cyp1a1* og *mta*). Fôret med insektmel ga tydelige endringer i tarmens mikrobiota. Tarminnholdet hos fisk som fikk fôr med insektmel viste et mindre

mangfold, mens mukosa viste ett større mangfold sammenlignet med fisk som fikk kontrollfôr. En gruppe bakterieslekter, dominert av medlemmer av *Bacillaceae*-familien, ble anriket hos laksen som fikk fôr med insektmel. Vi fant også at mikrobiota i tarmen hadde klare likhetstrekk med mikrobiota i fôret, mens den var klart forskjellig fra mikrobiota i vannet omkring.

I saltvannsforsøket ble laksen fôret med et referansefôr eller et fôr som inneholdt 15 % mel av larver fra svart soldatflue i 16 uker. De histologiske undersøkelsene viste steatose i den proksimale og midtre delen av tarmen i begge fôrgruppene, som var mindre alvorlig hos laksen som fikk fôr med insektmel. Inflammatoriske endringer, liknende de som induseres av standard soyabønnemel, ble observert i alle de undersøkte tarmsegmentene, med en høyere infiltrasjon av immunceller i mukosa i proksimal tarm hos fisk som fikk fôr med insektmel. Effekter av fôr ble observert i uttrykksnivå av noen gener som er involvert i fettmetabolisme. Innblanding av insektmel i fôret ga tydelige endringer i tarmens mikrobiota også hos fisken i saltvann, selv om inkluderingsnivået for insektmel kun var ¹/₄ av nivået som ble studert i ferskvannsforsøket. Men, i motsetning til resultatene fra ferskvannsforsøket, var det mikrobielle mangfoldet hos fisken i saltvannsforsøket høyere både i tarminnholdet og i mukosa hos laksen som fikk fôr med insektmel. Det var i stor grad de samme bakterieslektene som ble anriket av innblanding av insektmel i fôret i saltvannsforsøket som i ferskvannsforsøket.

Totalt sett viser disse studiene at fôr som inneholder mel av larver fra svart soldatflue, ikke ser ut til å svekke tarmfunksjonen eller tarmhelsen hos atlantisk laks. Tvert imot ser fôr med insektmel ut til å kunne bedre tarmens helsetilstand ved å redusere fettopphopning i de fremre delene av tarmen. Til tross for en firegangers forskjell i innblandingsnivået av insektmel mellom de to fôringsforsøkene, viste resultatene liknende effekter på mikrobiota, dvs at fôret med insektmel ga en anrikning av særlig en gruppe bakterier dominert av medlemmer av familien *Bacillaceae*. Mer forskning er nødvendig for å forstå de funksjonelle implikasjonene av disse mikrobielle endringene.

Studiene viser at insektmel kan bli en realistisk, bærekraftig fôringrediens for oppdrettsindustrien. De har gitt ny kunnskap om hvordan fôr som inneholder insektmel kan påvirke tarmfunksjonen, helsen og mikrobiotaen i atlantisk laks. De styrker kunnskapsgrunnlaget for anvendelse av insektmel som næringskilde i lakseoppdrett i kommersiell skala.

LIST OF PAPERS

Paper I

Gut health and vaccination response in pre-smolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal

Yanxian Li, Trond M. Kortner, Elvis M. Chikwati, Hetron Mweemba Munang'andu, Erik-Jan Lock, Åshild Krogdahl

Fish and Shellfish Immunology 2019, 86, 1106-1113; DOI: 10.1016/j.fsi.2018.12.057

Paper II

Consistent changes in the intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon fed insect meal diets

Yanxian Li, Karina Gajardo, Alexander Jaramillo-Torres, Trond M. Kortner, Åshild Krogdahl Manuscript

Paper III

Total replacement of fish meal with black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal does not compromise the gut health of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*)

Yanxian Li, Trond M. Kortner, Elvis M. Chikwati, Ikram Belghit, Erik-Jan Lock, Åshild Krogdahl

Aquaculture 2020, 734967; DOI: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.734967

Paper IV

Differential response of digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota to dietary insect meal during the seawater phase of Atlantic salmon

Yanxian Li*, Leonardo Bruni*, Alexander Jaramillo-Torres, Karina Gajardo, Trond M. Kortner, Åshild Krogdahl Animal Microbiome 2021, 3, 8; DOI: 10.1186/s42523-020-00071-3

*Equal contribution

INTRODUCTION

Despite an average annual increase rate of 8 percent from 1980 to 2018, a further increase in the world aquaculture fish production is foreseen in the next decade (FAO, 2020). However, the supply of fish meal and fish oil, in the past the two most crucial feed raw materials for the aquaculture industry, is not expected to increase. The competition for these excellent nutrient sources has been intense, resulting in an escalation of price and call for the search to find alternative sources. Finding alternative ingredients for Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) diets has demanded great research efforts in the past 25-30 years, efforts which must be intensified to meet the future needs of the industry. So far, plant ingredients have been the main alternatives. The use of plant ingredients in the Norwegian salmon diet has increased from 10% in 1990 to 70% in 2016 (Aas et al., 2019). Nonetheless, as the global human population is growing and projected to reach 9.7 billion in 2050 (UN, 2019), there is a need for the salmon industry to decrease its dependency on terrestrial plant materials that otherwise can be directly used as foods for humans. Future salmon production should incorporate unexploited feed resources in its raw material repertoire to secure sustainable developments. From a sustainability perspective, insects are promising alternative feed ingredients. They possess a remarkable capacity to upgrade low-quality organic material, require minimal water and cultivable land, and emit little greenhouse gases (Van Huis, 2013). One of the insect species which has gained the most attention as an alternative feed ingredient for salmon is the black soldier fly (BSF; Hermetia illucens). It is now produced at an industrial scale for its expected good nutritional value and suitability for intensive production. Feed conversion ratio, growth performance, and fish health are primary concerns when substituting fish meal with alternative protein sources. At the time this thesis work was initiated, the nutritional value of BSF larvae meal had been evaluated in several fish species, including Atlantic salmon (Bondari and Sheppard, 1987; Borgogno et al., 2017; Devic et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Kroeckel et al., 2012; Li et al., 2017; Li et al., 2016; Lock et al., 2016; Magalhães et al., 2017; Renna et al., 2017; Sealey et al., 2011; St-Hilaire et al., 2007). Yet there was a knowledge gap on how dietary BSF larvae meal may influence the fish health. A prerequisite for introduction of a new ingredient into fish feed is convincing evidence that it does not compromise fish health. The present work aims to reveal possible health effects of dietary BSF larvae meal for Atlantic salmon with focus on the intestinal function, health, and microbiota, as the intestine is the first organ exposed to the diet and of pivotal importance for the growth, development, and protection against foreign compounds, such as antigens.

The following chapters present background information and knowledge of relevance for the present thesis.

General background

Plant feedstuffs as main ingredients used in Norwegian salmon feeds

The global human population is growing and projected to reach 9.7 billion in 2050 (UN, 2019), requiring an increase in the food supply of 25-70% (Hunter *et al.*, 2017). Fish are considered a nutritionally valuable part of the human diet and play an essential role in the global food supply (Khalili Tilami and Sampels, 2018; Tacon and Metian, 2013). Atlantic salmon is the most produced marine fish species and one of the most economically important farmed fish worldwide (FAO, 2020). Due to the limited supply of marine ingredients, plant feedstuffs in Norwegian salmon feeds have been steadily increasing since 1990. They are the main raw materials used in modern salmon feeds (Figure 1) (Aas *et al.*, 2019). Among the plant protein sources used in salmon feeds in 2016, soy protein concentrate accounted for 19.0% of the total diet ingredients, followed by wheat gluten (9.0%), corn gluten (3.6%), faba beans (3.4%), pea protein concentrate (1.3%), sunflower meal (1.1%), sunflower protein (0.5%) and other marginally used plant proteins (2.3%).



Figure 1. Ingredient sources (% of feed) in the Norwegian salmon feed in 2016 compared to previous years. Source: Aas *et al.* (2019).

Insect larvae meal as an alternative feed ingredient for salmon aquaculture

To feed an increasing global population, the food production sector must minimize the resource input and maximize nutritional outputs for human consumptions. To this end, salmon farming needs to decrease its dependency on human-edible terrestrial plant materials. Future salmon production should incorporate unexploited feed resources in the raw material repertoire to secure sustainable developments. At present, possible candidates include insects (Sánchez-Muros et al., 2014), macroalgae (Wan et al., 2019), and microorganisms (bacteria, yeasts, and microalgae) (Glencross et al., 2020). Insects are part of the natural diets of many fish species, including Atlantic salmon. In terms of sustainability, insects are promising alternative protein sources. They possess a remarkable capacity to upgrade low-quality organic materials, require minimal water and cultivable land, and emit little greenhouse gases (Van Huis, 2013). So far, seven insect species have been approved by the EU for their use in aquafeeds, which include BSF, common housefly (Musca domestica), vellow mealworm (Tenebrio molitor), lesser mealworm (Alphitobius diaperinus), house cricket (Acheta domesticus), banded cricket (Gryllodes sigillatus) and field cricket (Gryllus assimilis) (EU, 2017). Due to the EU restrictions on feeds for farmed animals, materials of plant origin are the primary feed substrates used in the intensive insect rearing in Europe.

Black soldier fly is produced at an industrial scale in Europe for its good nutritional value and suitability for intensive production. On a dry matter basis, BSF larvae contain about 42% protein and 35% lipid (Newton *et al.*, 1977). In terms of protein guality, BSF larvae show a favorable essential amino acid profile closer to the fish meal than that of the standard soybean meal (Barroso et al., 2014). On the other hand, the BSF larvae lipid is less preferable for salmon due to the very low poly-unsaturated fatty acids contents (PUFA) and absence of n-3 fatty acids. However, the lipid level and fatty acid profile are diet-dependent, allowing manipulation using different feed substrates (Makkar et al., 2014). At the time this thesis work was initiated, the nutritional value of BSF larvae meal had been evaluated in several fish species, including Atlantic salmon (Bondari and Sheppard, 1987; Borgogno et al., 2017; Devic et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Kroeckel et al., 2012; Li et al., 2017; Li et al., 2016; Lock et al., 2016; Magalhães et al., 2017; Renna et al., 2017; Sealey et al., 2011; St-Hilaire et al., 2007). The optimal substitution level of fish meal in the diet by BSF larvae meal varied considerably among these studies (25-100%), possibly due to differences in the larvae meal quality, fish species, and variation in the other ingredients in the diets. The study in Atlantic salmon showed that the BSF larvae meal could replace up to 100% of the dietary fish meal without affecting the growth performance and sensory quality (Lock et al., 2016). These promising results led to the initiation of the AquaFly project, which investigated in-depth the growth, health, welfare, and fillet quality of Atlantic salmon fed diets containing BSF larvae meal.

A prerequisite for introducing a new ingredient into fish feed is convincing evidence that it does not compromise fish health. The BSF larvae meal had been indicated to be a valuable source of nutrients for Atlantic salmon. However, its influence on fish health remained unclear at the time this thesis work started. For instance, the chitin in the BSF larvae meal may interfere with the digestion of proteins and lipids, although positive effects of chitin such as growth-promoting and immunostimulatory effects have been reported in other fish species (Henry et al., 2015; Ringo et al., 2012). Depending on the source and quality, hazardous substances, such as heavy metals, may be transferred from feed substrates to BSF larvae causing potential feed and food safety issues (Diener et al., 2015; Purschke et al., 2017; Tschirner and Simon, 2015). As part of the AquaFly project, the present thesis work aimed to reveal the possible health effects of dietary BSF larvae meal for salmon. Most health endpoints of the present work focused on the intestinal function, health, and microbiota because the intestine is the first organ exposed to the diet and of pivotal importance for the growth, development, and protection against foreign compounds. As elaborated in the next chapter, alternative feed ingredients may challenge various aspects of intestinal function and health. Should bioactive compounds in the insect meal introduce any beneficial or detrimental biological effects, they are expected to occur in the intestine, if not only in this organ system.

Intestinal health problems associated with alternative feed ingredients

Imbalanced nutrient composition, antinutritional factors, and environmental pollutants in alternative feed ingredients may challenge farmed fish's intestinal function and health. Two main intestinal health problems associated with using alternative feed ingredients in Atlantic salmon are steatosis and inflammation.

Steatosis, often observed in the pyloric intestine and caeca, refers to excessive lipid accumulation in the intestinal mucosa, which is microscopically manifested as enterocyte hyper-vacuolization when stained by hematoxylin and eosin (Figure 2). Depending on the severity of steatosis, the pyloric intestine and caeca may macroscopically look swollen, pale, and coarse because of the excessive lipid accumulation. In severe cases, steatosis may be accompanied by accumulations of lipidic materials inside the intestinal lumen and referred

to as lipid malabsorption syndrome (LMS), eventually resulting in steatorrhea and so-called "floating feces" (Hanche-Olsen *et al.*, 2013; Penn, 2011). First reported by salmon farmers in 2002 and becoming prevalent in 2010, the lipid malabsorption syndrome seems to have largely disappeared in nowadays' salmon farming. However, an ongoing field survey of intestinal health status in farmed Norwegian salmon has reported a high incidence of steatosis occurring at different life stages (Chikwati *et al.*, 2018). Steatosis is thought to represent a lipid transport disorder within the enterocytes, possibly caused by deficiencies in major building blocks of lipoproteins, such as cholesterol and phosphatidylcholine. This is supported by recent findings showing that dietary supplementation of phosphatidylcholine or choline, both of which are low in plant ingredients, prevents steatosis in salmon fed low fish meal diets (Hansen *et al.*, 2020a; Hansen *et al.*, 2020b; Krogdahl *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 2. Severity of enterocyte hyper-vacuolization (steatosis) in pyloric caeca, representative for marked (a), moderate (b), mild (c), and normal (d). Abbreviations: e, epithelium; gc, goblet cells; lp, lamina propria; sc, stratum compactum; sm, sub-mucosa. Scale bar = 100 μm. Staining: H & E. Source: (Hansen *et al.*, 2020a)

Intestinal inflammation also represents a health and welfare issue in farmed salmon. The most well-known intestinal inflammation is the so-called soybean meal-induced enteritis (SBMIE) located in the distal intestine of salmon fed diets containing standard soybean meal. The SBMIE is characterized by widening and shortening of the intestinal folds; loss of the supranuclear vacuolization in epithelial cells; widening of the lamina propria within mucosal folds, with increased amounts of connective tissue and infiltration of mixed leukocytes in the lamina propria and submucosa (Figure 3) (Baeverfjord and Krogdahl, 1996). Concomitant with the histological changes, inferior growth performance is often

observed as well as altered intestinal functions, which include a reduction in brush border enzyme activities, reduced uptake of macromolecules, and increased intestinal permeability (Krogdahl et al., 2010). Saponins, possibly along with other components present in the soybean meal, have been identified as the causative agents for the development of SBMIE in salmon (Knudsen et al., 2008; Krogdahl et al., 2015). Diet-induced enteritis in the distal intestine was also observed in salmon fed diets containing other legume ingredients such as pea protein concentrate, which induces enteritis at a 35% inclusion level in the diet (Penn et al., 2011). As standard soybean meal causes enteritis in salmon, soybean protein concentrate, a more refined soybean protein product that does not induce enteritis, has been used as the primary source of plant protein in nowadays' Norwegian salmon diets. However, the ongoing intestinal health survey in farmed Norwegian salmon has also revealed a high incidence of inflammation in the distal intestine that closely resembles the SBMIE, though soybean meal is not used in commercial salmon diets (Chikwati et al., 2018). The exact cause of intestinal inflammation in farmed salmon fed commercial diets is not clear. One possible explanation could be varying inclusion levels of less-refined plants ingredient in the diets, such as pea protein concentrate and fava bean, which are known to cause intestinal inflammation when the inclusion level is high (De Santis et al., 2015; Penn et al., 2011).



Figure 3. Representative histological sections showing normal (a) and inflamed (b) distal intestine in Atlantic salmon. Abbreviations: e, epithelium; lp, lamina propria; sc, stratum compactum; sg, stratum granulosum; snv, supranuclear vacuolization. Staining: H & E. Pictures: Elvis M. Chikwati.

The multifunctional intestine

In this chapter, the histomorphology and important functions of the Atlantic salmon intestine are introduced to serve as background knowledge for the results presented in this work. Background knowledge on the intestinal microbiota will be introduced in the next chapter.

Histomorphology

The alimentary tract of Atlantic salmon consists of the oral cavity, pharyny, esophagus, stomach, and intestine. The intestinal histomorphology of Atlantic salmon has been described in detail by Løkka et al. (2013). Macroscopically, the intestine can be divided into three distinguishable segments, i.e., the proximal intestine (PI), mid intestine (MI), and distal intestine (DI) (Figure 4). The PI has many blind-ended extensions termed pyloric caeca, which vastly increase the absorptive surface of the PI. As reflected in its morphology, the PI absorbs about 70% of the total nutrients (Bakke-McKellep et al., 2000; Denstadli et al., 2004). The MI is functionally analogous to the PI, responsible for the continued digestion and absorption of nutrients. The DI is immunologically more active than the other segments (Harstad et al., 2008; Koppang et al., 1998a; Koppang et al., 1998b; Moldal et al., 2014), though nutrient digestion and absorption also occur in this region. The SBMIE seems to occur only in the DI (Bjørgen et al., 2019; Van den Ingh et al., 1991). The structural organization of the intestinal mucosa is similar in all the intestinal segments, which consists of the epithelium (e), lamina propria (lp), stratum compactum (sc), and stratum granulosum (sg) (Figure 2-d; Figure 3-a). Enterocytes are the main building blocks of mucosal folds, segregated by goblet cells and intraepithelial lymphocytes. Simple mucosal folds are present in all the intestinal segments, whereas branched complex folds only occur in the DI. Under normal conditions, little to no vacuolization is present in the PI and MI enterocytes. In contrast, the DI enterocytes show varying degrees of supranuclear vacuolization which might be related to nutrient transport, digestive enzyme reabsorption, and antigen uptake. The supranuclear vacuoles diminish or disappear during starvation and inflammation (Baeverfjord and Krogdahl, 1996).



Figure 4. The alimentary tract of Atlantic salmon. Picture: Åshild Krogdahl.

Digestive function

The primary function of the intestine is to digest feeds and absorb nutrients. A wellfunctioning digestive system is the key to convert feeds into fish biomass efficiently. The digestive physiology of fish has been extensively reviewed elsewhere (Bakke *et al.*, 2011; Bjørgen *et al.*, 2020; Buddington *et al.*, 1997; Rust, 2002). A summary of the digestion process in fish is provided here, which to our knowledge, applies to salmon as well.

The digestion starts in the stomach, which is responsible for the mechanical and initial enzymatic digestion of foods. The hydrochloric acid, secreted by the oxynticopeptic cells in the gastric glands, secures a low pH in the stomach, denatures proteins in the feed, and activates pepsinogen, the pro-enzyme of the gastric protease pepsin. After the initial digestion in the stomach by pepsin, the acidic digesta enters the proximal intestine and stimulates secretions from the intestine and accessory digestive organs, i.e., pancreas, gall bladder, and mucosa. The bicarbonate in the secretions neutralizes the acidic digesta from the stomach so that digestive enzymes in the intestine can work at a pH close to their optimums. The primary digestive enzymes secreted from the pancreas are the proteolytic enzymes trypsin, chymotrypsin and elastase, lipase, phospholipases, α -amylase, as well as DNAase and RNAase. Notably, the proteolytic enzymes and co-lipase are secreted as inactive pro-enzymes, whereas the lipases and α -amylase are released in active forms (Bakke *et al.*, 2011). Enterokinase secreted from intestinal cells initiates the activation of pro-enzymes by activating trypsinogen (Ogiwara and Takahashi, 2007), the pro-enzyme of trypsin. After activation, trypsin activates the other pro-proteases. The bile salts released from the gall bladder emulsify lipids and fat-soluble components in the diet, facilitating their hydrolysis by lipases. The majority of primary bile acids in salmon are taurine-conjugated, with taurocholic acid being the predominant bile salt (Kortner et al., 2014). The bile salt concentration is very high in the proximal intestine of salmon (up to 25% of dry matter). It decreases gradually throughout the intestine (Gu *et al.*, 2014; Kortner *et al.*, 2013; Kortner *et al.*, 2016; Romarheim *et al.*, 2008; Romarheim *et al.*, 2006), which is indicative of efficient reabsorption and recycling of bile salts via mechanisms yet to be revealed. After the enzymatic digestion of feed particles in the intestinal lumen, intermediate products, such as small peptides and disaccharides, released during the hydrolysis are further broken down and absorbed by the brush border membrane (BBM) of the enterocytes. Some important BBM digestive enzymes are aminopeptidases (e.g., leucine-aminopeptidase), maltase, sucrases, alkaline phosphatases, and monoglyceride lipases. The absorption of nutrients across the BBM and subsequent transport into the circulatory system are not well characterized in fish compared to mammals. Interested readers are directed to the reviews given at the beginning of this section.

Immune function

Besides being a major digestive organ, the intestine is also the largest immune apparatus for fish. The intestinal mucosa is in contact with an enormous number of dietary antigens and commensal microbes that reside in the intestine. Yet, it is separated from the external environment only by a single layer of cells. To sustain the immune homeostasis at the intestine mucosal site, it is important that the intestinal immune system works properly such that it tolerates the benign antigens while fights against pathogens swiftly and potently. The intestinal immunity of fish has been extensively reviewed elsewhere (Gomez *et al.*, 2013; Rombout *et al.*, 2011; Salinas, 2015). A brief description of the fish intestinal immune system is provided here.

As illustrated in Figure 5, the apical side of the intestinal epithelium is covered by a layer of mucus that serves as the first line of defense. The mucus is secreted by the goblet cells and is mainly composed of heavily glycosylated proteins called mucin. Mucin-2, the dominant mucin in the mammalian intestine, has been identified in the genomes of several fish species, including Atlantic salmon (Lang *et al.*, 2007; Lang *et al.*, 2004; Sveen *et al.*, 2017). Apart from mucins, immune components including immunoglobulins, antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), complement proteins, and lysozyme are also present in the mucus. In mammals, secretory IgA (sIgA), a specialized antibody in mucosal immunity, is produced by plasma cells and transcytosed through the epithelial layer into the intestinal lumen by the polymeric Ig receptor (pIgR) expressed on the surface of epithelial cells.



Figure 5. Schematic illustration of the intestinal mucosa in teleost fish. The mucus layer covering the epithelium is rich in humoral immune components such as immunoglobulins (IgT/Z mostly) and AMPs, which keep the commensal microbes and pathogens at bay. The epithelium forms a selectively permeable barrier between the intestinal lumen and internal milieu, controlling paracellular and transcellular transport of substances like nutrients, electrolytes, and water. Intestinal epithelial cells are connected by the so-called tight junctions, adherens junction, and desmosome; the former two regulate paracellular permeability. The gut-associated lymphoid tissue is diffused within the lamina propria, with a complex repertoire of immune cells including macrophages, granulocytes, dendritic-like cells, B cells and T cells. The schematic illustration was made based on reviews by Rombout *et al.* (2011), Groschwitz and Hogan (2009), and Gomez *et al.* (2013).

When the sIgA-pIgR complex is transported to the apical side of the enterocytes, it is cleaved off and released into the luminal space. The sIgA remains covalently bound to a portion of the pIgR designated as the SC (Salinas *et al.*, 2011). The dimeric sIgA can bind antigens and pathogenic microorganisms in the intestinal lumen, blocking their access to epithelial receptors, entrapping them in mucus and thus promoting their clearance (Mantis *et al.*, 2011). An IgA homolog has been identified in fish. The variant found in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is named IgT (Zhang *et al.*, 2010), also known as IgZ in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) (Danilova *et al.*, 2005). Different than its mammalian counterparts, salmonid IgT appears to be non-covalently bonded tetramers in mucus (Salinas *et al.*, 2011). A recent study in rainbow trout showed that the secretory IgT at the gill mucosal surface is functionally analogous to mammalian IgA in terms of pathogen clearance and microbiota

hemostasis (Xu *et al.*, 2020). It is unknown, but likely, that salmonid secretory IgT plays a similar role also in the intestinal mucosal immunity. The bactericidal AMPs play an important part in maintaining the integrity of epithelial barrier, limiting bacterial translocation, and promoting epithelium repair after injury by reducing the direct contact of bacteria with the epithelium. Fish possess a variety of AMPs with diverse functions including anti-bacterial, anti-viral and anti-fungal effects (Rajanbabu and Chen, 2011). Together, these elements in the mucus layer prevent most intestinal microbes from direct contact with epithelium and thus result in reduced inflammatory reactions and microbial translocation at the intestinal mucosal site.

Beneath the mucus layer is the intestinal epithelium, which consists of several different cell types. The absorptive enterocytes not only form a physical barrier but also function as signal sensors and transmitters. There are pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) localized at the different compartments of enterocytes that identify microorganisms through the recognition of microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) carried by the microbes. So far, four types of PRRs have been identified in teleosts, which include toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors (NLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), and peptidoglycan recognition proteins (PGRPs) (Boltaña et al., 2011). Specifically, when PRRs bind the PAMPs of microbes that attach to or breach the intestinal epithelium, distinct intracellular signaling cascades will be triggered, releasing specific cytokines that induce anti-viral, pro-, or antiinflammatory responses (Boltaña et al., 2011). In addition, absorptive enterocytes constantly secret AMPs into the intestinal lumen, thereby contributing to the segregation of commensal bacteria from the epithelium barrier. In mammals, Paneth cells are specialized secretory cells located in small intestinal crypts, producing AMPs and proteins that regulate intestinal microbiota. Similar cells have not been discovered in fish. Cells sharing characteristics with mammalian M cells have been reported in Atlantic salmon (Fuglem et al., 2010). However, there is no evidence that they can sample particles as large as bacteria or yeast cells. Rather, macrophage-like cells embedded within the epithelium have been shown to engulf yeast cells and bovine serum albumin in the intestinal lumen (Løkka et al., 2014). It is suggested that antigen uptake by macrophage-like cells might be a more ancient uptake mechanism than specialized M cells.

The gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT) of teleosts are less organized than in mammals. Compartmented lymphoid tissues such as Peyer's patches, isolated lymphoid follicles and mesenteric lymph nodes are absent in fish. The immune cells, such as macrophages, granulocytes, mast/eosinophilic granule cells, dendritic cells and lymphocytes, are diffusely located in the lamina propria, submucosa and epithelium. Macrophages and neutrophils are phagocytic cells that play major parts in the process and clearance of foreign antigens; eosinophils are granulocytic leucocytes involved in the defense against parasites (Balla et al., 2010). Despite the heterogeneity of mast cells between fish species in terms of staining properties and tissue distribution, the functions of mast cells appear to be similar to those of mammals. Mast cells are abundant in the intestinal mucosa and react strongly to inflammation via migration, accumulation, and degranulation (Rombout et al., 2011). Granules of fish mast/eosinophilic granule cells contain alkaline and acid phosphatases, 5'nucleotidase, lysozyme, peroxidase, serotonin, histamine, and antimicrobial peptides such as piscidins, chrisophsin and pleurocidin (Sfacteria et al., 2014). Mammalian dendritic cells, specialized antigen processing cells in the intestine, play a key role in shaping the intestinal immune response through their ability to orchestrate protective immunity and immune tolerance in the host (Coombes and Powrie, 2008). Dendritic cells have also been identified in zebrafish (Lugo-Villarino et al., 2010) and rainbow trout (Bassity and Clark, 2012), however, their role in intestinal immunity needs clarification. Lymphocytes are the main players in the adaptive immunity at the intestinal mucosal site. Two types of B cells have been identified in the intestine of teleost fish to date, IgM^{+,} and IgT⁺/IgZ⁺. IgM represents the main Ig in the plasma of teleosts, but it also plays a role in mucosal immunity (von Gersdorff Jørgensen et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2008). In contrast, IgT is the only teleost Ig isotype characterized by a specialized mucosal function (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). Though it is recognized that T cells are abundant in the fish intestine, T cell subsets and their functions and distribution are largely not clear due to the lack of proper analytic tools. However, the expression of many T cell marker genes including CD3ε, CD4, CD8α and β, CD28, TCRα, TCRβ, TCR γ and TCR ζ have been investigated in many fish species (Gomez *et al.*, 2013). Both lamina propria and the epithelium are populated with T cells, but intraepithelial T cells are the more studied ones. Intraepithelial T cells exist in large quantities in the fish intestine. They were found to account for 55% of the total intestinal leukocytes in seabass (Dicentrarchus labrax) as assessed by their reactivity to mAb DLT15, an anti-T cell monoclonal antibody specially produced for seabass (Romano et al., 2011; Scapigliati et al., 1995). The bulk of IELs are CD8⁺ in seabass, rainbow trout, and Atlantic salmon (Bakke-McKellep et al., 2007; Bernard et al., 2006; Castro et al., 2011; Picchietti et al., 2011). Isolated DLT15-positive cells from seabass intestine express TCR β , TCR γ , CD8 α , CD4 and RAG-1 genes, with a much higher expression level of TCRy than the others (Boschi et al., 2011). These findings are indicative of a subset of T cells in the fish intestine analog to the

mammalian TCR $\gamma\delta$ /CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ intraepithelial T cells, a predominant T cell subset in mammalian mucosal tissues that recognize unprocessed antigen in a manner similar to that of PRRs (Cheroutre *et al.*, 2011). There is evidence supporting this suggestion. Notably, intestinal lymphocytes purified from sea bass show significant cytotoxic activity against xenogeneic (K562) and allogeneic (DLEC) cell targets, suggesting the occurrence of non-specific, MHC-independent activity (Pichietti *et al.*, 2010).

Barrier function

A well-functioning barrier is pivotal for sustaining a healthy intestine. Impaired intestinal barrier function is associated with the pathogenesis of several human intestinal diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease, celiac disease, and irritable bowel syndrome (Camilleri et al., 2012; Turner, 2009). As illustrated in Figure 5, the mucus layer is at the forefront of the intestinal epithelial barrier. It is rich in humoral immune components such as immunoglobulins (IgT/Z mostly) and AMPs, which keep the commensal microbes and pathogens at bay. Mucus layer defects allow for easier translocation of intestinal microbes and their toxins across the epithelium, causing increased mucosal immune activation and possibly development of the disease. For instance, mucin-2 knockout mice show augmented colonic Citrobacter rodentium infection (Bergstrom et al., 2010) and develop spontaneous colitis (Van der Sluis et al., 2006). The epithelial cells beneath the mucus layer form a selectively permeable barrier between the intestinal lumen and internal milieu, blocking the translocation of harmful entities such as dietary antigens, microbes, and their toxins while allowing the transport of water, electrolytes, and nutrients from the intestinal lumen into the circulation. The selective permeability of the intestinal epithelium is achieved by two major routes: the transcellular pathway through epithelial cells and the paracellular pathway between epithelial cells (Figure 5). Besides passive diffusion, transcellular permeability is mostly mediated by specialized transporters located in the epithelial cell membranes, which are selective for water, electrolytes, and nutrients. In mammals, uptake of larger peptides, proteins, and particles from the intestinal lumen can occur via endocytosis followed by transcytosis and exocytosis, whereas microbes can be taken up by antigen sampling cells like M cells (Menard et al., 2010). In fish, endocytosis of intact proteins, bacteria, and yeasts has been reported to take place in the distal intestine (Løkka and Koppang, 2016). Intestinal epithelial cells are connected by the apical junctional complex, composed of tight and adherens junctions and the subjacent desmosomes (Figure 5). Paracellular permeability is regulated by the apical junctional complex, of which the tight junctions are the rate-limiting factor for the paracellular passage of molecules (Adson *et al.*, 1994; Arrieta et al., 2006). Tight junctions consist of four transmembrane protein families: claudins, occludin, junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs), and tricellulin (Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009). The intracellular domains of the transmembrane proteins interact with adaptor proteins such as zonula occludens (ZO), which mechanically link the tight junction complex to the actin cytoskeleton. The claudin protein family is pivotal for sustaining the tight junction function. It consists of 24 isoforms in mammals, which exhibit distinct expression patterns in different tissues and developmental stages (Lal-Nag and Morin, 2009). Differential expression of claudin isoforms affects tight junctions' size and charge selectivity (Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009). Studies in mammals suggest that claudin-1, -3, -4, -5, -8, -11, -14, and -19 are pore-tightening molecules, whereas claudin-2, -7, -10, -15, and -16 are pore-forming molecules (Amasheh et al., 2011; Menard et al., 2010). So far, 26 claudin isoforms have been identified in Atlantic salmon based on transcriptome data (Tipsmark et al., 2008). Of the 26 isoforms, claudin-15 and claudin-25b are suggested as intestine-specific isoforms (Tipsmark et al., 2010; Tipsmark et al., 2008). The claudin-15 was similar to zebrafish and mammalian claudin-15, whereas claudin-25b is similar to mammalian claudin-4 (Tipsmark et al., 2010). Hence, claudin-15 and claudin-25b in Atlantic salmon were suggested to be pore-forming and pore-tightening, respectively, supported by gene expression data from other studies (Sundell and Sundh, 2012). Adherens junctions are required for the assembly of the tight junctions. Similar to tight junctions, they are formed by interactions between transmembrane proteins (e.g., E-cadherin), intracellular adaptor proteins (e.g., catenins) and the actin cytoskeleton (Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009). Disruption of adherens junctions results in weakened cell-cell adhesion, perturbed epithelial cell polarization and differentiation, and premature apoptosis (Hermiston and Gordon, 1995).

Xenobiotic metabolism

The liver is the primary organ where xenobiotic metabolism takes place. However, one can also expect to observe activation of xenobiotic metabolism in the intestine, given that this organ is in direct and constant contact with the components of the diet. Xenobiotic metabolism consists of three phases. In phase I, enzymes such as cytochrome P450 oxidases add reactive or polar groups to xenobiotics via oxidation, reduction, or hydrolysis. These modified compounds are then conjugated to large and often polar compounds in phase II reactions, catalyzed by transferase enzymes such as glutathione S-transferases. Finally, the conjugated xenobiotics are catabolized and excreted in phase III. In fish, various types of biomarkers for monitoring exposure to xenobiotics have been evaluated and validated, which include, but are not limited to, biotransformation enzymes, antioxidant enzymes, stress proteins and metallothioneins (van der Oost *et al.*, 2003). Of note, phase I biotransformation enzyme, cytochrome P450 1A (CYP1A), is the best-studied biomarker for environmental pollution in aquatic ecosystems (Bucheli and Fent, 1995; Uno et al., 2012). It is one of the most sensitive biomarkers and has been validated in numerous studies in fish, including Atlantic salmon (Mortensen and Arukwe, 2007a; b; Sanden and Olsvik, 2009). Many environmental contaminants exert toxic effects via inducing oxidative stress (Winston and Di Giulio, 1991). Hence, antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and glutathione-dependent peroxidase (GPOX), which are critical for the clearance of reactive oxygen species (ROS), can also serve as valuable biomarkers (Regoli and Giuliani, 2014; Valavanidis et al., 2006). Stress proteins, also known as heat-shock proteins (HSPs), are involved in the protection and repair of cells. They are induced by stress and harmful conditions, including high/low temperature, ultraviolet light, anoxia, oxidants, toxins, and xenobiotics (Basu et al., 2002; Gupta et al., 2010). Metallothioneins (MTs) are low-molecular-weight, cysteine-rich proteins playing a central role in regulating the essential metals zinc and copper and detoxifying these and other nonessential metals such as cadmium and mercury (Roesijadi, 1992). The metallothionein induction is strongest in organs active in uptake, detoxification, and excretion, such as the liver, kidney, gills, and intestine of fish.

Intestinal microbiota

Aside from acting as a chemical barrier to block the envision of pathogens, the intestinal mucus layer also harbors diverse populations of microorganisms, including viruses, bacteria, archaea, and fungi collectively termed the microbiota. The advances in sequencing technologies and the establishment of germ-free animal models in recent years have transformed our understanding of the importance of intestinal microbiota in host development, health, and disease. It is now well established that intestinal microbiota is involved in normal host development (Bates *et al.*, 2006b; Rawls *et al.*, 2004) and many physiological activities such as food digestion and absorption (Ray *et al.*, 2012), lipid metabolism and energy balance (Falcinelli *et al.*, 2015; Semova *et al.*, 2012), social behavior (Archie and Tung, 2015) and aging (Smith *et al.*, 2017). In particular, the intestinal microbiota is, in various aspects, closely connected to intestinal function and health (Round

and Mazmanian, 2009; Shreiner *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, it is crucial to consider the intestinal microbiota when evaluating fish intestinal function and health.

Microbiota and intestinal health

Studies in germ-free mice and zebrafish have demonstrated that microbiota is essential for developing normal intestinal structure and functions (Bates et al., 2007; Bates et al., 2006a; Falk et al., 1998; Rawls et al., 2004). Besides this, intestinal microbiota interacts directly and indirectly with the intestinal immune system to regulate the differentiation of both pro- and anti-inflammatory T cell populations. It plays a fundamental role in maintaining the homeostasis of the intestinal immune response. The interaction may be mediated by direct contact between microbes and intestinal epithelial cells (Ivanov et al., 2009) or immune cells (Niess et al., 2005), or by microbial-derived products such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Bates et al., 2007), polysaccharide A (PSA) (Mazmanian et al., 2008) and short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (Liu et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2013b). Given the immunomodulatory effects of intestinal microbiota, intestinal microbiota has become a therapeutic target for human intestinal diseases like recurrent Clostridium difficile infection (Hryckowian et al., 2018) and inflammatory bowel disease (Jeon et al., 2018; Narula et al., 2017). In salmon aquaculture, dietary supplementation of probiotics and microbial-derived products has been applied to mitigate intestinal inflammation. For instance, dietary supplementation of a lactic acid bacteria cocktail (Lactococcus lactis and Carnobacterium maltaromaticum) was found to diminish enteritis induced by diets containing 38% soybean meal (Navarrete et al., 2013), whereas the inclusion of a commercial probiotic product containing Pediococcus acidilactici abated intestinal inflammation chemically induced by oxazolone (Vasanth et al., 2015). Bacterial meal and cell wall fractions derived from Methylococcus capsulatus have also been shown to prevent enteritis induced by 20% soybean meal (Romarheim et al., 2011; Romarheim et al., 2013a; Romarheim et al., 2013b). Besides bacteria, dietary inclusion of yeast (Candida utilis) has also been reported to counteract enteritis induced by 20% soybean meal (Grammes et al., 2013). However, later studies showed that the same dose of Candida utilis was unable to counteract enteritis induced by 20% (Reveco-Urzua et al., 2019) or 40% (Hansen et al., 2019) soybean meal. Taken together, these results provide evidence that microbiota is a promising target that can be selectively manipulated to improve the fish intestinal health status.

Interplays between intestinal microbiota and diet

One of the evolutionary advantages provided by the intestinal microbiota is the vastly increased gene catalog and metabolomic capacity, which enable the synthesis and catabolism of compounds that cannot be metabolized by the host alone (Fontaine and Kohl, 2020). The intestinal microbiota is known to modify dietary components, producing metabolites often beneficial to the host. For instance, intestinal microbes can ferment non-digestible carbohydrates producing SCFAs (Liu *et al.*, 2014; Smith *et al.*, 2013a) and synthesize B-group vitamins (LeBlanc *et al.*, 2013). However, the intestinal microbiota is also known to affect the drug efficacy and toxicity (Haiser *et al.*, 2013; Kaddurah-Daouk *et al.*, 2011) and convert food components into metabolites that are harmful to the host health. For example, intestinal microbiota can produce trimethylamine (TMA) from dietary choline, which after absorption is converted to trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO), a metabolite associated with increased risk for cardiovascular disease (Wang *et al.*, 2011; Wang *et al.*, 2015).

Diet is one of the most critical environmental factors in shaping the host intestinal microbiota. It is an attractive target for modifying intestinal microbiota as it can be easily manipulated. Long-term dietary intake patterns have been shown to have a considerable effect on the structure of host intestinal microbiota (De Filippo et al., 2010; Muegge et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2011), whereas short-term dietary changes also alter the host intestinal microbiota in a rapid and reproducible way (David *et al.*, 2014). Different dietary components may selectively induce compositional and functional alterations of the intestinal microbiota, which in turn could inflict important effects on the host health and disease resistance (Devkota et al., 2012; Hryckowian et al., 2018; Lukens et al., 2014; Suez et al., 2014). For instance, consuming a diet high in saturated fat promotes the expansion of a sulfite-reducing pathobiont, Bilophila wadsworthia, which was associated with a proinflammatory Th1 immune response and increased incidence of colitis in IL-10^{-/-} mice (Devkota et al., 2012). In contrast, dietary supplementation of microbiota-accessible carbohydrates (MACs) suppressed antibiotic-induced *Clostridium difficile* infection in mice, which was associated with the outgrowth of MAC-utilizing taxa and end products of MAC metabolism, i.e., the SCFAs acetate, propionate, and butyrate (Hryckowian et al., 2018). In salmonid aquaculture, the use of alternative feed ingredients for fishmeal and fish oil in fish feeds can result in altered intestinal microbiota composition (Gajardo et al., 2016; Jin et al., 2019; Reveco et al., 2014; Schmidt et al., 2016), though the functional implications of such changes have not yet been revealed. For instance, less-refined plant-based ingredients such as soybean meal seemed to selectively increase the abundance of lactic acid bacteria in the salmon intestine (Gajardo *et al.*, 2016; Reveco *et al.*, 2014; Schmidt *et al.*, 2016), whereas dietary inclusion of BSF larvae meal was found to increase the abundance of specific microbial clades including *Actinomyces, Bacillus, Brevibacterium, Corynebacterium,* and *Enterococcus* in the rainbow trout intestine (Huyben *et al.*, 2019; Terova *et al.*, 2019).

Temporal and spatial variation of Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota

Sequencing-based studies of salmon intestinal microbiota have increased dramatically in recent years. We recently summarized important findings from these studies (Bjørgen *et al.*, 2020). Of note, the salmon intestinal microbiota shows temporal and spatial variations.

In the early developmental stages in freshwater, the salmon intestinal microbiota seems to be dominated mainly by *Proteobacteria, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes,* and *Tenericutes.* As the salmon enters the seawater and mature, the abundance of *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* declines while the abundance of *Tenericutes* and *Spirochaetes* increases (Llewellyn *et al.*, 2016; Lokesh *et al.*, 2019). The intestinal microbiota of salmon in later life stages is often dominated by a few phylotypes, including *Aliivibrio (Proteobacteria), Photobacterium (Proteobacteria), Mycoplasma (Tenericutes),* and *Brevinema (Spirochaetes)* (Gupta *et al.*, 2019a; Gupta *et al.*, 2019b; Karlsen *et al.*, 2017; Llewellyn *et al.*, 2016; Lokesh *et al.*, 2019b; Karlsen *et al.*, 2017; Llewellyn *et al.*, 2016; Lokesh *et al.*, 2019b; Karlsen *et al.*, 2017; Llewellyn *et al.*, 2016; Lokesh *et al.*, 2019b; Karlsen *et al.*, 2017; Llewellyn *et al.*, 2016; Lokesh *et al.*, 2019b; Karlsen *et al.*, 2017; Llewellyn *et al.*, 2016; Lokesh *et al.*, 2019). The increased filtering of microbial richness in the later life stages is suggested to result from the increased filtering of microbial communities from the host (Heys *et al.*, 2020). However, the observed temporal variations in the salmon intestinal microbiota are confounded by many factors such as changes in the diet composition, environmental conditions (e.g., water salinity, temperature, and microbiota composition), and fish behavior (e.g., seawater drinking).

Like in mammals (Yasuda *et al.*, 2015; Zhang *et al.*, 2014), the salmon intestinal microbiota also shows spatial heterogeneity in its composition (Gajardo *et al.*, 2016). Microbial communities are different along the intestinal tract and between digesta and mucosa within the same intestinal segment. The microbial richness and diversity are usually lower in the intestinal mucosa than digesta (Gajardo *et al.*, 2016; Gajardo *et al.*, 2017). Notably, the digesta- and mucosa-associated microbiota also differ in their resilience to dietary changes. Existing studies suggest that the mucosa-associated microbiota is more resilient to dietary

changes than the digesta-associated microbiota (Gajardo *et al.*, 2017; Gupta *et al.*, 2019a; Jaramillo-Torres *et al.*, 2019).

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The overall goal of the present work was to secure that the intestinal function and health of Atlantic salmon are not compromised by the inclusion of insect larvae meal in the diet.

To achieve the main goal of this project, the following sub-goals were formulated:

- To document how dietary inclusion of BSF larvae meal may affect Atlantic salmon's intestinal function and health (**Paper I** and **III**).
- To characterize the intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon fed diets containing BSF larvae meal while accounting for its spatial heterogeneity (**Paper II** and **IV**).

HYPOTHESES

The following hypotheses were formulated based on the information presented in the introductory chapter. These hypotheses were the basis for the aims of the current thesis work:

- The inclusion of BSF larvae meal in the Atlantic salmon diet does not cause intestinal health problems.
- Inclusion of BSF larvae meal in the Atlantic salmon diet modulates the intestinal microbiota, possibly dependent on the intestinal compartments investigated.

Two feeding trials, one in freshwater and one in seawater, were carried out to evaluate how insect meal diets may affect the intestinal function, health, and microbiota in Atlantic salmon. The feeding trials shared a similar experiment setup but with major differences in the insect meal inclusion level and the life stage of experimental fish. In the 8-week freshwater trial, pre-smolt Atlantic salmon were fed either a reference diet containing fish meal, soy protein concentrate, and wheat gluten as protein sources, or an insect meal diet wherein BSF larvae meal (60%) replaced the bulk of fish meal and soy protein concentrate. Four tanks of fish were used per diet. In the 16-week seawater trial, post-smolt salmon were fed either a reference diet containing fish meal, soy protein concentrate, pea protein concentrate, corn gluten, and wheat gluten as protein sources, or an insect meal diet wherein BSF larvae meal (15%) replaced all the fish meal and most of the pea protein concentrate. Three tanks of fish were used per diet. In both experiments, the intestinal function and health were evaluated by histological examination and gene expression analysis, whereas the intestinal microbiota was profiled by sequencing V1-2 regions of the 16S rRNA gene. In total, four panels of genes relevant to lipid metabolism, immune modulation, barrier function, and detoxification response were profiled by qPCR.

Paper I presents results from the freshwater feeding trial regarding intestinal function and health. The histological examination showed normal histological structures of intestinal segments except for steatosis in the proximal intestine in both diet groups. However, the steatosis was less severe in salmon fed the insect meal diet.

In the proximal intestine, the expression level of *plin2*, a surface marker of lipid droplets, showed a 50% reduction in salmon fed the insect meal diet, supporting the histological findings. Additionally, genes responsible for the absorption (*cd36*) and intracellular transportation (*fabp2b*) of fatty acids showed increased expression in salmon fed the insect meal diet, so did those involved in the cholesterol uptake (*npc111*) and *de novo* synthesis (*srebp2* and *cyp51*). The expression profiles of genes relevant to immune and barrier function were generally not affected by diets. However, the expression levels of *cd3γδ* (T-cell marker) and *foxp3* (master transcription factor of regulatory T-cells) were higher in salmon fed the insect meal diet and showed a positive correlation. Most of the genes
indicative of detoxification response showed higher expression in salmon fed the insect meal diet. These genes included *cyp1a1* (a marker for xenobiotic metabolism), *mta* (a marker for heavy metal detoxification), *hsp70* (a marker for stress response), *sod1* (an indicator of oxidative stress), and *cat* (an indicator of oxidative stress).

In the distal intestine, a much lower number of differentially expressed genes were identified than in the proximal intestine. Contrary to what we found in the proximal intestine, the expression of *plin2* increased in salmon fed the insect meal diet. The $cd3\gamma\delta$ and *foxp3* expression levels were also higher in salmon fed the insect meal diet and showed a strong positive correlation. The expression level of *cyp1a1* also showed a more than 2-fold increase in salmon fed the insect meal diet.

Paper II presents microbiota profiling results from the freshwater feeding trial. Microbiota of digesta and mucosal origin from the proximal and distal intestine were collected and sequenced, together with feed and water samples. The data analysis was done for digesta and mucosa samples independently due to batch effects between sequencing runs. The results showed that microbiota in the intestine closely resembled that of the feed but was distinct from the water microbiota. Five core OTUs were shared between the diets. classified as Bacillus, Globicatella, Kurthia, Lactobacillus, and Ureibacillus. Overall, the microbiota variation between intestinal segments was slight, but was significant in the digesta of salmon fed the reference diet. In contrast, diet markedly modulated the salmon intestinal microbiota in both digesta and mucosa, regardless of intestinal segments. Overall, the microbial diversity was lower in the digesta of salmon fed the insect meal diet but higher in the mucosa compared to fish fed the reference diet. In total, 93 and 36 taxa were associated with the diet effect in the digesta and mucosa, respectively. Collectively, 32 taxa were associated with the diet effect in both digesta and mucosa. Salmon fed the insect meal diet showed lower relative abundances of unclassified Peptostreptococcaceae, Peptostreptococcus, Photobacterium, and lactic acid bacteria including Lactobacillus, Lactococcus, Leuconostoc, Pediococcus, and Streptococcus; but higher relative abundances of Actinomyces, unclassified Bacillales, unclassified Bacillaceae, Bacillus, unclassified Beutenbergiaceae, Brevibacterium, Cellulosimicrobium, Clostridium sensu stricto 1, Corynebacterium 1, unclassified Enterococcaceae, Enterococcus, Exiguobacterium, Globicatella, Gracilibacillus, unclassified Lactobacillales, Lysinibacillus, Macrococcus, Microbacterium, Nosocomiicoccus, Oceanobacillus, Ornithinibacillus, Paenibacillus, unclassified Planococcaceae, and unclassified RsaHF231. Some of these taxa, such as

Paenibacillus and *Streptococcus*, were positively associated with the expression of *foxp3* in the intestine. Notably, bacterial taxa associated with the diet effect were present in the feed samples as well.

Paper III presents results from the seawater feeding trial regarding intestinal function and health. The histological examination showed steatosis in the proximal and mid intestine in both diet groups. It was, however, less severe in the proximal intestine of salmon fed the insect meal diet. Typical signs of soybean meal-induced enteritis were observed in all the intestinal segments in both diet groups. The only significant diet effect was a higher degree of submucosa cellularity in the proximal intestine of salmon fed the insect meal diet. Regarding gene expression analysis, few differentially expressed genes were identified. In the proximal intestine, *mmp13*, a marker gene involved in tissue reorganization, was the only differentially expressed gene showing lower expression in salmon fed the insect meal diet. In the distal intestine, *chk*, a marker gene involved in *de novo* synthesis of phosphatidylcholine, was the only differentially expressed gene showing lower expression in salmon fed the insect meal diet.

Paper IV presents microbiota profiling results from the seawater feeding trial. Microbiota of digesta and mucosa origin from the distal intestine were collected and sequenced. The results showed that three core ASVs were shared between the diets, classified as *Aliivibrio*, Brevinema andersonii, and Mycoplasma. The intestinal digesta and mucosa harbored microbial communities with clear differences. Regardless of diet, microbial diversity was much higher in the digesta than in the mucosa. Forty-seven taxa were identified as differentially abundant between the digesta and mucosa, but only two of these taxa showed higher relative abundance in the mucosa. These two mucosa-enriched taxa, Brevinema andersonii, and unclassified Spirochaetaceae, belong to the Spirochaetes phylum and were associated with gene expression in the intestine related to immune responses and barrier function, respectively. The insect meal diet markedly modulated the intestinal microbiota, resulting in higher microbial diversity in both digesta and mucosa. The magnitude of diet effect, however, was different between the digesta and mucosa. A much stronger diet effect was observed in the digesta than that in the mucosa. Thirty-six taxa were associated with the diet effect. Corroborating with our findings in the freshwater feeding trial, salmon fed the insect meal die showed lower relative abundances of Geobacillus, Peptostreptococcus, Photobacterium, Streptococcus, Tepidimicrobium, Vagococcus, and Weissella; but higher relative abundances of Actinomyces, unclassified Bacillaceae, Bacillus, unclassified Beutenbergiaceae, Brevibacterium, Cellulosimicrobium, Corynebacterium 1, unclassified Enterococcaceae, Enterococcus, Erysipelatoclostridium, Gracilibacillus, unclassified Lachnospiraceae, unclassified Lactobacillales, Lysinibacillus, Microbacterium, Oceanobacillus, Ornithinibacillus, and unclassified RsaHF231.

Materials

In the freshwater feeding trial, feed, water, intestinal digesta, and mucosa samples were collected for microbiota profiling. In the seawater feeding trial, only intestinal digesta and mucosa samples were collected for microbiota profiling due to resource limitations. Results from the freshwater feeding trial showed that water microbiota was distinct from the intestinal microbiota. In contrast, many taxa found in the intestine were also present in the feed samples (**Paper II**). The observed diet effects could be partly attributed to the differences in the feed-associated microbiota. Given the hydrothermal treatments during the extrusion step in the feed production, the feed-associated microbiota could have primarily originated from dead/dormant bacteria rather than living bacteria. As such, the feed-associated microbiota could be a major confounding factor when digesta is used for evaluating diet effects on the intestinal microbiota. Feed samples should be collected in sequencing-based microbiota studies, which do not distinguish between living and dead bacteria. Unfortunately, feed samples were not included in the microbiota analysis in the seawater feeding trial.

Methodological considerations for microbiota profiling

Since the histological examination (H&E staining) and gene expression profiling (qPCR) were carried out using conventional and well-established methods in our group, the discussion herein on the methodology will focus on microbiota profiling, which is still under rapid development. Best practices for conducting a microbiota study have been reviewed elsewhere (Goodrich *et al.*, 2014; Knight *et al.*, 2018). Methodological considerations for microbiota analysis will be discussed below.

Experimental design

A well-designed experiment is pivotal for obtaining meaningful data. There are many aspects to consider when designing a microbiota study, such as experimental controls, sample size, batch effect, confounding factors, sampling scheme, and sequencing strategy. Here we discuss the experimental controls, sample size, and batch effects.

Positive controls. Setting up proper experimental controls is vital for obtaining valid results. A mock community is a defined mixture of known microbial strains created in vitro to simulate the composition of a microbiota sample (Bokulich *et al.*, 2016). It can be processed like a biological sample, starting from DNA extraction to sequencing. The real sequence data generated from the mock can then be processed, and the results are compared to true values in the mock. As such, the use of mock as a positive control allows researchers to evaluate their results critically and optimize the data generation process. The mock community ((ZymoBIOMICS™, Zymo Research, USA; catalog no., D6300) used in the present work is widely used in microbiota studies. It contains three easy-to-lyse Gramnegative bacteria (Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli, Salmonella enterica), five tough-to-lyse Gram-positive bacteria (Lactobacillus fermentum, Enterococcus faecalis, Staphylococcus aureus, Listeria monocytogenes, Bacillus subtilis), and two tough-to-lyse veasts (Cryptococcus neoformans, Saccharomyces cerevisiae). The use of mock has allowed us to optimize our wet-lab protocol and compare the performance of different bioinformatic pipelines/tools. For instance, we processed the sequence data from the same mock community using the QIIME1 and QIIME2 pipeline, respectively. Compared to true values in the mock, the QIIME2 pipeline produced a much more accurate taxonomic profile than the QIIME1 pipeline. Based on this result, we chose QIIME2 over QIIME1 for amplicon sequence data processing. It should also be noted that a mock community is overly simplified compared to a real biological sample. One should use caution to avoid overfitting of methods to unrealistic conditions and use expert knowledge to judge the quality of results.

Negative controls. As the universal primers amplify the 16S rRNA gene of most bacteria, amplicon sequencing is inherently subjective to contamination, given that bacteria are ubiquitously distributed. Contamination may come from the environment, reagents, lab personnel, and lab equipment. While good lab hygiene is helpful, it is impractical to eliminate all the living or dead microbes in the lab. Contamination can be a severe problem, especially when dealing with samples with low microbial biomass (Eisenhofer *et al.*, 2019; Glassing *et al.*, 2016; Karstens *et al.*, 2019; Weyrich *et al.*, 2019). Failing to account for contamination issues in molecular-based microbiota studies can lead to flawed or false conclusions (de Goffau *et al.*, 2019; Lauder *et al.*, 2016; Salter *et al.*, 2014). The inclusion of negative controls in the molecular-based microbiota studies helps to monitor and mitigate the contamination issues. Negative controls should be included from the early stage of a microbiota study, starting from the sampling (low microbial biomass samples) or DNA

extraction stage (Kim *et al.*, 2017). Also, they should be subjected to the same treatments that the biological samples receive and always sequenced even when they show weak or no PCR amplification. If the samples are processed in batches, a negative control should also be included in each batch. Including negative controls in the present work has enabled us to quickly discern contaminating sequences from true biological sequences (**Paper II** and **IV**). For instance, sequences classified as *Pseudomonas* are frequently identified as the most abundant reagent contaminants in our lab. Notably, *Pseudomonas* has also been isolated from intestinal digesta and mucosa of Atlantic salmon by traditional culturing approaches (Askarian *et al.*, 2012; Cantas *et al.*, 2011; Hatje *et al.*, 2014; Navarrete *et al.*, 2013). Without negative controls, one cannot distinguish contaminating *Pseudomonas* from the indigenous *Pseudomonas*, and conclusions based on such results are likely flawed or false.

Sample size. A study with a small sample size has low statistical power, reducing the chance of detecting an actual effect. Underpowered studies may produce false-negative and unreproducible results. However, the effect size is usually unknown in a microbiota study, and effect size calculation remains challenging (Debelius *et al.*, 2016). As such, one should maximize biological replication to reduce the chance of conducting an underpowered study. Based on the available resources, we sampled 12 and 18 fish per treatment group in the freshwater and seawater feeding trial, respectively. A recent study suggests that a minimum of 9 fish is needed to draw valid conclusions in dietary metabarcoding studies (Panteli *et al.*, 2020). Future studies will benefit from statistical power and effect size calculation.

Batch effect. High-throughput sequencing data are often generated in batches due to logistical or practical constraints. Technical sources of variation across batches, referred to as batch effects, can distort biological findings resulting in false conclusions (Leek *et al.*, 2010). For instance, microbiota samples may cluster together based on non-biological factors such as sample preparation date, handling personnel, reagent lot, and sequencing batch, obscuring biological variations of interest. To reduce confounding between biological and batch effects, it is crucial to design the study such that sample classes are distributed evenly across batches. However, in the freshwater feeding trial, digesta samples were first amplified and sequenced due to technical challenges in obtaining high-quality PCR products from mucosa samples. The technical replicates of digesta samples showed a clear batch effect between the sequencing runs (**Paper II**). The performance of batch effect correction methods, initially developed for gene expression data, on microbiota data was recently reviewed by Wang and LeCao (2019). Commonly used methods such as ComBat (Johnson *et*

al., 2007) and removeBatchEffect (Ritchie *et al.*, 2015) require data transformation to meet the methods' parametric assumptions. As many downstream data analyses in microbiota studies require a count table as input, the resulting batch effect corrected data are limited to analyses like dimension reduction (PCA) and differential abundance testing. At present, batch effect correction methods that produce count data as output include RUVSeq (Risso *et al.*, 2014) and ComBat-seq (Zhang *et al.*, 2020). However, the latter method is not suited for data with severely or completely confounded study designs. RUVSeq removes batch effects by performing factor analysis on sample replicates and negative control variables. It can be used to correct batch effects in experiments where biological effects are severely or completely confounded by batch effects. Based on the beta-diversity analysis, RUVSeq seemed to effectively correct the PCR batch effects. However, it removed a large proportion of sequences from samples and the resulting sample taxonomic composition was very different from that before the batch effects correction. Therefore, we did not perform batch effects corrections for our data. The microbiota data generated from the freshwater feeding trial were analyzed separately based on the sequencing runs (**Paper II**).

Sample collection

Sampling methods. Compared to the collection of digesta samples, collecting mucosa samples is more complicated. The mucosa-associated microbiota is usually collected by flushing, scraping, or dissecting the intestinal mucosa. We chose to dissect a small piece of the intestinal segment as it is probably more representative of the mucosal microbial community. While this sampling method is fine for amplicon sequencing, it is not suitable for shotgun metagenomics and metatranscriptomics analysis as the sample is heavily contaminated by host DNA. Alternative sampling methods such as swabbing should be considered if samples are used for multi-omics analysis.

Sample preservation. Different sample preservation methods are known to cause systematic bias in microbiota profiling results (Song *et al.*, 2016; Vogtmann *et al.*, 2017b). Immediate freezing at -20 °C or below is considered as the "gold standard" method for preserving samples for microbiota profiling. However, this approach is not always feasible for field studies. Alternative methods such as 95% ethanol and RNAlater are effective in sample preservation as well (Song *et al.*, 2016; Vogtmann *et al.*, 2017a; Vogtmann *et al.*, 2017b). Samples kept in these fixatives are more stable in ambient temperature compared to those preserved by snap freezing. However, negative controls should be included during

the sampling stage when samples are kept in these fixatives as reagent contamination may be introduced. We chose the "gold standard" method (snap-frozen in liquid N_2 and stored at -80 °C) for sample preservation as we were able to keep samples frozen from the sampling and underway to the freezers at the lab.

DNA extraction

DNA extraction is one of the main factors causing variations in microbiota analysis results between studies (Sinha *et al.*, 2017). The use of commercial DNA extraction kits is advised so that results between studies are more comparable. The QIAamp® DNA Stool Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany; catalog no., 51504) was a widely used DNA extraction kit at the time this thesis work was initiated. DNA extraction efficiency is one of the major concerns in sequencing-based studies of intestinal microbiota. Mechanical cell lysis, which is not included in the QIAamp® kit, increases the DNA extraction efficiency of tough-to-lyse microbes from complex microbial ecosystems (de Boer *et al.*, 2010; Nylund *et al.*, 2010; Salonen *et al.*, 2010; Walker *et al.*, 2015). We, therefore, added a bead-beating step to the cell lysis step in addition to the chemical and enzymatic treatments. In later experiments, we found that the size of beads also affected the DNA extraction efficiency. A mixture of beads with different sizes produced a more accurate taxonomic composition in the mock than those with the same size. Moreover, the relative abundance of the tough-to-lyse Grampositive bacteria in the mock was higher and closer to the ground truth.

Amplicon PCR

Primers. The choice of primers is known to critically influence amplicon sequencing results (Huse *et al.*, 2008; Kim *et al.*, 2011; Klindworth *et al.*, 2013). Different primers have their own biases, resulting in over-representation or selection against certain microbial clades in the samples (Cai *et al.*, 2013; Klindworth *et al.*, 2013; Walters *et al.*, 2016; Wear *et al.*, 2018). Previously, we tested the performance of commonly used universal primers, including V1-2 (Roeselers *et al.*, 2011), V3 (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993), V4 (Rodrigues *et al.*, 2013), and V4-5 (Schwieger and Tebbe, 2000), for our samples (Gajardo, 2016). The V1-2 primers showed a single bright band in the agarose gel, whereas other primers showed no band (V4), a single band with smearing (V3), or multiple bands (V4-5). Therefore, we chose the V1-2 primers over other more commonly used primers (V4, V4-5) for the taxonomic profiling of our samples. Results so far show that the performance of V1-2 primers is broadly comparable to that of the more commonly used primer sets such as V3-4 and V4. Another practical

reason to keep using the V1-2 primers in the present work is to keep experimental conditions consistent in different studies conducted in our lab so that we can integrate data for a meta-analysis.

PCR enhancers. Compared to other samples collected in the present work, mucosa samples can be very challenging to amplify. We found that diluting DNA templates often increased PCR efficiency, probably due to reduced PCR inhibitory effects. The reason why mucosa samples showing more potent PCR inhibitory effects than digesta samples, which are known to contain PCR inhibitors, remains to be explored. When DNA template dilution did not work, we tested the performance of several PCR enhancers, including bovine serum albumin (BSA), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and formamide. Our results showed that 0.4% BSA improved the PCR performance, whereas formamide and DMSO did not (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Gel images showing the effects of DNA template dilution and PCR enhancers on the PCR performance of mucosa samples. The DNA was extracted from the colon mucosa of mink and diluted 1:5 in ATE buffer. The concentration of the PCR enhancer in the PCR reaction mix is shown on the top. The results apply to salmon intestinal mucosa as well.

Bioinformatics

To cluster or not: OTUs versus ASVs. Due to errors in sequences generated by Illumina platforms, 16S amplicon sequences are conventionally clustered into operational taxonomic units (OTUs) at a specific sequence similarity threshold, often 97%, to avoid interpreting sequencing artifacts as real biological sequence variants. In recent years, "denoising" algorithms such as DADA2 (Callahan *et al.*, 2016), UNOISE2 (Edgar, 2016), and Deblur (Amir *et al.*, 2017) have been developed to address the issue by correcting sequencing errors, generating amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) with a single-nucleotide resolution, which is also known as sub-OTUs or zero-radius OTUs. Compared to OTU-based approaches, ASV

methods provide improved taxonomic resolution. Moreover, ASVs are consistent labels making them more reproducible and comparable among different studies. As such, ASV methods have gained increasing popularity over the traditional OTU methods. However, intragenomic heterogeneity of 16S rRNA genes is common in many bacteria species (Sun et al., 2013), which means ASV methods may split a single taxon into multiple ASVs resulting in inflated alpha and beta diversity of microbial communities. In addition, ASV methods can lead to false discoveries in taxon co-occurrence analysis as a result of splitting a single taxon into multiple ASVs: ASVs from the same taxon are inherently strongly correlated. Apparently, ASV methods are not necessarily better than the traditional OTU methods. Studies indicate that conclusions based on the ASV or OTU methods often show high concordance (Capunitan et al., 2020; Glassman and Martiny, 2018; Moossavi et al., 2020). In agreement, our exploratory data analysis in Paper II showed that most results were similar between the ASV and OTU approach. We decided to cluster the AVSs into OTUs in Paper II because it ameliorated the batch effects and reduced the data sparsity. Ultimately, the choice of sequence processing method is based on the research question being asked. If one is not concerned about the intragenomic heterogeneity of 16S rRNA genes, ASV methods can be advantageous. Otherwise, the traditional OTU methods also deliver reliable results.

Phylogeny: de novo versus reference-based fragment insertion. After constructing the OTU/ASV table, a typical step is to build a phylogenetic tree for downstream phylogenyrelated analyses, such as calculating Faith's phylogenetic diversity and UniFrac distance. Conventionally, the phylogenetic tree is built using *de novo* approaches. To build a *de novo* tree, the representative sequences are first aligned by a multiple sequence aligner like MAFFT (Katoh and Standley, 2013). The resulting alignment is masked to reduce alignment ambiguity. A phylogenetic tree is then inferred from the masked alignment by algorithms like FastTree (Price et al., 2010), RAxML (Stamatakis, 2014), and IQ-TREE (Nguyen et al., 2015). Finally, the inferred phylogenetic tree is rooted. The *de novo* approaches use all the representative sequences to build the tree and are suitable for samples that contain many novel clades not represented in the reference database. However, the *de novo* tree built from short amplicon sequences may not be reliable as they do not contain much phylogenetic information. Analyses based on *de novo* tree may yield incorrect biological conclusions (Janssen *et al.*, 2018). The reference-based fragment insertion approach like SEPP, which inserts the representative sequences into a reference tree based on the sequence similarity, is probably a better choice (Janssen et al., 2018; Knight et al., 2018). Unlike the de novo approaches, representative sequences that are not similar enough to any record in the reference tree are discarded. Therefore, this approach is not suitable for samples that contain many novel clades not represented in the reference tree. Eventually, the choice of the approach to build a phylogenetic tree is dependent on the sample characteristics. In our experiences, most of, if not all, the representative sequences could be reliably inserted into the reference tree. Therefore, the reference-based fragment insertion was considered the better approach for our data.

Statistics

A major recent development in the statistical analysis of microbiota data is the adoption of compositional data analysis. In sequencing-based microbiota studies, each sample consists of proportions of different taxa with a sum constrained to a constant. This characteristic makes microbiota sequence data compositional (Gloor et al., 2017; Tsilimigras and Fodor, 2016). Compositional data reside in the simplex rather than Euclidean space, making standard statistical methods such as the Pearson correlation, t-test, ANOVA, and linear regression analysis not directly applicable for analyzing microbiota sequence data (Aitchison, 1982; Mandal et al., 2015). Standard statistical methods have been reported to have high false positive rates when directly applied for correlation analysis and differential abundance testing in microbiota studies (Friedman and Alm, 2012; Hawinkel et al., 2017; Kurtz et al., 2015; Lovell et al., 2015; Thorsen et al., 2016). As such, compositional data analysis was introduced into microbiota research to deal with the compositionality in sequence data. The first step in compositional data analysis is to perform a log-ratio transformation of data such as centered log-ratio (CLR) transformation and isometric logratio (ILR) transformation. The log-ratio transformation moves compositional data from simplex space to real space, allowing the application of standard statistical methods in microbiota sequence data analysis (Aitchison, 1986). Alternative compositional analysis approaches for standard statistical methods are summarized in Table 1 below.

In recent years, many bespoke compositional data analysis methods, such as ANCOM (Mandal *et al.*, 2015), ALDEx2 (Fernandes *et al.*, 2014), mixMC (Lê Cao *et al.*, 2016), Corncob (Martin *et al.*, 2020), gneiss (Morton *et al.*, 2017), selbal (Rivera-Pinto *et al.*, 2018) and Songbird (Morton *et al.*, 2019), have been developed for differential abundance testing of microbiota data.

Table 1. Standard statistical meth	Table 1. Standard statistical methods for microbiota data analysis and their compositional substitutes*.	tional substitutes*.
	Standard methods	Compositional methods
Normalization	Rarefaction TSS (total sum scaling) CSS (cumulative sum scaling) DESeq's variance stabilization edgeR's TMM (trimmed mean of M-values)	CLR (centered log-ratio transformation) ILR (isometric log-ratio transformation)
Distance	Jaccard distance Bary-Curtis distance UniFrac distance	Aitchison distance (Aitchison <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Gloor <i>et al.</i> , 2017) PHILR transformed Euclidean distance (Silverman <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
Ordination	PCoA (principal coordinate analysis)	PCA (principal component analysis)
Correlation	Pearson Spearman	SparCC (Friedman and Alm, 2012) SpiecEasi (Kurtz <i>et al.</i> , 2015) Ф (Lovell <i>et al.</i> , 2015) P (Erb and Notredame, 2016)
Differential abundance	LEfSe (Segata <i>et al.</i> , 2011) metagenomeSeq (Paulson <i>et al.</i> , 2013) DESeq2 (Love <i>et al.</i> , 2014) edgeR (Robinson <i>et al.</i> , 2010) Voom (Law <i>et al.</i> , 2014)	ANCOM (Mandal <i>et al.</i> , 2015) ALDEx2 (Fernandes <i>et al.</i> , 2014) mixMC (Lê Cao <i>et al.</i> , 2016) Corncob (Martin <i>et al.</i> , 2020) gneiss (Morton <i>et al.</i> , 2017) selbal (Rivera-Pinto <i>et al.</i> , 2019) Songbird (Morton <i>et al.</i> , 2019)
*Adapted from Gloor et al. (2017) and Weiss et al. (2017).) and Weiss <i>et al.</i> (2017).	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,

*Adapted from Gloor et al. (2017) and Weiss et al. (2017).

While compositional data analysis has become popular among researchers, it should be noted that the interpretation of compositional data analysis results can be challenging (Quinn et al., 2018). The results need to be interpreted based on the selected logtransformation to avoid erroneous interpretations (Ouinn *et al.*, 2019). Also, the performance of these new methods has not been extensively benchmarked. A recent study suggested that compositional methods devised for differential abundance testing of microbiota data did not outperform count-based methods initially developed for differential expression analysis of RNA-seq data, such as limma-voom and DESeq2 (Calgaro et al., 2020). It was argued that the best method for differential abundance testing is data-dependent and that researchers should choose methods based on a careful exploratory data analysis. However, two later studies suggested otherwise. These count-based methods failed to control the false discovery rates (Mallick et al., 2021; Nearing et al., 2021). Comparing the performance of 14 commonly used differential abundance tools on 38 16S datasets, Nearing et al. (2021) reported that conservative methods such as ALDEx2 and ANCOM produced the most consistent results across methods and studies. However, these methods suffer from low statistical power. If higher statistical power is needed, MaAsLin2 is recommended as a reasonable choice but at the potential cost of higher false discoveries. In agreement, Mallick et al. (2021) reported that MaAsLin2 preserved statistical power in the presence of multiple covariates and repeated measures while showing a reasonable control of false discoveries. Based on these results, we chose MaAsLin2 for the association analysis of microbiota data for its higher statistical power, good control of false discoveries and flexibility in handling complex experimental designs.

Methodological limitations

Limitations of short-read amplicon sequencing. High-throughput, accurate, short-read Illumina sequencing has been the standard way for 16S rRNA gene profiling. However, the short sequence size (100-500 bps) limits the taxonomic resolution of amplicon sequences, most of which can only be reliably annotated at the genus or higher taxonomic rank level. Moreover, the short sequence does not contain enough information to build well-resolved phylogeny. The error rate has been high in long-read sequencing platforms. The Pacific Biosciences (PacBio) has an error rate of 13% (Wagner *et al.*, 2016), and the Oxford Nanopore Technologies has an error rate of 5-25% (Volden *et al.*, 2018). However, recent advancements in sequencing technologies have enabled the application of highly accurate long-read sequencing in 16S rRNA gene profiling. The PacBio CCS (circular consensus

sequences) was reported to measure the full-length 16S rRNA gene with single-nucleotide resolution and a per-base error rate of ~0.04% (Callahan *et al.*, 2019). The combination of unique molecular identifiers (UMIs) with Oxford Nanopore Technologies was reported to yield full-length 16S rRNA sequences with a per-base error rate of ~0.004% (Karst *et al.*, 2021). Synthetic long reads assembled from UMI-tagged Illumina short reads were also reported to have a per-base error rate of ~0.005% when applied to sequence the full-length 16S rRNA gene (Callahan *et al.*, 2021). Highly accurate long-read sequencing provides higher taxonomic resolution (often species or even strain level) and well-supported phylogeny. As cost-efficiency improves, long-read sequencing should be considered a better alternative to the current standard Illumina short-read sequencing for the 16S marker gene survey.

Limitations of amplicon sequencing. Targeted amplicon sequencing is well suited for microbial community taxonomic profiling, especially when samples are heavily contaminated by host DNA. Although tools like PICRUSt/PICRUSt2 (Douglas *et al.*, 2020; Langille *et al.*, 2013) and Tax4Fun/Tax4Fun2 (Aßhauer *et al.*, 2015; Wemheuer *et al.*, 2020) have been developed for functional prediction from 16S amplicon sequence data, their performance is generally poor for non-human samples, and the prediction accuracy varies between gene function categories (Sun *et al.*, 2020). In addition, there could be a huge discrepancy between differentially abundant functions computed from predicted and actual metagenomics data (Douglas *et al.*, 2020). To gain functional insights into the microbiome data, one should resort to other omics technologies such as shotgun metagenomics (functional potential), metatranscriptomics (active functions), metaproteomics, and metabolomics.

Limitations of sequencing-based methods. Advancements in sequencing technologies have enabled rapid, in-depth taxonomic and functional profiling of microbial communities from diverse environments at an unprecedented scale. While sequencing-based analysis has become the mainstream method for studying microbiota, its limitations exist. First and foremost, the sequencing-based methods do not differentiate between living and dormant/dead cells. DNA molecules can persist in the environment for a long time (Levy-Booth *et al.*, 2007; Pietramellara *et al.*, 2009; Torti *et al.*, 2015). The sequenced DNA molecules may originate from relic DNA, dormant/dead cells, and viable cells, resulting in misinterpretation of results. A recent study in Atlantic salmon indicated that ~45% of OTUs identified in intestinal digesta originated from dead bacteria (Dvergedal *et al.*, 2020). This

result is particularly alarming given that we assume most of the DNA extracted from intestinal digesta originates from viable microbes. As DNA from non-living microbes confounds results, future studies should explore methods that distinguish living cells from dead/dormant cells in microbial ecosystems, such as viability PCR, and RNA sequencing (Emerson *et al.*, 2017).

Measurement bias is another major limitation of sequencing-based methods. Bias is introduced at different steps of the sample processing pipeline due to preferential measurement of some taxa over others, resulting in distorted measurements of true values (Brooks et al., 2015; McLaren et al., 2019). For instance, bacteria species differ in their resistance to lysing during DNA extraction (de Boer et al., 2010; Nylund et al., 2010; Salonen et al., 2010; Walker et al., 2015), which results in differential DNA extraction efficiency. Different primers are known to amplify or select against some groups of taxa over others, causing differences in the PCR amplification efficiency (Cai et al., 2013; Klindworth et al., 2013; Walters et al., 2016; Wear et al., 2018). Variations in the 16S rRNA gene copy numbers also lead to unequal representation of taxa in the samples (Kembel et al., 2012; Louca et al., 2018). As a result, the measured values may markedly deviate from the true values. This is exemplified by the low concordance between the expected and observed taxonomic composition of the mock community sequenced in the present work (Paper II and IV). The discrepancies between measured and actual values in sequencing-based experiments highlight the necessity of validating such results by absolute quantification techniques such as cultivation (if possible), qPCR, flow cytometry, and fluorescence in situ hybridization.

Insect meal diets do not impair the intestinal health in Atlantic salmon

As indicated by its essential amino acid profile, BSF larvae meal is a good protein source for fish (Henry et al., 2015; Hua, 2021). In accordance, the feed utilization and growth performance were similar in salmon fed the reference or insect meal diets in both feeding trials as published elsewhere (Belghit et al., 2018; Belghit et al., 2019b). Regarding the health aspects of salmon fed the insect meal diets, the histological examination of the intestine showed no clear evidence of adverse effects when the insect meal was included in the salmon diets (Paper I and III). Concordant with our results, most fish species have shown normal histological structures in the intestine when fed diets containing BSF larvae meal, although some studies reported shortening or atrophy of intestinal mucosal folds (Zarantoniello et al., 2021). Nonetheless, salmon fed the insect meal diet containing 60% BSF larvae meal showed increased expression of genes indicative of stress (hsp70) and detoxification responses (cpy1a1 and mta) (Paper I). These responses may be associated with the higher concentration of certain heavy metals in the insect meal diets such as cadmium and lead (Belghit et al., 2018; Biancarosa et al., 2019), which BSF larvae selectively enriched from the growing substrate (Diener et al., 2015; Purschke et al., 2017; Tschirner and Simon, 2015). The consequences of increased exposure to these heavy metals seemed benign on the intestinal health as no significant diet effects were observed for the expression levels of toxicity indicators such as *casp6* (cell apoptosis) and *mmp13* (tissue regeneration). The insect meal diet containing 60% BSF larvae meal also seemed to stimulate regulatory T-cells activity in the proximal and distal intestine, as indicated by the increased expression of $cd3\gamma\delta$ and foxp3 in these intestinal segments (**Paper I**). These results may suggest an oral tolerance to the insect meal diet (Rombout et al., 2014) or immune modulation by bacteria taxa, such as Paenibacillus (Paper II), in salmon fed the insect meal diet (Furusawa et al., 2013; Qiao et al., 2020; Round and Mazmanian, 2010).

Insect meal diets ameliorate the intestinal steatosis in Atlantic salmon

A recent field survey revealed a high incidence of steatosis in the intestine of farmed salmon throughout the production cycle, especially during warm periods when the feed intake is high (Chikwati, Midtlyng, and Krogdahl 2018). In accordance, we found steatosis in both feeding trials. However, the steatosis in both feeding trials was less severe in salmon fed the insect meal diets, either containing 15% or 60% BSF larvae meal (Paper I and III). It is now known that steatosis represents a lipid transport disorder within the enterocytes, caused by deficiencies in major building blocks of lipoproteins such as phosphatidylcholine. Dietary supplementation of phosphatidylcholine or choline, an essential nutrient for *de novo* synthesis of phosphatidylcholine, effectively prevents steatosis in salmon fed low fish meal diets (Hansen et al., 2020a; Hansen et al., 2020b; Krogdahl et al., 2020). Given that in both feeding trials feed intake and lipid digestibility were similar between the reference and insect meal diet group (Belghit et al., 2018; Belghit et al., 2019b), one possible explanation for the reduction in the steatosis is increased supplement of nutrients in the insect meal diets that are critical for the lipid transport across the enterocytes such as choline or phosphatidylcholine. Unfortunately, we did not measure the contents of these nutrients in the experimental diets. An alternative explanation is increased lipid peroxidation within enterocytes in salmon fed the insect meal diets due to the higher levels of medium-chained fatty acids, especially lauric acid (12:0), in the insect meal (Belghit et al., 2019b). Mediumchained fatty acids are readily oxidized for energy production. They have been reported to reduce lipid storage in mammals and fish (Belghit et al., 2019a; Nordrum et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2005; St-Onge and Jones, 2002; St-Onge et al., 2008; Williams et al., 2006). As steatosis represents a sub-optimal intestinal health status, with possible negative effects on dietary lipid uptake, the inclusion of BSF larvae meal in salmon diets may have functional benefits to the intestinal health besides its nutritional value.

Temporal and spatial variations of the Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota

During the freshwater and early life stages in the seawater, salmon is commonly populated by bacterial taxa such as *Peptostreptococcus*, *Photobacterium*, and lactic acid bacteria, including *Lactobacillus*, *Lactococcus*, *Leuconostoc*, *Streptococcus*, *Vagococcus*, and *Weissella* in the intestine (Dehler *et al.*, 2017; Rudi *et al.*, 2018). As salmon continue to grow and mature in the seawater, only a few of these taxa persist, whereas taxa like *Aliivibrio*, *Brevinema*, and *Mycoplasma* start to emerge and sporadically dominate the intestinal microbial community (Gupta *et al.*, 2019a; Gupta *et al.*, 2019b; Karlsen *et al.*, 2017; Llewellyn *et al.*, 2016; Lokesh *et al.*, 2019). In accordance with these observations, we identified *Aliivibrio*, *Brevinema andersonii*, and *Mycoplasma* as the core microbes of adult salmon in the seawater feeding trial (**Paper IV**). Our association analysis (**Paper IV**) and results from other studies indicate that these taxa may be associated with salmon growth and health (Cheaib *et al.*, 2021; Klakegg *et al.*, 2020a; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2021). For instance, Klakegg *et al.* (2020a) reported that probiotic bath with *Aliivibrio* strains improved the growth, reduced the mortality, and lowered the prevalence of ulcers in post-smolt salmon (Klakegg *et al.*, 2020a). Similar results were also observed in cleaner fish, lumpfish (*Cyclopterus lumpus*), after receiving a bath with two probiotic strains of *Aliivibrio* (Klakegg *et al.*, 2020b). Advancements in genome-resolved metagenomics will facilitate the functional analysis of these taxa in host nutrition and health (Cheaib *et al.*, 2021; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2021).

Besides the temporal variations, the salmon intestinal microbiota is also spatially heterogeneous in its composition. In line with previous findings (Gajardo et al., 2016), we discovered minor microbiota variations between intestinal segments (Paper II), but clear differences between digesta- and mucosa-associated microbiota within the same intestinal segment (Paper IV). The substantial differences between the digesta- and mucosaassociated microbiota in seawater salmon may result from an increasing host selection pressure in the later life stages that determines which microbial clades colonize and flourish in the intestinal mucus layer (Heys et al., 2020; Van den Abbeele et al., 2011). This explanation is supported by our results showing that the microbial diversity was much lower in the mucosa, and that only a few taxa, i.e., Brevinema andersonii and unclassified Spirochaetaceae, were enriched in the mucosa (Paper IV). Notably, the digesta- and mucosaassociated microbiota differed in their response to insect meal diets (Paper II and IV); the mucosa-associated microbiota appeared more resilient to dietary perturbations than the digesta-associated microbiota (Paper IV), as reported in other studies in salmon (Gajardo et al., 2017; Gupta et al., 2019a; Jaramillo-Torres et al., 2019). Taken together, these results have important implications for the experiment design when conducting a diet-microbiota study in fish. Firstly, collecting only digesta or mucosa samples or a homogenate of both can lead to biased or incorrect conclusions on the diet effects. To fully unveil the response of intestinal microbiota to dietary interventions, one should profile digesta- and mucosaassociated intestinal microbiota in parallel whenever feasible. Secondly, to increase the statistical power, resources may be better allocated by collecting more digesta and mucosa samples from one intestinal segment (e.g., the distal intestine) than collecting less digesta and mucosa samples from multiple intestinal segments.

Insect meal diets modulate the Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota

Despite a four-time difference in the BSF larvae meal inclusion level, the insect meal diets markedly modulated the salmon intestinal microbiota in both feeding trials resulting in consistent changes across different experiments (Paper II and IV). In both feeding trials, salmon showed higher microbial diversity in the intestinal mucosa when fed the insect meal diets (Paper II and IV). This finding corroborates results in rainbow trout fed diets containing 10-30% BSF larvae meal (Bruni et al., 2018; Huyben et al., 2019; Terova et al., 2019). Our findings, showing in both feeding trials that a particular group of bacterial genera was enriched in salmon fed the insect meal diets (Paper II and IV), partly confirm results in other fish species. For instance, rainbow trout also have shown increased relative abundances of Actinomyces, Bacillus, Brevibacterium, Corynebacterium 1, Enterococcus, Oceanobacillus, and Paenibacillus in the intestine when fed diets containing 15% or 30% BSF larvae meal (Huyben et al., 2019; Rimoldi et al., 2021; Terova et al., 2019). Similar observations have been made in Siberian sturgeon (Acipenser baerii) fed a diet containing 15% BSF larvae meal, inducing higher absolute abundances of *Bacillus* and *Enterococcus* (Jozefiak et al., 2019). In this latter study, fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) was used for the bacteria quantification.

The observed diet effects can be explained by feed microbiota and perhaps dietary nutrients. We found evidence for the former because bacterial genera associated with the diet effects were present in the feed samples. Some of these taxa, such as *Actinomyces, Bacillus, Brevibacterium, Corynebacterium, Enterococcus, Oceanobacillus,* and *RsaHF231,* may have originated from BSF larvae (Bruno *et al.*, 2019; Jiang *et al.*, 2019; Wynants *et al.*, 2019; Zheng *et al.*, 2013). Given the high temperature and pressure during the extrusion step in the feed production, most feed-associated microbes are expected to be inactive, i.e., dormant or dead. As DNA sequencing methods cannot differentiate between active and inactive microbes, it is unclear the extent to which the observed diet effects are attributable to the carry-over of inactive microbes and colonization of active microbes from the feeds. Methods such as viability PCR and RNA sequencing can reveal the answers (Emerson *et al.*, 2017). On the other hand, dietary nutrients in the insect meal diet, such as chitin, may have promoted the

growth of certain bacterial taxa. *Actinomyces* species are often identified as active chitin degraders, showing enhanced growth and activity upon chitin addition (Beier and Bertilsson, 2013). Many *Bacillus* species are well-known as chitin degraders (Cody, 1989). For instance, *Bacillus* was one of the predominant taxa in the intestinal mucosa of salmon fed a chitin-supplemented diet (5%), displaying the highest in vitro chitinase activity (Askarian *et al.*, 2012). This hypothesis can be tested by supplementing insect meal-specific nutrients to the same basal diet and sequencing the intestinal microbiota of salmon fed such diets.

MAIN CONCLUSIONS

Conclusions on methodology

- Positive and negative controls should be included in sequencing-based microbiota studies to obtain valid results. Sample collection and processing should be carefully planned to avoid confounding biological effects with batch effects.
- Given that feed-associated microbiota can be a confounding factor of diet effects, feed samples should be collected and analyzed when running a diet-microbiota study in fish.
- Stronger mechanical cell lysis, such as bead-beating with mixed-size beads, improves DNA extraction efficiency.
- Regarding samples for which it is difficult to obtain high-quality PCR products, DNA template dilution and PCR enhancers like BSA effectively improve the amplicon PCR performance.
- The ASV approach is not inherently better than the OTU clustering, nor is the reference-based fragment insertion always better than the *de novo* approach for constructing phylogeny. One should choose the method that is best suited for answering the research question.
- There is no consensus on which methods are the best, if any, for differential abundance testing of microbiota data. A possible way to obtain robust results is to report consensus results from several differential abundance testing tools that have shown good performance in benchmarking studies.
- Amplicon sequencing has limitations such as low taxonomic resolution, lack of functional insights, measurement biases, and inability to distinguish microbial cells that are active or not. Researchers should be aware of these methodological limitations and vigorously validate such results in new studies.

Conclusions on main findings

- The present study showed no clear evidence that insect meal diets containing 15% or 60% BSF larvae meal impaired the intestinal function or health in Atlantic salmon.
- The insect meal diets tended to improve the intestinal health status in Atlantic salmon by reducing excessive lipid deposition in the proximal intestine.
- The insect meal diet containing 60% BSF larvae meal modulated the expression of genes in the intestine, indicating changes in immune tolerance, stress response, and detoxification activity.
- The Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota showed spatial heterogeneity in its composition. Microbiota variations between intestinal segments were minor but substantial between digesta and mucosa. Notably, the digesta- and mucosa-associated microbiota differed in their response to insect meal diets.
- In the pre-smolt Atlantic salmon, the microbial overlap was high between the intestine and feeds but low between the intestine and water.
- The insect meal diets modulated the Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota, resulting in higher mucosal microbiota diversity and enrichment of a particular group of bacteria taxa dominated by members of the *Bacillaceae* family.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The present thesis has generated new knowledge regarding the effects of insect meal diets on the intestinal function, health, and microbiota in Atlantic salmon. Nonetheless, some questions remain unresolved due to resource and methodological limitations. Additional studies will be needed to address the following research questions:

- What is the mechanism behind the reduced intestinal steatosis in salmon fed the insect meal diets?
- What are the functional implications of the intestinal microbiota changes in salmon fed the insect meal diets? Does it affect host health and disease resistance?
- Is the feed microbiota a confounding or contributing factor to the observed diet effects? Or both?
- Why are members of the *Bacillaceae* family enriched in salmon fed the insect meal diets? Is it related to chitin degradation?

REFERENCES

- Aas T. S., Ytrestøyl T., Åsgård T., 2019. Utilization of feed resources in the production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Norway: An update for 2016. Aquac Rep. 15, 100216.
- Adson A., Raub T. J., Burton P. S., Barsuhn C. L., Hilgers A. R., Audus K. L., Ho N. F. H., 1994. Quantitative approaches to delineate paracellular diffusion in cultured epithelial cell monolayers. J Pharm Sci. 83, 1529-1536.
- Aitchison J., 1982. The statistical analysis of compositional data. J R Stat Soc Series B Stat Methodol. 44, 139-160.
- Aitchison J., 1986. The statistical analysis of compositional data. Chapman & Hall, Ltd., London.
- Aitchison J., Barceló-Vidal C., Martín-Fernández J. A., Pawlowsky-Glahn V., 2000. Logratio analysis and compositional distance. Math Geol. 32, 271-275.
- Amasheh S., Fromm M., Günzel D., 2011. Claudins of intestine and nephron–a correlation of molecular tight junction structure and barrier function. Acta Physiol. 201, 133-140.
- Amir A., McDonald D., Navas-Molina J. A., Kopylova E., Morton J. T., Xu Z. Z., Kightley E. P., Thompson L. R., Hyde E. R., Gonzalez A., 2017. Deblur rapidly resolves singlenucleotide community sequence patterns. mSystems. 2, e00191-00116.
- Archie E. A., Tung J., 2015. Social behavior and the microbiome. Curr Opin Behav Sci. 6, 28-34.
- Arrieta M.-C., Bistritz L., Meddings J. B., 2006. Alterations in intestinal permeability. Gut. 55, 1512-1520.
- Askarian F., Zhou Z. G., Olsen R. E., Sperstad S., Ringo E., 2012. Culturable autochthonous gut bacteria in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) fed diets with or without chitin. Characterization by 16S rRNA gene sequencing, ability to produce enzymes and in vitro growth inhibition of four fish pathogens. Aquaculture. 326, 1-8.
- Aßhauer K. P., Wemheuer B., Daniel R., Meinicke P., 2015. Tax4Fun: predicting functional profiles from metagenomic 16S rRNA data. Bioinformatics. 31, 2882-2884.
- Baeverfjord G., Krogdahl A., 1996. Development and regression of soybean meal induced enteritis in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L, distal intestine: A comparison with the intestines of fasted fish. J Fish Dis. 19, 375-387.
- Bakke-McKellep A. M., Nordrum S., Krogdahl Å., Buddington R. K., 2000. Absorption of glucose, amino acids, and dipeptides by the intestines of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Fish Physiol Biochem. 22, 33-44.
- Bakke-McKellep A., Frøystad M., Lilleeng E., Dapra F., Refstie S., Krogdahl Å., Landsverk T., 2007. Response to soy: T-cell-like reactivity in the intestine of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. J Fish Dis. 30, 13-25.

- Bakke A. M., Glover C., Krogdahl Å., 2011. Feeding, digestion and absorption of nutrients. in: Grosell, M., Farrell, A.P., Brauner, C.J. (Eds.), The mutifunctional gut of fish.
- Balla K. M., Lugo-Villarino G., Spitsbergen J. M., Stachura D. L., Hu Y., Bañuelos K., Romo-Fewell O., Aroian R. V., Traver D., 2010. Eosinophils in the zebrafish: prospective isolation, characterization, and eosinophilia induction by helminth determinants. Blood. 116, 3944-3954.
- Barroso F. G., de Haro C., Sánchez-Muros M.-J., Venegas E., Martínez-Sánchez A., Pérez-Bañón C., 2014. The potential of various insect species for use as food for fish. Aquaculture. 422-423, 193-201.
- Bassity E., Clark T. G., 2012. Functional identification of dendritic cells in the teleost model, rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). PLoS one. 7, e33196.
- Basu N., Todgham A. E., Ackerman P. A., Bibeau M. R., Nakano K., Schulte P. M., Iwama G. K., 2002. Heat shock protein genes and their functional significance in fish. Gene. 295, 173-183.
- Bates J. M., Akerlund J., Mittge E., Guillemin K., 2007. Intestinal alkaline phosphatase detoxifies lipopolysaccharide and prevents inflammation in zebrafish in response to the gut microbiota. Cell Host Microbe. 2, 371-382.
- Bates J. M., Mittge E., Kuhlman J., Baden K. N., Cheesman S. E., Guillemin K., 2006a. Distinct signals from the microbiota promote different aspects of zebrafish gut differentiation. Developmental biology. 297, 374-386.
- Bates J. M., Mittge E., Kuhlman J., Baden K. N., Cheesman S. E., Guillemin K., 2006b. Distinct signals from the microbiota promote different aspects of zebrafish gut differentiation. Dev Biol. 297, 374-386.
- Beier S., Bertilsson S., 2013. Bacterial chitin degradation—mechanisms and ecophysiological strategies. Front. Microbiol. 4, 149.
- Belghit I., Waagbø R., Lock E. J., Liland N. S., 2019a. Insect-based diets high in lauric acid reduce liver lipids in freshwater Atlantic salmon. Aquac Nutr. 25, 343-357.
- Belghit I., Liland N. S., Waagbo R., Biancarosa I., Pelusio N., Li Y. X., Krogdahl A., Lock E. J., 2018. Potential of insect-based diets for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture. 491, 72-81.
- Belghit I., Liland N. S., Gjesdal P., Biancarosa I., Menchetti E., Li Y. X., Waagbo R., Krogdahl A., Lock E. J., 2019b. Black soldier fly larvae meal can replace fish meal in diets of seawater phase Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture. 503, 609-619.
- Bergstrom K. S. B., Kissoon-Singh V., Gibson D. L., Ma C., Montero M., Sham H. P., Ryz N., Huang T., Velcich A., Finlay B. B., 2010. Muc2 protects against lethal infectious colitis by disassociating pathogenic and commensal bacteria from the colonic mucosa. PLoS Pathog. 6, e1000902.
- Bernard D., Six A., Rigottier-Gois L., Messiaen S., Chilmonczyk S., Quillet E., Boudinot P., Benmansour A., 2006. Phenotypic and functional similarity of gut intraepithelial and systemic T cells in a teleost fish. J Immunol. 176, 3942-3949.

- Biancarosa I., Sele V., Belghit I., Ørnsrud R., Lock E.-J., Amlund H., 2019. Replacing fish meal with insect meal in the diet of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) does not impact the amount of contaminants in the feed and it lowers accumulation of arsenic in the fillet. Food Addit Contam, Part A: Chem, Anal, Control, Exposure Risk Assess. 36, 1191-1205.
- Bjørgen H., Li Y., Kortner T. M., Krogdahl Å., Koppang E. O., 2020. Anatomy, immunology, digestive physiology and microbiota of the salmonid intestine: Knowns and unknowns under the impact of an expanding industrialized production. Fish Shellfish Immunol.
- Bjørgen H., Hellberg H., Løken O. M., Gunnes G., Koppang E. O., Dale O. B., 2019. Tumor microenvironment and stroma in intestinal adenocarcinomas and associated metastases in Atlantic salmon broodfish (*Salmo salar*). Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 214, 109891.
- Bokulich N. A., Rideout J. R., Mercurio W. G., Shiffer A., Wolfe B., Maurice C. F., Dutton R. J., Turnbaugh P. J., Knight R., Caporaso J. G., 2016. mockrobiota: a public resource for microbiome bioinformatics benchmarking. mSystems. 1.
- Boltaña S., Roher N., Goetz F. W., MacKenzie S. A., 2011. PAMPs, PRRs and the genomics of gram negative bacterial recognition in fish. Dev Comp Immunol. 35, 1195-1203.
- Bondari K., Sheppard D., 1987. Soldier fly, *Hermetia illucens* L., larvae as feed for channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus* (Rafinesque), and blue tilapia, *Oreochromis aureus* (Steindachner). Aquacult Fish Manage. 18, 209-220.
- Borgogno M., Dinnella C., Iaconisi V., Fusi R., Scarpaleggia C., Schiavone A., Monteleone E., Gasco L., Parisi G., 2017. Inclusion of *Hermetia illucens* larvae meal on rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) feed: effect on sensory profile according to static and dynamic evaluations. J Sci Food Agric. 97, 3402-3411.
- Boschi I., Randelli E., Buonocore F., Casani D., Bernini C., Fausto A. M., Scapigliati G., 2011. Transcription of T cell-related genes in teleost fish, and the European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) as a model. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 31, 655-662.
- Brooks J. P., Edwards D. J., Harwich M. D., Rivera M. C., Fettweis J. M., Serrano M. G., Reris R. A., Sheth N. U., Huang B., Girerd P., 2015. The truth about metagenomics: quantifying and counteracting bias in 16S rRNA studies. BMC Microbiol. 15, 66.
- Bruni L., Pastorelli R., Viti C., Gasco L., Parisi G., 2018. Characterisation of the intestinal microbial communities of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fed with *Hermetia illucens* (black soldier fly) partially defatted larva meal as partial dietary protein source. Aquaculture. 487, 56-63.
- Bruno D., Bonelli M., De Filippis F., Di Lelio I., Tettamanti G., Casartelli M., Ercolini D., Caccia S., 2019. The intestinal microbiota of *Hermetia illucens* larvae is affected by diet and shows a diverse composition in the different midgut regions. Appl Environ Microbiol. 85, e01864-01818.
- Bucheli T. D., Fent K., 1995. Induction of cytochrome P450 as a biomarker for environmental contamination in aquatic ecosystems. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol. 25, 201-268.

- Buddington R. K., Krogdahl Å., BakkeMcKellep A. M., 1997. The intestines of carnivorous fish: structure and functions and the relations with diet. Acta Physiol Scand. 161, 67-80.
- Cai L., Ye L., Tong A. H. Y., Lok S., Zhang T., 2013. Biased diversity metrics revealed by bacterial 16S pyrotags derived from different primer sets. PloS one. 8, e53649.
- Calgaro M., Romualdi C., Waldron L., Risso D., Vitulo N., 2020. Assessment of statistical methods from single cell, bulk RNA-seq, and metagenomics applied to microbiome data. Genome biology. 21, 191.
- Callahan B. J., Grinevich D., Thakur S., Balamotis M. A., Yehezkel T. B., 2021. Ultra-accurate microbial amplicon sequencing with synthetic long reads. Microbiome. 9, 130.
- Callahan B. J., McMurdie P. J., Rosen M. J., Han A. W., Johnson A. J. A., Holmes S. P., 2016. DADA2: high-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat Methods. 13, 581-583.
- Callahan B. J., Wong J., Heiner C., Oh S., Theriot C. M., Gulati A. S., McGill S. K., Dougherty M. K., 2019. High-throughput amplicon sequencing of the full-length 16S rRNA gene with single-nucleotide resolution. Nucleic Acids Res. 47, e103-e103.
- Camilleri M., Madsen K., Spiller R., Van Meerveld B., Verne G., 2012. Intestinal barrier function in health and gastrointestinal disease. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 24, 503-512.
- Cantas L., Fraser T. W. K., Fjelldal P. G., Mayer I., Sorum H., 2011. The culturable intestinal microbiota of triploid and diploid juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) a comparison of composition and drug resistance. Bmc Vet Res. 7, 71.
- Capunitan D. C., Johnson O., Terrill R. S., Hird S. M., 2020. Evolutionary signal in the gut microbiomes of 74 bird species from Equatorial Guinea. Mol Ecol. 29, 829-847.
- Castro R., Bernard D., Lefranc M. P., Six A., Benmansour A., Boudinot P., 2011. T cell diversity and TcR repertoires in teleost fish. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 31, 644-654.
- Cheaib B., Yang P., Kazlauskaite R., Lindsay E., Heys C., Dwyer T., De Noa M., Schaal P., Sloan W., Ijaz U. Z., Llewellyn M. S., 2021. Genome erosion and evidence for an intracellular niche exploring the biology of mycoplasmas in Atlantic salmon. Aquaculture, 736772.
- Cheroutre H., Lambolez F., Mucida D., 2011. The light and dark sides of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. Nature reviews. Immunology. 11, 445-456.
- Chikwati E. M., Midtlyng P. J., Krogdahl Å., 2018. Gut health monitoring during the seawater phase of farmed Atlantic salmon in different production regions of Norway – the Gutmatters project, 8th International Symposium on Aquatic Aanimal Health, Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, Canada, pp. 400.
- Cody R., 1989. Distribution of chitinase and chitobiase in *Bacillus*. Curr Microbiol. 19, 201-205.
- Coombes J. L., Powrie F., 2008. Dendritic cells in intestinal immune regulation. Nature reviews. Immunology. 8, 435-446.

- Danilova N., Bussmann J., Jekosch K., Steiner L. A., 2005. The immunoglobulin heavy-chain locus in zebrafish: identification and expression of a previously unknown isotype, immunoglobulin Z. Nature immunology. 6, 295-302.
- David L. A., Maurice C. F., Carmody R. N., Gootenberg D. B., Button J. E., Wolfe B. E., Ling A. V., Devlin A. S., Varma Y., Fischbach M. A., Biddinger S. B., Dutton R. J., Turnbaugh P. J., 2014. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. Nature. 505, 559-563.
- de Boer R., Peters R., Gierveld S., Schuurman T., Kooistra-Smid M., Savelkoul P., 2010. Improved detection of microbial DNA after bead-beating before DNA isolation. J Microbiol Methods. 80, 209-211.
- De Filippo C., Cavalieri D., Di Paola M., Ramazzotti M., Poullet J. B., Massart S., Collini S., Pieraccini G., Lionetti P., 2010. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 107, 14691-14696.
- de Goffau M. C., Lager S., Sovio U., Gaccioli F., Cook E., Peacock S. J., Parkhill J., Charnock-Jones D. S., Smith G. C. S., 2019. Human placenta has no microbiome but can contain potential pathogens. Nature. 572, 329-334.
- De Santis C., Ruohonen K., Tocher D. R., Martin S. A. M., Krol E., Secombes C. J., Bell J. G., El-Mowafi A., Crampton V. O., 2015. Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) part as a model to predict the optimum inclusion of air classified faba bean protein concentrate in feeds for seawater salmon. Aquaculture. 444, 70-78.
- Debelius J., Song S. J., Vazquez-Baeza Y., Xu Z. Z., Gonzalez A., Knight R., 2016. Tiny microbes, enormous impacts: what matters in gut microbiome studies? Genome biology. 17, 217.
- Dehler C. E., Secombes C. J., Martin S. A. M., 2017. Seawater transfer alters the intestinal microbiota profiles of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Sci Rep. 7, 13877.
- Denstadli V., Vegusdal A., Krogdahl Å., Bakke-McKellep A. M., Berge G. M., Holm H., Hillestad M., Ruyter B., 2004. Lipid absorption in different segments of the gastrointestinal tract of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquaculture. 240, 385-398.
- Devic E., Leschen W., Murray F., Little D. C., 2017. Growth performance, feed utilization and body composition of advanced nursing Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) fed diets containing Black Soldier Fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal. Aquac Nutr. 24, 416-423.
- Devkota S., Wang Y., Musch M. W., Leone V., Fehlner-Peach H., Nadimpalli A., Antonopoulos D. A., Jabri B., Chang E. B., 2012. Dietary-fat-induced taurocholic acid promotes pathobiont expansion and colitis in Il10-/-mice. Nature.
- Diener S., Zurbrügg C., Tockner K., 2015. Bioaccumulation of heavy metals in the black soldier fly, *Hermetia illucens* and effects on its life cycle. J Insects Food Feed. 1, 261-270.

- Douglas G. M., Maffei V. J., Zaneveld J. R., Yurgel S. N., Brown J. R., Taylor C. M., Huttenhower C., Langille M. G. I., 2020. PICRUSt2 for prediction of metagenome functions. Nat Biotechnol.
- Dvergedal H., Sandve S. R., Angell I. L., Klemetsdal G., Rudi K., 2020. Association of gut microbiota with metabolism in juvenile Atlantic salmon. Microbiome. 8, 160.
- Edgar R. C., 2016. UNOISE2: improved error-correction for Illumina 16S and ITS amplicon sequencing. BioRxiv, 081257.
- Eisenhofer R., Minich J. J., Marotz C., Cooper A., Knight R., Weyrich L. S., 2019. Contamination in low microbial biomass microbiome studies: issues and recommendations. Trends Microbiol. 27, 105-117.
- Emerson J. B., Adams R. I., Roman C. M. B., Brooks B., Coil D. A., Dahlhausen K., Ganz H. H., Hartmann E. M., Hsu T., Justice N. B., Paulino-Lima I. G., Luongo J. C., Lymperopoulou D. S., Gomez-Silvan C., Rothschild-Mancinelli B., Balk M., Huttenhower C., Nocker A., Vaishampayan P., Rothschild L. J., 2017. Schrodinger's microbes: Tools for distinguishing the living from the dead in microbial ecosystems. Microbiome. 5, 86.
- Erb I., Notredame C., 2016. How should we measure proportionality on relative gene expression data? Theor Biosci. 135, 21-36.
- EU, 2017. Commission Regulation (EU) 2017/893 of 24 May 2017 amending Annexes I and IV to Regulation (EC) No 999/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council and Annexes X, XIV and XV to Commission Regulation (EU) No 142/2011 as regards the provisions on processed animal protein. Off J Eur Communities. 138, 92-116.
- Falcinelli S., Picchietti S., Rodiles A., Cossignani L., Merrifield D. L., Taddei A. R., Maradonna F., Olivotto I., Gioacchini G., Carnevali O., 2015. *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* lowers zebrafish lipid content by changing gut microbiota and host transcription of genes involved in lipid metabolism. Sci Rep. 5, 9336.
- Falk P. G., Hooper L. V., Midtvedt T., Gordon J. I., 1998. Creating and maintaining the gastrointestinal ecosystem: what we know and need to know from gnotobiology. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 62, 1157-1170.
- FAO, 2020. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. FAO, Rome, Italy.
- Fernandes A. D., Reid J. N., Macklaim J. M., McMurrough T. A., Edgell D. R., Gloor G. B., 2014. Unifying the analysis of high-throughput sequencing datasets: characterizing RNAseq, 16S rRNA gene sequencing and selective growth experiments by compositional data analysis. Microbiome. 2, 15.
- Fontaine S. S., Kohl K. D., 2020. Optimal integration between host physiology and functions of the gut microbiome. Phil Trans R Soc B. 375, 20190594.
- Friedman J., Alm E. J., 2012. Inferring correlation networks from genomic survey data. PLoS Comput Biol. 8, e1002687.
- Fuglem B., Jirillo E., Bjerkås I., Kiyono H., Nochi T., Yuki Y., Raida M., Fischer U., Koppang E. O., 2010. Antigen-sampling cells in the salmonid intestinal epithelium. Dev Comp Immunol. 34, 768-774.

- Furusawa Y., Obata Y., Fukuda S., Endo T. A., Nakato G., Takahashi D., Nakanishi Y., Uetake C., Kato K., Kato T., Takahashi M., Fukuda N. N., Murakami S., Miyauchi E., Hino S., Atarashi K., Onawa S., Fujimura Y., Lockett T., Clarke J. M., Topping D. L., Tomita M., Hori S., Ohara O., Morita T., Koseki H., Kikuchi J., Honda K., Hase K., Ohno H., 2013. Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells. Nature. 504, 446-+.
- Gajardo K., 2016. Nutrition and intestinal health in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): involvement of antinutrients and microbiota. Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås.
- Gajardo K., Rodiles A., Kortner T. M., Krogdahl Å., Bakke A. M., Merrifield D. L., Sørum H., 2016. A high-resolution map of the gut microbiota in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): A basis for comparative gut microbial research. Sci Rep. 6, 30893.
- Gajardo K., Jaramillo-Torres A., Kortner T. M., Merrifield D. L., Tinsley J., Bakke A. M., Krogdahl Å., 2017. Alternative protein sources in the diet modulate microbiota and functionality in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Applied and environmental microbiology. 83, e02615-02616.
- Glassing A., Dowd S. E., Galandiuk S., Davis B., Chiodini R. J., 2016. Inherent bacterial DNA contamination of extraction and sequencing reagents may affect interpretation of microbiota in low bacterial biomass samples. Gut Pathog. 8, 24.
- Glassman S. I., Martiny J. B. H., 2018. Broadscale ecological patterns are robust to use of exact sequence variants versus operational taxonomic units. mSphere. 3, e00148-00118.
- Glencross B. D., Huyben D., Schrama J. W., 2020. The application of single-cell ingredients in aquaculture feeds—a review. Fishes. 5, 22.
- Gloor G. B., Macklaim J. M., Pawlowsky-Glahn V., Egozcue J. J., 2017. Microbiome datasets are compositional: and this is not optional. Front. Microbiol. 8, 2224.
- Gomez D., Sunyer J. O., Salinas I., 2013. The mucosal immune system of fish: The evolution of tolerating commensals while fighting pathogens. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 35, 1729-1739.
- Goodrich J. K., Di Rienzi S. C., Poole A. C., Koren O., Walters W. A., Caporaso J. G., Knight R., Ley R. E., 2014. Conducting a microbiome study. Cell. 158, 250-262.
- Grammes F., Reveco F. E., Romarheim O. H., Landsverk T., Mydland L. T., Øverland M., 2013. *Candida utilis* and *Chlorella vulgaris* counteract intestinal inflammation in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). PloS one. 8.
- Groschwitz K. R., Hogan S. P., 2009. Intestinal barrier function: Molecular regulation and disease pathogenesis. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 124, 3-20.
- Gu M., Kortner T. M., Penn M., Hansen A. K., Krogdahl Å., 2014. Effects of dietary plant meal and soya-saponin supplementation on intestinal and hepatic lipid droplet accumulation and lipoprotein and sterol metabolism in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Br J Nutr. 111, 432-444.

- Gupta S., Feckaninova A., Lokesh J., Koscova J., Sorensen M., Femandes J., Kiron V., 2019a. Lactobacillus dominate in the intestine of Atlantic salmon fed dietary probiotics. Front. Microbiol. 9.
- Gupta S., Lokesh J., Abdelhafiz Y., Siriyappagouder P., Pierre R., Sorensen M., Fernandes J. M. O., Kiron V., 2019b. Macroalga-derived alginate oligosaccharide alters intestinal bacteria of Atlantic salmon. Front. Microbiol. 10.
- Gupta S. C., Sharma A., Mishra M., Mishra R. K., Chowdhuri D. K., 2010. Heat shock proteins in toxicology: how close and how far? Life Sci. 86, 377-384.
- Haiser H. J., Gootenberg D. B., Chatman K., Sirasani G., Balskus E. P., Turnbaugh P. J., 2013. Predicting and manipulating cardiac drug inactivation by the human gut bacterium *Eggerthella lenta*. Science. 341, 295-298.
- Hanche-Olsen R., Brunvold L., Hillestad M., Lysne H., Løland A. D., Penn M., 2013. Sluttrapport: Nedsatt tarmhelse og forekomst av flytefeces hos laks (In Norwegian)., Helgeland Havbruksstasjon, 2013. Accessed: May 21, 2018. URL: <u>https://www.fhf.no/prosjektdetaljer/?projectNumber=900722</u>.
- Hansen A. K. G., Kortner T. M., Krasnov A., Bjorkhem I., Penn M., Krogdahl A., 2020a. Choline supplementation prevents diet induced gut mucosa lipid accumulation in post-smolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Bmc Vet Res. 16.
- Hansen A. K. G., Kortner T. M., Denstadli V., Måsøval K., Björkhem I., Grav H. J., Krogdahl Å., 2020b. Dose–response relationship between dietary choline and lipid accumulation in pyloric enterocytes of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) in seawater. The British journal of nutrition. 123, 1081-1093.
- Hansen J. O., Hofossaeter M., Sahlmann C., Anestad R., Reveco-Urzua F. E., Press C. M., Mydland L. T., Overland M., 2019. Effect of *Candida utilis* on growth and intestinal health of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) parr. Aquaculture. 511.
- Harstad H., Lukacs M. F., Bakke H. G., Grimholt U., 2008. Multiple expressed MHC class II loci in salmonids; details of one non-classical region in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). BMC Genomics. 9, 193.
- Hatje E., Neuman C., Stevenson H., Bowman J. P., Katouli M., 2014. Population dynamics of Vibrio and Pseudomonas species isolated from farmed Tasmanian Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.): a seasonal study. Microb Ecol. 68, 679-687.
- Hawinkel S., Mattiello F., Bijnens L., Thas O., 2017. A broken promise: microbiome differential abundance methods do not control the false discovery rate. Brief Bioinform. 20, 210-221.
- Henry M., Gasco L., Piccolo G., Fountoulaki E., 2015. Review on the use of insects in the diet of farmed fish: Past and future. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 203, 1-22.
- Hermiston M. L., Gordon J. I., 1995. In vivo analysis of cadherin function in the mouse intestinal epithelium: essential roles in adhesion, maintenance of differentiation, and regulation of programmed cell death. J Cell Biol. 129, 489-506.

- Heys C., Cheaib B., Busetti A., Kazlauskaite R., Maier L., Sloan W. T., Ijaz U. Z., Kaufmann J., McGinnity P., Llewellyn M. S., 2020. Neutral Processes Dominate Microbial Community Assembly in Atlantic Salmon, *Salmo salar*. Applied and environmental microbiology. 86.
- Hryckowian A. J., Van Treuren W., Smits S. A., Davis N. M., Gardner J. O., Bouley D. M., Sonnenburg J. L., 2018. Microbiota-accessible carbohydrates suppress *Clostridium difficile* infection in a murine model. Nat Microbiol. 3, 662-669.
- Hu J. R., Wang G. X., Huang Y. H., Sun Y. P., He F., Zhao H. X., Li N. N., 2017. Effects of Substitution of Fish Meal with Black Soldier Fly (*Hermetia illucens*) Larvae Meal, in Yellow Catfish (*Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*) Diets. Isr J Aquacult-Bamid. 69.
- Hua K., 2021. A meta-analysis of the effects of replacing fish meals with insect meals on growth performance of fish. Aquaculture. 530.
- Hunter M. C., Smith R. G., Schipanski M. E., Atwood L. W., Mortensen D. A., 2017. Agriculture in 2050: recalibrating targets for sustainable intensification. Bioscience. 67, 386-391.
- Huse S. M., Dethlefsen L., Huber J. A., Welch D. M., Relman D. A., Sogin M. L., 2008. Exploring microbial diversity and taxonomy using SSU rRNA hypervariable tag sequencing. PLoS Genet. 4, e1000255.
- Huyben D., Vidaković A., Hallgren S. W., Langeland M., 2019. High-throughput sequencing of gut microbiota in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fed larval and pre-pupae stages of black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*). Aquaculture. 500, 485-491.
- Ivanov I. I., Atarashi K., Manel N., Brodie E. L., Shima T., Karaoz U., Wei D., Goldfarb K. C., Santee C. A., Lynch S. V., Tanoue T., Imaoka A., Itoh K., Takeda K., Umesaki Y., Honda K., Littman D. R., 2009. Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. Cell. 139, 485-498.
- Janssen S., McDonald D., Gonzalez A., Navas-Molina J. A., Jiang L., Xu Z. Z., Winker K., Kado D. M., Orwoll E., Manary M., 2018. Phylogenetic placement of exact amplicon sequences improves associations with clinical information. mSystems. 3, e00021-00018.
- Jaramillo-Torres A., Rawling M. D., Rodiles A., Mikalsen H. E., Johansen L. H., Tinsley J., Forberg T., Aasum E., Castex M., Merrifield D. L., 2019. Influence of dietary supplementation of probiotic *Pediococcus acidilactici* MA18/5M during the transition from freshwater to seawater on intestinal health and microbiota of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Front. Microbiol. 10, 2243.
- Jeon S. R., Chai J., Kim C., Lee C. H., 2018. Current evidence for the management of inflammatory bowel diseases using fecal microbiota transplantation. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 20, 21.
- Jiang C. L., Jin W. Z., Tao X. H., Zhang Q., Zhu J., Feng S. Y., Xu X. H., Li H. Y., Wang Z. H., Zhang Z. J., 2019. Black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*) strengthen the metabolic function of food waste biodegradation by gut microbiome. Microb Biotechnol. 12, 528-543.

- Jin Y., Angell I. L., Rod Sandve S., Snipen L. G., Olsen Y., Rudi K., 2019. Atlantic salmon raised with diets low in long-chain polyunsaturated n-3 fatty acids in freshwater have a *Mycoplasma*-dominated gut microbiota at sea. Aquac. Environ. Interact. 11, 31-39.
- Johnson W. E., Li C., Rabinovic A., 2007. Adjusting batch effects in microarray expression data using empirical Bayes methods. Biostatistics. 8, 118-127.
- Jozefiak A., Nogales-Merida S., Rawski M., Kieronczyk B., Mazurkiewicz J., 2019. Effects of insect diets on the gastrointestinal tract health and growth performance of Siberian sturgeon (*Acipenser baerii* Brandt, 1869). BMC Microbiol. 15.
- Kaddurah-Daouk R., Baillie R. A., Zhu H., Zeng Z.-B., Wiest M. M., Nguyen U. T., Wojnoonski K., Watkins S. M., Trupp M., Krauss R. M., 2011. Enteric microbiome metabolites correlate with response to simvastatin treatment. PLoS one. 6, e25482.
- Karlsen C., Ottem K. F., Brevik O. J., Davey M., Sorum H., Winther-Larsen H. C., 2017. The environmental and host-associated bacterial microbiota of Arctic seawater-farmed Atlantic salmon with ulcerative disorders. J Fish Dis. 40, 1645-1663.
- Karst S. M., Ziels R. M., Kirkegaard R. H., Sørensen E. A., McDonald D., Zhu Q., Knight R., Albertsen M., 2021. High-accuracy long-read amplicon sequences using unique molecular identifiers with Nanopore or PacBio sequencing. Nat Methods.
- Karstens L., Asquith M., Davin S., Fair D., Gregory W. T., Wolfe A. J., Braun J., McWeeney S., 2019. Controlling for contaminants in low-biomass 16s rRNA gene sequencing experiments. mSystems. 4.
- Katoh K., Standley D. M., 2013. MAFFT multiple sequence alignment software version 7: improvements in performance and usability. Mol Biol Evol. 30, 772-780.
- Kembel S. W., Wu M., Eisen J. A., Green J. L., 2012. Incorporating 16S gene copy number information improves estimates of microbial diversity and abundance. PLoS Comput Biol. 8, e1002743.
- Khalili Tilami S., Sampels S., 2018. Nutritional value of fish: lipids, proteins, vitamins, and minerals. Rev Fish Sci Aquac. 26, 243-253.
- Kim D., Hofstaedter C. E., Zhao C., Mattei L., Tanes C., Clarke E., Lauder A., Sherrill-Mix S., Chehoud C., Kelsen J., 2017. Optimizing methods and dodging pitfalls in microbiome research. Microbiome. 5, 52.
- Kim M., Morrison M., Yu Z., 2011. Evaluation of different partial 16S rRNA gene sequence regions for phylogenetic analysis of microbiomes. J Microbiol Methods. 84, 81-87.
- Klakegg Ø., Salonius K., Nilsen A., Fülberth M., Sørum H., 2020a. Enhanced growth and decreased mortality in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) after probiotic bath. J Appl Microbiol. 129, 146-160.
- Klakegg Ø., Myhren S., Juell R. A., Aase M., Salonius K., Sørum H., 2020b. Improved health and better survival of farmed lumpfish (*Cyclopterus lumpus*) after a probiotic bath with two probiotic strains of *Aliivibrio*. Aquaculture. 518, 734810.

- Klindworth A., Pruesse E., Schweer T., Peplies J., Quast C., Horn M., Glöckner F. O., 2013. Evaluation of general 16S ribosomal RNA gene PCR primers for classical and nextgeneration sequencing-based diversity studies. Nucleic Acids Res. 41, e1-e1.
- Knight R., Vrbanac A., Taylor B. C., Aksenov A., Callewaert C., Debelius J., Gonzalez A., Kosciolek T., McCall L.-I., McDonald D., 2018. Best practices for analysing microbiomes. Nature reviews. Microbiology, 1.
- Knudsen D., Jutfelt F., Sundh H., Sundell K., Koppe W., Frøkiær H., 2008. Dietary soya saponins increase gut permeability and play a key role in the onset of soyabeaninduced enteritis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). Br J Nutr. 100, 120-129.
- Koppang E., Press C. M., Rønningen K., Lie Ø., 1998a. Expression of Mhc class I mRNA in tissues from vaccinated and non-vaccinated Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 8, 577-587.
- Koppang E., Lundin M., Press C. M., Rønningen K., Lie Ø., 1998b. Differing levels of Mhc class II β chain expression in a range of tissues from vaccinated and non-vaccinated Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 8, 183-196.
- Kortner T. M., Gu J., Krogdahl Å., Bakke A. M., 2013. Transcriptional regulation of cholesterol and bile acid metabolism after dietary soybean meal treatment in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. Br J Nutr. 109, 593-604.
- Kortner T. M., Bjorkhem I., Krasnov A., Timmerhaus G., Krogdahl A., 2014. Dietary cholesterol supplementation to a plant-based diet suppresses the complete pathway of cholesterol synthesis and induces bile acid production in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Br J Nutr. 111, 2089-2103.
- Kortner T. M., Penn M. H., Bjorkhem I., Masoval K., Krogdahl A., 2016. Bile components and lecithin supplemented to plant based diets do not diminish diet related intestinal inflammation in Atlantic salmon. Bmc Vet Res. 12.
- Kroeckel S., Harjes A. G. E., Roth I., Katz H., Wuertz S., Susenbeth A., Schulz C., 2012. When a turbot catches a fly: Evaluation of a pre-pupae meal of the Black Soldier Fly (*Hermetia illucens*) as fish meal substitute — Growth performance and chitin degradation in juvenile turbot (*Psetta maxima*). Aquaculture. 364-365, 345-352.
- Krogdahl Å., Penn M., Thorsen J., Refstie S., Bakke A. M., 2010. Important antinutrients in plant feedstuffs for aquaculture: an update on recent findings regarding responses in salmonids. Aquacult Res. 41, 333-344.
- Krogdahl Å., Hansen A. K. G., Kortner T. M., Bjorkhem I., Krasnov A., Denstadli V., 2020. Choline and phosphatidylcholine, but not methionine, cysteine, taurine and taurocholate, eliminate excessive gut mucosal lipid accumulation in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L). Aquaculture. Provisionally accepted.
- Krogdahl Å., Gajardo K., Kortner T. M., Penn M., Gu M., Berge G. M., Bakke A. M., 2015. Soya saponins induce enteritis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). J Agric Food Chem. 63, 3887-3902.

- Kurtz Z. D., Müller C. L., Miraldi E. R., Littman D. R., Blaser M. J., Bonneau R. A., 2015. Sparse and compositionally robust inference of microbial ecological networks. PLoS Comput Biol. 11, e1004226.
- Lal-Nag M., Morin P. J., 2009. The claudins. Genome biology. 10, 1-7.
- Lang T., Hansson G. C., Samuelsson T., 2007. Gel-forming mucins appeared early in metazoan evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 104, 16209-16214.
- Lang T., Alexandersson M., Hansson G. C., Samuelsson T., 2004. Bioinformatic identification of polymerizing and transmembrane mucins in the puffer fish *Fugu rubripes*. Glycobiology. 14, 521-527.
- Langille M. G., Zaneveld J., Caporaso J. G., McDonald D., Knights D., Reyes J. A., Clemente J. C., Burkepile D. E., Thurber R. L. V., Knight R., 2013. Predictive functional profiling of microbial communities using 16S rRNA marker gene sequences. Nat Biotechnol. 31, 814-821.
- Lauder A. P., Roche A. M., Sherrill-Mix S., Bailey A., Laughlin A. L., Bittinger K., Leite R., Elovitz M. A., Parry S., Bushman F. D., 2016. Comparison of placenta samples with contamination controls does not provide evidence for a distinct placenta microbiota. Microbiome. 4, 29.
- Law C. W., Chen Y., Shi W., Smyth G. K., 2014. voom: Precision weights unlock linear model analysis tools for RNA-seq read counts. Genome biology. 15, R29.
- Lê Cao K.-A., Costello M.-E., Lakis V. A., Bartolo F., Chua X.-Y., Brazeilles R., Rondeau P., 2016. MixMC: a multivariate statistical framework to gain insight into microbial communities. PloS one. 11, e0160169.
- LeBlanc J. G., Milani C., De Giori G. S., Sesma F., Van Sinderen D., Ventura M., 2013. Bacteria as vitamin suppliers to their host: a gut microbiota perspective. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 24, 160-168.
- Leek J. T., Scharpf R. B., Bravo H. C., Simcha D., Langmead B., Johnson W. E., Geman D., Baggerly K., Irizarry R. A., 2010. Tackling the widespread and critical impact of batch effects in high-throughput data. Nat Rev Genet. 11, 733-739.
- Levy-Booth D. J., Campbell R. G., Gulden R. H., Hart M. M., Powell J. R., Klironomos J. N., Pauls K. P., Swanton C. J., Trevors J. T., Dunfield K. E., 2007. Cycling of extracellular DNA in the soil environment. Soil Biol Biochem. 39, 2977-2991.
- Li S., Ji H., Zhang B., Zhou J., Yu H., 2017. Defatted black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal in diets for juvenile Jian carp (*Cyprinus carpio* var. *Jian*): Growth performance, antioxidant enzyme activities, digestive enzyme activities, intestine and hepatopancreas histological structure. Aquaculture. 477, 62-70.
- Li S., Ji H., Zhang B., Tian J., Zhou J., Yu H., 2016. Influence of black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae oil on growth performance, body composition, tissue fatty acid composition and lipid deposition in juvenile Jian carp (*Cyprinus Carpio* var. *Jian*). Aquaculture. 465, 43-52.

- Liu W., Yang Y., Zhang J., Gatlin D. M., Ringø E., Zhou Z., 2014. Effects of dietary microencapsulated sodium butyrate on growth, intestinal mucosal morphology, immune response and adhesive bacteria in juvenile common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) pre-fed with or without oxidised oil. The British journal of nutrition, 1-15.
- Llewellyn M. S., McGinnity P., Dionne M., Letourneau J., Thonier F., Carvalho G. R., Creer S., Derome N., 2016. The biogeography of the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) gut microbiome. The ISME journal. 10, 1280-1284.
- Lock E. R., Arsiwalla T., Waagbø R., 2016. Insect larvae meal as an alternative source of nutrients in the diet of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) postsmolt. Aquac Nutr. 22, 1202-1213.
- Lokesh J., Kiron V., Sipkema D., Fernandes J. M. O., Moum T., 2019. Succession of embryonic and the intestinal bacterial communities of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) reveals stage-specific microbial signatures. MicrobiologyOpen. 8, e00672.
- Løkka G., Koppang E. O., 2016. Antigen sampling in the fish intestine. Dev Comp Immunol. 64, 138-149.
- Løkka G., Falk K., Austbø L., Koppang E. O., 2014. Uptake of yeast cells in the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) intestine. Dev Comp Immunol. 47, 77-80.
- Løkka G., Austbø L., Falk K., Bjerkås I., Koppang E. O., 2013. Intestinal morphology of the wild Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). J Morphol. 274, 859-876.
- Louca S., Doebeli M., Parfrey L. W., 2018. Correcting for 16S rRNA gene copy numbers in microbiome surveys remains an unsolved problem. Microbiome. 6, 41.
- Love M. I., Huber W., Anders S., 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome biology. 15, 550.
- Lovell D., Pawlowsky-Glahn V., Egozcue J. J., Marguerat S., Bähler J., 2015. Proportionality: A valid alternative to correlation for relative data. PLoS Comput Biol. 11, e1004075.
- Lugo-Villarino G., Balla K. M., Stachura D. L., Bañuelos K., Werneck M. B., Traver D., 2010. Identification of dendritic antigen-presenting cells in the zebrafish. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 107, 15850-15855.
- Lukens J. R., Gurung P., Vogel P., Johnson G. R., Carter R. A., McGoldrick D. J., Bandi S. R., Calabrese C. R., Vande Walle L., Lamkanfi M., Kanneganti T. D., 2014. Dietary modulation of the microbiome affects autoinflammatory disease. Nature. 516, 246-+.
- Magalhães R., Sánchez-López A., Leal R. S., Martínez-Llorens S., Oliva-Teles A., Peres H., 2017. Black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) pre-pupae meal as a fish meal replacement in diets for European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Aquaculture. 476, 79-85.
- Makkar H. P. S., Tran G., Heuzé V., Ankers P., 2014. State-of-the-art on use of insects as animal feed. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 197, 1-33.
- Mallick H., Rahnavard A., McIver L. J., Ma S., Zhang Y., Nguyen L. H., Tickle T. L., Weingart G., Ren B., Schwager E. H., Chatterjee S., Thompson K. N., Wilkinson J. E., Subramanian
A., Lu Y., Waldron L., Paulson J. N., Franzosa E. A., Bravo H. C., Huttenhower C., 2021. Multivariable association discovery in population-scale meta-omics studies. BioRxiv, 2021.2001.2020.427420.

- Mandal S., Van Treuren W., White R. A., Eggesbø M., Knight R., Peddada S. D., 2015. Analysis of composition of microbiomes: a novel method for studying microbial composition. Microb Ecol Health Dis. 26.
- Mantis N. J., Rol N., Corthesy B., 2011. Secretory IgA's complex roles in immunity and mucosal homeostasis in the gut. Mucosal Immunol. 4, 603-611.
- Martin B. D., Witten D., Willis A. D., 2020. Modeling microbial abundances and dysbiosis with beta-binomial regression. Ann Appl Stat. 14, 94-115.
- Mazmanian S. K., Round J. L., Kasper D. L., 2008. A microbial symbiosis factor prevents intestinal inflammatory disease. Nature. 453, 620-625.
- McLaren M. R., Willis A. D., Callahan B. J., 2019. Consistent and correctable bias in metagenomic sequencing experiments. Elife. 8.
- Menard S., Cerf-Bensussan N., Heyman M., 2010. Multiple facets of intestinal permeability and epithelial handling of dietary antigens. Mucosal Immunol. 3, 247-259.
- Moldal T., Løkka G., Wiik-Nielsen J., Austbø L., Torstensen B. E., Rosenlund G., Dale O. B., Kaldhusdal M., Koppang E. O., 2014. Substitution of dietary fish oil with plant oils is associated with shortened mid intestinal folds in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Bmc Vet Res. 10, 60.
- Moossavi S., Atakora F., Fehr K., Khafipour E., 2020. Biological observations in microbiota analysis are robust to the choice of 16S rRNA gene sequencing processing algorithm: case study on human milk microbiota. BMC Microbiol. 20, 1-9.
- Mortensen A. S., Arukwe A., 2007a. Effects of 17α-ethynylestradiol on hormonal responses and xenobiotic biotransformation system of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquat Toxicol. 85, 113-123.
- Mortensen A. S., Arukwe A., 2007b. Modulation of xenobiotic biotransformation system and hormonal responses in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) after exposure to tributyltin (TBT). Comp Biochem Physiol, Part C: Toxicol Pharmacol. 145, 431-441.
- Morton J. T., Marotz C., Washburne A., Silverman J., Zaramela L. S., Edlund A., Zengler K., Knight R., 2019. Establishing microbial composition measurement standards with reference frames. Nat Commun. 10, 2719.
- Morton J. T., Sanders J., Quinn R. A., McDonald D., Gonzalez A., Vázquez-Baeza Y., Navas-Molina J. A., Song S. J., Metcalf J. L., Hyde E. R., 2017. Balance trees reveal microbial niche differentiation. mSystems. 2, e00162-00116.
- Muegge B. D., Kuczynski J., Knights D., Clemente J. C., González A., Fontana L., Henrissat B., Knight R., Gordon J. I., 2011. Diet drives convergence in gut microbiome functions across mammalian phylogeny and within humans. Science. 332, 970-974.

- Muyzer G., De Waal E. C., Uitterlinden A. G., 1993. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reactionamplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. Appl Environ Microbiol. 59, 695-700.
- Narula N., Kassam Z., Yuan Y., Colombel J. F., Ponsioen C., Reinisch W., Moayyedi P., 2017. Systematic review and meta-analysis: fecal microbiota transplantation for treatment of active ulcerative colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 23, 1702-1709.
- Navarrete P., Fuentes P., De la Fuente L., Barros L., Magne F., Opazo R., Ibacache C., Espejo R., Romero J., 2013. Short-term effects of dietary soybean meal and lactic acid bacteria on the intestinal morphology and microbiota of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquac Nutr. 19, 827-836.
- Nearing J. T., Douglas G. M., Hayes M. G., MacDonald J., Desai D., Allward N., Jones C. M. A., Wright R., Dhanani A., Comeau A. M., Langille M. G. I., 2021. Microbiome differential abundance methods produce disturbingly different results across 38 datasets. BioRxiv, 2021.2005.2010.443486.
- Newton G., Booram C., Barker R., Hale O., 1977. Dried larvae meal as a supplement for swine. J Anim Sci. 44, 395-400.
- Nguyen L.-T., Schmidt H. A., von Haeseler A., Minh B. Q., 2015. IQ-TREE: A fast and effective stochastic algorithm for estimating maximum-likelihood phylogenies. Mol Biol Evol. 32, 268-274.
- Niess J. H., Brand S., Gu X. B., Landsman L., Jung S., McCormick B. A., Vyas J. M., Boes M., Ploegh H. L., Fox J. G., Littman D. R., Reinecker H. C., 2005. CX(3)CR1-mediated dendritic cell access to the intestinal lumen and bacterial clearance. Science. 307, 254-258.
- Nordrum S., Olli J. J., Røsjø C., Holm H., Krogdahl Å., 2003. Effects of graded levels of medium chain triglycerides and cysteine on growth, digestive processes and nutrient utilization in sea water reared Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*, L.) under ad libitum feeding regime. Aquac Nutr. 9, 263-274.
- Nylund L., Heilig H. G. H. J., Salminen S., de Vos W. M., Satokari R., 2010. Semi-automated extraction of microbial DNA from feces for qPCR and phylogenetic microarray analysis. J Microbiol Methods. 83, 231-235.
- Ogiwara K., Takahashi T., 2007. Specificity of the medaka enteropeptidase serine protease and its usefulness as a biotechnological tool for fusion-protein cleavage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 104, 7021-7026.
- Panteli N., Mastoraki M., Nikouli E., Lazarina M., Antonopoulou E., Kormas K. A., 2020. Imprinting statistically sound conclusions for gut microbiota in comparative animal studies: a case study with diet and teleost fishes. Comp Biochem Physiol Part D Genomics Proteomics. 36, 100738.
- Paulson J. N., Stine O. C., Bravo H. C., Pop M., 2013. Differential abundance analysis for microbial marker-gene surveys. Nat Methods. 10, 1200-1202.
- Penn M. H., 2011. Lipid malabsorption in Atlantic salmon-the reoccurring problem of floating feces, Fiskehelse. Tekna Fiskehelseforeningen, Oslo, pp. 6-11.

- Penn M. H., Bendiksen E. Å., Campbell P., Krogdahl Å., 2011. High level of dietary pea protein concentrate induces enteropathy in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquaculture. 310, 267-273.
- Picchietti S., Guerra L., Bertoni F., Randelli E., Belardinelli M. C., Buonocore F., Fausto A. M., Rombout J. H., Scapigliati G., Abelli L., 2011. Intestinal T cells of *Dicentrarchus labrax* (L.): Gene expression and functional studies. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 30, 609-617.
- Pichietti S., Guerra L., Bertoni F., Randelli E., Belardinelli M., Buonocore F., Fausto A., Bernini C., Rombout J., Scapigliati G., 2010. Cell mediated intestinal immunity in *Dicentrarchus labrax* (L): gene expression and functional studies, Proceedings of the First EOFFI Symposium European Organisation of Fish Immunology, 23-27 May 2010, Viterbo, Italy, pp. 93.
- Pietramellara G., Ascher J., Borgogni F., Ceccherini M. T., Guerri G., Nannipieri P., 2009. Extracellular DNA in soil and sediment: fate and ecological relevance. Biol Fertil Soils. 45, 219-235.
- Price M. N., Dehal P. S., Arkin A. P., 2010. FastTree 2 Approximately maximum-likelihood trees for large alignments. PloS one. 5, e9490.
- Purschke B., Scheibelberger R., Axmann S., Adler A., Jager H., 2017. Impact of substrate contamination with mycotoxins, heavy metals and pesticides on the growth performance and composition of black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*) for use in the feed and food value chain. Food Addit Contam, Part A: Chem, Anal, Control, Exposure Risk Assess. 34, 1410-1420.
- Qiao Z., Wang X., Zhang H., Han J., Feng H., Wu Z., 2020. Single-cell transcriptomics reveals that metabolites produced by *Paenibacillus bovis* sp. nov. bd3526 ameliorate type 2 diabetes in GK rats by downregulating the inflammatory response. Front. Microbiol. 11, 3196.
- Quinn T. P., Erb I., Richardson M. F., Crowley T. M., 2018. Understanding sequencing data as compositions: an outlook and review. Bioinformatics. 34, 2870-2878.
- Quinn T. P., Erb I., Gloor G., Notredame C., Richardson M. F., Crowley T. M., 2019. A field guide for the compositional analysis of any-omics data. Gigascience. 8, giz107.
- Rajanbabu V., Chen J.-Y., 2011. Applications of antimicrobial peptides from fish and perspectives for the future. Peptides. 32, 415-420.
- Rasmussen J. A., Villumsen K. R., Duchêne D. A., Puetz L. C., Delmont T. O., Sveier H., Jørgensen L. v. G., Præbel K., Martin M. D., Bojesen A. M., Gilbert M. T. P., Kristiansen K., Limborg M. T., 2021. Genome-resolved metagenomics suggests a mutualistic relationship between *Mycoplasma* and salmonid hosts. Commun Biol. 4, 579.
- Rawls J. F., Samuel B. S., Gordon J. I., 2004. Gnotobiotic zebrafish reveal evolutionarily conserved responses to the gut microbiota. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 101, 4596-4601.
- Ray A., Ghosh K., Ringø E., 2012. Enzyme-producing bacteria isolated from fish gut: a review. Aquac Nutr. 18, 465-492.

- Regoli F., Giuliani M. E., 2014. Oxidative pathways of chemical toxicity and oxidative stress biomarkers in marine organisms. Mar Environ Res. 93, 106-117.
- Renna M., Schiavone A., Gai F., Dabbou S., Lussiana C., Malfatto V., Prearo M., Capucchio M. T., Biasato I., Biasibetti E., De Marco M., Brugiapaglia A., Zoccarato I., Gasco L., 2017. Evaluation of the suitability of a partially defatted black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens* L.) larvae meal as ingredient for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) diets. J Anim Sci Biotechnol. 8, 57.
- Reveco-Urzua F. E., Hofossæter M., Kovi M. R., Mydland L. T., Ånestad R., Sørby R., Press C. M., Lagos L., Øverland M., 2019. *Candida utilis* yeast as a functional protein source for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.): Local intestinal tissue and plasma proteome responses. PloS one. 14.
- Reveco F. E., Overland M., Romarheim O. H., Mydland L. T., 2014. Intestinal bacterial community structure differs between healthy and inflamed intestines in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquaculture. 420, 262-269.
- Rimoldi S., Antonini M., Gasco L., Moroni F., Terova G., 2021. Intestinal microbial communities of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) may be improved by feeding a *Hermetia illucens* meal/low-fishmeal diet. Fish Physiol Biochem. 47, 365-380.
- Ringo E., Zhou Z., Olsen R. E., Song S. K., 2012. Use of chitin and krill in aquaculture the effect on gut microbiota and the immune system: a review. Aquac Nutr. 18, 117-131.
- Risso D., Ngai J., Speed T. P., Dudoit S., 2014. Normalization of RNA-seq data using factor analysis of control genes or samples. Nat Biotechnol. 32, 896-902.
- Ritchie M. E., Phipson B., Wu D. I., Hu Y., Law C. W., Shi W., Smyth G. K., 2015. limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. Nucleic Acids Res. 43, e47-e47.
- Rivera-Pinto J., Egozcue J. J., Pawlowsky-Glahn V., Paredes R., Noguera-Julian M., Calle M. L., 2018. Balances: a new perspective for microbiome analysis. mSystems. 3, e00053-00018.
- Robinson M. D., McCarthy D. J., Smyth G. K., 2010. edgeR: a Bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data. Bioinformatics. 26, 139-140.
- Rodrigues J. L. M., Pellizari V. H., Mueller R., Baek K., Jesus E. d. C., Paula F. S., Mirza B., Hamaoui G. S., Tsai S. M., Feigl B., 2013. Conversion of the Amazon rainforest to agriculture results in biotic homogenization of soil bacterial communities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 110, 988-993.
- Roeselers G., Mittge E. K., Stephens W. Z., Parichy D. M., Cavanaugh C. M., Guillemin K., Rawls J. F., 2011. Evidence for a core gut microbiota in the zebrafish. Isme J. 5, 1595-1608.
- Roesijadi G., 1992. Metallothioneins in metal regulation and toxicity in aquatic animals. Aquat Toxicol. 22, 81-113.
- Romano N., Caccia E., Piergentili R., Rossi F., Ficca A. G., Ceccariglia S., Mastrolia L., 2011. Antigen-dependent T lymphocytes (TcRβ+) are primarily differentiated in the

thymus rather than in other lymphoid tissues in sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*, L.). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 30, 773-782.

- Romarheim O. H., Øverland M., Mydland L. T., Skrede A., Landsverk T., 2011. Bacteria grown on natural gas prevent soybean meal-induced enteritis in Atlantic salmon. Nutr J. 141, 124-130.
- Romarheim O. H., Landsverk T., Mydland L. T., Skrede A., Overland M., 2013a. Cell wall fractions from *Methylococcus capsulatus* prevent soybean meal-induced enteritis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture. 402, 13-18.
- Romarheim O. H., Skrede A., Penn M., Mydland L. T., Krogdahl Å., Storebakken T., 2008. Lipid digestibility, bile drainage and development of morphological intestinal changes in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fed diets containing defatted soybean meal. Aquaculture. 274, 329-338.
- Romarheim O. H., Hetland D. L., Skrede A., Øverland M., Mydland L. T., Landsverk T., 2013b. Prevention of soya-induced enteritis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) by bacteria grown on natural gas is dose dependent and related to epithelial MHC II reactivity and CD8α+ intraepithelial lymphocytes. Br J Nutr. 109, 1062-1070.
- Romarheim O. H., Skrede A., Gao Y. L., Krogdahl Å., Denstadli V., Lilleeng E., Storebakken T., 2006. Comparison of white flakes and toasted soybean meal partly replacing fish meal as protein source in extruded feed for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture. 256, 354-364.
- Rombout J. H., Abelli L., Picchietti S., Scapigliati G., Kiron V., 2011. Teleost intestinal immunology. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 31, 616-626.
- Rombout J. H. W. M., Yang G., Kiron V., 2014. Adaptive immune responses at mucosal surfaces of teleost fish. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 40, 634-643.
- Round J. L., Mazmanian S. K., 2009. The gut microbiota shapes intestinal immune responses during health and disease. Nature reviews. Immunology. 9, 313-323.
- Round J. L., Mazmanian S. K., 2010. Inducible Foxp(3+) regulatory T-cell development by a commensal bacterium of the intestinal microbiota. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 107, 12204-12209.
- Rudi K., Angell I. L., Pope P. B., Vik J. O., Sandve S. R., Snipen L. G., 2018. Stable core gut microbiota across the freshwater-to-saltwater transition for farmed Atlantic salmon. Appl Environ Microbiol. 84, e01974-01917.
- Rust M. B., 2002. Nutritional physiology. in: Halver, J.E., Hardy, R.W. (Eds.).
- Salinas I., 2015. The mucosal immune system of teleost fish. Biology. 4, 525-539.
- Salinas I., Zhang Y.-A., Sunyer J. O., 2011. Mucosal immunoglobulins and B cells of teleost fish. Dev Comp Immunol. 35, 1346-1365.
- Salonen A., Nikkilä J., Jalanka-Tuovinen J., Immonen O., Rajilić-Stojanović M., Kekkonen R. A., Palva A., de Vos W. M., 2010. Comparative analysis of fecal DNA extraction methods

with phylogenetic microarray: effective recovery of bacterial and archaeal DNA using mechanical cell lysis. J Microbiol Methods. 81, 127-134.

- Salter S. J., Cox M. J., Turek E. M., Calus S. T., Cookson W. O., Moffatt M. F., Turner P., Parkhill J., Loman N. J., Walker A. W., 2014. Reagent and laboratory contamination can critically impact sequence-based microbiome analyses. BMC Biol. 12, 87.
- Sánchez-Muros M.-J., Barroso F. G., Manzano-Agugliaro F., 2014. Insect meal as renewable source of food for animal feeding: a review. J Clean Prod. 65, 16-27.
- Sanden M., Olsvik P. A., 2009. Intestinal cellular localization of PCNA protein and CYP1A mRNA in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* L. exposed to a model toxicant. BMC Physiol. 9, 3.
- Scapigliati G., Mazzini M., Mastrolia L., Romano N., Abelli L., 1995. Production and characterisation of a monoclonal antibody against the thymocytes of the sea bass *Dicentrarchus labrax* (L.)(Teleostea, Percicthydae). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 5, 393-405.
- Schmidt V., Amaral-Zettler L., Davidson J., Summerfelt S., Good C., 2016. Influence of fishmeal-free diets on microbial communities in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) recirculation aquaculture systems. Applied and environmental microbiology. 82, 4470-4481.
- Schwieger F., Tebbe C. C., 2000. Effect of field inoculation with Sinorhizobium meliloti L33 on the composition of bacterial communities in rhizospheres of a target plant (Medicago sativa) and a non-target plant (Chenopodium album)—linking of 16S rRNA gene-based single-strand conformation polymorphism community profiles to the diversity of cultivated bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol. 66, 3556-3565.
- Sealey W. M., Gaylord T. G., Barrows F. T., Tomberlin J. K., McGuire M. A., Ross C., St-Hilaire S., 2011. Sensory analysis of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, fed enriched black soldier fly prepupae, *Hermetia illucens*. J World Aquacult Soc. 42, 34-45.
- Segata N., Izard J., Waldron L., Gevers D., Miropolsky L., Garrett W. S., Huttenhower C., 2011. Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation. Genome biology. 12, R60.
- Semova I., Carten J. D., Stombaugh J., Mackey L. C., Knight R., Farber S. A., Rawls J. F., 2012. Microbiota regulate intestinal absorption and metabolism of fatty acids in the zebrafish. Cell Host Microbe. 12, 277-288.
- Sfacteria A., Brines M., Blank U., 2014. The mast cell plays a central role in the immune system of teleost fish. Mol Immunol.
- Shreiner A. B., Kao J. Y., Young V. B., 2015. The gut microbiome in health and in disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 31, 69-75.
- Silverman J. D., Washburne A. D., Mukherjee S., David L. A., 2017. A phylogenetic transform enhances analysis of compositional microbiota data. Elife. 6, e21887.
- Sinha R., Abu-Ali G., Vogtmann E., Fodor A. A., Ren B., Amir A., Schwager E., Crabtree J., Ma S., Abnet C. C., 2017. Assessment of variation in microbial community amplicon

sequencing by the Microbiome Quality Control (MBQC) project consortium. Nat Biotechnol.

- Smith D. M., Williams I. H., Williams K. C., Barclay M. C., Venables W. N., 2005. Oxidation of medium-chain and long-chain fatty acids by polka dot grouper *Cromileptes altivelis*. Aquac Nutr. 11, 41-48.
- Smith P., Willemsen D., Popkes M., Metge F., Gandiwa E., Reichard M., Valenzano D. R., 2017. Regulation of life span by the gut microbiota in the short-lived African turquoise killifish. Elife. 6.
- Smith P. M., Howitt M. R., Panikov N., Michaud M., Gallini C. A., Bohlooly-Y M., Glickman J. N., Garrett W. S., 2013a. The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. 341, 569-573.
- Smith P. M., Howitt M. R., Panikov N., Michaud M., Gallini C. A., Bohlooly-Y M., Glickman J. N., Garrett W. S., 2013b. The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. Science. 341, 569-573.
- Song S. J., Amir A., Metcalf J. L., Amato K. R., Xu Z. Z., Humphrey G., Knight R., 2016. Preservation methods differ in fecal microbiome stability, affecting suitability for field studies. mSystems. 1, e00021-00016.
- St-Hilaire S., Sheppard C., Tomberlin J. K., Irving S., Newton L., McGuire M. A., Mosley E. E., Hardy R. W., Sealey W., 2007. Fly prepupae as a feedstuff for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. J World Aquacult Soc. 38, 59-67.
- St-Onge M.-P., Jones P. J. H., 2002. Physiological effects of medium-chain triglycerides: potential agents in the prevention of obesity. Nutr J. 132, 329-332.
- St-Onge M.-P., Bosarge A., Goree L. L. T., Darnell B., 2008. Medium chain triglyceride oil consumption as part of a weight loss diet does not lead to an adverse metabolic profile when compared to olive oil. J Am Coll Nutr. 27, 547-552.
- Stamatakis A., 2014. RAxML version 8: a tool for phylogenetic analysis and post-analysis of large phylogenies. Bioinformatics. 30, 1312-1313.
- Suez J., Korem T., Zeevi D., Zilberman-Schapira G., Thaiss C. A., Maza O., Israeli D., Zmora N., Gilad S., Weinberger A., Kuperman Y., Harmelin A., Kolodkin-Gal I., Shapiro H., Halpern Z., Segal E., Elinav E., 2014. Artificial sweeteners induce glucose intolerance by altering the gut microbiota. Nature. 514, 181-+.
- Sun D.-L., Jiang X., Wu Q. L., Zhou N.-Y., 2013. Intragenomic heterogeneity of 16S rRNA genes causes overestimation of prokaryotic diversity. Appl Environ Microbiol. 79, 5962.
- Sun S., Jones R. B., Fodor A. A., 2020. Inference-based accuracy of metagenome prediction tools varies across sample types and functional categories. Microbiome. 8, 1-9.
- Sundell K., Sundh H., 2012. Intestinal fluid absorption in anadromous salmonids: importance of tight junctions and aquaporins. Front Physiol. 3, 388.

- Sveen L. R., Grammes F. T., Ytteborg E., Takle H., Jørgensen S. M., 2017. Genome-wide analysis of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) mucin genes and their role as biomarkers. PloS one. 12, e0189103.
- Tacon A. G. J., Metian M., 2013. Fish matters: importance of aquatic foods in human nutrition and global food supply. Rev Fish Sci. 21, 22-38.
- Terova G., Rimoldi S., Ascione C., Gini E., Ceccotti C., Gasco L., 2019. Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) gut microbiota is modulated by insect meal from *Hermetia illucens* prepupae in the diet. Rev Fish Biol Fish. 29, 465-486.
- Thorsen J., Brejnrod A., Mortensen M., Rasmussen M. A., Stokholm J., Al-Soud W. A., Sørensen S., Bisgaard H., Waage J., 2016. Large-scale benchmarking reveals false discoveries and count transformation sensitivity in 16S rRNA gene amplicon data analysis methods used in microbiome studies. Microbiome. 4, 62-62.
- Tipsmark C. K., Sorensen K. J., Hulgard K., Madsen S. S., 2010. Claudin-15 and -25b expression in the intestinal tract of Atlantic salmon in response to seawater acclimation, smoltification and hormone treatment. Comparative biochemistry and physiology. Part A, Molecular & integrative physiology. 155, 361-370.
- Tipsmark C. K., Kiilerich P., Nilsen T. O., Ebbesson L. O. E., Stefansson S. O., Madsen S. S., 2008. Branchial expression patterns of claudin isoforms in Atlantic salmon during seawater acclimation and smoltification. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 294, R1563-R1574.
- Torti A., Lever M. A., Jørgensen B. B., 2015. Origin, dynamics, and implications of extracellular DNA pools in marine sediments. Mar Genomics. 24, 185-196.
- Tschirner M., Simon A., 2015. Influence of different growing substrates and processing on the nutrient composition of black soldier fly larvae destined for animal feed. J Insects Food Feed. 1, 249-259.
- Tsilimigras M. C., Fodor A. A., 2016. Compositional data analysis of the microbiome: fundamentals, tools, and challenges. Ann Epidemiol. 26, 330-335.
- Turner J. R., 2009. Intestinal mucosal barrier function in health and disease. Nature reviews. Immunology. 9, 799-809.
- UN, 2019. World population prospects 2019: Highlights. URL: https://population.un.org/wpp/Publications/.
- Uno T., Ishizuka M., Itakura T., 2012. Cytochrome P450 (CYP) in fish. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol. 34, 1-13.
- Valavanidis A., Vlahogianni T., Dassenakis M., Scoullos M., 2006. Molecular biomarkers of oxidative stress in aquatic organisms in relation to toxic environmental pollutants. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 64, 178-189.
- Van den Abbeele P., Van de Wiele T., Verstraete W., Possemiers S., 2011. The host selects mucosal and luminal associations of coevolved gut microorganisms: a novel concept. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 35, 681-704.

- Van den Ingh T., Krogdahl Å., Olli J. J., Hendriks H., Koninkx J., 1991. Effects of soybeancontaining diets on the proximal and distal intestine in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): a morphological study. Aquaculture. 94, 297-305.
- van der Oost R., Beyer J., Vermeulen N. P., 2003. Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: a review. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol. 13, 57-149.
- Van der Sluis M., De Koning B. A. E., De Bruijn A. C. J. M., Velcich A., Meijerink J. P. P., Van Goudoever J. B., Büller H. A., Dekker J., Van Seuningen I., Renes I. B., 2006. Muc2deficient mice spontaneously develop colitis, indicating that MUC2 is critical for colonic protection. Gastroenterology. 131, 117-129.
- Van Huis A., 2013. Potential of insects as food and feed in assuring food security. Annu Rev Entomol. 58, 563-583.
- Vasanth G., Kiron V., Kulkarni A., Dahle D., Lokesh J., Kitani Y., 2015. A microbial feed additive abates intestinal inflammation in Atlantic salmon. Front Immunol. 6.
- Vogtmann E., Chen J., Amir A., Shi J., Abnet C. C., Nelson H., Knight R., Chia N., Sinha R., 2017a. Comparison of collection methods for fecal samples in microbiome studies. Am J Epidemiol. 185, 115-123.
- Vogtmann E., Chen J., Kibriya M. G., Chen Y., Islam T., Eunes M., Ahmed A., Naher J., Rahman A., Amir A., 2017b. Comparison of fecal collection methods for microbiota studies in Bangladesh. Appl Environ Microbiol. 83, e00361-00317.
- Volden R., Palmer T., Byrne A., Cole C., Schmitz R. J., Green R. E., Vollmers C., 2018. Improving nanopore read accuracy with the R2C2 method enables the sequencing of highly multiplexed full-length single-cell cDNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 115, 9726-9731.
- von Gersdorff Jørgensen L., Heinecke R. D., Skjødt K., Rasmussen K. J., Buchmann K., 2011. Experimental evidence for direct *in situ* binding of IgM and IgT to early trophonts of *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis* (Fouquet) in the gills of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). J Fish Dis. 34, 749-755.
- Wagner J., Coupland P., Browne H. P., Lawley T. D., Francis S. C., Parkhill J., 2016. Evaluation of PacBio sequencing for full-length bacterial 16S rRNA gene classification. BMC Microbiol. 16, 274.
- Walker A. W., Martin J. C., Scott P., Parkhill J., Flint H. J., Scott K. P., 2015. 16S rRNA genebased profiling of the human infant gut microbiota is strongly influenced by sample processing and PCR primer choice. Microbiome. 3, 26.
- Walters W., Hyde E. R., Berg-Lyons D., Ackermann G., Humphrey G., Parada A., Gilbert J. A., Jansson J. K., Caporaso J. G., Fuhrman J. A., Apprill A., Knight R., 2016. Improved bacterial 16S rRNA gene (V4 and V4-5) and fungal internal transcribed spacer marker gene primers for microbial community surveys. mSystems. 1, e00009-00015.
- Wan A. H. L., Davies S. J., Soler-Vila A., Fitzgerald R., Johnson M. P., 2019. Macroalgae as a sustainable aquafeed ingredient. Rev Aquac. 11, 458-492.

Wang Y., LeCao K. A., 2019. Managing batch effects in microbiome data. Brief Bioinform.

- Wang Z., Klipfell E., Bennett B. J., Koeth R., Levison B. S., DuGar B., Feldstein A. E., Britt E. B., Fu X., Chung Y.-M., 2011. Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes cardiovascular disease. Nature. 472, 57-63.
- Wang Z., Roberts A. B., Buffa J. A., Levison B. S., Zhu W., Org E., Gu X., Huang Y., Zamanian-Daryoush M., Culley M. K., 2015. Non-lethal inhibition of gut microbial trimethylamine production for the treatment of atherosclerosis. Cell. 163, 1585-1595.
- Wear E. K., Wilbanks E. G., Nelson C. E., Carlson C. A., 2018. Primer selection impacts specific population abundances but not community dynamics in a monthly time-series 16S rRNA gene amplicon analysis of coastal marine bacterioplankton. Environ Microbiol. 20, 2709-2726.
- Weiss S., Xu Z. Z., Peddada S., Amir A., Bittinger K., Gonzalez A., Lozupone C., Zaneveld J. R., Vázquez-Baeza Y., Birmingham A., 2017. Normalization and microbial differential abundance strategies depend upon data characteristics. Microbiome. 5, 27.
- Wemheuer F., Taylor J. A., Daniel R., Johnston E., Meinicke P., Thomas T., Wemheuer B., 2020. Tax4Fun2: prediction of habitat-specific functional profiles and functional redundancy based on 16S rRNA gene sequences. Environ Microbiome. 15, 11.
- Weyrich L. S., Farrer A. G., Eisenhofer R., Arriola L. A., Young J., Selway C. A., Handsley-Davis M., Adler C. J., Breen J., Cooper A., 2019. Laboratory contamination over time during low-biomass sample analysis. Mol Ecol Resour. 19, 982-996.
- Williams I., Williams K. C., Smith D. M., Jones M., 2006. Polka-dot grouper, *Cromileptes altivelis*, can utilize dietary fat efficiently. Aquac Nutr. 12, 379-387.
- Winston G. W., Di Giulio R. T., 1991. Prooxidant and antioxidant mechanisms in aquatic organisms. Aquat Toxicol. 19, 137-161.
- Wu G. D., Chen J., Hoffmann C., Bittinger K., Chen Y. Y., Keilbaugh S. A., Bewtra M., Knights D., Walters W. A., Knight R., Sinha R., Gilroy E., Gupta K., Baldassano R., Nessel L., Li H., Bushman F. D., Lewis J. D., 2011. Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. Science. 334, 105-108.
- Wynants E., Frooninckx L., Crauwels S., Verreth C., De Smet J., Sandrock C., Wohlfahrt J., Van Schelt J., Depraetere S., Lievens B., 2019. Assessing the microbiota of black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*) reared on organic waste streams on four different locations at laboratory and large scale. Microb Ecol. 77, 913-930.
- Xu Z., Takizawa F., Casadei E., Shibasaki Y., Ding Y., Sauters T. J. C., Yu Y., Salinas I., Sunyer J. O., 2020. Specialization of mucosal immunoglobulins in pathogen control and microbiota homeostasis occurred early in vertebrate evolution. Sci Immunol. 5.
- Yasuda K., Oh K., Ren B., Tickle T. L., Franzosa E. A., Wachtman L. M., Miller A. D., Westmoreland S. V., Mansfield K. G., Vallender E. J., Miller G. M., Rowlett J. K., Gevers D., Huttenhower C., Morgan X. C., 2015. Biogeography of the intestinal mucosal and lumenal microbiome in the rhesus macaque. Cell Host Microbe. 17, 385-391.
- Zarantoniello M., Randazzo B., Secci G., Notarstefano V., Giorgini E., Lock E. J., Parisi G., Olivotto I., 2021. Application of laboratory methods for understanding fish

responses to black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) based diets. J Insects Food Feed, 1-24.

- Zhang Y., Parmigiani G., Johnson W. E., 2020. ComBat-seq: batch effect adjustment for RNAseq count data. NAR genom bioinform. 2.
- Zhang Y. A., Salinas I., Li J., Parra D., Bjork S., Xu Z., LaPatra S. E., Bartholomew J., Sunyer J. O., 2010. IgT, a primitive immunoglobulin class specialized in mucosal immunity. Nat Immunol. 11, 827-835.
- Zhang Z., Geng J., Tang X., Fan H., Xu J., Wen X., Ma Z. S., Shi P., 2014. Spatial heterogeneity and co-occurrence patterns of human mucosal-associated intestinal microbiota. Isme J. 8, 881-893.
- Zhao X., Findly R. C., Dickerson H. W., 2008. Cutaneous antibody-secreting cells and B cells in a teleost fish. Dev Comp Immunol. 32, 500-508.
- Zheng L., Crippen T. L., Singh B., Tarone A. M., Dowd S., Yu Z., Wood T. K., Tomberlin J. K., 2013. A survey of bacterial diversity from successive life stages of black soldier fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) by using 16S rDNA pyrosequencing. J Med Entomol. 50, 647-658.

APPENDIX: PAPERS I-IV

Ι

Fish and Shellfish Immunology 86 (2019) 1106-1113

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Fish and Shellfish Immunology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/fsi

Full length article

Gut health and vaccination response in pre-smolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal



Yanxian Li^{a,*}, Trond M. Kortner^a, Elvis M. Chikwati^a, Hetron Mweemba Munang'andu^a, Erik-Jan Lock^b, Åshild Krogdahl^a

^a Department of Basic Sciences and Aquatic Medicine, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU), P.O. Box 8146 Dep, NO-0033, Oslo, Norway

^b Institute of Marine Research, P.O. Box 1870 Nordnes, 5817, Bergen, Norway

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Black soldier fly larvae Atlantic salmon Gut health Immune response Antibody Vaccination

ABSTRACT

Limited availability of sustainable feed ingredients is a serious concern in salmon aquaculture. Insects may become an important, sustainable resource for expanding the raw material repertoire. Herein, we present data from an 8-week feeding trial with pre-smolt Atlantic salmon (initial body weight 49 \pm 1.5 g) fed either a reference diet containing fish meal, soy protein concentrate and wheat gluten as protein sources, or a test diet wherein 85% of the protein was supplied by black soldier fly larvae meal. Possible diet effect on the systemic immune response was evaluated by measuring plasma antibody titers after vaccination against infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV). The gut health of fish was evaluated using endpoints including organ and tissue indices, histopathological parameters and gene expression. Both diets induced the same level of antibody responses against IPNV. In fish fed the reference diet, the histological examination of the pyloric caeca mucosa showed clear hyper-vacuolization suggestive of lipid accumulation in enterocytes, whereas this was less pronounced in the insect meal fed fish. Expression of genes relevant to lipid metabolism confirmed these histological findings. Immune and barrier-function gene expression profiles were both generally not affected by diet. However, the fish fed insect meal showed increased expression of genes indicative of stress response, immune tolerance and increased detoxification activity. In summary, our results showed no indications that dietary inclusion of insect meal affected the gut health of Atlantic salmon negatively. The insect meal based diet seemed to reduce excessive lipid deposition in the pyloric caeca and stimulate xenobiotic metabolism.

1. Introduction

The world's wild fish catches seem to have reached their limit, whereas fishmeal and fish oil demands continue to grow, mostly due to the rapid growth in aquaculture. Therefore, marine ingredients in salmon diets have been gradually replaced by plant ingredients, decreasing from ~90% in 1990 to ~35% in 2012 [1]. Of the plant-based protein sources, 58% was from soy protein concentrate (SPC) followed by sunflower expeller (16%), wheat gluten (16%), fava beans (5%) and other marginally used plant proteins. However, some of these plant-based ingredients cause proliferative or inflammatory conditions in the intestinal mucosa as well as changes in host immune responses and gut enzymatic profiles, while others have been reported to increase fish susceptibility to various diseases [2–5]. Although the future availability of SPC is guaranteed in the short-term [6], there is a need for new nutrient sources in salmon aquaculture to cope with the increasing

demand. Moreover, as the world population is projected to reach 9 billion in 2050, global food production must maximize nutritional output for human consumption while minimizing the input of resources [1]. Salmon feed producers need to reduce their dependency on terrestrial plant products that may be used directly for human consumption. Hence, several novel feed ingredients have emerged as promising candidates such as bacterial meal (*Methylococcus capsulatus*) [6], yeasts [7] and insects [8]. Insects are promising alternative protein sources as they possess an

Insects are promising alternative protein sources as they possess an outstanding capacity to upgrade low-quality organic material, require minimal water and cultivable land, and emit little greenhouse gases [9]. Among species with the greatest potential for large-scale feed production are black soldier fly (BSF; *Hermetia illucens*), yellow mealworm (*Tenebrio molitor*), silkworm (*Bombyx mori*) and common housefly (*Musca domestica*) [10]. Black soldier fly has been produced at industrial scale in Europe due to its exceptionally good nutritional value

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.12.057

Received 4 September 2018; Received in revised form 26 November 2018; Accepted 23 December 2018 Available online 24 December 2018

1050-4648/ © 2018 Published by Elsevier Ltd.



^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail address: yanxian.li@nmbu.no (Y. Li).

and suitability for massive production [11–14]. On a dry matter basis, BSF larvae contain about 42% protein and 35% lipid [12]. In a survey of the nutritional composition of various insects belonging to the order Diptera, Orthoptera and Coleoptera, Barroso et al. found that BSF prepupae possessed an essential amino acid profile closest to fishmeal [14]. While the amino acid profile of insects is genetically determined and stable, the fat level and fatty acid profile are diet-dependent [13]. The potential of BSF larvae as a feed ingredient has been evaluated in several carnivorous and omnivorous fish species [13,15–25]. The optimal inclusion level of BSF larvae meal in the diet seems to vary considerably among fish species. For Atlantic salmon, results by Lock et al. have indicated that all fish meal could be replaced by BSF larvae meal without affecting the salmon growth performance or sensory quality [25]. Together, these results suggest that BSF is a realistic protein source for the salmon aquaculture.

A prerequisite for introducing a new ingredient into fish feed is convincing evidence that it will not compromise fish health. Intestinal inflammation and lipid malabsorption are two frequently observed gut health problems associated with increased use of plant-based salmon feed [4,26-29]. How feed ingredients of insect-origin may affect gut health and function is one of the main research questions that must be answered before commencing on full-scale commercial production. One of the immunological reactive compounds in insect meals is chitin, an essential component of the insect cuticle also found in bacterial and fungal cell walls. Chitin polymers (40-70 µm) act as pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) that bind pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on various antigen presenting cells stimulating the production of various cytokines and immune mediators [30]. It may also interfere with protein and lipid digestion. However, positive effects such as growth promotion and immune-stimulation in fish have been reported [31,32]. Although impacts of BSF dietary inclusion on growth performance, sensory, feed conversion ratio and several other factors have been investigated in different fish species [13,15,20,33], its effect on gut health, function and host immune response has not been elucidated. Hence, the objectives of this study with Atlantic salmon are to: (i) evaluate the morphological and organosomatic changes induced by BSF in the gut, (ii) profile host immune gene expression evoked by BSF, (iii) and to evaluate the impact of BSF on antibody responses induced by parenteral vaccination.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Diets and fish husbandry

An 8-week feeding trial was conducted at the Cargill AquaNutrition (former EWOS Innovation) experimental facility at Dirdal, Norway, in accordance with laws regulating the experimentation with live animals in Norway. A total of 800 mixed-gender pre-smolt Atlantic salmon with a mean initial body weight of 49 g (1.5 g SEM) were randomly assigned into 8 fiberglass tanks (450 L, 100 fish per tank) supplied with running freshwater. Quadruplicate tanks of fish were fed either a reference diet (REF) containing fish meal, soy protein concentrate and wheat gluten as protein sources, or an insect meal based diet (IM) wherein 85% of the protein was supplied by black soldier fly larvae meal, replacing the bulk of fish meal and soy protein (Table 1). The fish were fed continuously by automatic disk feeders under a photoperiod regimen of 24 h daylight. During the feeding trial, water temperature stabilized around 13.7 °C. Further details on insect meal and diet composition (amino acids, fatty acids and minerals) were reported elsewhere [34].

2.2. Sample collection

At the termination of the feeding trial, fish were randomly taken from the tanks, anesthetized with tricaine methanesulfonate (MS222) (80 mg/L; Pharmaq AS, Oslo, Norway) and euthanized by a sharp blow to the head before tissue sampling. The body weight was recorded for

Table 1	
---------	--

Formulation	of	the	experimental	diets*.
-------------	----	-----	--------------	---------

Ingredients (g/100 g)	REF	IM
ingreateries (8, 100 B)		IWI
Fishmeal LT94	35.0	6.0
Insect meal	0	60.0
Soy protein concentrate	29.6	5.0
Wheat gluten	14.3	14.4
Fish oil	4.6	6.9
Rapeseed Oil	12.0	4.8
Vitamin & mineral premix	0.3	0.3
Yttrium	0.2	0.2
Miscellaneous	4.0	2.4
Chemical composition		
DM (%)	94	96
Crude lipid (%)	18	22
Crude protein (%)	47	44
Carbohydrates (%)	11	12
Ash (%)	8	7
Gross energy (MJ Kg ⁻¹ DM)	22	23
TBARS (nmol g ⁻¹)	7	17

*REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; DM, dry matter; TBARS, Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances.

all the fish sampled. Subsequently, the whole digestive tract was dissected from three fish per tank, cleaned of attached adipose tissue and opened longitudinally. Only fish with chyme present along the whole intestine were sampled to ensure exposure to the diets until the point of sampling. The chyme was removed using a spatula. The emptied intestine was divided into proximal (PI), mid (MI) and distal (DI) segments and weighed respectively. The gut tissue was rinsed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) three times to remove traces of remaining chyme and cut into pieces for RNA extraction (preserved in RNAlater solution, incubated at 4°C for 24 h and stored at -20°C) and histological evaluation (fixed in 4% phosphate-buffered formaldehyde solution for 24 h and transferred to 70% ethanol for storage).

2.3. Vaccination and ELISA

To investigate possible diet effect on the systemic immune response, another 20 fish were randomly selected from each tank and intraperitoneally injected with 0.1 mL of inactivated whole viral vaccine based on the highly immunogenic strain of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) [35]. Due to constraints on the availability of experimental facilities, the quadruplicate tanks per diet group were reduced to duplicate tanks per diet with 40 fish each. The fish were fed the same diets for another six hundred degree days. Thereafter, blood samples were taken from the caudal vein of 20 fish per tank using heparinized syringes equipped with 22 G needles (35 IU heparin per mL; S-Monovette^{*}, SARSTEDT, Germany) and placed on ice before plasma collection. Plasma was collected after centrifugation at 2000 g for 10 min (4 °C) and snap-frozen in liquid N₂ for the determination of antibody level against IPNV.

The vaccine was prepared after culturing IPNV in Asian Grouperstrain K cells [36] at a concentration of 1×10^9 TCID₅₀/mL as previously standardized [37,38]. The virus suspension was inactivated using 0.5% formaldehyde using a magnetic stirrer for 48 h followed by dialysis for 48 h. The vaccine was prepared as a water-in-oil (w/o) formulation using the ISA 763 VG (SEPPIC, France) adjuvant following manufacturer's recommendation. Emulsification of the viral antigen with adjuvant was done as previously described [35].

The enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) used to evaluate antibody responses was carried out as previously described [39]. Briefly, ELISA plates (Immunoplates, Nunc Maxisorb, Denmark) were coated with rabbit anti-IPNV designated as K95 [40] in coating buffer and were incubated overnight at 4 °C. After washing using PBS containing 20% Tween (PBST) thrice, plates were blocked using 5% dry milk at room temperature (RT) for 2 h. Thereafter, 0.5% formalin inactivated IPNV antigen at a concentration of 1×10^5 TCID₅₀/mL was added to each well and incubated for 2 h at room temperature after washing thrice using PBST. Test plasma diluted in a twofold dilution starting from 1:10 to 1:320 was added to each well together with high and low positive controls as well as plasma and blank (1% dry milk PBST) controls. The plates were incubated overnight at 4°C after adding diluted plasma samples. A mouse monoclonal anti-salmon antibody designated as 4C10 [41] targeting IgM heavy chain was diluted at 1:5000 and added to each well after washing three times using PBST. After incubation for 1 h, all plates were washed and goat-anti-mouse antibody conjugated with horse-radish peroxidase (DAKO; Glostrup, Denmark) was added to each well and incubated for 1 h at RT. After washing, substrate-containing OPD (O-phenylenediamine dihydrochloride, DAKO) constituted at manufacturer's recommendation was added to each well. Results were read using spectrophotometer (TECAN, Genios, Boston, USA) at 490 optic density wave length.

2.4. Organosomatic indices

Organosomatic indices (OSI) of the PI, MI and DI were calculated as the percentages of the weight of intestinal segments relative to the fish body weight; OSI = $100 \times TW/BW$, where TW is the tissue weight and BW is the fish body weight.

2.5. Histology

After fixation, PI, MI, and DI samples were routinely dehydrated in ethanol, equilibrated in xylene and embedded in paraffin according to standard histological techniques. The paraffin blocks were placed on a cooling block before cut by an automatic microtome (HM 355S, Thermo Scientific[™], US) to produce sections of 3 µm thickness. The slides were then stained by hematoxylin and eosin, and examined blindly with a light microscope (Axio Scope.A1, Zeiss, Germany) equipped with a camera (AxioCam ICc 3, Zeiss) paying attention to typical inflammatory morphological changes observed in salmonid intestine fed soybean meal diets: that is, shortening and fusion of mucosal folds, cellular infiltration within the lamina propria and submucosa, enterocyte vacuolization and nucleus position disparity. Normally, little to no vacuolization is present in the enterocyte of the PI and MI whereas enterocytes of the DI show various degrees of supranuclear vacuolization that diminishes or disappears during the inflammation. For each histological characteristic evaluated, a value of normal, mild, moderate, marked or severe was assigned.

2.6. Quantitative real-time PCR

Real-time qPCR assays were performed following the MIQE guidelines [42]. Total RNA was extracted from PI and DI samples on a Biomek® 4000 Laboratory Automation Workstation (Beckman Coulter, Fullerton, CA, USA) using a Maxwell® HT simplyRNA Kit (Custom) (Premage, Madison, WI, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA purity and concentration were measured using Epoch Microplate Spectrophotometer (BioTeK Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA) and the integrity was verified by the 2100 Bioanalyzer with the 6000 Nano LabChip kit (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, USA). The mean A260/A280 ratio was 2.3 (S.D. = 0.01) and the average RIN (RNA integrity number) value was 8.4 (S.D. = 0.76). First-strand complementary DNA (cDNA) synthesis was performed using 1.0 µg total RNA from all samples using a Superscript[™] IV VILO[™] cDNA synthesis kit (catalog no., 11756050) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). A negative control was set up by omitting RNA and the obtained cDNA was diluted 1:10 before use. The qPCR primers were obtained from the literature or designed using the Primer 3 (http://frodo.wi.mit.edu/primer3/). Primer efficiency was determined using 2-fold serial dilutions of randomly pooled cDNA. The qPCR assays were performed using the LightCycler 96 (Roche Applied Science, Basel, Switzerland) and a 10-µL reaction volume was used, which contained 2 µL of PCR-grade water, 2 µL diluted cDNA template, 5 µL LightCycler 480 SYBR Green I Master (Roche Applied Science) and 0.5 µL (10 µM) of each forward and reverse primer. Samples were run in duplicates in addition to a no-template control for each gene. A three-step qPCR programme was applied incorporating an enzyme activation step at 95 °C (5 min) and 45 cycles of 95 °C (10 s), 55–62 °C (10 s) and 72 °C (15 s). The plate pipetting was done using the Biomek® 4000 automation workstation. Quantification cycle (Cq) values were determined using the second derivative method. The specificity of qPCR amplification was confirmed by evaluating the melting curve of qPCR products and the band pattern on the agarose gel after electrophoresis. Beta-actin (actb), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (gapdh), RNA polymerase 2 (rnapo2) and hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase 1 (hprt1) were evaluated for use as reference genes according to their stability across and within the treatments [43]. The expression of target genes in the PI was normalized to the geometric mean of actb, rnapo2 and hprt1. For DI samples, the geometric mean of gapdh and rnapo2 was used for the normalization. The mean normalized expression of the target genes was calculated from raw Cq values [44]. The genes profiled and the primers used for the qPCR assays are given in Table S1.

2.7. Statistics

Unless specified, statistical analyses were performed in JMP Pro 13.0.0 (SAS Institute, United States). For continuous variables, data were fitted to linear mixed model treating diet as fixed effect and tank as random effect. The homoscedasticity and normality of residuals was assessed visually by checking the "residual by predicted" plot and histogram, respectively. When necessary, data were subjected to box-cox power transformation to meet the model assumptions and refitted again. For ordinal variables, data were initially fitted to cumulative link mixed model implemented by the R package ordinal [45], treating diet as fixed effect and tank as random effect. As the full model resulted in high Hessian number and the random effect was not significant, the tank effect was dropped from the full model. The proportional odds assumption was checked by the nominal test. Spearman's rank correlation analysis was carried out to discover associations between variables of interests. Multiple comparisons were adjusted by the Bonferroni correction or adaptive two-stage Benjamini-Hochberg procedure where applicable. Data were presented as mean ± SEM. Statistically significant results were indicated by asterisks (*, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.001).

3. Result

To aid readers in interpreting data reported here, results on general fish performance and nutrients utilization, which have been published elsewhere [34], are summarized below.

In brief, no differences between the diet groups were recorded for feed intake, feed conversion ratio, body weight gain or protein productive value, despite the test group showing a lower protein digestibility. Higher condition factor, hepatosomatic and viscerosomatic indices were observed in fish fed the IM based diet. Regarding gut function, no diet effect on chyme trypsin activity or bile salt level was noted, but the brush border enzyme, leucine aminopeptidase, showed lower activity in the IM diet group.

3.1. Antibody responses

No significant difference was observed between the two groups for the plasma antibody level against IPNV (p > 0.05) (Fig. 1).

3.2. Somatic indices of intestinal sections

No significant diet effect was observed for PI-somatic index (PISI).

Y. Li et al.



Fig. 1. Plasma antibody level against IPNV of salmon presmolts fed the experimental diets. REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal test diet. The results were obtained from plasma diluted 1:40.



Fig. 2. Intestine-somatic indices of salmon presmolts fed the experimental diets. PISI, proximal intestine-somatic index; MISI, mid intestine-somatic index; DISI, distal intestine-somatic index. REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal test diet. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences between the diets (*, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.001).

However, both MI-somatic index (MISI) and DI-somatic index (DISI) were significantly higher in fish fed the IM diet (Fig. 2) compared to those fed the reference diet.

3.3. Histological appearance

In the PI, increased vacuolization or hyper-vacuolization of the enterocytes, suggestive of lipid accumulation (steatosis), was observed in fish from both diet groups, but was significantly less prevalent in fish fed the IM diet (Fig. 3). The MI and DI showed normal and healthy histological structure for all sampled fish.

3.4. Gene expression

The results are presented as fold change of gene expression level in fish fed the IM diet relative to those fed the REF diet (Fig. 4). Correlations between fold changes of functionally-related genes are shown in Table 2.

In the PI, IM inclusion had minor effects on the expression profile of immune genes. The exception was the increase in expression of $cd3_{\gamma\delta}$ and *foxp3*. Similarly, no effect of diet was observed on the expression of tight junction genes *cldn15* or *cldn25b*. In support of the histological observation, there was a 2-fold decrease in the expression of *plin2*, a

p = 0.02



Fig. 3. Contingency chart showing proportions of sampled individuals scored normal, mild, or moderate (none scored above moderate) regarding hyper-vacuolization of enterocytes in the PI. REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal test diet. The *p* value of the diet effect was given. For the illustration of enterocyte hyper-vacuolization at various degrees, one can refer to Fig. S1.

surface marker of lipid droplets. Genes involved in cholesterol uptake (npc1l1) and de novo synthesis (srebp2 and cyp51) showed increased expression, and so were those responsible for the absorption (cd36) and intracellular transportation (fabp2b) of fatty acids. Most of the detox-ification response relevant genes were up-regulated, which included cyp1a1 (a marker for xenobiotic metabolism), mta (a marker for heavy metal detoxification), hsp70 (a marker for stress response), sod1 (an indicator of oxidative stress) and cat (an indicator of oxidative stress). However, no correlations were found between cyp1a1 and other genes profiled under the same category.

In the DI, less differences in the gene expression were observed, most of which showed similar responses to those observed in the PI. These genes included $cd_{\gamma\delta}$, foxp3, pcna, cyp1a1 and cat. Notably, the increased expression of $cd_{\gamma\delta}$ showed a strong positive correlation with that of foxp3. Cyp1a1 also showed an increase in the mRNA level of more than 2 folds in fish fed the IM diet. In contrast to what we found in the PI, the expression of plin2 was increased, coinciding with a marked induction of apoa4 expression.

4. Discussion

In summary, the main findings of the present study showed that dietary inclusion of IM as high as 60% did not cause appreciable negative effects on the gut health of Atlantic salmon. Its inclusion, however, reduced enterocyte hyper-vacuolization in the pyloric caeca, and seemed to stimulate regulatory T cell activity as well as xenobiotic metabolism both in the proximal and distal intestine.

The inclusion of certain legume-based alternative feed ingredients in salmon feed is known to cause proliferative or inflammatory conditions in the intestinal mucosa, resulting in compromised fish health and welfare [4,27]. In the present study, no signs of local inflammatory response to the IM inclusion was noted. Insect meal inclusion seemed however to stimulate regulatory T cell activity both in the proximal and distal intestine, as indicated by the increased expression of both $cd3_{\gamma\delta}$ and *foxp3* in these gut segments. It has been shown that the expression pattern of some cytokines that enhance T-cell responses are prone to induce oral tolerance to vaccination while others are not [46]. As a transcription factor for the differentiation of naïve CD4 T-cells into Tregulatory genes (T-regs), *foxp3* is the main marker of oral tolerance induced by prolonged exposure to the same antigenic proteins through



Fig. 4. The fold change of gene expression level in proximal and distal intestine of fish fed the IM diet relative to those fed the REF diet. The fold change was calculated by dividing the gene expression level of individual fish fed the IM diet by the mean expression level of fish fed the REF diet. Hence, the error bar indicates the variation in gene expression level in fish fed the IM diet. Values > 1 indicate an increased gene expression level in the IM fed fish, and vice versa. Genes relevant to immune response, barrier function, lipid metabolism and xenobiotic metabolism are shaded in yellow, green, blue and orange, respectively. For the explanation of gene abbreviations, see Table S1. *P* values of test statistics were adjusted by the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure for the proximal and distal intestine, respectively. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences between the diets (*, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.00). (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.)

the feed. Its overexpression has been linked to significant loss of systemic immune responses to vaccination [47,48]. As pointed out by other scientists, oral tolerance through feed can be initiated by tolerogenic protein molecules [49–51]. Oral tolerance following vaccination has been reported in different fish species and it can reduce immune protection [52–56]. Hence, there is a need for follow-up studies using oral vaccines to determine whether the larvae meal from black soldier fly produces tolerogenic proteins that evoke increased expression levels

 Table 2

 Correlations between fold changes of functionally related genes*.

Variables of interest	Spearman p	p value	Adjusted p value
PI			
$cd3_{\gamma\delta}$ & foxp3	0.63	0.0280	0.0583
cd36 & fabp2b	0.15	0.6482	0.5834
cyp1a1 & mta	0.11	0.7452	0.5868
cyp1a1 & hsp70	0.28	0.3715	0.4393
cyp1a1 & sod1	-0.61	0.0370	0.0583
cyp1a1 & cat	-0.26	0.4184	0.4393
sod1 & cat	0.87	0.0002	0.0013
srebp2 & cyp51	0.80	0.0019	0.0060
DI			
cd3 _{v8} & foxp3	0.95	0.0001	0.0003
cyp1a1 & cat	0.12	0.7129	1.0000
apoa4 & plin2	0.34	0.2861	0.8583

*p values of test statistics for the PI were adjusted by the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure whereas those for the DI were adjusted by the Bonferroni correction. PI, proximal intestine; DI, distal intestine.

of *foxp3*, which could culminate in tolerance. On the other hand, previous studies have shown divergent and size-dependent effects of chitin on immune functions in mice cell models [57]. Small chitin molecules (< 40 µm), in particular, have been observed to induce production of anti-inflammatory cytokine *il10* [58]. In most cases, *il10* upregulation corroborates with increased expression of *tgf-β*, which is a regulatory cytokine for *foxp3* in T-regs. Whether the increased expression of *cd3*_{$\gamma\delta$} and *foxp3* may be associated with exposure to chitin, given that chitin has tolerogenic properties, deserves further investigation.

Dietary composition has been shown to influence the outcome of antibody responses in vaccinated fish. For example, Burrells et al. [59] showed elevated antibody responses against *Aeromonas salmonicida* in a diet containing novel protein supplements added to a standard commercial diet (EWOS VEXTRA Alpha^{*}). On the contrary, Erdal et al. [60] observed decreased antibody levels against *Yersinia ruckeri* in fish fed higher levels of dietary ω -3 fatty acids. In the present study, there was no significant difference observed between the groups fed the REF and IM diets in antibody response against IPNV. These findings suggest that the two feeds have a similar impact on the inactivated whole vaccine against IPNV and that replacing the REF diet with the IM diet would not alter the protective ability of the vaccines. Given the increasing demand for oral vaccines in salmon aquaculture, future studies should investigate the effect of the BSF diet on enhancing mucosal immunity using oral vaccines.

The proximal intestine of IM-fed fish displayed increased expression of genes involved in uptake of fatty acids (cd36, fabp2) and cholesterol uptake and de novo synthesis (npc111, srebp2, cyp51). Associations between differential expression of fatty acid uptake genes and reductions of enterocyte hyper-vacuolization have been reported previously [61]. Our observations in the current work could reflect a generally increased uptake, turnover and transport of fatty acids in IM-fed fish. Several previous studies on salmon have also demonstrated the close relationship between dietary sterol levels and expression of genes related to cholesterol uptake and synthesis [61–64]. In the present study, the increased expression of genes related to cholesterol metabolism was likely caused by the different sterol composition of the two feeds, in which the IM diet contained about 50% less cholesterol but much higher phytosterol levels than the REF diet (unpublished data).

The use of plant ingredients in Atlantic salmon diets has been linked to increased hyper-vacuolization of enterocytes in the proximal intestine [61]. This hyper-vacuolization is apparently reflecting an abnormal lipid droplet accumulation within the enterocytes, i.e. steatosis [65–67]. The mechanism underlying the intracellular lipid accumulation is currently unknown, but has previously been proposed to involve a disrupted assembly of lipoproteins, possibly caused by lack of major building blocks, such as cholesterol, phosphatidylcholine and/or apolipoproteins [61]. In severe cases, the hyper-vacuolization may be accompanied by large accumulations of lipidic material in the intestinal chyme and is referred to as lipid malabsorption, eventually resulting in steatorrhea and the so-called "floating feces" on the surface of sea cages [28,29]. In the current study, the replacement of fishmeal and plantbased protein sources with IM resulted in less lipid accumulation within proximal intestinal enterocytes, observed as less prevalent enterocyte hyper-vacuolization. This was reflected in the marked suppression of plin2 (also known as adipophilin) mRNA levels, a surface marker of lipid droplets [68], in the proximal intestine of fish fed the IM based diet. The reason for the reduction in enterocyte hyper-vacuolization in IM-fed fish is not clear but could be related to lower levels of plant ingredients (i.e. SPC and rapeseed oil) and/or actions of certain bioactive components present in the IM. It should be noted that there were no macroscopic appearances of lipid malabsorption in any fish at the time of sampling, and no apparent indications of reduced fish health as a result of the hyper-vacuolization.

To assess the exposure to toxic substances in fish, some useful biomarkers have been suggested which include, but are not limited to, biotransformation enzymes (Cyp1a1), anti-oxidant enzymes (Sod, Cat), stress proteins (Hsp70) and metallothioneins (Mta; a specific marker for exposure to metals) [69]. Of note, the phase I biotransformation enzyme, Cyp1a, is among the most sensitive biomarkers and has been validated in numerous studies in fish including Atlantic salmon [70-72]. In the present study, a more than 2-fold increase in the expression level of cyp1a1 was found in the distal intestine of IM fed fish, while other marker genes showed no expression differences. Despite a lack of significant correlations in the expression levels between cyp1a1 and other marker genes, their increased mRNA levels in the proximal intestine of fish fed the IM diet is indicative of elevated detoxification response to the diet. The responses may partially associate with the higher concentration of certain heavy metals in the IM diet such as nickel, cadmium, and lead [34], the latter two of which were found to be selectively enriched in the BSF larvae from the growing substrate [73-75]. However, the consequences on gut health of increased exposure to heavy metals seemed mild, as no significant diet effects were observed for toxicity indicators such as casp6 (cell apoptosis) and mmp13 (tissue regeneration), a finding in agreement with the absence of abnormalities on histological appearance and organ indices of the gut tissue

In conclusion, our results showed no indications that the insect meal-based diet negatively affected the gut health of Atlantic salmon. On the contrary, the diet tended to improve gut function by reducing excessive lipid deposition within the enterocytes of the pyloric caeca. Stimulation of xenobiotic metabolism in the proximal intestine could possibly be a response to increased exposure to heavy metals selectively enriched by BSF larvae, such as cadmium and lead. Upregulation of Foxp3, a molecular marker for immune tolerance, calls for further investigations using oral vaccines to determine whether BSF has tolerogenic properties. The similarity in plasma IgM levels against IPNV in dicated that BSF can safely replace fishmeal without inducing adverse effects that would reduce antibody responses for parenteral vaccines.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Funding

This work is part of the "AquaFly" project (grant number, 238997), funded by the Research Council of Norway. Other costs related to this study were covered by the NMBU. The funding agencies had no role in study design, data collection, and interpretation, decision to publish or preparation of the manuscript. Y. Li et al.

Acknowledgements

Y. L. is pursuing his Ph.D. degree at NMBU with a scholarship granted by the China Scholarship Council, a non-profit organization sponsoring Chinese citizens to study abroad. The authors gratefully acknowledge animal technicians at the EWOS research station at Dirdal, Norway, for their committed animal care and Ellen K. Hage for organizing the sampling and the skillful lab work and leadership.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.12.057.

References

- T. Ytrestøyl, T.S. Aas, T. Åsgård, Utilisation of feed resources in production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Norway, Aquaculture 448 (2015) 365–374.
- [2] Å. Krogdahl, A. Bakke-McKellep, K. Roed, G. Baeverfjord, Feeding Atlantic salmon Salmo salar L. soybean products: effects on disease resistance (furunculosis), and lysozyme and IgM levels in the intestinal mucosa, Aquacult. Nutr. 6 (2) (2000) 77–84.
- [3] D. Knudsen, F. Jutfelt, H. Sundh, K. Sundell, W. Koppe, H. Frøkiær, Dietary soya saponins increase gut permeability and play a key role in the onset of soyabeaninduced enteritis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*), Br. J. Nutr. 100 (01) (2008) 120-129.
- [4] M.H. Penn, E.Å. Bendiksen, P. Campbell, Å. Krogdahl, High level of dietary pea protein concentrate induces enteropathy in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.), Aquaculture 310 (3) (2011) 267–273.
- [5] A.M. Bakke-McKellep, C.M. Press, G. Baeverfjord, Å. Krogdahl, T. Landsverk, Changes in immune and enzyme histochemical phenotypes of cells in the intestinal mucosa of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., with soybean meal-induced enteritis, J. Fish. Dis. 23 (2) (2000) 115–127.
- [6] C.J. Shepherd, O. Monroig, D.R. Tocher, Future availability of raw materials for salmon feeds and supply chain implications: the case of Scottish farmed salmon, Aquaculture 467 (2017) 49–62.
- M. Øverland, A. Skrede, Yeast derived from lignocellulosic biomass as a sustainable feed resource for use in aquaculture, J. Sci. Food Agric. 97 (3) (2016) 733–742.
 M.-J. Sknchez-Muros, F.G. Barroso, F. Manzano-Agugliaro, Insect meal as renewable
- source of food for animal feeding: a review, J. Clean. Prod. 65 (2014) 16–27.
 A. van Huis, Potential of insects as food and feed in assuring food security, Annu.
- Rev. Entomol. 58 (2013) 563–583.
 [10] A. Van Huis, J. Van Itterbeeck, H. Klunder, E. Mertens, A. Halloran, G. Muir,
- P. Vantomme, Edible Insects: Future Prospects for Food and Feed Security, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2013.
- [11] G. Burtle, G.L. Newton, D.C. Sheppard, T. Campus, Mass Production of Black Soldier Fly Pre pupae for Aquaculture Diets. Preprint, accessed on 2018 Nov 15. Available from: http://www.caes.uga.edu/content/dam/caes-website/extension-outreach/ commodities/aquaculture/docs/soldier-fly-magazine-article.pdf.
- [12] G. Newton, C. Booram, R. Barker, O. Hale, Dried Hermetia illucens larvae meal as a supplement for swine, J. Anim. Sci. 44 (3) (1977) 395–400.
- [13] S. St-Hilaire, C. Sheppard, J.K. Tomberlin, S. Irving, L. Newton, M.A. McGuire, E.E. Mosley, R.W. Hardy, W. Sealey, Fly prepupae as a feedstuff for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykisz*, J. World Aquacult. Soc. 38 (1) (2007) 59–67.
- [14] F.G. Barroso, C. de Haro, M.-J. Sánchez-Muros, E. Venegas, A. Martínez-Sánchez, C. Pérez-Baňón, The potential of various insect species for use as food for fish, Aquaculture 422–423 (2014) 193–201.
- [15] W.M. Sealey, T.G. Gaylord, F.T. Barrows, J.K. Tomberlin, M.A. McGuire, C. Ross, S. St-Hilaire, Sensory analysis of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, fed enriched black soldier fly prepupae, *Hermetia illucens*, J. World Aquacult. Soc. 42 (1) (2011) 34-45.
- [16] M. Renna, A. Schiavone, F. Gai, S. Dabbou, C. Lussiana, V. Malfatto, M. Prearo, M.T. Capucchio, I. Biasato, E. Biasibetti, M. De Marco, A. Brugiapaglia, I. Zoccarato, L. Gasco, Evaluation of the suitability of a partially defatted black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens L.*) larvae meal as ingredient for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) diets, J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 8 (57) (2017).
- [17] R. Magalhaes, A. Sanchez-Lopez, R.S. Leal, S. Martinez-Llorens, A. Oliva-Telesa, H. Peres, Black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) pre-pupae meal as a fish meal replacement in diets for European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*), Aquaculture 476 (2017) 79–85.
- [18] S.L. Li, H. Ji, B.X. Zhang, J.J. Tian, J.S. Zhou, H.B. Yu, Influence of black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae oil on growth performance, body composition, tissue fatty acid composition and lipid deposition in juvenile Jian carp (*Cyprinus carpio* var. Jian), Aquaculture 465 (2016) 43–52.
- [19] S.L. Li, H. Ji, B.X. Zhang, J.S. Zhou, H.B. Yu, Defatted black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal in diets for juvenile Jian carp (*Cyprinus carpio* var. Jian): growth performance, antioxidant enzyme activities, digestive enzyme activities, intestine and hepatopancreas histological structure, Aquaculture 477 (2017) 62–70.
- [20] S. Kroeckel, A.G.E. Harjes, I. Roth, H. Katz, S. Wuertz, A. Susenbeth, C. Schulz, When a turbot catches a fly: evaluation of a pre-pupae meal of the Black Soldier Fly (*Hermetia illucens*) as fish meal substitute — growth performance and chitin

degradation in juvenile turbot (*Psetta maxima*), Aquaculture 364–365 (2012) 345–352.

- [21] J.R. Hu, G.X. Wang, Y.H. Huang, Y.P. Sun, F. He, H.X. Zhao, N.N. Li, Effects of substitution of fish meal with black soldier fly (*Hermetici Illucens*) larvae meal, in vellow catfish (*Pelteologrus fulvidarco*) diets, Isr. J. Aquacult. Bamidgeh 69 (2017).
- [22] E. Devic, W. Leschen, F. Murray, D.C. Little, Growth performance, feed utilization and body composition of advanced nursing Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) fed diets containing Black Soldier Fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal, Aquacult. Nutr. 24 (1) (2017) 416–423.
- [23] M. Borgogno, C. Dinnella, V. Iaconisi, R. Fusi, C. Scarpaleggia, A. Schiavone, E. Monteleone, L. Gasco, G. Parisi, Inclusion of *Hermetia illucens* larvae meal on rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) feed: effect on sensory profile according to static and dynamic evaluations, J. Sci. Food Agric. 97 (10) (2017) 3402–3411.
- [24] K. Bondari, D. Sheppard, Soldier fly, *Hermetia illucens L.*, larvae as feed for channe catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus* (Rafinesque), and blue tilapia, *Oreochromis aureus* (Steindachner), Aquacult. Fish. Manag. 18 (3) (1987) 209–220.
- [25] E.R. Lock, T. Ársiwalla, R. Waagbo, Insect larvae meal as an alternative source of nutrients in the diet of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) postsmolt, Aquacult. Nutr. 22 (6) (2016) 1202–1213.
- [26] O.B. Dale, B. Torud, A. Kvellestad, H.S. Koppang, E.O. Koppang, From chronic feed-induced intestinal inflammation to adenocarcinoma with metastases in salmonid fish, Cancer Res. 69 (10) (2009) 4355–4362.
 [27] G. Bæverfjord, Ä. Krogdahl, Development and regression of soybean meal induced
- [27] G. Baeverfjord, Å. Krogdahl, Development and regression of soybean meal induced enteritis in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L, distal intestine: a comparison with the intestines of fasted fish, J. Fish. Dis. 19 (5) (1996) 375–387.
- [28] R. Hanche-Olsen, L. Brunvold, M. Hillestad, H. Lysne, A.D. Løland, M. Penn, Sluttrapport: Nedsatt Tarmhelse Og Forekomst Av Flytefeces Hos Laks (In Norwegian), Helgeland Havbruksstasjon, 2013, https://www.fhf.no/ prosjektdetaljer/?projectNumber=900722, Accessed date: 21 May 2018.
 [29] M.H. Penn, Lipid Malabsorption in Atlantic Salmon-the Reoccurring Problem of
- [29] M.H. Penn, Lipid Malabsorption in Atlantic Salmon-the Reoccurring Problem of Floating Feces, Fiskehelse, Tekna Fiskehelseforeningen, Oslo, 2011, pp. 6–11.
- [30] C.A. Da Silva, D. Hartl, W. Liu, C.G. Lee, J.A. Elias, TLR-2 and IL-17A in chitininduced macrophage activation and acute inflammation, J. Immunol. 181 (6) (2008) 4279–4286.
- [31] M. Henry, L. Gasco, G. Piccolo, E. Fountoulaki, Review on the use of insects in the diet of farmed fish: past and future, Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 203 (2015) 1–22.
- [32] E. Ringo, Z. Zhou, R.E. Olsen, S.K. Song, Use of chitin and krill in aquaculture the effect on gut microbiota and the immune system: a review, Aquacult. Nutr. 18 (2) (2012) 117–131.
- [33] M.W. Ferreira, F.G. de Araujo, D.V. Costa, P.V. Rosa, H.C. Figueiredo, L.D. Murgas, Influence of dietary oil sources on muscle composition and plasma lipoprotein concentrations in Nile Tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*, J. World Aquacult. Soc. 42 (1) (2011) 24–33.
- [34] I. Belghit, N.S. Liland, R. Waagbo, I. Biancarosa, N. Pelusio, Y.X. Li, Å. Krogdahl, E.J. Lock, Potential of insect-based diets for Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar), Aquaculture 491 (2018) 72–81.
- [35] H.M. Munang'andu, B.N. Fredriksen, S. Mutoloki, R.A. Dalmo, Ø. Evensen, The kinetics of CD4 + and CD8+ T-cell gene expression correlate with protection in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L) vaccinated against infectious pancreatic necrosis, Vaccine 31 (15) (2013) 1956–1963.
- [36] Q. Qin, T. Wu, T. Jia, A. Hegde, R. Zhang, Development and characterization of a new tropical marine fish cell line from grouper, *Epinephelus coioldes* susceptible to iridovirus and nodavirus, J. Virol. Methods 131 (1) (2006) 58-64.
- [37] H.M. Munang'andu, B.N. Fredriksen, S. Mutoloki, R.A. Dalmo, Ø. Evensen, Antigen dose and humoral immune response correspond with protection for inactivated infectious pancreatic necrosis virus vaccines in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L), Vet. Res. 44 (1) (2013) 7.
- [38] H.M. Munang'andu, N. Santi, B.N. Fredriksen, K.-E. Løkling, Ø. Evensen, A systematic approach towards optimizing a cohabitation challenge model for infectious pancreatic necrosis virus in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.), PLoS One 11 (2) (2016) e0148467.
- [39] H.M. Munang'andu, B.N. Fredriksen, S. Mutoloki, B. Brudeseth, T.-Y. Kuo, I.S. Marjara, R.A. Dalmo, Ø. Evensen, Comparison of vaccine efficacy for different antigen delivery systems for infectious pancreatic necrosis virus vaccines in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) in a cohabitation challenge model, Vaccine 30 (27) (2012) 4007–4016.
- [40] Ø. Evensen, E. Rimstad, Immunohistochemical identification of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus in paraffin-embedded tissues of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), J. Vet. Diagn. Invest. 2 (4) (1990) 288–293.
- [41] A. Thuvander, C. Fossum, N. Lorenzen, Monoclonal antibodies to salmonid immunoglobulin: characterization and applicability in immunoassays, Dev. Comp. Immunol. 14 (4) (1990) 415–423.
- [42] S.A. Bustin, V. Benes, J.A. Garson, J. Hellemans, J. Huggett, M. Kubista, R. Mueller, T. Nolan, M.W. Pfaffl, G.L. Shipley, J. Vandesompele, C.T. Wittwer, The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments, Clin. Chem. 55 (4) (2009) 611–622.
- [43] T.M. Kortner, E.C. Valen, H. Kortner, I.S. Marjara, Å. Krogdahl, A.M. Bakke, Candidate reference genes for quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) assays during development of a diet-related enteropathy in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) and the potential pitfalls of uncritical use of normalization software tools, Aquaculture 318 (3–4) (2011) 355–363.
- [44] P.Y. Muller, H. Janovjak, A.R. Miserez, Z. Dobbie, Processing of gene expression data generated by quantitative real-time RT-PCR, Biotechniques 32 (6) (2002) 1372–1374 1376, 1378-9.
- [45] R.H.B. Christensen, ordinal-Regression Models for Ordinal Data. R package version, (2018), pp. 8–25 http://www.cran.r-project.org/package=ordinal/.

Y. Li et al.

- [46] K.S. Barone, D.D. Tolarova, I. Ormsby, T. Doetschman, J.G. Michael, Induction of oral tolerance in TGF-β1 null mice, J. Immunol. 161 (1) (1998) 154–160.
- [47] F. Ramsdell, Foxp3 and natural regulatory T cells: key to a cell lineage? Immunity 19 (2) (2003) 165–168.
- [48] M.G. Roncarolo, S. Gregori, Is FOXP3 a bona fide marker for human regulatory T cells? Eur. J. Immunol. 38 (4) (2008) 925–927.
- [49] A.M. Mowat, A.G. Lamont, M.G. Bruce, A genetically determined lack of oral tolerance to ovalbumin is due to failure of the immune system to respond to intestinally derived tolerogen, Eur. J. Immunol. 17 (11) (1987) 1673–1676.
- [50] O. Pabst, A. Mowat, Oral tolerance to food protein, Mucosal Immunol. 5 (3) (2012) 232–239.
 [51] S. Strobel, A.M. Mowat, Immune responses to dietary antigens: oral tolerance.
- [51] S. Strobel, A.M. Mowat, Immune responses to dietary antigens: oral tolerance, Immunol. today 19 (4) (1998) 173–181.
- [52] J. Rombout, A. Berg, C. Berg, P. Witte, E. Egberts, Immunological importance of the second gut segment of carp. III. Systemic and/or mucosal immune responses after immunization with soluble or particulate antigen, J. Fish. Biol. 35 (2) (1989) 179–186.
- [53] P. Joosten, M. Engelsma, M. Van der Zee, J. Rombout, Induction of oral tolerance in carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) after feeding protein antigens, Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 60 (1–2) (1997) 187–196.
- [54] G. Davidson, A. Ellis, C. Secombes, A preliminary investigation into the phenomenon of oral tolerance in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum, 1792), Fish Shellfish Immunol. 4 (2) (1994) 141–151.
- [55] H.M. Munang'andu, S. Mutoloki, Ø. Evensen, An overview of challenges limiting the design of protective mucosal vaccines for finfish, Front. Immunol. 6 (2015) 542.
- [56] S. Maurice, A. Nussinovitch, N. Jaffe, O. Shoseyov, A. Gertler, Oral immunization of *Carassius auratus* with modified recombinant A-layer proteins entrapped in alginate beads, Vaccine 23 (4) (2004) 450-459.
- [57] C.G. Lee, C.A. Da Silva, J.-Y. Lee, D. Hartl, J.A. Elias, Chitin regulation of immune responses: an old molecule with new roles, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 20 (6) (2008) 684–689.
- [58] C.A. Da Silva, C. Chalouni, A. Williams, D. Hard, C.G. Lee, J.A. Elias, Chitin is a sizedependent regulator of macrophage TNF and IL-10 production, J. Immunol. 182 (6) (2009) 3573–3582.
- [59] C. Burrells, P. Williams, P. Southgate, S. Wadsworth, Dietary nucleotides: a novel supplement in fish feeds: 2. Effects on vaccination, salt water transfer, growth rates and physiology of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.), Aquaculture 199 (1–2) (2001) 171–184.
- [60] J.I. Erdal, Ø. Evensen, O.K. Kaurstad, A. Lillehaug, R. Solbakken, K. Thorud, Relationship between diet and immune response in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) after feeding various levels of ascorbic acid and omega-3 fatty acids, Aquaculture 98 (4) (1991) 363–379.
- [61] M. Gu, T.M. Kortner, M. Penn, A.K. Hansen, Å. Krogdahl, Effects of dietary plant meal and soya-saponin supplementation on intestinal and hepatic lipid droplet accumulation and lipoprotein and sterol metabolism in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.), Br. J. Nutr. 111 (03) (2014) 432–444.
- [62] N.S. Liland, M. Espe, G. Rosenlund, R. Waagbø, J.I. Hjelle, Ø. Lie, R. Fontanillas,

B.E. Torstensen, High levels of dietary phytosterols affect lipid metabolism and increase liver and plasma TAG in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.), Br. J. Nutr. 110 (111) (2013) 1958–1967

- [63] T.M. Kortner, I. Björkhem, A. Krasnov, G. Timmerhaus, Å. Krogdahl, Dietary cholesterol supplementation to a plant-based diet suppresses the complete pathway of cholesterol synthesis and induces bile acid production in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*), Br. J. Nutr. 111 (12) (2014) 2089–2103.
- [64] T.M. Kortner, J. Gu, Å. Krogdahl, A.M. Bakke, Transcriptional regulation of cholesterol and bile acid metabolism after dietary soyabean meal treatment in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.), Br. J. Nutr. 109 (04) (2013) 593–604.
- [65] R. Olsen, R. Myklebust, T. Kaino, E. Ringø, Lipid digestibility and ultrastructural changes in the enterocytes of Arctic char (Salvelinus alpinus L.) fed linseed oil and soybean lecithin, Fish Physiol. Biochem. 21 (1) (1999) 35–44.
- [66] R. Olsen, R. Myklebust, E. Ringø, T. Mayhew, The influences of dietary linseed oil and saturated fatty acids on caecal enterocytes in Arctic char (Salvelinus alpinus L): a quantitative ultrastructural study, Fish Physical. Biochem. 22 (3) (2000) 207–216.
- [67] R.É. Olsen, B.T. Dragnes, R. Myklebust, E. Ringø, Effect of soybean oil and soybean lecithin on intestinal lipid composition and lipid droplet accumulation of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum, Fish Physiol. Biochem. 29 (3) (2003) 181–192.
- [68] H. Heid, R. Moll, I. Schwetlick, H.-R. Rackwitz, T.W. Keenan, Adipophilin is a specific marker of lipid accumulation in diverse cell types and diseases, Cell Tissue Res. 294 (2) (1998) 309–321.
- [69] R. van der Oost, J. Beyer, N.P. Vermeulen, Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: a review, Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 13 (2) (2003) 57–149.
- [70] M. Sanden, P.A. Olsvik, Intestinal cellular localization of PCNA protein and CYP1A mRNA in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar L. exposed to a model toxicant, BMC Physiol. 9 (2009) 3.
- [71] A.S. Mortensen, A. Arukwe, Modulation of xenobiotic biotransformation system and hormonal responses in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) after exposure to tributyltin (TBT), Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C Toxicol. Pharmacol. 145 (3) (2007) 431–441.
- [72] A.S. Mortensen, A. Arukwe, Effects of 17 alpha-ethynylestradiol on hormonal responses and xenobiotic biotransformation system of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), Aquat. Toxicol. 85 (2) (2007) 113–123.
- [73] M. Tschirner, A. Simon, Influence of different growing substrates and processing on the nutrient composition of black soldier fly larvae destined for animal feed, J. Insects Food Feed 1 (4) (2015) 249–259.
- [74] B. Purschke, R. Scheibelberger, S. Axmann, A. Adler, H. Jager, Impact of substrate contamination with mycotoxins, heavy metals and pesticides on the growth performance and composition of black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*) for use in the feed and food value chain, Food Addit. Contam. A: Chem. Anal. Contr. Exposure Risk Assess. 34 (8) (2017) 1410–1420.
- [75] S. Diener, C. Zurbrügg, K. Tockner, Bioaccumulation of heavy metals in the black soldier fly, *Hermetia illucens* and effects on its life cycle, J. Insects Food Feed 1 (4) (2015) 261–270.

Ι

Consistent changes in the intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon fed insect meal diets

Yanxian Li^{1* \Box}, Karina Gajardo¹, Alexander Jaramillo-Torres¹, Trond M. Kortner¹, and Åshild Krogdahl¹

¹Department of Paraclinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Oslo, Norway

Background: Being part of fish's natural diets, insects have become a realistic, sustainable feed ingredient for aquacul-2 ture. While nutritional values of insects have been exten-3 sively studied in various fish species, their impact on the fish microbiota remains to be fully explored. In an 8-week Б freshwater feeding trial. Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) were 6 fed either a commercially relevant reference diet or an insect 7 meal diet wherein black soldier fly (Hermetia illucens) lar-8 vae meal comprised 60% of total ingredients. Microbiota of digesta and mucosa origin from the proximal and distal in-10 testine were collected and profiled along with feed and water 11 samples. 12

Results: The insect meal diet markedly modulated the 13 salmon intestinal microbiota. Overall, the microbial diversity was lower in the digesta of salmon fed the insect meal 15 diet but higher in the mucosa. A group of bacterial genera, 16 dominated by members of the Bacillaceae family, was en-17 riched in salmon fed the insect meal diet, which confirms our 18 previous findings in a seawater feeding trial. We also found 19 that microbiota in the intestine closely resembled that of the 20 feeds but was distinct from the water microbiota. Notably, 21 bacterial genera associated with the diet effects were present 22 in the feeds as well. 23

Conclusions: We conclude that salmon fed the insect meal
 diets show consistent changes in the intestinal microbiota.
 The next challenge is to evaluate the extent to which these
 alterations are attributable to feed microbiota and dietary
 nutrients and what these changes mean for fish physiology
 and health.

Atlantic salmon | Insect meal | Black soldier fly | Intestinal microbiota | Feed microbiota | Water microbiota

33 Correspondence: yanxianl@nmbu.no

34 Background

30

The global population is projected to reach 9.7 billion in 35 2050 (1), requiring an increase in the food supply by 25-36 37 70% (2). To fulfil this demand, the food production sector must minimize resource input and maximize nutritional out-38 puts for human consumptions. Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, 39 is the most produced marine fish species and one of the most 40 economically important farmed fish worldwide (3). Human-41 edible plant feedstuffs are the main ingredients used in modern salmon feeds (~70%) (4). To secure sustainable devel-43 opments, salmon farming needs to decrease its dependency 44 on human-edible feedstuffs and incorporate unexploited feed 45 resources in its raw material repertoire. So far, possible can-46 didates include insects (5), macroalgae (6), and single-cell 47

organisms such as bacteria, yeasts, and microalgae (7). In 48 terms of sustainability, insects are a promising candidate. 49 They possess a remarkable capacity to upgrade low-quality 50 organic materials, require minimal water and cultivable land. 51 and emit little greenhouse gases (8). One insect species with 52 the potential as an alternative protein source for salmon aqua-53 culture is the black soldier fly (Hermetia illucens), produced 54 at an industrial scale for its good nutritional value (9). Feed 55 conversion ratio, growth performance, fish health, sustain-56 ability and price/availability are primary concerns when eval-57 uating the performance of alternative feed ingredients. While 58 the nutritional value of black soldier fly larvae meal has been 59 extensively evaluated in various fish species, including At-60 lantic salmon (10-16), its influence on fish health remains 61 largely unexplored. 62

The intestine is the first organ exposed to the diet and of pivotal importance for the growth, development, and protection against pathogens. A well-functioning, healthy intestine is the key to convert feed into fish biomass efficiently. It is now well established that the intestinal microbiota is, in various ways, closely connected to intestinal function and health (17-21). Diet is arguably one of the most important environmental factors shaping intestinal microbiota (22–24). Different dietary components may selectively induce compositional and functional alterations of the intestinal microbiota, which in turn could inflict important implications on the host health and disease resistance (19, 24–26).

Characterizing the response of intestinal microbiota to dietary shifts and its associations with host responses is a critical step towards identifying key microbial clades for promoting fish health and welfare. The main aims of the work presented herein were (i) to compare intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon fed a commercially relevant reference diet and an insect meal-based test diet, and (ii) to identify potential associations between intestinal microbial clades and host responses. This work was part of a larger study consisting of a freshwater and a seawater feeding trial. The present work reports the intestinal microbiota in freshwater Atlantic salmon fed an insect meal diet containing 60% black soldier fly larvae meal for 8 weeks.

Results

To aid readers in interpreting the data from this feeding trial, results on feed utilization, growth performance, intestinal histomorphology, and gene expression, which have been reported elsewhere (27, 28), are summarized as the following. In brief, there was little evidence that the insect meal diet

88

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85

86

87

negatively affected salmon's feed utilization or growth per-94 95 formance. Histopathological examination showed excessive accumulation of lipid (steatosis) in the proximal intestine in 96 both diet groups, but it was less severe in salmon fed the in-97 sect meal diet. The expression of the lipid droplet marker 00 gene, plin2, supported these histological findings. Immune aa and barrier-function gene expression profiles were generally 100 not affected by diet. However, salmon fed the insect meal diet 101 showed increased expression of genes indicative of immune 102

tolerance (foxp3), stress response (hsp70), and detoxification

104 activity (cpy1a1).

Taxonomic analysis. All the bacterial species in the mock 105 were correctly identified at the genus level with E. faecalis, L. 106 fermentum, L. monocytogenes, and S. aureus further being as-107 signed at the species level (Figure S1). At the genus level, the 108 average Pearson's r was 0.58 for the correlation between ex-109 pected and observed mock composition. The exact sequence, 110 relative abundance, and taxonomy of contaminating features 111 identified in the negative control samples are available in 112 Table S1. The primary contaminating features, in descend-113 ing order according to the mean relative abundance, were 114 classified as Pseudomonas, Halomonas, Shewanella algae, 115 116 Undibacterium, Bradyrhizobium, Chitinophagaceae, Ralstonia, Sediminibacterium, Curvibacter, Afipia, and Cutibac-117 terium. 118

The top 10 most abundant bacterial genera across all 119 the samples are shown in Figure 1. At visual observation, 120 the microbiota in the digesta collected from the two intesti-121 nal segments of the salmon fed the reference diet appeared 122 homogenous, but more heterogeneous in the sampled mu-123 cosa. Dominant genera in the reference diet group included 124 Lactobacillus, unclassified Peptostreptococcaceae, and Pep-125 tostreptococcus. The microbiota in salmon fed the insect 126 meal diet differed greatly from that of the reference diet fed 127 fish, but the difference between the results of the digesta and 128 mucosa appeared less than for fish fed the reference diet. 129 Dominant genera in the insect meal diet group included un-130 classified Bacillaceae, Bacillus, Corvnebacterium 1, Entero-131 coccus, Oceanobacillus, and Ornithinibacillus. The micro-132 biota in the intestine closely resembled that of the feed but 133 was distinct from the water microbiota. In agreement with 134 this, we found that the OTU overlap between the intestine 135 and feed was much higher than that between the intestine and 136 water (Figure 2). 137

Core microbiota. In total, 45 and 60 OTUs were identified 138 as core microbiota (present in at least 50% of the samples) 139 in salmon fed the reference and insect meal diet, respectively 140 (Figure 3). Five core OTUs were shared between the diets, 141 classified as Bacillus, Globicatella, Kurthia, Lactobacillus, 142 and Ureibacillus. Primary core OTUs in salmon fed the ref-143 erence diet comprised Peptostreptococcaceae (1 OTU), Pep-144 tostreptococcus (1 OTU), and lactic acid bacteria including 145 Lactobacillus (13 OTUs), Weissella (3 OTUs), Vagococcus (3 146 OTUs), Lactococcus (1 OTU), Leuconostoc (1 OTU), Pedio-147 coccus (1 OTU) and Streptococcus (1 OTU). In contrast, pri-148 mary core OTUs in salmon fed the insect meal diet comprised 149

Bacillus (12 OTUS), *Enterococcus* (7 OTUS), *Corynebacterium 1* (4 OTUS), *Lysinibacillus* (3 OTUS), *Lactobacillus* (3 OTUS), *Actinomyces* (3 OTUS), *Oceanobacillus* (2 OTUS), *Bacillaceae* (2 OTUS), *Brevibacterium* (2 OTUS), *Microbacterium* (2 OTUS), *Ornithinibacillus* (1 OTU) and *RsaHF231* (1 OTU).

Alpha-diversity. Overall, the diet effects on the alphadiversity showed opposite results for digesta and mucosa samples when evaluated independently (Figure 4). In the digesta, the insect meal diet reduced microbial diversity compared to the reference diet, whereas in the mucosa the insect meal diet increased diversity.

In the digesta, Faith's phylogenetic diversity (Faith's 162 PD) showed a significant diet and intestinal segment effect, 163 and the interaction between these terms was not significant. 164 Faith's PD was lower in the insect meal diet group than in 165 the reference diet group. Also, it was lower in the distal in-166 testine than in the proximal intestine. Similar results were 167 found for the Shannon index, but the interaction was signifi-168 cant. In both intestinal segments, Shannon's index was lower 169 in salmon fed the insect meal diet, but the diet effect was 170 stronger in the distal intestine than in the proximal intestine. 171 In contrast, a significant intestinal segment effect was only 172 found in salmon fed the insect meal diet, with the distal in-173 testine showing a lower Shannon's index. 174

In the mucosa, Faith's PD showed a significant diet effect, with no significant difference between the intestinal segments. The salmon fed the insect meal diet showed a higher Faith's PD in both intestinal segments. A similar effect was indicated by Shannon's index, but only for the proximal intestine, i.e., the interaction between diet and segment was significant.

The differences between the alpha diversity of water and the significant (Figure 1) 182 (S2).

Beta-diversity. In the digesta, the PERMANOVA showed 185 a significant diet and intestinal segment effect on the beta-186 diversity, and the interaction between these terms was signifi-187 cant (Figure 5a; Table 1). The diet effect on the beta-diversity 188 was significant in both intestinal segments, whereas a signif-189 icant intestinal segment effect was only found in salmon fed 190 the reference diet. The PERMDISP showed that, in both in-191 testinal segments, the multivariate dispersion was higher in 192 the reference diet group than in the insect meal diet group. 193 Differences in the multivariate dispersion between intestinal 194 segments were not significant in both diets (Figure S3a). 195

In the mucosa, the PERMANOVA showed a significant 196 diet but not a significant intestinal segment effect on the beta-197 diversity, and the interaction between these terms was sig-198 nificant (Figure 5b; Table 1). The diet effect on the beta-199 diversity was significant in both intestinal segments, but it 200 was marginally stronger in the proximal intestine than in the 201 distal intestine. The PERMDISP showed that differences in 202 the multivariate dispersion between the diet groups were not 203 significant at the tank or diet level (Figure S3b). 204



Fig. 1. Consistent changes in the taxonomic composition of intestinal microbiota from salmon fed the insect meal diet. Note that feed microbiota shows close resemblance to that observed in the intestine whereas water microbiota is very distinct from the intestinal microbiota. Only the top 10 most abundant bacterial genera are displayed in the plot whereas the other taxa are shown as "Others". Taxa not assigned at the genus level are prepended with letters indicating whether the taxonomic assignment was made at the order ($_0$) or family (($_1$) level. Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; PI, proximal intestine; DI, distal intestine.



Fig. 2. Higher microbial overlap between the intestine and feeds (a) than that between the intestine and water (b). In each panel, the number of shared OTUs is shown on the left whereas the relative abundance of shared OTUs in the intestinal mucosa is shown on the right. To reduce the influence of rare OTUs and differences in sequencing depth, only OTUs with a minimum relative abundance of 0.05% were considered as present in a sample. Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; PIM, proximal intestine mucosa; DIM, distal intestine mucosa.

The water microbiota was significantly different from the intestinal mucosal microbiota (p = 0.001). The PER-MDISP showed that differences in the multivariate dispersion between water and intestinal mucosal samples were not significant (p = 0.391).

209

Association analysis. Significant associations between 210 sample metadata and bacterial genera in the digesta and mu-211



Fig. 3. Heatmaps showing the prevalence of core OTUs at different detection thresholds in salmon fed the reference (REF) or insect meal (IM) diet. The core OTUs were computed and visualized by the R package microbiome (29), with a minimum detection threshold of 0.1% and a minimal prevalence threshold of 50%. The taxonomy of core OTUs at the genus level is displayed on the y axis. OTUs not assigned at the genus level are prepended with letters indicating whether the taxonomic assignment was made at the phylum (p_), order (o_), or family (f_) level.

cosa are shown in Figure 6 and Figure 7, respectively. In 212 total, 93 and 36 taxa were associated with the diet effect in 213 the digesta and mucosa, respectively. Collectively, 32 taxa 214 were associated with the diet effect in both digesta and mu-215 cosa. Among these taxa, bacterial genera enriched in salmon 216 fed the reference diet consisted of unclassified Peptostrep-217 tococcaceae, Peptostreptococcus, Photobacterium, and lac-218 tic acid bacteria including Lactobacillus, Lactococcus, Leu-219 conostoc, Pediococcus, and Streptococcus (partially illus-220 trated in Figure 6b and Figure 7b). In contrast, bacterial gen-221 era enriched in salmon fed the insect meal diet comprised 222 Actinomyces, unclassified Bacillales, unclassified Bacil-223 laceae, Bacillus, unclassified Beutenbergiaceae, Brevibac-224 terium, Cellulosimicrobium, Clostridium sensu stricto 1, 225 Corynebacterium 1, unclassified Enterococcaceae, Entero-226 coccus, Exiguobacterium, Globicatella, Gracilibacillus, un-227 classified Lactobacillales, Lysinibacillus, Macrococcus, Mi-228 crobacterium, Nosocomiicoccus, Oceanobacillus, Ornithini-229 bacillus, Paenibacillus, unclassified Planococcaceae, and 230

unclassified RsaHF231 (partially illustrated in Figure 6c and 231 Figure 7c). Regarding associations between bacterial genera 232 and host gene expressions, the relative abundance of Paeni-233 bacillus and Streptococcus in the mucosa showed positive 234 correlations with the expression level of foxp3, the mas-235 ter transcription factor of regulatory T-cells, in the intestine 236 (partially illustrated in Figure 7d). Additionally, the relative 237 abundance of unclassified RsaHF231 in the digesta, and the 238 relative abundance of unclassified Bacillaceae, Corynebac-239 terium 1. Enterococcus, and Oceanobacillus in the mucosa, 240 showed negative correlations with the expression level of 241 plin2, a surface marker of lipid droplets, in the intestine (par-242 tially illustrated in Figure 7e). 243

Discussion

We found that the insect meal diet markedly modulated the Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota. A group of bacterial genera, dominated by members of the *Bacillaceae* family, 247



Fig. 4. Diet effects on the alpha-diversity are opposite when independently evaluated using digesta or mucosa samples. The error bars denote standard deviations of the means. The p values of the main effects and their interaction are displayed on the top of each subplot. The asterisks denote statistically significant differences in the post-hoc conditional contrasts (*, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01). Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; PI, proximal intestine; DI, distal intestine; NS, not significant; PD, phylogenetic diversity.

was enriched in salmon fed the insect meal diet. These re-248 sults confirm our previous findings in a seawater feeding trial 249 (32). We also found that microbiota in the intestine closely 250 resembled that of the feeds. Notably, bacterial genera asso-251 ciated with the diet effects were present in the feeds as well. 252 We conclude that salmon fed the insect meal diets show con-253 sistent changes in the intestinal microbiota. The next chal-254 lenge is to evaluate the extent to which these alterations are 255 attributable to feed microbiota and dietary nutrients. 256

257 Insect meal diet markedly modulated the intestinal mi-

crobiota. Higher microbial diversity has been reported in 258 intestinal digesta, and mucosa of salmonids fed diets con-259 taining black soldier fly larvae meal (32-35). In the present 260 study, however, this was the case for the mucosa, but the op-261 posite was the result for the digesta. Our observation that 262 a particular group of bacterial genera, dominated by mem-263 bers of the Bacillaceae family, was enriched in salmon fed 264 the insect meal diet is in line with findings in our previous seawater trial, wherein salmon were fed an insect meal diet containing 15% black soldier fly larvae meal for 16 267 weeks (32). Among these bacterial genera, Actinomyces, 268 Bacillus, Brevibacterium, Corvnebacterium 1, Enterococcus, 269 Oceanobacillus, and Paenibacillus were also reported to be 270

enriched in rainbow trout fed diets containing 15% or 30% 277 black soldier fly larvae meal (34–36). Similar observations 277 have been made in Siberian sturgeon (*Acipenser baerii*) fed 278 a diet containing 15% BSF larvae meal, inducing higher absolute abundances of *Bacillus* and *Enterococcus* (37). In this 278 latter study, fluorescence in situ hybridization (*FISH*) technique was used for the bacteria quantification. 277

Feed microbiota and dietary nutrients may explain the 278 observed diet effects. We found evidence for the former, be-279 cause bacterial genera associated with the diet effects were 280 present in the feed samples. Given the hydrothermal treat-281 ments during the extrusion step in the feed production, the 282 viability of feed-associated microbes is expected to be low. 283 As sequencing-based methods cannot differentiate between 284 active (living) and inactive (dormant/dead) microbes, addi-285 tional work will be needed to elucidate the extent to which the 286 observed diet effects are attributable to the carry-over of inac-287 tive microbes and colonization of active microbes from feeds. 288 Methods like viability PCR and RNA sequencing can be ap-289 plied for such experiments (38). Changes in the feed com-290 ponents may have also contributed to the observed diet ef-291 fects. For instance, dietary inclusion of soy proteins was sug-292 gested to associate with increased relative abundance of lactic 293 acid bacteria in the salmon intestine (39). Thus, the replace-294



Fig. 5. The insect meal diet markedly modulated the salmon intestinal microbiota in both digesta (a) and mucosa (b), irrespective of intestinal segments. The dimensionality reduction was performed using a compositional beta-diversity metric called robust Aitchison PCA and visualized by EMPeror (30). The height-to-width ratio of the PCoA plot was set to reflect the ratio between the corresponding eigenvalues as recommended (31). Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; PID, proximal intestine digesta; DID, distal intestine digesta; PIM, proximal intestine mucosa; DIM, distal intestine mucosa; PCoA, principal coordinate analysis.

Table 1. PERMANOVA and subsequent conditional contrasts.

Main effects			Conditional contrasts				
Source	Diet	Segment	Interaction	REF-PI VS.	REF-DI VS.	REF-PI VS.	IM-PI VS.
				IM-PI	IM-DI	REF-DI	IM-DI
Digesta	0.001	0.041	0.041	0.002	0.002	0.04	0.59
Mucosa	0.001^{1}	0.633	0.010	0.001^{1}	0.001^{1}	NA	NA

Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; PI, proximal intestine; DI, distal intestine; NA, not applicable. ¹Monte Carlo p value

ment of soy protein concentrate with insect meal may explain 295 the reduction in lactic acid bacteria in salmon fed the insect 296 meal diet. On the other hand, nutrients from the insect meal, 297 such as chitin, may have also promoted the growth of certain 298 bacterial taxa including Actinomyces and Bacillus. Actino-299 myces species are often identified as active chitin degraders, 300 showing enhanced growth and activity upon chitin addition 301 (40). Many Bacillus species are well-known as chitin de-302 graders (41). Bacillus was one of the predominant taxa in the 303 intestinal mucosa of salmon fed a chitin-supplemented diet, 304 displaying the highest in vitro chitinase activity (42). The 305 latter hypothesis can be tested by supplementing insect meal-306 specific nutrients to the same basal diet and sequencing the 307 intestinal microbiota of salmon fed these diets. 308

Microbiota was similar between intestinal segments. 309 Like its mammalian counterparts (43, 44), the salmon intesti-310 nal microbiota is also spatially heterogeneous in its composi-311 tion (45). Specifically, microbial communities differ along 312 the intestinal tract and vary substantially between digesta 313 and mucosa within the same intestinal segment. Due to the 314 batch effects between sequencing runs, we could not directly 315 compare microbial communities in the digesta and mucosa. 316 Nonetheless, our study suggests that conclusions on the diet 317 effect can be different when evaluated using digesta or mu-318 cosa samples alone. This is supported by our results showing 319 that diet effects on the alpha-diversity and differential abun-320 dance testing were quite different when evaluated indepen-321 dently using digesta or mucosa samples. In contrast, our 322 comparative analysis showed that microbiota variations be-323



Fig. 6. Significant associations between sample metadata and microbial clades in the digesta. (a) Heatmap summarizing significant associations between sample metadata and microbial clades in the digesta. Color key: $-\log(q-value)^*$ sign(coefficient). Cells that denote significant associations are colored in red or blue and overlaid with a plus (+) or minus (-) sign that indicates the direction of association: Diet (+), higher relative abundance in salmon fed the insect meal diet; Segment (+), higher relative abundance in salmon fed the insect meal diet; Segment (+), higher relative abundance in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reset are shown as grey dots in panels b and c. As the number of taxa showing significant associations with diet was too high to be properly displayed on the heatmap, we filtered the results to keep those with a q-value < 0.0001. Complete results are available in our accompanying R Markdown reports. Taxa not assigned at the genus level are prepended with letters indicating whether the taxonomic assignment was made at the phylum(p_), order (o_), or family (f) level. Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; PI, proximal intestine; DI, distal intestine; FDR, false discove

tween intestinal segments were minor in the digesta and neglectable in the mucosa. The diet effects were essentially the same when evaluated using samples from different intestinal segments. Taken together, these results suggest that it may

328 be sufficient to collect digesta and mucosa samples from one

intestinal segment (e.g., the distal intestine) when conducting

³³⁰ a diet-microbiota study in fish with limited resources.

Microbial overlap was low between the intestine and 331 water but high between the intestine and feeds. Water 332 and feed are considered two environmental sources of mi-333 crobiota which can be transferred to the fish intestine. In 334 line with previous studies in salmon (46-48) and other fish 335 species (49-51), we found that microbial overlap between the 336 intestine and water was low in the present study of salmon 337 in freshwater. This may be explained by the fact that dur-338



Fig. 7. Significant associations between sample metadata and microbial clades in the mucosa. (a) Heatmap summarizing significant associations between sample metadata and microbial clades in the mucosa. Color key: $-\log(q-value)^*$ sign(coefficient). Cells that denote significant associations are colored in red or blue and overlaid with a plus (+) or minus (-) sign that indicates the direction of association: Diet (+), higher relative abundance in salmon fed the insect meal diet; Segment (+), higher relative abundance in the distal intestine; foxp3 (+) / plin2 (+), positive correlation between microbial clade relative abundance and gene expression levels. (b) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the reference diet. (c) Representative taxa showing higher relative abundances in salmon fed the insect meal diet; C(d) Positive correlation between the relative abundance of *Paenibacillus* and foxp3 expression levels in the intestine. (e) Negative correlation between the relative abundance of *Paenibacillus* and foxp3 expression levels in the intestine. The relative abundances of presentative taxa in the feeds are shown as grey dots in panels b and c. Taxa not assigned at the genus level are prepended with letters indicating whether the taxonomic assignment was made at the phylum(p), order (o), or family (f) level. Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; PI, proximal intestine; DI, distal intestine; FDR, false discovery rate; N.not.zero, number of observations that are not zero.

ing their freshwater stage, salmon drink little water to accommodate osmoregulation needs in a hypo-osmotic environment, which greatly limits the intake of microbes from
the surrounding water environment. Conversely, we found
a high overlap between microbiota in the intestine and the
feeds. Contradicting results have been reported in the literature regarding microbial overlaps between the fish intestine
and formulated feeds (52–55). As discussed earlier, the feed

microbiota detected by amplicon sequencing may have pri-347 marily originated from inactive microbes. Therefore, feed 348 microbiota can be a confounding factor of the observed diet 349 effects. Given that the influence of feed microbiota on the 350 observed diet effects is unequal across experimental groups 351 as opposed to the water microbiota, we strongly recommend 352 collecting feed samples when designing a sequencing-based, 353 diet-microbiota study in fish. 354

Associations between microbial clades and host gene 355 expressions. The close relationship between microbiota 35F and the intestinal immune system is well established (56). 357 Interaction between microbiota and lipid metabolism in the 358 intestine has also been documented (57, 58). Here we found a 250 positive correlation between the Paenibacillus relative abun-360 dance and *foxp3* expression level in the intestine, suggesting 261 a putative link between the enrichment of Paenibacillus and increased expression of *foxp3* in salmon fed the insect meal 363 diet. In addition, we found negative correlations between 364 relative abundances of unclassified Bacillaceae, Corynebac-365 terium 1. Enterococcus, Oceanobacillus, and unclassified 366 RsaHF231, and the expression level of plin2 in the intestine. 367 This may suggest that the reduction in steatosis in the prox-368 imal intestine of salmon fed the insect meal diet might be 369 related to the enrichment of these taxa, either a cause or con-370 sequence. However, as microbiome data are sparse and noisy, 371 association analysis is more meaningful when the sample size 272 is much larger than it in this study. Given the limited sample 373 size, our results should be interpreted as exploratory. Further 374 research is required to test if these bacteria taxa are indeed 375 involved in the immune modulation and lipid metabolism in 376 the salmon intestine. 377

378 Conclusions

Our work showed that the insect meal diet markedly modu-379 lated the Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota. Overall, the 380 microbial diversity was lower in the digesta of salmon fed the 381 insect meal diet but higher in the mucosa. A group of bacte-382 rial genera, dominated by members of the Bacillaceae fam-383 ily, was enriched in salmon fed the insect meal diet. These 384 results support our previous findings from a study of Atlantic 385 salmon in seawater. We also found that microbiota in the 386 intestine closely resembled that of the feed but was distinct 207 from the water microbiota. Notably, bacterial genera asso-388 ciated with the diet effects were present in the feed samples as well. We conclude that salmon fed the insect meal di-390 ets show consistent changes in the intestinal microbiota. The 391 next challenge is to evaluate the extent to which these alter-392 ations are attributable to feed microbiota and dietary nutrients 393 and what these changes mean for fish physiology and health. 394

Methods

Experimental fish, diet and sampling. An 8-week freshwater feeding trial was conducted at Cargill AquaNutrition 397 experimental facility at Dirdal, Norway. A total of 800 At-398 lantic salmon with a mean initial body weight of 49 g (1.5 399 g SEM) were randomly assigned into 8 fiberglass tanks (450 400 L, 100 fish per tank) supplied with running freshwater. Qua-401 druplicate tanks of fish were fed either a reference diet with a 402 combination of fish meal, soy protein concentrate, and wheat gluten as protein sources, or an insect meal diet wherein 85% of the protein was supplied by black soldier fly larvae meal, 405 replacing most of the fish meal and soy protein concentrate 406 (Table 2). The black soldier fly larvae were grown on feed 407 substrates containing organic waste streams. After eight days 408

Table 2. Formulation of the experimental diets.

Ingredients (g/100 g)	REF	IM
Fishmeal LT94	35.0	6.0
Insect meal	0	60.0
Soy protein concentrate	29.6	5.0
Wheat gluten	14.3	14.4
Fish oil	4.6	6.9
Rapeseed Oil	12.0	4.8
Vitamin & mineral premix	0.3	0.3
Yttrium	0.2	0.2
Miscellaneous	4.0	2.4
Chemical composition		
Dry matter (%)	94	96
Crude lipid (%)	18	22
Crude protein (%)	47	44
Carbohydrates (%)	11	12
Ash (%)	8	7
Gross energy (MJ/Kg dry matter)	22	23
TBARS (nmol/g)	7	17

Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; TBARS, Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances.

of growing, the larvae were harvested and partially defatted 400 before being dried and ground to make the insect meal (Pro-410 tix Biosystems BV, Dongen, The Netherlands). The diets 411 were formulated and produced by Cargill (Dirdal, Norway) 412 and stored at -20 °C until use. The fish were fed continu-413 ously by automatic disk feeders under a photoperiod regimen 414 of 24 h daylight. Uneaten feeds were collected from tank 415 outlets and registered daily. During the feeding trial, the wa-416 ter temperature was 13.7 ± 0.1 °C, and the dissolved oxygen 417 concentration of the inlet and outlet water was 11.9 ± 1.2 and 418 8.7 ± 0.5 mg/L, respectively. Further details on the nutritional 419 composition of the insect meal and diets have been reported 420 elsewhere (27, 59). 421

Sample collection. At the termination of the feeding trial, 422 3 fish were randomly taken from each tank (i.e., 12 fish 423 per treatment), anesthetized with tricaine methanesulfonate 424 (MS222[®]; Argent Chemical Laboratories, Redmond, WA, 425 USA), and euthanized by a sharp blow to the head. After 426 cleaning the exterior of each fish with 70% ethanol, the prox-427 imal and distal intestine were aseptically removed from the 428 abdominal cavity, placed in sterile Petri dishes, and opened 429 longitudinally. Only fish with digesta along the whole intes-430 tine were sampled to ensure that the intestine had been ex-431 posed to the diets. The intestinal digesta was gently removed 432 and transferred into a 1.5 mL sterile Eppendorf tube using 433 a spatula and snap-frozen in liquid N2 for the profiling of 434 digesta-associated intestinal microbiota. The intestinal tissue 435 was rinsed in sterile phosphate-buffered saline 3 times to re-436 move traces of remaining digesta. After rinsing, the intestinal 437 tissue was cut into 3 pieces for histological evaluation (fixed 438 in 4% phosphate-buffered formaldehyde solution for 24 h 439 and transferred to 70% ethanol for storage), gene expression 440 analysis (preserved in RNAlater solution and stored at -20 441 °C), and profiling of mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota 442 (snap-frozen in liquid N₂), respectively. In addition, 300 mL 443 water was taken from each tank, pre-filtered through a 0.8 444

502 503 504

um sterile syringe filter (Acrodisc®, Pall Corporation, New 445 York, USA), and vacuum-filtered onto a 0.2 µm sterile nitro-446 cellulose filter (NalgeneTM, Thermo Scientific, USA). The 447 filter containing enriched bacteria was folded, placed into an 449 8 mL sterile tube, and snap-frozen in liquid N₂ to profile mi-440 crobial community in water. The collection of microbiota 450 samples was performed near a gas burner to secure aseptic 451 452 conditions. Tools were cleaned and decontaminated by 70% ethanol sprays and flaming before the subsequent sampling 453 was carried out. The samples for microbiota profiling were 454 transported in dry ice and stored at -80 °C until DNA extrac-455 tion 456

DNA extraction. Total DNA was extracted from ~100 mg 457 digesta, mucosa, and feed using the QIAamp DNA Stool 458 Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) as previously described 450 (39), except that 2 mL prefilled PowerBead tubes (glass 460 beads, 0.1 mm; Cat no. 13118-50, Qiagen) were used for 461 the bead beating. To extract DNA from water samples, the 462 frozen filter was allowed to soften on ice and rolled into a 463 cylinder with the white filter membrane facing outward using 464 two sets of sterile forceps. The filter was then inserted into 465 an 8 mL sterile tube containing the double amount of ASL 466 buffer and glass beads used in the prefilled PowerBead tubes. The tube was secured horizontally to a mixer mill (Retsch GmbH, Germany; model, MM 301) and shaken vigorously 469 at the frequency of 30 Hz for 5 min (2.5 min, pause and 470 invert the tube, 2.5 min). After shaking, the tube was cen-471 trifuged at 4000 g for 1 min, and 2.6 mL supernatant was 472 collected and evenly aliquoted into two 1.5 mL Eppendorf 473 tubes. The DNA was extracted from the supernatant aliquots 474 and pooled afterward, following the protocol as previously 475 described (39). For quality control purposes, a companion 476 "blank extraction" sample was added to each batch of sam-477 ple DNA extraction by omitting the input material, whereas 478 an additional mock sample (ZymoBIOMICSTM, Zymo Re-479 search, California, USA; catalog no., D6300) was included for each DNA extraction kit as a positive control. The mock 481 consists of 8 bacteria (Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia 482 coli, Salmonella enterica, Lactobacillus fermentum, Entero-483 coccus faecalis. Staphylococcus aureus. Listeria monocyto-484 genes, Bacillus subtilis) and 2 yeasts (Saccharomyces cere-485 visiae, Cryptococcus neoformans). 486

Library preparation and sequencing. The V1-2 hyper-487 variable regions of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene were am-488 plified using the primer set 27F (5'-AGA GTT TGA TCM 489 TGG CTC AG-3') and 338R (5'-GCW GCC WCC CGT 490 AGG WGT-3') (60). The PCR was run in a total reaction vol-491 ume of 25 µL containing 12.5 µL of Phusion[®] High-Fidelity 492 PCR Master Mix (Thermo Scientific, CA, USA; catalog no., 493 F531L), 10.5 µL molecular grade H₂O, 1 µL DNA template, 494 and 0.5 µL of each primer (10 µM). The amplification program was set as follows: initial denaturation at 98 °C for 3 min; 35 cycles of denaturation at 98 °C for 15 s, annealing de-497 creasing from 63 °C to 53 °C in 10 cycles for 30 s followed 498 by 25 cycles at 53 °C for 30 s, and extension at 72 °C for 499 30 s; followed by a final extension at 72 °C for 10 min. The 500

PCR was run in duplicate incorporating negative PCR con-501 trols, which were generated by replacing the template DNA with molecular grade H2O. The duplicate PCR products were pooled and examined by a 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis before cleanup. 505

The sequencing was carried out on a Miseq platform 506 following the Illumina 16S metagenomic sequencing library 507 preparation protocol (61). Briefly, the PCR products were 508 cleaned using the Agencourt AMPure XP system (Beckman 509 Coulter, Indiana, USA; catalog no., A63881), multiplexed by 510 dual indexing using the Nextera XT Index Kit (Illumina, Cal-511 ifornia, USA; catalog no., FC-131-1096) and purified again 512 using the AMPure beads. After the second clean-up, repre-513 sentative libraries were selected and analyzed using the Agi-514 lent DNA 1000 Kit (Agilent Technologies, California, USA; 515 catalog no., 5067-1505) to verify the library size. Cleaned li-516 braries were quantified using the Invitrogen QubitTM dsDNA 517 HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, California, USA; 518 catalog no., Q32854), diluted to 4 nM in 10 mM Tris (pH 519 8.5) and finally pooled in an equal volume. Negative controls 520 with library concentrations lower than 4 nM were pooled in 521 equal volume directly. Due to the low diversity of amplicon 522 library, 15% Illumina generated PhiX control (catalog no., 523 FC-110-3001) was spiked in by combining 510 µL ampli-524 con library with 90 µL PhiX control library. The library was 525 loaded at 6 pM and sequenced using the Miseq Reagent Kit 526 v3 (600-cycle) (Illumina; catalog no., MS-102-3003). 527

Due to technical challenges in obtaining high-quality 528 PCR products for mucosa samples, the digesta samples were 529 first amplified and sequenced. The PCR conditions for mu-530 cosa samples were optimized by diluting the DNA templates 531 (1:5) to reduce the influence of PCR inhibitors. The mucosa 532 samples were then sequenced in a second run together with 533 feed and water samples. To assess potential batch effects be-534 tween sequencing runs, 8 representative digesta samples were 535 also sequenced in the second run to serve as technical repli-536 cates 537

Sequence data processing. The raw sequence data from 538 each run were separately processed by the DADA2 (version 539 1.18) in R (version 4.0.5) (62) to infer amplicon sequence 540 variants (ASVs) (63). Specifically, the demultiplexed paired-541 ended reads were trimmed off the primer sequences (first 20 542 bps of forward reads and first 18 bps of reverse reads), trun-543 cated at the position where the median Phred quality score 544 crashed (forward reads at position 260 bp and reverse reads at 545 position 188 bp for the first run; forward reads at position 290 546 bp and reverse reads at position 248 bp for the second run) 547 and filtered off low-quality reads. After the trimming and fil-548 tering, run-specific error rates were estimated, and the ASVs 549 were inferred from each sample independently. The chimeras 550 were removed using the "consensus" method after merging 551 the forward and reverse reads. The resulting feature table and 552 representative sequences from each run were imported into 553 QIIME2 (version 2020.11) (64) and merged. The taxonomy 554 was assigned by a scikit-learn naive Bayes machine-learning 555 classifier (65), which was trained on the SILVA 132 99% 556 OTUs (66) that were trimmed to only include V1-V2 regions 557

of the 16S rRNA gene. Taxa identified as chloroplasts or mi-558 tochondria were excluded from the feature table. The feature 559 table was conservatively filtered to remove ASVs that had no 560 phylum-level taxonomic assignments or appeared in only one 561 biological sample. Contaminating ASVs were identified and 562 removed based on two suggested criteria: contaminants are 563 often found in negative controls and inversely correlate with sample DNA concentration (67), which was quantified by qPCR as previously described (32). The ASVs filtered from the feature table were also removed from the representative 567 sequences, which were then clustered into OTUs at 97% sim-568 ilarity using the VSEARCH de novo clustering method (68). 569 The resulting OTU table and representative sequences were 570 used for the downstream data analysis. The phylogeny was 571 constructed by inserting the representative sequences into a 572 reference phylogenetic tree built on the SILVA 128 database 573 using SEPP (69). The alpha-diversity indices were computed 574 by rarefying the OTU table at a subsampling depth of 10 345 676 sequences. To compare beta-diversity, we performed robust 576 Aitchison PCA using the QIIME2 library DEICODE (70), 677 which is a form of Aitchison distance that is robust to high 578 levels of sparsity in the microbiome data via matrix comple-579 tion. For downstream data visualization and statistical anal-580 yses, QIIME2 artifacts were imported into R using the qi-581 ime2R package (71) and a phyloseq (72) object was assem-582 bled. As the technical replicates showed strong batch effects 583 between the sequencing runs, which could not be effectively 584 removed by existing batch effect correction methods such as 585 RUVSeq (73) and ComBat-seq (74), we performed the downstream data analysis independently for samples sequenced in 587 different runs. 588

Statistics. Differences in the alpha-diversity indices were 589 compared by linear mixed-effects models using the R pack-590 age afex (75), which runs the lme4 (76) under the hood to 591 fit mixed-effects models. Predictor variables in the models 592 include the fixed effects Diet + Segment + Diet x Segment, 502 and the random effects FishID + Tank. The models were 594 validated by visual inspections of residual diagnostic plots generated by the R package ggResidpanel (77). The statis-596 tical significance of fixed predictors was estimated by Type 597 III ANOVA with Kenward-Roger's approximation (78) of de-598 nominator degrees of freedom. When the interaction between 599 the main effects was significant, conditional contrasts for the 600 main effects were made using the R package emmeans (79). 601 To compare differences in the beta-diversity, we performed 602 the PERMANOVA (80) in PRIMER v7 (Primer-E Ltd., Ply-603 mouth, UK) using the same predictors included in the lin-604 ear mixed-effects models. Terms with negative estimates for 605 components of variation were sequentially removed from the 606 model via term pooling, starting with the one showing the 607 smallest mean squares. At each step, the model was re-803 assessed whether more terms needed to be removed or not. 610 Conditional contrasts for the main effects were constructed when their interaction was significant. Monte Carlo p val-611 ues were computed as well when the unique permutations 612 for the terms in the PERMANOVA were small (< 100). The 613 homogeneity of multivariate dispersions among groups was 614

visually assessed with boxplots and was formally tested by 615 the permutation test, PERMDISP (81), using the R package 616 vegan (82). Per-feature tests for the association between spe-617 cific microbial clade and sample metadata were done using 618 the R package MaAsLin2 (version 1.4.0) (83). The feature 619 table was collapsed at the genus level and bacterial taxa of 620 low prevalence (present in < 25% of samples) were excluded 621 before running the association analysis. Predictor variables included in the association testing are fixed factors Diet + 623 Segment + foxp3 (qPCR) + plin2 (qPCR), and the random 624 effects FishID + Tank. Multiple comparisons were adjusted 625 by the Holm (84) or Benjamini-Hochberg (85) method where 626 applicable. Differences were regarded as significant for p < p627 0.05 or FDR-corrected q < 0.1. 628

Declarations

Acknowledgments. The authors wish to thank Ellen K. Hage for organizing the sampling and technicians at the Cargill AquaNutrition (former EWOS Innovation) experimental facility for their committed animal care and supports during the sampling.

620

Authors' contributions. T.M.K. and Å.K. conceived and designed the study. Y.L., K.G., and Å.K. participated in the sample collection. Y.L., K.G. and A.J.-T. carried out the laboratory works. Y.L. performed the data analysis and completed the first draft of the manuscript. All the authors read, revised, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding. Y.L. was granted a scholarship from the China 641 Scholarship Council to pursue his Ph.D. degree at the Nor-642 wegian University of Life Sciences. This work was a spin-643 off of the "AquaFly" project (grant number, 238997), funded 644 by the Research Council of Norway and managed by the In-645 stitute of Marine Research. Costs related to this study were 646 covered by the Norwegian University of Life Sciences. The 647 funding agencies had no role in study design, data collection, 648 and interpretation, decision to publish, or preparation of the 649 manuscript. 650

Availability of data and materials. The raw 16S rRNA gene sequencing data are deposited at the NCBI SRA database under the BioProject PRJNA730696. The code for reproducing our results is available at the GitHub repository (https://github.com/yanxianl/Li_ AqFl1-Microbiota_2021).

Ethics approval and consent to participate. The experiment was conducted in compliance with the Norwegian Animal Welfare Act 10/07/2009 and the EU Directive on the Protection of Animals used for Scientific Purposes (2010/63/EU).

Consent for publication. Not applicable.

Competing interests. The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

662

Reference 665

683

- 1. United Nations. World population prospects 2019: Highlights. url 667 https://population.un.org/wpp/publications/.
- Mitchell C. Hunter, Richard G. Smith, Meagan E. Schipanski, Leslev W. Atwood, and 668 2. David A. Mortensen. Agriculture in 2050: recalibrating targets for sustainable intensification. 669 670 Bioscience, 67(4):386-391, 2017, ISSN 0006-3568.
- FAO. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture: Sustainability in action. 2020. 671 3
- 672 4. Turid Synnøve Aas, Trine Ytrestøyl, and Torbjørn Åsgård. Utilization of feed resources in the production of atlantic salmon (salmo salar) in norway: An update for 2016. Aquac Rep. 15: 673 100216, 2019, ISSN 2352-5134 674
- 675 5 María-José Sánchez-Muros, Fernando G. Barroso, and Francisco Manzano-Agugliaro. In-676 sect meal as renewable source of food for animal feeding: a review. J Clean Prod, 65: 16-27, 2014, ISSN 09596526, doi: 10.1016/i.jclepro.2013.11.068. 677
- 678 Alex H. L. Wan, Simon J. Davies, Anna Soler-Vila, Richard Fitzgerald, and Mark P. Johnson 679 Macroalgae as a sustainable aquafeed ingredient. Rev Aquac, 11(3):458-492, 2019. ISSN 690 1753-5123
- 681 7 Brett D Glencross David Huyben and Johan W Schrama. The application of single-cell ingredients in aquaculture feeds-a review. Fishes, 5(3):22, 2020. 682
- 8 A. Van Huis. Potential of insects as food and feed in assuring food security. Annu Rev Entomol, 58:563-83, 2013. ISSN 1545-4487 (Electronic) 0066-4170 (Linking). doi: 10. 684 685 1146/annurey-ento-120811-153704.
- Fernando G. Barroso, Carolina de Haro, María-José Sánchez-Muros, Elena Venegas, An-9 686 687 abel Martínez-Sánchez, and Celeste Pérez-Bañón. The potential of various insect species 688 for use as food for fish. Aquaculture, 422-423:193-201, 2014. ISSN 00448486. doi: 689 10.1016/j.aguaculture.2013.12.024.
- Emilie Devic, William Leschen, Francis Murray, and David Colin Little. Growth performance, 10 690 691 feed utilization and body composition of advanced nursing nile tilapia (oreochromis niloticus) fed diets containing black soldier fly (hermetia illucens) larvae meal. Aquac Nutr, 24(1):416-692 602 423 2017 ISSN 1365-2005
- 11. S. Kroeckel, A. G. E. Harjes, I. Roth, H. Katz, S. Wuertz, A. Susenbeth, and C. Schulz. When 694 a turbot catches a fly: Evaluation of a pre-pupae meal of the black soldier fly (hermetia 695 696 illucens) as fish meal substitute - growth performance and chitin degradation in juvenile turbot (psetta maxima). Aquaculture, 364-365:345-352, 2012. ISSN 00448486. doi: 10. 697 698 1016/i.aguaculture.2012.08.041.
- Senlin Li, Hong Ji, Binxin Zhang, Jishu Zhou, and Haibo Yu. Defatted black soldier fly 12 699 (hermetia illucens) larvae meal in diets for juvenile jian carp (cyprinus carpio var. jian): 700 701 Growth performance, antioxidant enzyme activities, digestive enzyme activities, intestine 702 and hepatopancreas histological structure. Aquaculture, 477:62-70, 2017. ISSN 00448486 doi: 10.1016/i.aquaculture.2017.04.015. 703
- 704 13. E. R. Lock, T. Arsiwalla, and R. Waagbø. Insect larvae meal as an alternative source of nutrients in the diet of atlantic salmon (salmo salar) postsmolt. Aquac Nutr, 22(6):1202-705 706 1213 2016 ISSN 13535773 doi: 10.1111/anu.12343
- 707 14. Bui Magalhães, Antonio Sánchez-López, Benato Silva Leal, Silvia Martínez-Llorens, Aires Oliva-Teles, and Helena Peres. Black soldier fly (hermetia illucens) pre-pupae meal as a 708 709 fish meal replacement in diets for european seabass (dicentrarchus labrax). Aquaculture, 710 476:79-85, 2017. ISSN 00448486. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.04.021.
- 711 15. M. Renna, A. Schiavone, F. Gai, S. Dabbou, C. Lussiana, V. Malfatto, M. Prearo, M. T. Capucchio, I. Biasato, E. Biasibetti, M. De Marco, A. Brugiapaglia, I. Zoccarato, and 712 713 L. Gasco. Evaluation of the suitability of a partially defatted black soldier fly (hermetia il 714 lucens I.) larvae meal as ingredient for rainbow trout (oncorhynchus mykiss walbaum) diets. J Anim Sci Biotechnol, 8(57):57, 2017. ISSN 1674-9782 (Print) 1674-9782 (Linking). doi: 715 10.1186/s40104-017-0191-3. 716
- A. Vargas, B. Randazzo, P. Riolo, C. Truzzi, G. Gioacchini, E. Giorgini, N. Loreto, S. Rus-717 16. chioni, M. Zarantoniello, M. Antonucci, S. Polverini, G. Cardinaletti, S. Sabbatini, F. Tulli, and 718 719 I. Olivotto. Rearing zebrafish on black soldier fly (hermetia illucens): Biometric, histological spectroscopic, biochemical, and molecular implications. Zebrafish, 15(4):404-419, 2018. 720 ISSN 1557-8542 (Electronic) 1545-8547 (Linking). doi: 10.1089/zeb.2017.1559 721
- 722 17. J. M. Bates, E. Mittge, J. Kuhlman, K. N. Baden, S. E. Cheesman, and K. Guillemin. Distinct signals from the microbiota promote different aspects of zebrafish gut differentiation. Dev 723 724 Biol. 297(2):374-86, 2006. ISSN 0012-1606 (Print) 0012-1606 (Linking), doi: 10.1016/j. vdbio.2006.05.006. 725
- J. F. Rawls, B. S. Samuel, and J. I. Gordon. Gnotobiotic zebrafish reveal evolutionarily 726 18 727 conserved responses to the gut microbiota. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 101(13):4596-601, 2004. ISSN 0027-8424 (Print) 0027-8424 (Linking). doi: 10.1073/pnas.0400706101. A. J. Hryckowian, W. Van Treuren, S. A. Smits, N. M. Davis, J. O. Gardner, D. M. Bouley, and 728
- 19 729 J. L. Sonnenburg. Microbiota-accessible carbohydrates suppress clostridium difficile infec 730 tion in a murine model. Nat Microbiol, 3(6):662-669, 2018. ISSN 2058-5276 (Electronic) 731 732 2058-5276 (Linking). doi: 10.1038/s41564-018-0150-6.
- Seong Ran Jeon, Jocelyn Chai, Christiana Kim, and Christine H Current infectious dis-20. 733 ease reports Lee. Current evidence for the management of inflammatory bowel diseases 734 using fecal microbiota transplantation. Curr Infect Dis Rep, 20(8):21, 2018. ISSN 1523-735 736 3847
- N. Narula, Z. Kassam, Y. Yuan, J. F. Colombel, C. Ponsioen, W. Reinisch, and P. Moayyedi. 737 21. Systematic review and meta-analysis: fecal microbiota transplantation for treatment of ac-738 tive ulcerative colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 23(10):1702-1709, 2017. ISSN 1536-4844 (Elec-739 740 tronic) 1078-0998 (Linking). doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000001228.
- 741 22 R. N. Carmody, G. K. Gerber, J. M. Luevano, D. M. Gatti, L. Somes, K. L. Svenson, and P. J. Turnbaugh. Diet dominates host genotype in shaping the murine gut microbiota. Cell Host 742 743 Microbe, 17(1):72-84, 2015. ISSN 1931-3128. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.11.010.
- 744 23. Lawrence A. David, Corinne F. Maurice, Rachel N. Carmody, David B. Gootenberg, Julie E. 745 Button, Benjamin E. Wolfe, Alisha V. Ling, A. Sloan Devlin, Yug Varma, Michael A. Fischbach, Sudha B. Biddinger, Rachel J. Dutton, and Peter J. Turnbaugh. Diet rapidly and 746 747 reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. Nature, 505(7484):559-563, 2014. ISSN 0028-0836. doi: 10.1038/nature12820. 748
- 24. J. Suez, T. Korem, D. Zeevi, G. Zilberman-Schapira, C. A. Thaiss, O. Maza, D. Israeli 749

N. Zmora, S. Gilad, A. Weinberger, Y. Kuperman, A. Harmelin, I. Kolodkin-Gal, H. Shapiro Z. Halpern, E. Segal, and E. Elinav. Artificial sweeteners induce glucose intolerance by altering the gut microbiota. Nature, 514(7521):181-186, 2014. ISSN 0028-0836, doi: 10.1038/nature13793.

- J. R. Lukens, P. Gurung, P. Vogel, G. R. Johnson, R. A. Carter, D. J. McGoldrick, S. R. Bandi, C. R. Calabrese, L. Vande Walle, M. Lamkanfi, and T. D. Kanneganti. Dietary modulation of the microbiome affects autoinflammatory disease. Nature, 516(7530):246-249, 2014. ISSN 0028-0836. doi: 10.1038/nature13788.
- Suzanne Devkota, Yunwei Wang, Mark W Musch, Vanessa Leone, Hannah Fehlner-Peach, Anuradha Nadimpalli, Dionysios A Antonopoulos, Bana Jabri, and Eugene B Chang. Dietary-fat-induced taurocholic acid promotes pathobiont expansion and colitis in il10-/-mice. Nature, 487(7405):104-8, 2012. ISSN 0028-0836.
- I. Belghit, N. S. Liland, R. Waagbo, I. Biancarosa, N. Pelusio, Y. X. Li, A. Krogdahl, and E. J. Lock. Potential of insect-based diets for atlantic salmon (salmo salar). Aquaculture, 491: 72-81, 2018. ISSN 0044-8486. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.03.016.
- Yanxian Li, Trond M. Kortner, Elvis M. Chikwati, Hetron Mweemba Munang'andu, Erik-28 Jan Lock, and Åshild Krogdahl. Gut health and vaccination response in pre-smolt atlantic salmon (salmo salar) fed black soldier fly (hermetia illucens) larvae meal. Fish Shellfish Immunol, 86:1106-1113, 2019. ISSN 1050-4648. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.12.057.
- 29 Leo Lahti, Sudarshan Shetty, Tineka Blake, and Jarkko Saloiarvi. Microbiome r package Tools Microbiome Anal. R., 2017.
- Yoshiki Vázquez-Baeza, Meg Pirrung, Antonio Gonzalez, and Rob Knight. Emperor: a tool for visualizing high-throughput microbial community data. Gigascience, 2(1):2047-217X. 2013. ISSN 2047-217X.
- L. H. Nouven and S. Holmes. Ten quick tips for effective dimensionality reduction. PLoS 31 Comput Biol, 15(6):e1006907, 2019. ISSN 1553-7358 (Electronic) 1553-734X (Linking). doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006907.
- 32 Yanxian Li, Leonardo Bruni, Alexander Jaramillo-Torres, Karina Gajardo, Trond M. Kortner, and Åshild Krondahl. Differential response of digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota to dietary insect meal during the seawater phase of atlantic salmon. Anim Microbiome, 3(1):8, 2021. ISSN 2524-4671. doi: 10.1186/s42523-020-00071-3.
- Leonardo Bruni, Roberta Pastorelli, Carlo Viti, Laura Gasco, and Giuliana Parisi. Charac-33 terisation of the intestinal microbial communities of rainbow trout (oncorhynchus mykiss) fed with hermetia illucens (black soldier fly) partially defatted larva meal as partial dietary protein source. Aquaculture, 487:56-63, 2018. ISSN 0044-8486.
- David Huyben, Aleksandar Vidaković, Sofia Werner Hallgren, and Markus Langeland, High 34 throughput sequencing of gut microbiota in rainbow trout (oncorhynchus mykiss) fed larval and pre-pupae stages of black soldier fly (hermetia illucens). Aquaculture, 500:485-491. 2019, ISSN 0044-8486.
- G. Terova, S. Rimoldi, C. Ascione, E. Gini, C. Ceccotti, and L. Gasco. Rainbow trout (oncorhynchus mykiss) gut microbiota is modulated by insect meal from hermetia illucens prepupae in the diet. Rev Fish Biol Fish. 29(2):465-486, 2019. ISSN 0960-3166. doi: 10.1007/s11160-019-09558-y.
- Simona Rimoldi, Micaela Antonini, Laura Gasco, Federico Moroni, and Genciana Terova Intestinal microbial communities of rainbow trout (oncorhynchus mykiss) may be improved by feeding a hermetia illucens meal/low-fishmeal diet. Fish Physiol Biochem, 47(2):365-380, 2021. ISSN 1573-5168. doi: 10.1007/s10695-020-00918-1.
- 37. A. Jozefiak, S. Nogales-Merida, M. Rawski, B. Kieronczyk, and J. Mazurkiewicz. Effects of insect diets on the gastrointestinal tract health and growth performance of siberian sturgeon (acipenser baerii brandt, 1869). BMC Microbiol, 15(1), 2019. doi: 10.1186/ s12917-019-2070-v.
- J. B. Emerson, R. I. Adams, C. M. B. Roman, B. Brooks, D. A. Coil, K. Dahlhausen, H. H. Ganz, E. M. Hartmann, T. Hsu, N. B. Justice, I. G. Paulino-Lima, J. C. Luongo, D. S. Lymperopoulou, C. Gomez-Silvan, B. Rothschild-Mancinelli, M. Balk, C. Huttenhower, A. Nocker, P. Vaishampavan, and L. J. Rothschild, Schrodinger's microbes; Tools for distinguishing the living from the dead in microbial ecosystems. Microbiome, 5(1):86, 2017. ISSN 2049-2618. doi: 10.1186/s40168-017-0285-3.
- 39 Karina Gajardo Alexander Jaramillo-Torres, Trond M Kortner, Daniel J. Merrifield, John Tinsley, Anne Marie Bakke, and Åshild Krogdahl. Alternative protein sources in the diet modulate microbiota and functionality in the distal intestine of atlantic salmon (salmo salar). Appl Environ Microbiol, 83(5):e02615-16, 2016. ISSN 0099-2240.
- Sara Beier and Stefan Bertilsson. Bacterial chitin degradation-mechanisms and ecophys 40. iological strategies. Front Microbiol, 4:149, 2013, ISSN 1664-302X.
- 41. RM Cody. Distribution of chitinase and chitobiase in bacillus. Curr Microbiol, 19(4):201-205, 1989. ISSN 0343-8651.
- 42 F. Askarian, Z. G. Zhou, R. E. Olsen, S. Sperstad, and E. Ringo. Culturable autochthonous gut bacteria in atlantic salmon (salmo salar I.) fed diets with or without chitin. characterization by 16s rrna gene sequencing, ability to produce enzymes and in vitro growth inhibition of four fish pathogens. Aquaculture, 326:1-8, 2012. ISSN 0044-8486. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2011.10.016.
- Koji Yasuda, Keunyoung Oh, Boyu Ren, Timothy L. Tickle, Eric A. Franzosa, Lynn M. Wachtman, Andrew D. Miller, Susan V. Westmoreland, Keith G. Mansfield, Eric J. Val-43 lender, Gregory M. Miller, James K. Rowlett, Dirk Gevers, Curtis Huttenhower, and Xochitl C. Morgan. Biogeography of the intestinal mucosal and lumenal microbiome in the rhesus macaque. Cell Host Microbe, 17(3):385-391, 2015. ISSN 1931-3128. doi: 10.1016/i.chom.2015.01.015.
- 44. Z. Zhang, J. Geng, X. Tang, H. Fan, J. Xu, X. Wen, Z. S. Ma, and P. Shi. Spatial heterogeneity and co-occurrence patterns of human mucosal-associated intestinal micro biota, ISME J. 8(4):881-93, 2014, ISSN 1751-7370 (Electronic) 1751-7362 (Linking), doi: 10.1038/ismei.2013.185.
- Karina Gaiardo, Ana Rodiles, Trond M Kortner, Åshild Kroodahl, Anne Marie Bakke, Daniel L 45 830 Merrifield, and Henning Sørum. A high-resolution map of the gut microbiota in atlantic 831 salmon (salmo salar): A basis for comparative gut microbial research. Sci Rep, 6:30893, 2016 ISSN 2045-2322 833
- Jeremiah J. Minich, Greg D. Poore, Khattapan Jantawongsri, Colin Johnston, Kate Bowie 46. 834 John Bowman, Rob Knight, Barbara Nowak, and Eric E. Allen. Microbial ecology of at-835

750

761

752

753

754

755

756

757

758

759

760

761

762

763

764

826

827

828

829

832
- lantic salmon (salmo salar) hatcheries: impacts of the built environment on fish mucosal 836 027 microbiota. Appl Environ Microbiol, 86(12), 2020. ISSN 0099-2240.
- 838 47 Victor Schmidt, Linda Amaral-Zettler, John Davidson, Steven Summerfelt, and Christopher Good. Influence of fishmeal-free diets on microbial communities in atlantic salmon (salmo 839 salar) recirculation aquaculture systems. Appl Environ Microbiol, 82(15):4470-4481, 2016. 840 841 ISSN 0099-2240
- T. M. Uren Webster, S. Consuegra, M. Hitchings, and C. Garcia de Leaniz. Interpopulation 842 18 variation in the atlantic salmon microbiome reflects environmental and genetic diversity. 843 Appl Environ Microbiol, 84(16), 2018. ISSN 1098-5336 (Electronic) 0099-2240 (Linking). 844 845 doi: 10.1128/AEM.00691-18.
- 846 40 Christos Giatsis, Detmer Sipkema, Hauke Smidt, Hans Heilig, Giulia Benvenuti, Johan Verreth, and Marc Verdegem. The impact of rearing environment on the development 847 848 of out microbiota in tilapia larvae. Sci Rep. 5(1):18206, 2015. ISSN 2045-2322. doi: 849 10.1038/srep18206.
- 050 X.M. Li, Y.J. Zhu, Q.Y. Yan, E. Ringø, and D.G. Yang. Do the intestinal microbiotas differ 50 between paddlefish (polyodon spathala) and bighead carp (aristichthys nobilis) reared in 851 the same pond? J Appl Microbiol, 117(5):1245–1252, 2014. ISSN 1364-5072. doi: https:// 852 853 //doi.org/10.1111/jam.12626.
- Sandi Wong, W. Zac Stephens, Adam R. Burns, Keaton Stagaman, Lawrence A. David, 854 51 Brendan J. M. Bohannan, Karen Guillemin, and John F. Rawls. Ontogenetic differences in 855 dietary fat influence microbiota assembly in the zebrafish gut. MBio, 6(5), 2015. 856
- Xingkun Jin, Ziwei Chen, Yan Shi, Jian-Fang Gui, and Zhe Zhao. Response of gut microbiota 857 858 to feed-borne bacteria depends on fish growth rate: a snapshot survey of farmed juvenile takifugu obscurus. Microb Biotechnol. 0(0):1-20, 2021. ISSN 1751-7915. 859
- Jackson Wilkes Walburn, Bernd Wemheuer, Torsten Thomas, Elizabeth Copeland, Wayne 860 53 O'Connor, Mark Booth, Stewart Fielder, and Suhelen Egan. Diet and diet-associated bac-861 teria shape early microbiome development in yellowtail kingfish (seriola lalandi). Microb 862 863 Biotechnol 12(2):275-288 2019 ISSN 1751-7915
- Milica Ciric, David Waite, Jenny Draper, and John Brian Jones. Characterization of mid-54. 864 intestinal microbiota of farmed chinook salmon using 16s rrna gene metabarcoding. Arch 865 Biol Sci. 71(4):577-587, 2019, ISSN 0354-4664. 866
- Jeremiah J. Minich, Barbara Nowak, Abigail Elizur, Rob Knight, Stewart Fielder, and Eric E. 867 55 868 Allen. Impacts of the marine hatchery built environment, water and feed on mucosal micro biome colonization across ontogeny in yellowtail kingfish, seriola lalandi. Front Mar Sci, 8: 869 516, 2021. ISSN 2296-7745.

870

871

874

875

877

891

- C. L. Maynard, C. O. Elson, R. D. Hatton, and C. T. Weaver. Reciprocal interactions of the 56 872 intestinal microbiota and immune system. Nature, 489(7415):231-41, 2012. ISSN 1476-4687 (Electronic) 0028-0836 (Linking). doi: 10.1038/nature11551. 873
- 57. Kristina Martinez-Guryn, Nathaniel Hubert, Katya Frazier, Saskia Urlass, Mark W Musch, Patricia Ojeda, Joseph F Pierre, Jun Miyoshi, Timothy J Sontag, and Candace M Cham. 876 Small intestine microbiota regulate host digestive and absorptive adaptive responses to dietary lipids. Cell host microbe. 23(4):458-469, e5. 2018. ISSN 1931-3128.
- I. Semova, J. D. Carten, J. Stombaugh, L. C. Mackey, R. Knight, S. A. Farber, and J. F. 878 Rawls. Microbiota regulate intestinal absorption and metabolism of fatty acids in the ze-879 brafish. Cell Host Microbe, 12(3):277-288, 2012. ISSN 1931-3128. doi: 10.1016/j.chom. 880 881 2012.08.003.
- N. S. Liland, I. Biancarosa, P. Araujo, D. Biemans, C. G. Bruckner, R. Waagbo, B. E. 882 Torstensen, and E. J. Lock. Modulation of nutrient composition of black soldier fly (hermetia 883 884 illucens) larvae by feeding seaweed-enriched media. PLoS One. 12(8):e0183188, 2017. ISSN 1932-6203 (Electronic) 1932-6203 (Linking). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0183188. 885
- G. Roeselers, E. K. Mittge, W. Z. Stephens, D. M. Parichy, C. M. Cavanaugh, K. Guillemin, 886 and J. F. Rawls. Evidence for a core gut microbiota in the zebrafish. ISME J, 5(10):1595-887 888 608, 2011. ISSN 1751-7370 (Electronic) 1751-7362 (Linking). doi: 10.1038/ismej.2011.38.
- 889 61 Illumina. 16s metagenomic sequencing library preparation. Preparing 16S Ribosomal RNA Gene Amplicons for the Illumina MiSeq System, pages 1-28, 2013. 890
 - R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. 2013
- Benjamin J Callahan, Paul J McMurdie, Michael J Rosen, Andrew W Han, Amy Jo A John-892 893 son, and Susan P Holmes. Dada2: high-resolution sample inference from illumina amplicon data. Nat Methods, 13(7):581-583, 2016. ISSN 1548-7091. 894
- Evan Bolyen, Jai Ram Rideout, Matthew R. Dillon, Nicholas A. Bokulich, Christian C. Abnet, 895 Gabriel A. Al-Ghalith, Harriet Alexander, Eric J. Alm, Manimozhiyan Arumugam, Francesco 896 897 Asnicar, Yang Bai, Jordan E. Bisanz, Kyle Bittinger, Asker Brejnrod, Colin J. Brislawn, C. Titus Brown, Benjamin J. Callahan, Andrés Mauricio Caraballo-Rodríguez, John Chase, 898 Emily K. Cope, Ricardo Da Silva, Christian Diener, Pieter C. Dorrestein, Gavin M. Dou-899 glas, Daniel M. Durall, Claire Duvallet, Christian F. Edwardson, Madeleine Ernst, Mehrbod 900 901 Estaki, Jennifer Fouquier, Julia M. Gauglitz, Sean M. Gibbons, Deanna L. Gibson, Anto-902 nio Gonzalez, Kestrel Gorlick, Jiarong Guo, Benjamin Hillmann, Susan Holmes, Hannes Holste, Curtis Huttenhower, Gavin A. Huttley, Stefan Janssen, Alan K. Jarmusch, Lingjing 903 Jiang, Benjamin D. Kaehler, Kyo Bin Kang, Christopher R. Keefe, Paul Keim, Scott T. Kel-904 ley, Dan Knights, Irina Koester, Tomasz Kosciolek, Jorden Kreps, Morgan G. I. Langille, 905 300 Joslvnn Lee, Ruth Lev, Yong-Xin Liu, Erikka Loftfield, Catherine Lozupone, Massoud Maher, Clarisse Marotz, Bryan D, Martin, Daniel McDonald, Lauren J, McIver, Alexev V, Mel-907 nik, Jessica L. Metcalf, Sydney C. Morgan, Jamie T. Morton, Ahmad Turan Naimey, Jose A. 908 Navas-Molina, Louis Felix Nothias, Stephanie B. Orchanian, Talima Pearson, Samuel L. 909 910 Peoples, Daniel Petras, Mary Lai Preuss, Elmar Pruesse, Lasse Buur Rasmussen, Adam 911 Rivers, Michael S. Robeson, Patrick Rosenthal, Nicola Segata, Michael Shaffer, Arron Shiffer, Rashmi Sinha, Se Jin Song, John R. Spear, Austin D. Swafford, Luke R. Thompson, 912 913 Pedro J. Torres, Pauline Trinh, Anupriya Tripathi, Peter J. Turnbaugh, Sabah Ul-Hasan, 914 Justin J. J. van der Hooft, Fernando Vargas, Yoshiki Vázquez-Baeza, Emily Vogtmann, Max 915 von Hippel, William Walters, et al. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using gime 2. Nat Biotechnol. 37(8):852-857, 2019. ISSN 1546-1696. 916 doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9. 917
- 918 65. Nicholas A Bokulich, Benjamin D Kaehler, Jai Ram Rideout, Matthew Dillon, Evan Bolyen, 919 Rob Knight, Gavin A Huttley, and J Gregory Caporaso. Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with gime 2's g2-feature-classifier plugin. Microbiome 920 6(1):90, 2018. ISSN 2049-2618. 921

- 66. C. Quast, E. Pruesse, P. Yilmaz, J. Gerken, T. Schweer, P. Yarza, J. Peplies, and F. O. 922 Glockner. The silva ribosomal rna gene database project: improved data processing and 022 web-based tools. Nucleic Acids Res. 41(D1):D590-D596, 2013. ISSN 1362-4962 (Elec-924 tronic) 0305-1048 (Linking). doi: 10.1093/nar/gks1219. 925 926
- 67. N. M. Davis, D. M. Proctor, S. P. Holmes, D. A. Relman, and B. J. Callahan. Simple statistical identification and removal of contaminant sequences in marker-gene and metagenomics data. Microbiome, 6(1):226, 2018, ISSN 2049-2618 (Electronic) 2049-2618 (Linking), doi: 10.1186/s40168-018-0605-2

927

928

929

930

931

932

933

934

935

0.26

937

938

939

940

941

942

943

944

945

946

947

948

949

950

951

952

053

954

955

956

957

958

959

960

961

962

963

964

965

966

967

968

969

970

971

972

973

974

975

976

977

978

- Torbjørn Rognes, Tomáš Flouri, Ben Nichols, Christopher Quince, and Frédéric Mahé Vsearch: a versatile open source tool for metagenomics. PeerJ, 4:e2584, 2016. ISSN 2167-8359
- Stefan Janssen, Daniel McDonald, Antonio Gonzalez, Jose A Navas-Molina, Lingjing Jiang, 69 Zhenjiang Zech Xu, Kevin Winker, Deborah M Kado, Eric Orwoll, and Mark Manary. Phylogenetic placement of exact amplicon sequences improves associations with clinical information. mSystems, 3(3):e00021-18, 2018. ISSN 2379-5077.
- 70. C. Martino, J. T. Morton, C. A. Marotz, I. B. Thompson, A. Tripathi, B. Knight, and K. Zengler. A novel sparse compositional technique reveals microbial perturbations. mSystems, 4(1):e00016-19, 2019. ISSN 2379-5077 (Print) 2379-5077 (Linking). doi: 10.1128/mSystems.00016-19.
- Jordan E Bisanz, giime2r: Importing giime2 artifacts and associated data into r sessions 71 2019
- 72 Paul J McMurdie and Susan Holmes. phyloseq: an r package for reproducible interactive analysis and graphics of microbiome census data. 2013. ISSN 1932-6203.
- 73 Davide Risso, John Ngai, Terence P. Speed, and Sandrine Dudoit. Normalization of rna seg data using factor analysis of control genes or samples. Nat Biotechnol. 32(9):896-902. 2014 ISSN 1546-1696
- Yuqing Zhang, Giovanni Parmigiani, and W. Evan Johnson. Combat-seq: batch effect ad-74 iustment for rna-seg count data. NAR genom bioinform, 2(3), 2020, ISSN 2631-9268, doi: 10.1093/nargab/lqaa078.
- H Singmann, B Bolker, J Westfall, F Aust, and M Ben-Shachar. afex: analysis of factorial experiments. r package, version 0.28-1. 2021.
- 76 Douglas Bates, Martin Mächler, Ben Bolker, and Steve Walker. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. J Stat Softw. 67(1):1-48, 2015.
- Katherine Goode and Kathleen Rey, ggresidpanel: Panels and interactive versions of diag-77. nostic plots using 'ggplot2'. 2019.
- 78 Michael G. Kenward and James H. Roger. Small sample inference for fixed effects from restricted maximum likelihood. Biometrics, pages 983-997, 1997. ISSN 0006-341X.
- Russell Lenth. emmeans: Estimated marginal means, aka least-squares means. 2019. Marti J Anderson. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Aus tral Ecol, 26(1):32-46, 2001. ISSN 1442-9993.
- 81 Marti J Anderson. Distance-based tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions. Biometrics 62(1):245-253, 2006, ISSN 1541-0420.
- Jari Oksanen, F. Guillaume Blanchet, Michael Friendly, Roeland Kindt, Pierre Legendre, Dan McGlinn, Peter R. Minchin, R. B. O'Hara, Gavin L. Simpson, Peter Solymos, M. Henry H. Stevens, Eduard Szoecs, and Helene Wagner. vegan: Community ecology package, 2019.
- Himel Mallick, Ali Rahnavard, Lauren J. McIver, Siyuan Ma, Yancong Zhang, Long H. Nguyen, Timothy L. Tickle, George Weingart, Boyu Ren, Emma H. Schwager, Suvo Chatterjee, Kelsey N. Thompson, Jeremy E. Wilkinson, Ayshwarya Subramanian, Yiren Lu, Levi Waldron, Joseph N. Paulson, Fric A. Franzosa, Hector Corrada Bravo, and Curtis Huttenhower. Multivariable association discovery in population-scale meta-omics studies. *bioRxiv*, 2021. doi: 10.1101/2021.01.20.427420.
- 84 Sture Holm. A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. Scand Stat Theory Appl. pages 65-70, 1979, ISSN 0303-6898.
- Yoav Benjamini and Yosef Hochberg. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J R Stat Soc Series B Stat Methodol, 57(1):289-300, 1995, ISSN 0035-9246.

Supplementary Note 1: Supplemental tables

• Table S1. Contaminating ASVs removed from the feature table (available at the GitHub repository: https: //github.com/yanxianl/Li_AqFl1-Microbiota_2021/tree/master/result/table).



Supplementary Note 2: Supplemental figures

Fig. S1. The expected and observed taxonomic composition of the sequenced ZymoBIOMICS mock samples.



Fig. S2. Comparison of alpha-diversity between paired water and intestinal mucosa samples. Note that alpha-diversity indices of intestinal mucosa samples from the same tank were aggregated before running paired *t*-test. Abbreviations: PIM, proximal intestine mucosa; DIM, distal intestine mucosa; PD, phylogenetic diversity.



Fig. S3. Tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions (PERMDISP) in digesta (a) and mucosa (b) samples. (a) The PERMANOVA suggested little evidence of tank effect for digesta samples, thus we used individual fish as the statistical unit when running the PERDISP. (b) The PERDISP, however, was carried out on tank and diet level for mucosa samples because of a significant tank effect. Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; PID, proximal intestine digesta; DID, distal intestine digesta.

Π

Aquaculture 520 (2020) 734967

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Aquaculture

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/aquaculture

Total replacement of fish meal with black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal does not compromise the gut health of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*)

Yanxian Li^{a,*}, Trond M. Kortner^a, Elvis M. Chikwati^a, Ikram Belghit^b, Erik-Jan Lock^b, Åshild Krogdahl^a

^a Department of Basic Sciences and Aquatic Medicine, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU), P.O. Box 8146 Dep, NO-0033 Oslo, Norway

^b Institute of Marine Research, P.O. Box 1870 Nordnes, 5817 Bergen, Norway

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Insect meal Black soldier fly Atlantic salmon Gut health

ABSTRACT

Limited availability of sustainable feed ingredients is a significant concern in salmon aquaculture. Insects may become an important, sustainable resource for expanding the raw material repertoire. Herein, we present data from a 16-week seawater feeding trial with Atlantic salmon (initial body weight, 1.4 kg) fed either a reference diet with a combination of fish meal, soy protein concentrate, pea protein concentrate, corn gluten and wheat gluten as protein source, or a test diet wherein all the fish meal and most of the pea protein concentrate were replaced by black soldier fly larvae meal. The gut health of fish was evaluated using endpoints including organ and tissue indices, histopathology variables and gene expression indicative of lipid metabolism, immune responses, barrier functions and detoxification/stress responses. A higher relative weight of distal intestine was found in fish fed the insect meal diet. Steatosis of enterocytes was observed in the proximal and mid intestine in both diet groups, albeit, less severe in the proximal intestine of fish fed the insect meal diet. Inflammatory morphological changes, similar to those induced in the distal intestine by standard soybean meal, were present in all the examined intestina legements, with a higher degree of submucosa cellularity in the proximal intestine of insect meal diet fed fish, the only notable diet effect. Few differentially expressed genes were identified in the proximal or distal intestine. In summary, total replacement of fish meal with black soldier fly larvae meal did not compromise the gut health of Atlantic salmon.

gredients for the future salmon aquaculture.

resources, with the lowest possible impact on the environment (Ytrestøyl et al., 2015). Hence, the salmon feed producers need to reduce their dependency on terrestrial plant products that may be used

directly for human consumption, and seek new, sustainable feed in-

Insects possess an outstanding capacity to upgrade low-quality or-

ganic material, require minimal water and cultivable land, and emit

little greenhouse gases (van Huis, 2013). At present, exploiting insects

as feed ingredients is not in direct competition with food production.

Black soldier fly (BSF; Hermetia illucens) is being produced at industrial

scale in Europe due to its exceptionally good nutritional value and

suitability for massive production. On a dry matter basis, BSF larvae

contain about 42% protein and 35% lipid (Newton et al., 1977). In

terms of protein quality, BSF larvae contains a favorable essential

amino acid profile closer to fishmeal than that of soybean meal (Barroso

1. Introduction

Marine ingredients in the Norwegian salmon diet have gradually been replaced by plant sources, decreasing from ~90% in 1990 to ~25% in 2016. Among the plant-based protein sources, soy protein concentrate accounted for 19.2% of the total diet ingredients followed by wheat gluten (9.0%), corn gluten (3.4%), horse beans (2.0%), pea protein concentrate (1.4%), faba beans (1.3%), sunflower meal (1.2%) and other marginally used plant proteins (2.7%) (Aas et al., 2018). While the future availability of plant proteins is guaranteed in the shortterm (Shepherd et al., 2017), there is a need for new nutrient sources in Norwegian salmon aquaculture as the production volume is expected to grow. Moreover, as the world population is projected to reach 9.8 billion in 2050 (UN, 2017), global food production must maximize the nutritional output for human consumption and minimize the input of

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: yanxian.li@nmbu.no (Y. Li).

Available online 17 January 2020

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.734967

Received 14 August 2019; Received in revised form 15 January 2020; Accepted 15 January 2020

0044-8486/ © 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.







et al., 2014). Moreover, the fat level and fatty acid profile are dietdependent, allowing for control using different feed substrates (St-Hilaire et al., 2007a, 2007b). The potential of BSF larvae as an alternative feed ingredient for fish has been evaluated in several omnivorous and carnivorous species including Atlantic salmon (Belghit et al., 2018; Bondari and Sheppard, 1987; Borgogno et al., 2017; Devic et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Kroeckel et al., 2012; Li et al., 2016; Li et al., 2017; Lock et al., 2016; Magalhaes et al., 2017; Renna et al., 2017; Sealey et al., 2011; St-Hilaire et al., 2007a, 2007b). The optimal substitution level of fishmeal in the diet by BSF larvae meal varies considerably in different studies ranging from 25% to 100%, possibly due to differences in the larvae meal quality, fish species and diet formulation. While the nutritional value of BSF larvae meal has been extensively studied, its impact on fish health, the gut health in particular, has not been investicated.

The present study was part of a larger investigation consisting of a freshwater and seawater feeding trial that aimed to reveal the nutritional value and possible health effects for Atlantic salmon, of a proteinrich insect meal (IM) produced from BSF larvae. In the 8-week freshwater trial, pre-smolt salmon were fed either a reference diet or a test diet wherein 85% of the dietary protein was supplied by BSF larvae meal. The gut health of fish was evaluated using endpoints including organ and tissue indices, histopathology variables and gene expressions (Li et al., 2019). Results from the freshwater trial showed no indications that dietary inclusion of insect meal may affect the gut health of Atlantic salmon negatively. The insect meal diet seemed to reduce excessive lipid deposition in the pyloric caeca enterocytes and stimulate xenobiotic metabolism (Li et al., 2019). The present study focuses on the gut health in the seawater-phase salmon fed BSF larvae meal for 16 weeks. Post-smolt Atlantic salmon was fed either a reference diet with a combination of fish meal, soy protein concentrate, pea protein concentrate, corn gluten and wheat gluten as protein sources, or a test diet wherein all the fish meal and most of pea protein concentrate were replaced by BSF larvae meal. The gut health of seawater-phase salmon fed a commercially-relevant reference diet and an insect meal test diet was evaluated using the same endpoints measured in the freshwater trial (Li et al., 2019).

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Diets and fish husbandry

A feeding trial with seawater-phase Atlantic salmon (initial body weight 1.40 kg, S.D. = 0.043 kg) was conducted at the Gildeskål Research Station (GIFAS), Nordland, Norway, in accordance with laws regulating the experimentation with live animals in Norway. Fish were fed either a commercially-relevant reference diet (REF) with a combination of fish meal, soy protein concentrate, pea protein concentrate, corn gluten and wheat gluten as protein source, or an insect meal diet (IM) wherein all the fish meal and most of the pea protein concentrate were replaced by BSF larvae meal (Table 1). The insect meal was produced from BSF larvae by Protix Biosystems BV (Dongen, The Netherlands). The larvae were grown on media partially containing seaweed (Ascophyllum nodosum) mixed with organic plant-derived waste (60:40). At the end of an eight-day growth period, the larvae were mechanically separated from the feeding media, washed and partially defatted before being dried and ground to produce the insect meal. Each diet was randomly allocated to triplicate net pens (5 \times 5 \times 5 m; 125 m³) each containing 90 fish. Fish were fed by hand until apparent satiation twice daily (or once due to the light conditions). The feeding trial lasted for 16 weeks. Within this period, the salmon reached a mean weight of 3.7 kg that is suitable for sensory testing. Further details on the insect meal, diet composition and fish husbandry were reported elsewhere (Belghit et al., 2019).

Aquaculture 520 (2020) 734967

Table 1

Formulation and proximate composition of the experimental diets (previously published in Belghit et al., 2019).

	REF	IM
Ingredients (% wet-weight)		
Fishmeal LT94	10	0.0
Black soldier fly larva meal ^a	0.0	14.75
Soy protein concentrate	25	25
Corn gluten meal	7.5	7.5
Wheat gluten meal	3.35	6.88
Pea protein concentrate 55	8.8	2.84
Fish oil	10.18	14.76
Rapeseed oil	20.95	14.73
Binder	12.32	11.24
Additives ^b	1.89	2.29
Yttrium	1.0	1.0
Chemical composition (wet-weight basis)		
Dry matter (%)	93	95
Crude Protein (%)	38	39
Crude Lipid (%)	29	29
Ash (%)	4.6	4.5
Carbohydrates (%)	11.6	11.4
Gross energy (MJ/kg)	24.6	25.0
TBARS (nmol/g)	3.0	4.9

REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; TBARS, Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances.

^a Partially defatted. Produced by the Protix Biosystems BV (Dongen, The Netherlands).

^b Supplemented to meet the nutrient requirements of salmon, mostly consist of vitamin/mineral mix, amino acids (methionine and lysine) and phosphorus.

2.2. Sample collection

At the termination of the feeding trial, fish were randomly taken from the net pens, anesthetized with tricaine methanesulfonate (MS222®; Argent Chemical Laboratories, Redmond, WA, USA) and euthanized by a sharp blow to the head. Body weight was registered for all the fish sampled. From 6 fish per net pen, the whole digestive tract was dissected, cleaned free of attached adipose tissue and opened longitudinally. Only fish with chyme present along the whole intestine were sampled to ensure exposure to the diets until the point of sampling. The chyme was gently removed using a spatula. The emptied intestine was divided into proximal (PI), mid (MI) and distal (DI) segments and weighed, respectively. The gut tissue was rinsed in phosphate buffered saline three times to remove traces of remaining chyme and cut into pieces for RNA extraction and histological evaluation. The gut tissue for RNA extraction was preserved in RNAlater solution at room temperature for < 12 h, incubated at 4 °C for 48 h and stored at -20 °C after arrival at the lab, whereas the gut tissue for the latter purpose was fixed in 4% phosphate-buffered formaldehyde solution for 24 h and transferred to 70% ethanol for storage at room temperature.

2.3. Organosomatic indices

Organosomatic indices (OSI) of the PI, MI and DI were calculated as percentages of the weight of intestinal segments relative to the fish body weight; OSI = $100 \times \text{TW/BW}$, where TW is the tissue weight and BW is the fish body weight.

2.4. Histology

After fixation, PI, MI, and DI samples were processed according to standard histological techniques to produce sections of 3 µm thickness from each intestinal segment and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. The sections were then examined blindly with a light microscope paying attention to typical inflammatory morphological changes commonly observed in salmonid intestine: that is, shortening and fusion of mucosal folds, cellular infiltration within the lamina propria and submucosa, reduced enterocyte vacuolization and nucleus position disparity (Baeverfjord and Krogdahl, 1996). Normally, little to no vacuolization is present in the enterocytes of the PI and MI whereas enterocytes of the DI show varying degrees of supranuclear vacuolization that diminishes or disappears during inflammation. Shortening and fusion of mucosal folds are usually absent when signs of inflammation, such as immune cell infiltration within the lamina propria and submucosa, are observed in the PI and MI. Therefore, mucosal fold morphology (height and fusion) was only evaluated for the severity of inflammation in the DI. For each histological characteristic evaluated, a value of normal, mild, moderate, marked or severe was assigned.

2.5. Quantitative real-time PCR

Real-time qPCR assays were performed following the MIQE guidelines (Bustin et al., 2009) as described in the freshwater feeding trial (Li et al., 2019). In brief, total RNA was extracted from PI and DI samples with a mean A₂₆₀/A₂₈₀ ratio of 2.2 (S.D. = 0.01). The RNA integrity was evaluated by agarose gel electrophoresis using the NorthernMax®-Gly sample loading dye (catalog no., AM8551; Ambion, Austin, TX, USA). Based on the gel electrophoresis results, the RNA integrity of 24 representative samples was further confirmed by the 2100 Bioanalyzer using the 6000 Nano LabChip kit (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, USA). The average RIN (RNA integrity number) value for the selected samples was 9.5 (S.D. = 0.38). The cDNA synthesis was performed using 1.0 µg total RNA from all samples using a Superscript™ IV VILO™ cDNA synthesis kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). A negative control was set up by omitting RNA and the obtained cDNA was diluted 1:10 before use. The qPCR assays were performed using the LightCycler 96 (Roche Applied Science, Basel, Switzerland) and a 10-µL reaction volume was used, which contained 2 µL of PCR-grade water, 2 µL diluted cDNA template, 5 µL LightCycler 480 SYBR Green I Master (Roche Applied Science) and 0.5 µL (10 µM) of each forward and reverse primer. Samples were run in duplicates in addition to a no-reversetranscription control and a no-template control for each gene. A threestep qPCR programme was applied incorporating an enzyme activation step at 95 °C (5 min) and 45 cycles of 95 °C (10 s), 55-63 °C (10 s) and 72 °C (15 s). Quantification cycle (Cq) values were determined using the second derivative method. Beta-actin (actb), glyceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase (gapdh), RNA polymerase 2 (rnapo2) and hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase 1 (hprt1) were evaluated for use as reference genes according to their stability across and within the treatments as described by (Kortner et al., 2011). The expression of target genes in the PI and DI were normalized to the geometric mean of the 4 reference genes evaluated. The mean normalized expression of the target genes was calculated from raw Cq values (Muller et al., 2002). The genes profiled and the primers used for the qPCR assays are given in Table S1.

2.6. Statistics

Statistical analyses and creation of graphs were performed in R 3.5.2 (R Core Team, 2013). The *tidyverse* package (Wickham, 2017) was used to import, tidy, transform and visualize data. After exploratory analyses, continuous response variables were fitted by linear mixed effect model via the *lme4* package (Bates et al., 2015), treating diet as fixed effect and net pen as random effect. The model diagnostics were performed by plotting residuals against the fitted values and against each covariate in the model to assess homogeneity, by making a QQ-plot to check normality and by detecting influential observations using the *influence.ME* package (Nieuwenhuis et al., 2012). The *p* value of diet effect was obtained via parametric bootstrap comparisons using the *pbkrtest* package (Halekoh and Højsgaard, 2014). When the fitted models were singular, the Welch's *t*-test was run to compare group means and the normality assumption was visually checked via QQ-

plots. For ordinal response variables, data were fitted by cumulative link mixed model via the ordinal package (Christensen, 2019), treating diet as fixed effect and net pen as random effect. The random effect was dropped when the full model produced singular fits or huge Hessian numbers, or when the random effect was not significant. The proportional odds assumption was checked by comparing models against ones that relax this assumption (i.e., allow nominal/scale effect) via likelihood-ratio tests. The random effect was visually inspected via conditional modes with 95% confidence intervals based on the conditional variance. The statistical model outputs were tidied using the broom package (Robinson and Hayes, 2019) when needed. Multiple comparisons were adjusted by the Holm-Bonferroni correction (controlling family-wise error rate) or Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (controlling false discovery rate) where applicable. Differences were regarded as significant when p < .05. Plots were generated using *ComplexHeatmap* (Gu et al., 2016), ggplot2 of the tidyverse and extension packages of ggplot2 including cowplot (Wilke, 2019), ggpubr (Kassambara, 2018) and ggsignif (Ahlmann-Eltze, 2019). Multiple figure panels were combined using the cowplot or gridExtra package (Auguie, 2017).

3. Results

To aid readers in interpreting data reported here, results on general fish performance and nutrients utilization, which have been published elsewhere (Belghit et al., 2019), are summarized below.

Both diets were readily accepted by the salmon throughout the whole feeding trial. No differences between the diet groups were recorded for feed intake, feed conversion ratio, body weight gain, protein productive value or whole-body proximate composition. Condition factor, hepatosomatic and viscerosomatic indices were not affected by dietary replacement of fish meal with IM. In line with absence of diet effect on the proteinase activity (trypsin and leucine aminopeptidase) and total bile salts level in the chyme, the apparent digestibility of crude protein, crude lipid, amino acids and fatty acids was not affected by dietary IM inclusion.

3.1. Somatic indices of intestinal sections

No significant diet effect was observed for PI-somatic index or MIsomatic index. However, DI-somatic index was significantly higher in fish fed the IM diet (p < .05) (Fig. 1).

3.2. Histological appearance

Enterocyte hypervacuolization, suggestive of excessive lipid accumulation (steatosis), was observed in the PI and MI in both diet groups (Fig. 2). It was, however, less severe in the PI of fish fed the IM diet (p < .05). Typical signs of enteritis commonly observed in salmonid intestine fed soybean meal diets, including shortening and fusion of mucosal folds (only evaluated for DI), cellular infiltration within submucosa and lamina propria and reduced enterocyte vacuolization (only applicable to DI), were observed in all the intestinal segments in both diet groups (Fig. 2). The only significant diet effect was a higher degree of submucosa cellularity in the PI of fish fed the IM diet (p < .05).

3.3. Gene expression

In total, we profiled 36 genes related to immune modulation, lipid metabolism, barrier function and xenobiotic metabolism in the intestine. The diet effect on the gene expression profile was quite minor in the PI and DI. In the PI, matrix metalloproteinase 13 (*mmp13*), a marker gene involved in tissue reorganization, was the only differential expressed gene which showed lower expression levels in fish fed the IM diet (p < .05) (Fig. 3). In the DI, choline kinase (*chk*), a marker gene involved in de novo synthesis of phosphatidylcholine, was the only differential expressed gene which showed lower expression levels in



Fig. 1. Somatic indices of intestinal sections of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets. The boxplots are in the style of Tukey. PI, proximal intestine; MI, mid intestine; DI, distal intestine; REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet.



Fig. 2. Contingency chart showing percentages of sampled fish scored normal, mild, moderate, marked and severe regarding enterocyte hypervacuolization (steatosis) and inflammation in different gut segments. PI, proximal intestine; MI, mid intestine; DI, distal intestine; REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet.



Fig. 3. Gene expression profile in the proximal intestine of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets. Data in the same row was scaled (each data point was subtracted by the row mean and divided by the standard deviation) Samples (columns) were clustered within each diet based on the Euclidean distance and genes (rows) were clustered within each functional category based on the Spearman's rankorder correlation. The Ward's minimum variance method was used for the linkage of clusters. For cells in the same row, the deeper the red color, the higher is the gene expression in the respective sample; similarly, the deeper the blue color, the lower is the gene expression in the respective sample. The raw (p_raw) and FDR-adjusted (p_adj) p value of diet effect for each gene are shown on the left side of the heatmap. The annotations for the samples (diet and net pen) are given on the top of the heatmap. A supplementary figure showing the normalized expression data before scaling is available as Fig. S1 which displays the data as boxplots overlaid by individual data point. Abbreviations: SNE, scaled normalized expression; REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; see Table S1 for explanations of gene abbreviations. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

fish fed the IM diet as well (p < .05) (Fig. 4).

4. Discussion

In the present study, total replacement of fish meal with BSF larvae meal was associated with a lower degree of steatosis in the proximal intestine and a higher relative weight of distal intestine. Furthermore, replacing fish meal with insect meal in the diet of salmon was associated with increased submucosa cellularity in the proximal intestine.

In our previous experiment, pre-smolt Atlantic salmon were fed a test diet for 8 weeks wherein BSF larvae meal accounted for 60% of the total diet ingredients, replacing most of the fish meal and soy protein concentrate in the reference diet (Li et al., 2019). Gene expression analysis showed increased amount of transcripts indicative of uptake of fatty acids (*cd36*, *fabp2*) and cholesterol (*npc1l1*), immune tolerance (*foxp3*), stress response (*hsp70*) and detoxification activity (*cyp1a1*, *mta*, *sod* and *cat*) in the intestine of fish fed the insect meal diet (Li et al., 2019). Given the much lower inclusion level of insect meal in the present study (15% in the diet), it is not surprising that few genes showed differential expressions. Despite the substantial difference on inclusion level of insect meal between the previous study (Li et al., 2019) and the current trial, both studies showed that insect meal diet was associated with lower enterocyte steatosis in the proximal intestine and increased the relative weight of distal intestine.

Enterocyte steatosis is thought to represent a lipid transport or

metabolism disorder in enterocytes which in severe cases may be accompanied by accumulations of lipidic materials inside the gut lumen and referred to as lipid malabsorption, eventually resulting in steatorrhea and the so-called "floating feces" on the surface of sea cages (Hanche-Olsen et al., 2013; Penn, 2011). In contrast to the freshwater trial where the enterocyte steatosis was confined to the proximal intestine (Li et al., 2019), it was observed in both proximal and mid intestine in the present seawater trial. Moreover, all the sampled fish showed varying degrees of steatosis in the proximal intestine enterocytes. The higher prevalence and severity of the enterocyte steatosis is possibly related to a higher feed intake of the seawater-phase salmon (Belghit et al., 2018; Belghit et al., 2019), which may exceed the capacity of enterocytes to transport the absorded nutrients out of cytoplasm. Consistent with our previous finding in the freshwater trial (Li et al., 2019), fish fed the insect meal diet showed a lower degree of enterocyte steatosis in the proximal intestine, which is in line with a lower but insignificant expression level of *plin2*, a surface marker of lipid droplets (Heid et al., 1998). One should be reminded that there were no macroscopic appearances of lipid malabsorption in any fish at the time of sampling, and no apparent indications of reduced fish health as a result of the steatosis. Also, the analysis of total lipid content, lipid class and lipid droplet size and number in the liver showed no diet effect (Belghit et al., 2019).

Consistent with results from the freshwater trial (Li et al., 2019), increased relative weight of distal intestine was also observed in the



Fig. 4. Gene expression profile in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets. See Fig. 3 for explanations of the graph and abbreviations. A supplementary figure showing the normalized expression data before scaling is available as Fig. S2 which displays the data as boxplots overlaid by individual data point.

present seawater trial. Findings from experiments with chickens may be relevant in comparison. Dietary inclusion of BSF larvae meal (7.3% or 14.6%) was reported to increase the length of jejunum in laying hens (Bovera et al., 2018; Cutrignelli et al., 2018). In another study, laving hens fed a diet containing 17% BSF larvae meal for 21 weeks showed higher concentrations of short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) in the caecal content, including acetate, propionate, isobutyrate, butyrate, isovalerate and valerate. Notably, butyrate nearly tripled in its concentration increasing from 1.5 to 4.4 mmol/L (Borrelli et al., 2017). Butyrate is an important energy source for intestinal epithelial cells. It was estimated to provide 60-70% energy for colonic epithelium in human (Roediger, 1980) and is known to stimulate the proliferation of mucosal cells in colon (Kripke et al., 1989; Mortensen et al., 1999; Souleimani and Asselin, 1993; Whitehead et al., 1986). Whether dietary inclusion of BSF larvae meal may increase the production of SCFAs in the distal intestine of salmon and thus contribute to the increased organ weight remains further elucidation.

Opposed to the absence of gut inflammation in the freshwater trial (Li et al., 2019), signs of inflammation were observed in both diet groups in all the gut segments examined, which is a rare case. While gut inflammation has also been reported in farmed salmon fed commercial diets, it's usually only present in the distal intestine (Chikwati et al., 2018). The exception was when a parasitic infection occurs, such as

tapeworm or nematode infection, causing inflammation throughout the whole intestine (Chikwati et al., 2018; Murphy et al., 2010). However, no parasitic infection was noted during the feeding trial or at the time of sampling. Given that the feeding trial was commenced with fish already at sizes averaging 1.4 kg, and no basal gut health assessment was conducted prior to start of the trial, it is hard to rule out historical exposure to inflammation-inducing diets and/or parasites. It is thus a good practice to conduct a basal gut health desperimental fish (> 100 g) before assignment to feed groups to minimize pre-existing gut health disorders that may diminish trial outcomes and goals.

Recent studies on the nutritional value of BSF larvae meal for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) (10.5%, 21%) (Cardinaletti et al., 2019), clownfish (Amphiprion ocellaris) (20%, 40%, 60%) (Vargas-Abúndez et al., 2019) and zebrafish (Danio rerio) (25%, 50%) (Zarantoniello et al., 2019) have not revealed signs of gut inflammation. Furthermore, its inclusion increased the expression of *foxp3*, a master transcription factor for the differentiation of naïve CD4 T cells into regulatory T cells, in the proximal and distal intestine of salmon in our freshwater trial (Li et al., 2019). In the present seawater trial, however, increased submucosa cellularity was found in the proximal intestine of salmon fed the insect meal diet. Possible explanations are: 1) Atlantic salmon prey on insects in the freshwater before they finish smoltification and migrate to the sea. Hence, the gut immune system of salmon might have a higher tolerance of insect ingredients in the freshwater than in the seawater. 2) The increased submucosa cellularity was possibly, already present in the fish prior to start of the trial but the experimental diets improved the gut health in the proximal intestine to differing levels, with the reference diet performing better than the insect meal diet in reducing the severity of inflammatory changes. It should be noted that none of the proinflammatory marker genes profiled in the proximal intestine showed differential expressions. Neither did we observe comprised gut functions as a result of the increased submucosa cellularity.

In conclusion, total replacement of fish meal with black soldier fly larvae meal did not compromise the gut health of Atlantic salmon. Dietary insect meal inclusion seemed to reduce excessive lipid deposition within enterocytes (steatosis) in the proximal intestine. Possible interactions between insect meal inclusion and the development of gut inflammation in seawater-phase salmon is worth of attention in future studies.

Data and code availability

The data and code used for the statistical analyses and creation of figures are deposited at the GitHub repository (https://github.com/ yanxianl/AquaFly-SeawaterGutHealth-Aquaculture-2019).

Funding

This work is part of the "AquaFly" project (grant number, 238997), funded by the Research Council of Norway, Norway, grant number: 38997. Y.L. is pursuing his Ph.D. degree at NMBU with a scholarship granted by the China Scholarship Council (CSC), a non-profit organization sponsoring Chinese citizens to study abroad. Other costs related to this study were covered by the NMBU. The funding agencies had no role in study design, data collection, and interpretation, decision to publish or preparation of the manuscript.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge Ellen K. Hage for organizing the sampling and conducting part of the lab work. Thanks are also due to technicians at the Gildeskål Research Station (GIFAS) for their committed animal care and supports during the sampling.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.734967.

References

- Aas, T.S., Ytrestøyl, T., Åsgård, T., 2018. Feed resources in Norwegian salmon farming in 2016. In: 18th International Symposium on Fish Nutrition and Feeding, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Spain.
- Ahlmann-Eltze, C., 2019. ggsignif: Significance Brackets for 'ggplot2'.
- Auguie, B., 2017. gridExtra: Miscellaneous Functions for "Grid" Graphics.
- Baeverfjord, G., Krogdahl, A., 1996. Development and regression of soybean meal induced enteritis in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L, distal intestine: a comparison with the intestines of fasted fish. J. Fish Dis. 19, 375–387.
- Barroso, F.G., de Haro, C., Sánchez-Muros, M.-J., Venegas, E., Martínez-Sánchez, A., Pérez-Bañón, C., 2014. The potential of various insect species for use as food for fish. Aquaculture 422-423, 193–201.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48.
- Belghit, I., Liland, N.S., Waagbo, R., Biancarosa, I., Pelusio, N., Li, Y.X., Krogdahl, A., Lock, E.J., 2018. Potential of insect-based diets for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 491, 72–81.

- Belghit, I., Liland, N.S., Gjesdal, P., Biancarosa, I., Menchetti, E., Li, Y., Waagbø, R., Krogdahl, Å., Lock, E.-J., 2019. Black soldier fly larvae meal can replace fish meal in diets of sea-water phase Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Aquaculture. 503, 609–619.
- Bondari, K., Sheppard, D., 1987. Soldier fly, Hermetia illucers L., larvae as feed for channel catfish, Ictalurus punctatus (Rafinesque), and blue tilapia, Oreochromis aureus (Steindachner), Aquae, Fish. Manage, 18, 209–220.
- Borgogno, M., Dinnella, C., Iaconisi, V., Fusi, R., Scarpaleggia, C., Schiavone, A., Monteleone, E., Gasco, L., Parisi, G., 2017. Inclusion of *Hermetia illucens* larvae meal on rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) feed: effect on sensory profile according to static and dynamic evaluations. J. Sci. Food Agric. 97, 3402–3411.
- Borrelli, L., Coretti, L., Dipineto, L., Bovera, F., Menna, F., Chiariotti, L., Nizza, A., Lembo, F., Fioretti, A., 2017. Insect-based diet, a promising nutritional source, modulates gut microbiota composition and SCFAs production in laying hens. Sci. Rep. 7, 16269.
- Bovera, F., Loponte, R., Pero, M.E., Cutrignelli, M.L., Calabro, S., Musco, N., Vassalotti, G., Panettieri, V., Lombardi, P., Piccolo, G., Di Meo, C., Siddi, G., Fliegerova, K., Moniello, G., 2018. Laying performance, blood profiles, nutrient digestibility and inner organs traits of hens fed an insect meal from *Hermetia illucens* larvae. Res. Vet. Sci. 120. 86–93.
- Bustin, S.A., Benes, V., Garson, J.A., Hellemans, J., Huggett, J., Kubista, M., Mueller, R., Nolan, T., Pfaffl, M.W., Shipley, G.L., Vandesompele, J., Wittwer, C.T., 2009. The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. Clin. Chem. 55, 611–622.
- Cardinaletti, G., Randazzo, B., Messina, M., Zarantoniello, M., Giorgini, E., Zimbelli, A., Bruni, L., Parisi, G., Olivotto, I., Tulli, F.J.A., 2019. Effects of graded dietary inclusion level of full-fat *Hermetia illucens* prepupae meal in practical diets for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykis*). Animals 9 (5), 251.
- Chikwati, E.M., Midtlyng, P.J., Krogdahl, Å., 2018. Gut Health Monitoring During the Seawater Phase of Farmed Atlantic Salmon in Different Production Regions of Norway – The Gutmatters Project, 8th International Symposium on Aquatic Aanimal Health. Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, Canada, pp. 400.
- Christensen, R.H.B., 2019. Ordinal Regression Models for Ordinal Data.
- Cutrignelli, M.I., Messina, M., Tulli, F., Randazzo, B., Olivotto, I., Gasco, L., Loponte, R., Bovera, F., 2018. Evaluation of an insect meal of the black soldier fly (*Hermetia il-lucens*) as soybean substitute: intestinal morphometry, enzymatic and microbial activity in laying hens. Res. Vet. Sci. 117, 209–215.
- Devic, E., Leschen, W., Murray, F., Little, D.C., 2017. Growth performance, feed utilization and body composition of advanced nursing Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) fed diets containing black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal. Aquac. Nutr. 24, 416–423.
- Gu, Z., Eils, R., Schlesner, M., 2016. Complex heatmaps reveal patterns and correlations in multidimensional genomic data. Bioinformatics 32, 2847–2849.
- Halekoh, U., Højsgaard, S., 2014. A Kenward-Roger approximation and parametric bootstrap methods for tests in linear mixed models - the R package pbkrtest. J. Stat. Softw. 59, 1–30.
- Hanche-Olsen, R., Brunvold, L., Hillestad, M., Lysne, H., Løland, A.D., Penn, M., 2013. In: Sluttrapport: Nedsatt tarmhelse og forekomst av flytefeces hos laks (In Norwegian), Helgeland Havbruksstasjon. (Accessed: May 21, 2018. URL). https://www.fhf.no/ prosjektdetaljer/?projectNumber=900722.
- Heid, H., Moll, R., Schwetlick, I., Rackwitz, H.-R., Keenan, T.W., 1998. Adipophilin is a specific marker of lipid accumulation in diverse cell types and diseases. Cell Tissue Res. 294, 309–321.
- Hu, J.R., Wang, G.X., Huang, Y.H., Sun, Y.P., He, F., Zhao, H.X., Li, N.N., 2017. Effects of substitution of fish meal with black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal, in vellow catfish (*Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*) diets. Isr. J. Aquae. Band. 69.
- van Huis, A., 2013. Potential of insects as food and feed in assuring food security. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 58, 563–583.
- Kassambara, A., 2018. ggpubr: 'ggplot2' Based Publication Ready Plots.
- Kortner, T.M., Valen, E.C., Kortner, H., Marjara, I.S., Krogdahl, Å., Bakke, A.M., 2011. Candidate reference genes for quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) assays during development of a diet-related enteropathy in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) and the potential pitfalls of uncritical use of normalization software tools. Aquaculture. 318, 355–363.
- Kripke, S.A., Fox, A.D., Berman, J.M., Settle, R.G., Rombeau, J.L., 1989. Stimulation of intestinal muccosal growth with intracolonic infusion of short-chain fatty acids. J. Parenter. Enter. Nutr. 13, 109–116.
- Kroeckel, S., Harjes, A.G.E., Roth, I., Katz, H., Wuertz, S., Susenbeth, A., Schulz, C., 2012. When a turbot catches a fly: evaluation of a pre-pupae meal of the black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) as fish meal substitute — growth performance and chitin deoradation in invenile turbot (*Pseuta maxima*). Aquaculture. 364–365, 345–352.
- Li, S.L., Ji, H., Zhang, B.X., Tian, J.J., Zhou, J.S., Yu, H.B., 2016. Influence of black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae oil on growth performance, body composition, tissue fatty acid composition and lipid deposition in juvenile Jian carp (*Cyprinus carpio* var. Jian). Aquaculture 465, 43–52.
- Li, S.L., Ji, H., Zhang, B.X., Zhou, J.S., Yu, H.B., 2017. Defatted black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal in diets for juvenile Jian carp (*Cyprinus carpio* var. Jian): growth performance, antioxidant enzyme activities, digestive enzyme activities, intestine and hepatopancreas histological structure. Aquaculture 477, 62–70.
- Li, Y., Kortner, T.M., Chikwati, E.M., Munang'andu, H.M., Lock, E.J., Krogdahl, A., 2019. Gut health and vaccination response in pre-smolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 86, 1106–1113.
- Lock, E.R., Arsiwalla, T., Waagbo, R., 2016. Insect larvae meal as an alternative source of nutrients in the diet of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) postsmolt. Aquac. Nutr. 22, 1202–1213.
- Magalhaes, R., Sanchez-Lopez, A., Leal, R.S., Martinez-Llorens, S., Oliva-Telesa, A., Peres, H., 2017. Black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) pre-pupae meal as a fish meal

Y. Li, et al.

replacement in diets for European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Aquaculture 476, 79–85.

- Mortensen, F.V., Langkilde, N.C., Joergensen, J.C., Hessov, I., 1999. Short-chain fatty acids stimulate mucosal cell proliferation in the closed human rectum after Hartmann's procedure. Int. J. Color. Dis. 14, 150–154.
- Muller, P.Y., Janovjak, H., Miserez, A.R., Dobbie, Z., 2002. Processing of gene expression data generated by quantitative real-time RT-PCR. Biotechniques 32 (1372–1374, 1376, 1378–1379).
- Murphy, T.M., Berzano, M., O'Keeffe, S.M., Cotter, D.M., McEvoy, S.E., Thomas, K.A., Maoileidigh, N.P., Whelan, K.F., 2010. Anisakid larvae in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) grilse and post-smolts: molecular identification and histopathology. J. Parasitol. 96, 77–82.
- Newton, G., Booram, C., Barker, R., Hale, O., 1977. Dried larvae meal as a supplement for swine. J. Anim. Sci. 44, 395–400.
- Nieuwenhuis, R., Te Grotenhuis, M., Pelzer, B., 2012. Influence.ME: tools for detecting influential data in mixed effects models. R J. 4, 38–47.
- Penn, M.H., 2011. Lipid malabsorption in Atlantic salmon the reoccurring problem of floating feces. In: Fiskehelse. Tekna Fiskehelseforeningen, Oslo, pp. 6–11.

R Core Team, 2013. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Renna, M., Schiavone, A., Gai, F., Dabbou, S., Lussiana, C., Malfatto, V., Prearo, M.,

- Capucchio, M.T., Biasato, I., Biasibetti, E., De Marco, M., Brugiapaglia, A., Zoccarato, I., Gasco, L., 2017. Evaluation of the suitability of a partially defatted black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens L.*) larvae meal as ingredient for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus my-kiss* Walbaum) diets. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 8.
- Robinson, D., Hayes, A., 2019. Broom: Convert Statistical Analysis Objects Into Tidy Tibbles.
- Roediger, W., 1980. Role of anaerobic bacteria in the metabolic welfare of the colonic mucosa in man. Gut 21, 793–798.
- Sealey, W.M., Gaylord, T.G., Barrows, F.T., Tomberlin, J.K., McGuire, M.A., Ross, C., St-Hilaire, S., 2011. Sensory analysis of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss, fed enriched black soldier fly prepupae, Hermetia illucens. J. World Aquac. Soc. 42, 34–45.

- Shepherd, C.J., Monroig, O., Tocher, D.R., 2017. Future availability of raw materials for salmon feeds and supply chain implications: the case of Scottish farmed salmon. Acuaculture 467, 49–62.
- Souleimani, A., Asselin, C., 1993. Regulation of C-fos expression by sodium butyrate in the human colon carcinoma cell line Caco-2. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 193, 330–336.
- St-Hilaire, S., Cranfill, K., McGuire, M.A., Mosley, E.E., Tomberlin, J.K., Newton, L., Sealey, W., Sheppard, C., Irving, S., 2007a. Fish offal recycling by the black soldier fly produces a foodstuff high in Omega-3 fatty acids. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 38, 309–313.
- St-Hilaire, S., Sheppard, C., Tomberlin, J.K., Irving, S., Newton, L., McGuire, M.A., Mosley, E.E., Hardy, R.W., Sealey, W., 2007b. Fly prepupae as a feedstuff for rainbow trout. Oncorhynchus mykiss. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 38, 59–67.
- UN, 2017. World Population Prospects: The 2017 Revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2017) (ESA/P/WP/248).
- Vargas-Abúndez, A.J., Randazzo, B., Foddai, M., Sanchini, L., Truzzi, C., Giorgini, E., Gasco, L., Olivotto, I.J.A., 2019. Insect meal based diets for clownfish: biometric, histological, spectroscopic, biochemical and molecular implications. Aquaculture 498, 1–11.

Whitehead, R., Young, G., Bhathal, P., 1986. Effects of short chain fatty acids on a new human colon carcinoma cell line (LIM1215). Gut 27, 1457–1463. Wickham, H., 2017. tidyverse: Easily Install and Load the Tidyverse.

Wilke, C.O., 2019. cowplot: Streamlined Plot Theme and Plot Annotations for 'ggplot2'. Ytresteyl, T., Aas, T.S., Asgård, T., 2015. Utilisation of feed resources in production of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) in Norway. Aquaculture 448, 365–374.

Zarantoniello, M., Randazzo, B., Truzzi, C., Giorgini, E., Marcellucci, C., Vargas-Abúndez, J.A., Zimbelli, A., Annibaldi, A., Parisi, G., Tulli, F.J.S., 2019. A six-months study on black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) based diets in zebrafish. Sci Rep. 9, 8598.

IV

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Differential response of digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota to dietary insect meal during the seawater phase of Atlantic salmon



Yanxian Li^{1*†}®, Leonardo Bruni^{2†}, Alexander Jaramillo-Torres¹, Karina Gajardo¹, Trond M. Kortner¹ and Åshild Kroqdahl¹

Abstract

Background: Intestinal digesta is commonly used for studying responses of microbiota to dietary shifts, yet evidence is accumulating that it represents an incomplete view of the intestinal microbiota. The present work aims to investigate the differences between digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and how they may respond differently to dietary perturbations. In a 16-week seawater feeding trial, Atlantic salmon were fed either a commercially-relevant reference diet or an insect meal diet containing ~ 15% black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal. The digesta- and mucosa-associated distal intestinal microbiota were profiled by 16S rRNA gene sequencing.

Results: Regardless of diet, we observed substantial differences between digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota. Microbial richness and diversity were much higher in the digesta than the mucosa. The insect meal diet altered the distal intestinal microbiota resulting in higher microbial richness and diversity. The diet effect, however, depended on the sample origin. Digesta-associated intestinal microbiota showed more pronounced changes than the mucosa-associated microbiota. Multivariate association analyses identified two mucosa-enriched taxa, *Brevinema andersonii* and *Spirochaetaceae*, associated with the expression of genes related to immune responses and barrier function in the distal intestine, respectively.

Conclusions: Our data show that salmon intestinal digesta and mucosa harbor microbial communities with clear differences. While feeding insects increased microbial richness and diversity in both digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota seems more resilient to variations in the diet composition. To fully unveil the response of intestinal microbiota to dietary changes, concurrent profiling of digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota is recommended whenever feasible. Specific taxa enriched in the intestinal mucosa are associated to gene expression related to immune responses and barrier function. Detailed studies are needed on the ecological and functional significance of taxa associated to intestinal microbiota dwelling on the mucosa.

Keywords: Atlantic salmon, Diet, Black soldier fly, Microbiota, Digesta, Mucosa

¹Yanxian Li and Leonardo Bruni contributed equally to this work. ¹Department of Paraclinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine,

Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Oslo, Norway

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2021 **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4J/.

^{*} Correspondence: yanxian.li@nmbu.no

Background

The global population is projected to reach 9.7 billion in 2050 [1], requiring an increase in the food supply by 25-70% [2]. Producing more safe and high-quality food in a sustainable way to meet the global population growth is a great challenge for our generation. Fish are considered as nutritionally valuable part of the human diet and play an important role in the global food supply [3, 4]. The average annual growth rate of world food fish consumption in the period 2019-2030 is projected to be 1.4%, reaching 28 million tonnes live weight in 2030 [5]. Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) is the most produced marine fish species and one of the most economically important farmed fish worldwide [6]. While Atlantic salmon are strictly carnivorous in the wild, farmed Atlantic salmon have experienced a substantial shift in the diet composition due to a limited supply of marine ingredients. Marine ingredients used for Norwegian farmed Atlantic salmon have gradually been replaced by plant sources, decreasing from ~90% in 1990 to ~25% in 2016 [7]. Due to concerns on the economic, environmental and social sustainability of the current raw materials for Atlantic salmon farming [6], more sustainable alternative feed ingredients, such as insects [8] and single-cell organisms (bacteria, yeasts and microalgae) [9], have been developed and used. One of the insect species with the greatest potential as an alternative feed ingredient for salmon aquaculture is black soldier fly (BSF; Hermetia illucens), which is now produced at industrial scale in Europe. In terms of protein quality, BSF larvae have a favorable essential amino acid profile closer to fishmeal than that of soybean meal [10]. The nutritional value of BSF larvae meal has been extensively evaluated in various fish species including Atlantic salmon [11-21]. However, how dietary BSF larvae meal may influence the intestinal health, function and microbiota of fish remains largely unexplored.

It is now well established that intestinal microbiota plays a pivotal role in host development and physiology, from being an essential element for the development of normal gut functions and immunity [22, 23] to modulating lipid metabolism and energy balance [24, 25]. Recent advances in sequencing technologies have transformed our ability to study the composition and dynamics of fish intestinal microbiota, leading to increasing interest in selective manipulation of intestinal microbiota. Diet is one of the key factors in shaping the intestinal microbiota. While long-term dietary habits have a considerable effect on the structure and activity of host intestinal microbiota [26–28], short-term dietary change also alters the intestinal microbiota in a rapid and reproducible way [29]. Different dietary components selectively promote or suppress the growth of certain microbial clades, which in turn could inflict important effects on the host health and disease resistance [30, 31]. The use of alternative feed ingredients may not only affect the nutrient utilization, fish growth, health, welfare and product quality, but also intestinal microbiota in Atlantic salmon [32–34]. While studies in mammals and fish have revealed substantial differences between the digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota [32, 35–38], most studies investigating diet effects on the intestinal microbiota of fish have sampled the digesta only or a mixture of digesta and mucosa. Evidence is accumulating that digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota in fish respond differently to dietary changes [32, 39–42]. Profiling only one of or a mixture of digestaand mucosa-associated microbiota may obscure the response of intestinal microbiota to dietary changes.

Characterizing intestinal microbiota and its associations with host responses is an essential step towards identifying key microbial clades promoting fish health and welfare. Ultimately, a milestone in the fish microbiota research would be knowing how to selectively manipulate the microbiota to improve the growth performance, disease resistance and health status of farmed fish. The main aims of the present study were (i) to compare distal intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon fed a commercially relevant diet or an insect meal diet, (ii) to further explore the dissimilarity between digesta- and mucosa-associated microbiota and the differences in their response to dietary changes, and (iii) to identify associations between microbial clades and host responses. This work was part of a larger study consisting of a freshwater and seawater feeding trial that aimed to investigate the nutritional value and possible health effects for Atlantic salmon of a protein-rich insect meal produced from BSF larvae. The results presented herein focus on the intestinal microbiota in seawater phase Atlantic salmon fed an insect meal diet containing ~ 15% BSF larvae meal for 16 weeks.

Results

To aid readers in interpreting the data we report here, results on the feed utilization, growth performance, fillet quality, intestinal histopathology and gene expression, which have been reported elsewhere [43–45], are summarized as the following. In brief, there was lack of evidence that the insect meal diet negatively affected the feed utilization, growth performance or fillet quality of Atlantic salmon. Profiling of genes related to lipid metabolism, immune responses, barrier functions and stress responses in the proximal and distal intestine showed little evidence of diet effect. Histopathological examination of intestinal segments showed enterocyte steatosis in the proximal and mid intestine of fish fed the insect meal diet.

Hereafter, different sample groups are named based on the combination of diet (REF vs. IM) and sample origin (DID vs. DIM). Hence, in addition to the extraction blanks, library blanks and mock, we have four different sample types, i.e., REF-DID, REF-DIM, IM-DID and IM-DIM.

qPCR

Since Cq values of most mucosa DNA templates were out of the linear range of the standard curve, the raw Cq value was used as a proxy of 16S rRNA gene quantity in the diluted DNA templates (Fig. S1). On average, REF-DID showed the highest 16S rRNA gene quantities (mean Cq = 24.7), followed by the mocks (mean Cq = 26.1) and IM-DID (mean Cq = 28.4). Irrespective of diet, mucosa DNA templates (REF-DIM, IM-DIM) showed similar 16S rRNA gene quantities (mean Cq = 30) that were close to extraction blanks (mean Cq = 32.4).

Characteristics of the sequence data

The high-throughput sequencing generated a total number of 7.5 million raw reads for biological samples. The median of raw reads per sample was 96,231, with the minimum and maximum value being 14,940 and 151, 916, respectively. After the sequence denoising and ASV filtering, a total number of 1620 unique ASVs was generated. The mean percentage of chloroplasts and mitochondria removed from the ASV table before filtering out contaminants was 7.4 and 0.2%, respectively. The mean percentage of chloroplast varied considerably between digesta (7.1%) and mucosa (0.2%) samples and between diets within digesta samples, e.g. REF-DID (24.9%) and IM-DID (4.4%). The number of effective sequences retained for the downstream data analysis was 3.6 million. The median of effective sequences per sample was 46,372, with the minimum and maximum value being 951 and 106,591, respectively.

Taxonomic composition

All the eight bacterial species included in the mock were successfully identified at genus level with *E. faecalis, L. fermentum, L. monocytogenes* and *S. aureus* further being annotated at the species level (Fig. S2A). At the genus level, the average Pearson's *r* between the expected and observed taxonomic profile of the mock was 0.33, whereas the Pearson's *r* between the observed taxonomic profile of the mock was 0.98. The relative abundance of most Gram-positive bacteria, *L. monocytogenes* and *E. faecalis* in particular, were underestimated. In contrast, the relative abundance of Gram-negative bacteria was overestimated. Most ASVs (97.5–99.9%) in the extraction and library blanks were classified as *Pseudomonas* (Fig. S2B), which was the main contaminating taxon removed from the biological samples. Other contaminating

ASVs removed from the biological samples were classified as *Curtobacterium*, *Jeotgalicoccus*, *Modestobacter*, *Cutibacterium*, *Hymenobacter*, *Brevundimonas*, *Micrococcus*, *Sphingomonas*, *Devosia*, *Sphingomonas aurantiaca* and *Marinobacter adhaerens*. The exact sequence and taxonomy of the contaminating ASVs and their relative abundance in the extraction and library blanks are available in Table S1.

The taxonomic composition of mucosa samples showed higher similarity than that of the digesta samples, which were more diet-dependent (Fig. 1). At the phylum level, the dominant taxa of mucosa samples for both diets were Spirochaetes (REF-DIM, 72%; IM-DIM, 47%) (mean relative abundance), Proteobacteria (REF-DIM, 21%; IM-DIM, 23%), Firmicutes (REF-DIM, 1%; IM-DIM, 11%), Tenericutes (REF-DIM, 4%; IM-DIM, 8%) and Actinobacteria (REF-DIM, 1%; IM-DIM, 9%). For digesta samples, the dominant taxa of REF-DID were Tenericutes (33%), Proteobacteria (31%), Firmicutes (25%) and Spirochaetes (9%), whereas IM-DID was dominated by Firmicutes (45%), Actinobacteria (25%), Proteobacteria (17%), Tenericutes (7%) and RsaHF231 (4%) (Fig. 1a). At the genus level, the dominant taxa of mucosa samples for both diets were Brevinema (REF-DIM, 52%; IM-DIM, 25%), Spirochaetaceae (REF-DIM, 20%; IM-DIM, 22%), Aliivibrio (REF-DIM, 18%; IM-DIM, 18%) and Mycoplasma (REF-DIM, 4%; IM-DIM, 8%). For digesta samples, the dominant taxa of REF-DID were Mycoplasma (33%), Aliivibrio (20%), Photobacterium (10%), Brevinema (6%) and Lactobacillus (5%), whereas IM-DID was dominated by Aliivibrio (15%), Lactobacillales (14%), Corynebacterium 1 (13%), Bacillus (8%), Mycoplasma (7%) and Actinomyces (5%) (Fig. 1b).

Core ASVs

In total, 339 ASVs were identified as core ASVs based on their prevalence in each sample type (Fig. 2; Table S2). Three ASVs, classified as Aliivibrio, Brevinema andersonii, and Mycoplasma respectively, were identified as core ASVs in all the sample types. The Brevinema andersonii ASV was universally present in all the samples. Additionally, 11 ASVs were identified as core ASVs for digesta samples (REF-DID and IM-DID), which were classified as Geobacillus (1 ASV), Lactobacillus (3 ASVs), Mycoplasma (2 ASVs), Photobacterium (3 ASVs), Streptococcus (1 ASV) and Weissella (1 ASV). Two additional core ASVs were identified for the mucosa samples (REF-DIM and IM-DIM), which were classified as Brevinema andersonii and Spirochaetaceae, respectively. Six additional core ASVs were identified for fish fed the insect meal diet (IM-DID and IM-DIM), which were classified as Actinomyces, Corynebacterium 1, Corynebacterium aurimucosum ATCC 70097, Lactobacillales, RsaHF23 and *Spirochaetaceae*, respectively. No





additional core ASVs were identified for fish fed the reference diet (REF-DID and REF-DIM). Lastly, 308 ASVs were found to be more prevalent in IM-DID than in any other sample type.

Alpha-diversity

Regardless of diet, all the alpha-diversity indices were higher in digesta samples than mucosa samples (p < 0.05) (Fig. 3). Independent of sample origin, all the alpha-diversity indices were higher in fish fed the IM diet than those fed the REF diet (p < 0.05). A significant interaction between the diet and sample origin effect was detected for the observed ASVs (p < 0.001) and Faith's phylogenetic diversity (p < 0.001), both of which showed a stronger diet effect in digesta samples than mucosa samples.

Beta-diversity

The PCoA plots built on the Jaccard and unweighted UniFrac distance matrix showed clear separations of samples belonging to different dietary groups and sample origins (Fig. 4a-b). However, the average distance



between samples from different dietary groups was dependent on sample origin. Specifically, mucosa samples from different dietary groups formed clusters close to each other, whereas digesta samples from different dietary groups were far apart. The PCoA plots built on the Aitchison and PHILR transformed Euclidean distance matrix also showed separations of samples belonging to different dietary groups and sample origins (Fig. 4c-d). Again, the average distance between samples from different dietary groups was dependent on sample origin. Mucosa samples from different dietary groups formed clusters boarding (Fig. 4c) or overlapping (Fig. 4d) each other, whereas digesta samples from different dietary groups were more clearly separated.

The PERMANOVA and its following conditional contrasts largely confirmed the PCoA results. Regardless of the distance matrix used, both main factors had significant effects on the beta-diversity and their interaction was significant as well (p < 0.05) (Table 2). Results on the tests of homogeneity of multivariate dispersions are shown in Table 3. For Jaccard distance, significant differences in the multivariate dispersions were observed between digesta and mucosa samples for both diets (REF-DID VS. REF-DIM, p = 0.045; IM-DID VS. IM-DIM, p = 0.002), and between diets for digesta samples (REF-DID VS. IM-DID, p = 0.002). For unweighted Uni-Frac distance, IM-DID showed lower multivariate dispersions than other sample types resulting in significant differences compared to REF-DID (p = 0.002) and IM-DIM (p = 0.002). For Aitchison distance, REF-DIM showed lower multivariate dispersions than other sample types resulting in significant differences compared to REF-DID (p = 0.046) and IM-DIM (p = 0.046). For PHIL R transformed Euclidean distance, the differences in the



multivariate dispersions among the sample types were not significant (p > 0.05).

Significant associations between microbial clades and sample metadata

The multivariate association analysis identified 53 taxa showing significant associations with the metadata of interest (Fig. 5a). The diagnostic plots showing the raw data underlying the significant associations are shown in Figs. S3-8. Forty-seven differentially abundant taxa were identified for the sample origin effect, 45 of which, including Bacillus, Enterococcus, Flavobacterium, Lactobacillus, Lactococcus, Leuconostoc, Mycoplasma, Peptostreptococcus, Photobacterium, Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, Vagococcus and Weissella, showed lower relative abundances in the mucosa than the digesta (Fig. S3). In contrast, two taxa belonging to the Spirochaetes phylum, Brevinema andersonii and Spirochaetaceae, were enriched in the mucosa (Fig. 5b). Thirty-six differentially abundant taxa were identified for the diet effect, 26 of which showed increased relative abundances in fish fed the IM diet (Fig. S4). Among these 26 taxa, some were enriched in both intestinal digesta and mucosa which included Actinomyces, Bacillaceae, Bacillus, Beutenbergiaceae, Brevibacterium, Corynebacterium 1, Enterococcus. Lactobacillales, Microbacterium. Oceanobacillus and RsaHF231 (partially illustrated as Fig. 5c). For the histological scores, the relative abundance of Sphingobacteriaceae and RsaHF231 were found to increase and decrease, respectively, in fish scored abnormal regarding lamina propria cellularity (LPC) in distal intestine (Fig. S5). The relative abundance of Acinetobacter and Pseudomonas were negatively correlated with the distal intestine somatic index (DISI) (Fig. S6). Six taxa, including Actinomyces, Brevinema andersonii, Kurthia, Lysobacter, Microbacterium and the Sphingobacteriaceae, were found to associate with the expression of genes related to immune responses (Fig. S7). Notably, the relative abundance of Brevinema andersonii showed a clear positive correlation with the expression levels of immune genes (Fig. 5d), which decreased as the PC1 of the PCA increased. Furthermore, 3 taxa including Cellulosimicrobium, Glutamicibacter and the Spirochaetaceae were found to associate with the expression of genes related to barrier functions (Fig. S8). The relative abundance of the Spirochaetaceae showed a negative correlation with the expression levels of barrier function relevant genes (Fig. 5e), which decreased as the PC1 of the PCA increased.

Discussion

Core microbiota

In accordance with previous studies in Atlantic salmon [33, 46–51], Aliivibrio, Brevinema andersonii and Mycoplasma were identified as core microbiota in the present study. Aliivibrio is commonly found in the seawater phase Atlantic salmon intestine [48–50, 52–56] and has been identified as a core taxon of both wild and captive Atlantic salmon [47, 49, 50]. Provided its common presence in seawater, Aliivibrio may have originated from the surrounding water and colonized the intestinal mucosa as Atlantic salmon constantly drink seawater to



(See figure on previous page.)

Fig. 5 Significant associations between microbial clades and sample metadata. **a** Heatmap summarizing all the significant associations between microbial clades and sample metadata. Color key: -log(*q*-value) * sign (coefficient). Cells that denote significant associations are colored (red or blue) and overlaid with a plus (+) or minus (-) sign that indicates the direction of association. Diet (+), higher abundance in salmon fed the IM diet; Sample_origin (+), higher abundance in salmon fed the IM diet; Sample_origin (+), higher abundance in salmon scored abnormal regarding lamina propria cellularity (LPC) in the distal intestine; DISI (+), positive correlation between microbial clade abundance and distal intestine somatic index (DISI); qPCR_immune_response (+) / qPCR_barrier_function (+), negative correlation between microbial clade abundance and the gene expression levels. **b** Taxa that are more abundant in the intestinal mucosa than the digesta. **c** Representative tax showing increased relative abundances in both intestinal digesta and mucosa of salmon fed the IM diet. **d** The positive correlation between the relative abundance of *Brevinema andersonii* and immune gene expression levels in the distal intestine. Note that the expression levels of the immune genes decreased as the PC1 of the PCA increased. **e** The negative correlation between the relative abundance of the *Spirochaetaceae* and the expression levels of barrier function relevant genes. Also note that the expression levels of the barrier function relevant genes. Also note that the expression levels of the barrier function relevant genes. As note retrained barrier function relevant genes decreased as the PC1 of the PCA increased. *p*_phylum; o__ order; f__ family; FDR, false discovery rate; N.notzero, number of observations that are not zero; REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet

prevent dehydration in a hyperosmotic environment. Currently, Aliivibrio comprises of four closely related species including Aliivibrio fischeri, Aliivibrio logei, Aliivibrio salmonicida and Aliivibrio wodanis, which were split from the Vibrio genus and reclassified as Aliivibrio in 2007 [57]. Strains of A. fischeri and A. logei have been described as bioluminescent symbionts of certain fishes and squids [58], whereas A. salmonicida and A. wodanis have been identified as pathogens for Atlantic salmon causing cold-water vibriosis [59] and 'winter ulcer' [60], respectively. We identified 7 Aliivibrio ASVs in this study, four of which, including the core Aliivibrio ASV, were closely related and clustered with unknow Aliivibrio species in the reference database. Among the known Aliivibrio species, A. logei is most closely related to the core Aliivibrio ASV, which was also the predominant Aliivibrio ASV found in the present study. One of the Aliivibrio ASVs, which was detected at very low abundances (< 0.00015%), was closely related to A. wodanis. These observations coincide with previous findings in Arctic seawater-farmed Atlantic salmon [54], suggesting that Aliivibrio in the salmon intestine mostly comprises of commensal species.

Though *Spirochaetes* has typically been found in low abundances in the Atlantic salmon intestine [32, 36, 40, 52, 61], two recent studies have identified *Brevinema* andersonii as a core taxon of both digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota in seawater phase Atlantic salmon [48, 49]. Notably, *Brevinema andersonii* is also a predominant taxon in the digesta and mucosa in one of the studies [49]. *Brevinema andersonii* was initially isolated from short-tailed shrews (*Blarina brevicauda*) and white-footed mice (*Peromyscus leucopus*) as an infectious pathogen [62]. This taxon has also been found in the intestine and gill tissue of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) [63], and intestinal digesta of Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) [64].

Mycoplasma is widely distributed in nature and well known for its minute size and lack of cell wall. It seems to be particularly well-adapted to Atlantic salmon intestine [65]. Like Aliivibrio, it has been frequently identified as a core taxon of both wild and captive Atlantic salmon [33, 46, 48-51]. Notably, it was found to be more abundant in marine adults than in freshwater juvenile Atlantic salmon [50] and sporadically predominate intestinal microbial community in the digesta [33, 49, 50, 54, 66] and mucosa [48] reaching > 90% of total reads in extreme cases. Due to its small compact genome and limited biosynthesis capacities, Mycoplasma typically forms obligate parasitic or commensal relationships with its host to obtain necessary nutrients such as amino acids, fatty acids and sterols [67]. Recent shotgunmetagenomic sequencing of the Atlantic salmon Mycoplasma revealed that it is closely related to Mycoplasma penetrans [33, 68]. It was suggested that the presence of riboflavin encoding genes and lack of pathogenicity factors in the metagenome-assembled Mycoplasma genome is indicative of a symbiotic relationship between the Mycoplasma and Atlantic salmon [68].

Sample origin effect

In line with previous findings in mammals and fish [32, 35-38], we observed substantial differences between digesta- and mucosa-associated microbiota. The microbial richness and diversity were much higher in the digesta than the mucosa, as previously observed in seawater phase Atlantic salmon [32, 36, 49]. Furthermore, most of the bacterial taxa in the distal intestine, including those commonly found in the Atlantic salmon intestine such as Bacillus, Enterococcus, Flavobacterium, Lactobacillus, Lactococcus, Leuconostoc, Mycoplasma, Peptostreptococcus, Photobacterium, Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, Vagococcus and Weissella, were less abundant in the mucosa than in the digesta. These results are suggestive of a selection pressure from the host that determines which microbial clades colonize and flourish in the intestinal mucus layer [69]. In this study, two taxa belonging to the Spirochaetes phylum, Brevinema

andersonii and Spirochaetaceae, were more abundant in the distal intestine mucosa than the digesta. As aforementioned, Spirochaetes were typically found in low abundances in the Atlantic salmon intestine. Yet a recent study also showed that irrespective of diets Brevinema andersonii seemed to be more abundant in the intestinal mucosa than the digesta of seawater phase Atlantic salmon [49]. Known for high motility and chemotactic attraction to mucin, some Spirochaetes can penetrate the mucus and associate with the intestinal mucosa [70–72]. Further work is required to confirm whether these taxa are consistently enriched in the intestinal mucus layer of seawater phase Atlantic salmon.

Diet effect

Diet is one of the key factors in shaping the fish intestinal microbiota. In agreement with previous findings in rainbow trout [42, 73, 74] and laying hens [75, 76], we found that the insect meal diet altered the distal intestinal microbiota assemblage resulting in higher microbial richness and diversity. Our findings, showing that the insect meal diet increased the relative abundance of Actinomyces, Bacillus, Brevibacterium, Corynebacterium 1 and Enterococcus, are in accord with recent studies in rainbow trout fed diets containing 30% BSF larvae meal [42, 74]. Importantly, these results were partly confirmed in other studies employing fluorescence in situ hybridization for targeted profiling of changes in the intestinal microbiota. Specifically, increased absolute abundance of Lactobacillus/Enterococcus was found in rainbow trout fed 20% dietary BSF larvae meal [77], whereas increased absolute abundance of Bacillus, Enterococcus and Lactobacillus was documented in Siberian sturgeon (Acipenser baerii) fed 15% BSF larvae meal [78].

The increases in the relative abundance of specific microbial clades in Atlantic salmon fed the insect meal diet may be explained by feed-borne microbiota and/or feed composition. Bacterial taxa, including Actinomyces, Bacillus, Brevibacterium, Corynebacterium, Enterococcus, Oceanobacillus and RsaHF231, have been found in BSF whole larvae or larvae intestine [79-82]. The fact that RsaHF231 has not been documented in fish before indicates that these bacterial taxa may have partially originated from BSF larvae meal. Our results from the freshwater feeding trial showed that these bacterial taxa were also enriched in the intestinal digesta and mucosa of Atlantic salmon smolts fed an insect meal diet containing 60% soldier fly larvae meal. Importantly, these bacterial taxa were also detected in the feed pellets which contained considerable amount of bacterial DNA (unpublished data). Given the hydrothermal treatments the feed pellets underwent during the extrusion, the feed-borne microbiota profiled by the DNA sequencing techniques could have largely originated from dead bacteria and bacterial spores rather than living bacteria. As sequencing-based methods cannot differentiate between living and dead cells, future studies should investigate to what extent the feed-borne microbiota may contribute to, or confound the observed diet effects on intestinal microbiota, using methods that distinguish living and dead bacteria such as viability PCR and RNA sequencing [83]. On the other hand, unique nutrients in the insect meal diet such as chitin, an essential component of the insect exoskeleton, may have selectively promoted the growth of certain intestinal microbes. Many bacterial species belonging to Bacillus can produce chitinase [84]. Bacillus and Lactobacillus were two of the predominant taxa in the intestinal mucosa of Atlantic salmon fed a 5% chitin diet, the former of which displayed the highest in vitro chitinase activity [85].

Significant interactions between diet and sample origin effect

We observed in the present study that the diet effect on the intestinal microbial community richness and structure was dependent on the sample origin, with mucosaassociated intestinal microbiota showing higher resilience to the dietary change. Our results corroborate previous findings in rainbow trout revealing that mucosaassociated intestinal microbiota was less influenced by dietary inclusion of 30% BSF larvae meal compared to digesta-associated intestinal microbiota [41, 42]. Results from molecular-based studies on salmonid intestinal microbiota hitherto suggest that diet modulates digestaand mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota to varying degrees with the latter generally being more resilient to dietary interventions [32, 39-42, 48]. As such, current practices of profiling only one of or a mixture of digestaand mucosa-associated microbiota may obscure the response of intestinal microbiota to dietary changes. To fully unveil the response of intestinal microbiota to dietary changes, we recommend concurrent profiling of digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota whenever it is feasible.

Significant associations between microbial clades and sample metadata

To our knowledge, only a few studies have carried out association analysis between intestinal microbial clades and host responses in Atlantic salmon. As such, our results should be treated as preliminary observations and critically evaluated in later studies. Herein, we highlight the significant associations between two mucosaenriched taxa and host gene expressions in the intestine. Specifically, *Brevinema andersonii*, part of the core microbiota, was associated with the expression of genes related to pro- and anti-inflammatory responses whereas the *Spirochaetaceae* was associated with the expression of genes related to barrier function. Intestinal microbiota is well known to modulate the local immune responses and intestinal epithelial barrier function [86]. Furthermore, it is hypothesized that mucosa-associated microbiota plays a more crucial role in shaping the host immunity in that it can interact both directly and indirectly with intestinal epithelial barrier whereas digestaassociated microbiota can only interact indirectly [69]. Taken together, further research should be undertaken to investigate the potential ecological and functional significance of these two taxa for seawater phase Atlantic salmon.

Quality control: use of mock and negative controls

As in any field of research, conducting a well-controlled microbiome study requires great care in the experiment design such as setting up appropriate experimental controls. The use of mock as a positive control allows for critical evaluation and optimization of microbiota profiling workflow. That all the bacterial taxa in the mock were correctly identified at the genus level indicates that the current workflow is reliable for the taxonomic profiling of intestinal microbiota. Furthermore, the taxonomic profile of mock from different DNA extraction batches was fairly similar, suggesting that the results generated by the current workflow are also largely reproducible. However, the low concordance between the expected and observed relative abundance of bacterial taxa in the mock is reminiscent of the fact that bias is introduced at different steps of the marker-gene survey [87-89], among which DNA extraction and PCR amplification are the two largest sources of bias due to preferential extraction and amplification of some microbial clades over others. In line with previous observations that Grampositive bacteria may be more subjective to incomplete lysis during DNA extraction due to their tough cell walls [90, 91], the recovery of most Gram-positive bacteria in the mock was lower than the expected. The insufficient lysing of Gram-positive bacteria in the mock was largely mitigated in our later experiments by using a mixture of beads with different sizes for the bead beating during DNA extraction (unpublished data). The bias in the marker-gene sequencing experiments, as reflected in the observed taxonomic profile of the mock, highlights the necessity of validating such results by absolute quantification techniques such as cultivation (if possible), gPCR, flow cytometry and fluorescence in situ hybridization.

Reagent contamination is a common issue in molecular-based studies of microbial communities. The main contaminating taxon identified in this study is *Pseudomonas*, which has been reported as a common reagent contaminant in numerous studies [92–98]. Given the dominance of *Pseudomonas* in the negative controls

of both DNA extraction and PCR, most of the observed contamination has likely derived from PCR reagents such as molecular-grade water [99-101]. Notably, Pseudomonas has also been isolated from intestinal digesta and mucosa of Atlantic salmon by traditional culturing approaches [85, 102-104], and reported as a member of Atlantic salmon core microbiota in cultureindependent studies [32, 36, 46, 47, 51, 105]. Due to the low taxonomic resolution of amplicon sequencing, it is difficult to discern contaminating taxa from true signals solely based on taxonomic labels. The inclusion of negative controls, coupled with quantifications of microbial DNA concentration in the samples, has enabled fast and reliable identification of contaminating taxa in this study. Besides Pseudomonas, other common reagent contaminants, including Bradyrhizobium, Burkholderia, Comamonas, Methylobacterium, Propionibacterium, Ralstonia, Sphingomonas and Stenotrophomonas [97, 99, 101, 106-110], have also been frequently reported as members of Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota, indicating that existing studies of Atlantic salmon intestinal microbiota may have been plagued with reagent contamination that is hard to ascertain due to lack of negative controls. As reagent contamination is unavoidable, study-specific and can critically influence sequencing-based microbiome analyses [99, 111, 112], negative controls should always be included and sequenced in microbiome studies especially when dealing with low microbial biomass samples like intestinal mucosa.

Conclusions

In summary, we confirmed previous findings in mammals and fish that intestinal digesta and mucosa harbor microbial communities with clear differences. Regardless of diet, microbial richness and diversity were much higher in the digesta than the mucosa. The insect meal diet altered the distal intestinal microbiota assemblage resulting in higher microbial richness and diversity. The diet effect was however dependent on the sample origin, with mucosaassociated intestinal microbiota being more resilient to the dietary change. To fully unveil the response of intestinal microbiota to dietary changes, concurrent profiling of digesta- and mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota is recommended whenever feasible. Lastly, we identified two mucosa-enriched taxa, Brevinema andersonii and Spirochaetaceae, which were associated with the expression in the distal intestine of genes related to immune responses and barrier function, respectively. As mucosa-associated microbiota could play a more critical role in shaping the host metabolism, their potential functional significance for sea-Atlantic salmon merits further water phase investigations.

Methods

Experimental fish, diet and sampling

A 16-week seawater feeding trial with Atlantic salmon (initial body weight = 1.40 kg, S.D. = 0.043 kg) was conducted at the Gildeskål Research Station (GIFAS), Nordland, Norway. The experimental fish were randomly assigned into 6 adjacent square net pens $(5 \times 5 \text{ m})$ with a depth of 5 m, each containing 90 fish. The fish were fed, in triplicate net pens, either a commercially-relevant reference diet (REF) with a combination of fish meal, soy protein concentrate, pea protein concentrate, corn gluten and wheat gluten as the protein source, or an insect meal diet (IM) wherein all the fish meal and most of the pea protein concentrate were replaced by insect meal produced from BSF larvae. Formulation and proximate composition of the experimental diets are shown in Table 1. The diets were formulated to be isonitrogenous (39% crude protein), isolipidic (29% crude lipid) and isoenergetic (25 MJ/kg DM gross energy), and to meet the nutrient requirements of Atlantic salmon. The diets were extruded, dried and vacuum coated with oils, producing feed pellets with a diameter size of 3.5 mm (Cargill, Dirdal, Norway). The insect meal was produced by Protix Biosystems BV (Dongen, The Netherlands). The fly larvae were grown on feed substrates containing

Table 1 Formulation	and	proximate	composition	of the
experimental diets				

	REF	IM
Ingredients (% wet-weight)		
Fishmeal LT94	10	0
Black soldier fly larva meal ^a	0	14,75
Soy protein concentrate	25	25
Corn gluten meal	7,5	7,5
Wheat gluten meal	3,35	6,88
Pea protein concentrate 55	8,8	2,84
Fish oil	10,18	14,76
Rapeseed oil	20,95	14,73
Binder	12,32	11,24
Additives	1,89	2,29
Chemical composition (wet-weight	basis)	
Dry matter (%)	93	95
Crude Protein (%)	38	39
Crude Lipid (%)	29	29
Ash (%)	4,6	4,5
Carbohydrates (%)	11,6	11,4
Gross energy (MJ/kg)	24,6	25
TBARS (nmol/g)	3	4,9

REF reference diet, IM insect meal diet, TBARS Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances

^aPartially defatted. Crude protein: 52%, crude lipid: 18%. Produced by the Protix Biosystems BV (Dongen, The Netherlands)

seaweed (Ascophyllum nodosum) and vegetable wastes (60:40). After 8 days of growing, the larvae were harvested and partially defatted before being dried and ground to make the insect meal. The insect meal contains about 52% crude protein and 18% crude lipid. Fish were fed by hand until apparent satiation once or twice daily depending on the duration of daylight. During the feeding trial, the water temperature was 8.3 ± 3.7 °C, dissolved oxygen 8.9 \pm 1 mg/L and salinity 31.6 \pm 0.8 ‰. Further details on the nutritional composition of the insect meal and diets have been reported elsewhere [45].

At the termination of the feeding trial, the average body weight of fish reached 3.7 kg. Six fish were randomly taken from each net pen, anesthetized with tricaine methanesulfonate (MS222°; Argent Chemical Laboratories, Redmond, WA, USA) and euthanized by a sharp blow to the head. After cleaning the exterior of each fish with 70% ethanol, the distal intestine, i.e., the segment from the increase in intestinal diameter and the appearance of transverse luminal folds to the anus, was aseptically removed from the abdominal cavity, placed in a sterile Petri dish and opened longitudinally. Only fish with digesta along the whole intestine were sampled to ensure that the intestine had been exposed to the diets. The intestinal digesta was gently scraped and collected into a 50 mL skirted sterile centrifuge tube and mixed thoroughly using a spatula. An aliquot of the homogenate was then transferred into a 1.5 mL sterile Eppendorf tube and snap-frozen in liquid N2 for the profiling of digesta-associated intestinal microbiota. A tissue section from the mid part of the distal intestine was excised and rinsed in sterile phosphate-buffered saline 3 times to remove traces of the remaining digesta. After rinsing, the intestinal tissue was longitudinally cut into 3 pieces for histological evaluation (fixed in 4% phosphate-buffered formaldehyde solution for 24 h and transferred to 70% ethanol for storage), RNA extraction (preserved in RNAlater solution and stored at - 20 °C) and profiling of mucosa-associated intestinal microbiota (snap-frozen in liquid N₂), respectively. The collection of microbiota samples was performed near a gas burner to secure aseptic conditions. After the sampling of each fish, tools were cleaned and decontaminated by a 70% ethanol spray and flaming. Microbiota samples of the distal intestine digesta (DID) and mucosa (DIM) were transported in dry ice and stored at - 80 °C until DNA extraction.

DNA extraction

Total DNA was extracted from ~ 200 mg distal intestine digesta or mucosa using the QIAamp® DNA Stool Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany; catalog no., 51,504) with some modifications to the manufacturer's specifications as described before [32], except that 2 mL prefilled bead tubes (Qiagen; catalog no., 13,118–50) were used for the bead beating. For quality control purposes, a companion "blank extraction" sample was added to each batch of sample DNA extraction by omitting the input material, whereas an additional microbial community standard (ZymoBIOMICS[®], Zymo Research, California, USA; catalog no., D6300), i.e. mock, was included for each DNA extraction kit as a positive control. The mock consists of 8 bacteria (*Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli, Salmonella enterica, Lactobacillus fermentum, Enterococcus faecalis, Staphylococcus aureus, Listeria monocytogenes, Bacillus subtilis*) and 2 yeasts (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Cryptococcus neoformans*).

Amplicon PCR

The V1-2 hypervariable regions of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene were amplified using the primer set 27F (5'-AGA GTT TGA TCM TGG CTC AG-3') and 338R (5'-GCW GCC WCC CGT AGG WGT-3') [113]. The PCR was run in a total reaction volume of 25 µL containing 12.5 µL of Phusion® High-Fidelity PCR Master Mix (Thermo Scientific, CA, USA; catalog no., F531L), 10.9 µL molecular grade H2O, 1 µL DNA template and $0.3\,\mu\text{L}$ of each primer (10 μ M). The amplification program was set as follows: initial denaturation at 98 °C for 3 min; 35 cycles of denaturation at 98 °C for 15 s, annealing decreasing from 63 °C to 53 °C in 10 cycles for 30 s followed by 25 cycles at 53 °C for 30 s, and extension at 72 °C for 30 s; followed by a final extension at 72 °C for 10 min. For samples with faint or invisible bands in the agarose gel after PCR, the PCR condition was optimized by applying serial dilutions to the DNA templates to reduce the influence of PCR inhibitors. All the digesta samples were diluted 1:2 in buffer ATE (10 mM Tris-Cl, pH 8.3, with 0.1 mM EDTA and 0.04% NaN3) whereas all the mucosa samples were diluted 1:32. The formal amplicon PCR was run in duplicate incorporating two negative PCR controls, which were generated by replacing the template DNA with molecular grade H₂O. The duplicate PCR products were then pooled and examined by a 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis.

Quantification of 16S rRNA gene by qPCR

To assist in identifying contaminating sequences, the 16S rRNA gene quantity in the diluted DNA templates used for the amplicon PCR was measured by qPCR. The qPCR assays were performed using a universal primer set (forward, 5'-CCA TGA AGT CGG AAT CGC TAG-3'; reverse, 5'-GCT TGA CGG GCG GTG T-3') that has been used for bacterial DNA quantification in previous studies [114, 115]. The assays were carried out using the LightCycler 96 (Roche Applied Science, Basel, Switzerland) in a 10 μ L reaction volume, which contained 2 μ L of PCR-grade water, 1 μ L diluted DNA

template, 5 µL LightCycler 480 SYBR Green I Master Mix (Roche Applied Science) and 1 µL (3 µM) of each primer. Samples, together with the extraction blanks and mock, were run in duplicate in addition to Femto" bacterial DNA standards (Zymo Research; catalog no., E2006) and a no-template control of the qPCR assay. The qPCR program encompassed an initial enzyme activation step at 95 °C for 2 min, 45 three-step cycles of 95 °C for 10 s, 60 °C for 30 s and 72 °C for 15 s, and a melting curve analysis at the end. Quantification cycle (Cq) values were determined using the second derivative method [116]. The specificity of qPCR amplification was confirmed by evaluating the melting curve of qPCR products and the band pattern on the agarose gel after electrophoresis. The inter-plate calibration factor was calculated following the method described in [117], using the bacterial DNA standards as inter-plate calibrators.

Sequencing

The sequencing was carried out on a Miseq platform following the Illumina 16S metagenomic sequencing library preparation protocol [118]. Briefly, the PCR products were cleaned using the Agencourt AMPure XP system (Beckman Coulter, Indiana, USA; catalog no., A63881), multiplexed by dual indexing using the Nextera XT Index Kit (Illumina, California, USA; catalog no., FC-131-1096) and purified again using the AMPure beads. After the second clean-up, representative libraries were selected and analyzed using the Agilent DNA 1000 Kit (Agilent Technologies, California, USA; catalog no., 5067-1505) to verify the library size. Cleaned libraries were quantified using the Invitrogen Qubit[™] dsDNA HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, California, USA; catalog no., Q32854), diluted to 4 nM in 10 mM Tris (pH 8.5) and finally pooled in an equal volume. Negative controls with library concentrations lower than 4 nM were pooled in equal volume directly. Due to the low diversity of amplicon library, 15% Illumina generated PhiX control (catalog no., FC-110-3001) was spiked in by combining 510 µL amplicon library with 90 µL PhiX control library. The library was loaded at 6 pM and sequenced using the Miseq Reagent Kit v3 (600-cycle) (Illumina; catalog no., MS-102-3003).

Sequence data processing

The raw sequence data were processed by the DADA2 1.14 in R 3.6.3 [119] to infer amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) [120]. Specifically, the demultiplexed pairedended reads were trimmed off the primer sequences (forward reads, first 20 bps; reverse reads, first 18 bps), truncated at the position where the median Phred quality score crashed (forward reads, at position 290 bp; reverse reads, at position 248 bp) and filtered off low-

Distance matrix	Main effects		Interaction	Conditional contrasts			
	Diet	Sample origin		REF-DID VS. IM-DID	REF-DIM VS. IM-DIM	REF-DID VS. REF-DIM	IM-DID VS. IM-DIM
Jaccard	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
Unweighted UniFrac	0.001 ^a	0.001	0.001	0.001 ^a	0.001	0.001	0.001
Aitchison	0.001	0.003	0.004	0.002	0.004	0.004 ^a	0.002 ^a
PHILR (Euclidean) ^b	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.005	0.001	0.001

Table 2 PERMANOVA results and subsequent conditional contrasts

REF reference diet, IM insect meal diet, DID distal intestine digesta, DIM distal intestine mucosa

^aMonte Carlo p value

^bPhylogenetic isometric log-ratio transformed Euclidean distance

quality reads. After trimming and filtering, the runspecific error rates were estimated and the ASVs were inferred by pooling reads from all the samples sequenced in the same run. The chimeras were removed using the "pooled" method after merging the reads. The resulting raw ASV table and representative sequences were imported into QIIME2 (version, 2020.2) [121]. The taxonomy was assigned by a scikit-learn naive Bayes machine-learning classifier [122], which was trained on the SILVA 132 99% OTUs [123] that were trimmed to only include the regions of 16S rRNA gene amplified by our primers. ASVs identified as chloroplasts or mitochondria were excluded from the ASV table. The ASV table was conservatively filtered to remove ASVs that had no phylum-level taxonomic assignment or appeared in only one biological sample. Contaminating ASVs were identified based on two suggested criteria: contaminants are often found in negative controls and inversely correlate with sample DNA concentration [98]. The ASVs filtered from the raw ASV table were also removed from the representative sequences, which were then inserted into a reference phylogenetic tree built on the SILVA 128 database using SEPP [124]. The alpha rarefaction curves and the core metrics results were generated with a sampling depth of 10,000 and 2047 sequences per sample, respectively (Fig. S9). For downstream data analysis and visualization, QIIME2 artifacts were imported into R

 Table 3 Test of homogeneity of multivariate dispersions among groups

Distance matrix	Conditional contrasts				
	REF-DID VS. IM-DID	REF-DIM VS. IM-DIM	REF-DID VS. REF-DIM	IM-DID VS. IM-DIM	
Jaccard	0.002	0.087	0.045	0.002	
Unweighted UniFrac	0.002	0.711	0.200	0.002	
Aitchison	0.453	0.046	0.046	0.369	
PHILR (Euclidean) ^a	0.240	0.266	0.240	0.266	

REF reference diet, IM insect meal diet, DID distal intestine digesta, DIM distal intestine mucosa

^aPhylogenetic isometric log-ratio transformed Euclidean distance

using the *qiime2R* package [125] and a *phyloseq* [126] object was assembled from the sample metadata, ASV table, taxonomy and phylogenetic tree. The core ASVs were calculated using a prevalence threshold at 80% and visualized by the Venn's diagram. The alpha-diversity indices, including observed ASVs, Pielou's evenness, Shannon's index and Faith's phylogenetic diversity (PD), were computed via the R packages microbiome [127] and picante [128]. For beta-diversity analyses, we used distance matrices including Jaccard distance, unweighted UniFrac distance, Aitchison distance and phylogenetic isometric log-ratio (PHILR) transformed Euclidean distance. Since rarefying remains to be the best solution for unweighted distance matrices [129], the Jaccard distance and unweighted UniFrac distance were computed in QIIME2 using the rarefied ASV table. The compositionalityaware distance matrices. Aitchison distance and PHILR transformed Euclidean distance, were calculated using the unrarefied ASV table. The Aitchison distance was computed by the DEICODE plugin in QIIME2, a form of Aitchison distance that is robust to high levels of sparsity by using the matrix completion to handle the excessive zeros in the microbiome data [130]. The PHILR transform of the ASV table was performed in R using the philr package [131]. The selected distance matrices were explored and visualized by the principal coordinates analysis (PCoA).

Multivariate association analysis

To reduce the multiple testing burden, the ASV table was collapsed at the genus level before running the multivariate association analysis. Bacterial taxa of very low abundance (< 0.01%) or low prevalence (present in < 25% of samples) were removed from the feature table. The microbial clades were then tested for significant associations with metadata of interest by MaAsLin2 (version, 0.99.12) (https://huttenhower.sph.harvard.edu/maaslin2) in R, using the default parameters. The results of the analysis are the associations of specific microbial clades with metadata, deconfounding the influence of other factors included in the model. Association was

considered significant when the q-value was below 0.25. Metadata included in the multivariate association testing are fixed factors Diet + Sample origin + distal intestine somatic index (DISI) + lamina propria cellularity (histological scores) + immune response (qPCR) + barrier function (qPCR), and random factors FishID + NetPen. FishID was nested in NetPen, and NetPen nested in Diet. The methodological approach to these parameters was reported in a previous study [44]. Lamina propria cellularity reflects the severity of inflammation in the distal intestine. Based on the degree of cellular infiltration within the lamina propria, a value of normal, mild, moderate, marked or severe was assigned. To make the data appropriate for the association testing, the highly skewed five-category scores were collapsed into more balanced binary data, i.e., normal and abnormal. The immune-related genes included for the association testing were myeloid differentiation factor 88 (myd88), interleukin 1ß (il1ß), interleukin 8 (il8), cluster of differentiation 3 $\gamma\delta$ (*cd3\gamma\delta*), transforming growth factor $\beta1$ (tgf β 1), interferon γ (ifn γ), interleukin 17A (il17a), forkhead box P3 (foxp3) and interleukin 10 (il10), whose expression levels were higher in the distal intestine of fish assigned abnormal regarding lamina propria cellularity. Since the expression levels of immune-related genes were highly correlated, we ran a principal component analysis (PCA) and extracted the first principle component (PC1) for the association testing to avoid multicollinearity and reduce the number of association testing. For genes relevant to the barrier function, which included claudin-15 (cldn15), claudin-25b (cldn25b), zonula occludens 1 (zo1), E-cadherin / cadherin 1 (cdh1) and mucin-2 (muc2), we also used the PC1 of the PCA for the association testing based on the same considerations.

Statistics

All the statistical analyses were run in R except for the PERMANOVA, which was run in PRIMER (version 7; PRIMER-e). The differences in the alpha-diversity indices were compared using linear mixed-effects models via the lme4 package [132]. Predictor variables in the models included the fixed effects Diet + Sample origin + Diet x Sample origin, and the random effects FishID + NetPen. The models were validated by visual inspections of residual diagnostic plots generated by the ggResidpanel package [133]. The statistical significance of fixed predictors was estimated by Type III ANOVA with Kenward-Roger's approximation of denominator degrees of freedom via the *lmerTest* package [134]. When the interaction between the main effects was significant, conditional contrasts for the main effects were made via the emmeans package [135]. To compare the differences in beta-diversity, we performed the PERMANOVA [136] using the same predictors included in the linear mixedeffects models. Terms with negative estimates for components of variation were sequentially removed from the model via term pooling, starting with the one showing the smallest mean squares. At each step, the model was reassessed whether more terms needed to be removed or not. Conditional contrasts for the main effects were constructed when their interaction was significant. Monte Carlo p values were computed as well when the unique permutations for the terms in the PERMANOVA were small (< 100). The homogeneity of multivariate dispersions among groups was visually assessed with boxplots and was formally tested by the permutation test, PERMDISP [137], via the R package vegan [138]. Multiple comparisons were adjusted by the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure where applicable. Differences were regarded as significant when p < 0.05.

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1186/s42523-020-00071-3.

Additional file 1: Figure S1. Quantification of bacterial 16S rRNA gene in different sample types using qPCR. Since the Cq values of most mucosa-associated samples were out of the linear range of the standard curve, the Cq value was used as a proxy of 16S rRNA gene quantity which is reliable for the screening of contaminant sequences. Data are presented as mean \pm 1 standard deviation overlaying the raw data points. Abbreviations: REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet; DID, distal intestine digesta; DIM, distal intestine mucosa. Figure S2. Taxonomic profile of the mock (A) and contaminating features in the negative controls (B). The lowest level of taxonomic ranks was displayed for each taxon. EB, extraction blank; LB, library blank. Figure S3. Microbial clades showing significant associations with sample origin. p__, phylum; o__ order; f__, family; FDR, false discovery rate; N.not.zero, number of nonzero observations; REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet. Figure S4. Microbial clades showing significant associations with diet. p__, phylum; o__, order; f__, family; FDR, false discovery rate; N.not.zero, number of non-zero observations; REF, reference diet; IM, insect meal diet. Figure S5. Microbial clades showing significant associations with histological scores on lamina propria cellularity in the distal intestine. p___ phylum; , family; FDR, false discovery rate; N.not.zero, number of non-zero observations. Figure S6. Microbial clades showing significant associations with distal intestine somatic index (DISI). FDR, false discovery rate; N.not.zero, number of non-zero observations. Figure S7. Microbial clades showing significant associations with immune gene expressions in the distal intestine. Since the expression levels of immune genes were highly correlated, we ran a principle component analysis (PCA) and used the first principle component (PC1) for the association testing to avoid multicollinearity and reduce the number of association testing. Note that the expression levels of immune genes decrease as the PC1 increases from left to right. Hence, a positive correlation coefficient denotes a negative association between the microbial clade and immune gene expressions, and vice versa. f_, family; FDR, false discovery rate; N.not.zero, number of non-zero observations. Figure S8. Microbial clades showing significant associations with expressions of barrier function related genes in the distal intestine. Since the expression levels of barrier function related genes were highly correlated, we ran a principle component analysis (PCA) and used the first principle component (PC1) for the association testing to avoid multicollinearity and reduce the number of association testing. Note that the expression levels of barrier function related genes decrease as the PC1 increases from left to right. Hence, a positive correlation coefficient denotes a negative association between the microbial clade and barrier function related gene expressions, and vice versa, $f_{\rm exp}$ family: FDR.

false discovery rate; N.not.zero, number of non-zero observations. **Figure S9**. Rarefaction curves based on Observed ASVs for the different sample types. The rarefaction analysis showed that mucosa samples (REF-DIM, IIM-DIM) reached the saturation phase at a subsampling depth of 2000 sequences whereas digesta samples (REF-DID, IM-DID) reached the saturation phase at a subsampling depth of 9500 sequences. To preserve a maximum number of samples for the downstream data analysis, we rarefied the ASV table to 2047 sequences per sample which left out 2 samples. To ensure that the subsampling depth of 2047 sequences per sample produced reliable comparisons of microbial communities, we computed compositionality-aware distance matrices, the Aitchison distance and PHILR transformed Euclidean distance, which do not require rarefying and use all the sequences in the samples.

Additional file 2: Table S1. Contaminating features removed from the ASV table.

Additional file 3: Table 52. The prevalence of core ASVs in different sample types.

Abbreviations

ASVs: amplicon sequence variants; BSF: black soldier fly; Cq: quantification cycle; DID: distal intestine digesta; DIM: distal intestine mucosa; DIS: distal intestine somatic index; IM: insect meal; LPC: lamina propria cellularity; PC1: principal component one; PCA: principal component analysis; PCoA: principal coordinates analysis; PD: phylogenetic diversity; PERM ANOVA: permutational multivariate analysis of variance; PHILR: phylogenetic isometric log-ratio; REF: reference

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Ellen K. Hage for organizing the sampling and technicians at the GIFAS for their committed animal care and supports during the sampling.

Authors' contributions

TMK and ÅK concepted and designed the study. YL, LB and KG participated in the sample collection, YL, LB and AJ-T carried out the laboratory works. YL performed the bioinformatics, statistical analyses and data visualization, YL and LB completed the first draft of the manuscript. All the authors read, revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

YL was granted a scholarship from the China Scholarship Council to pursue his PhD degree at Norwegian University of Life Sciences. This work was a spin-off of the "AquaFly" project (grant number, 238997), funded by the Research Council of Norway and managed by the Institute of Marine Research. Costs related to this study were covered by Norwegian University of Life Sciences. The funding agencies had no role in study design, data collection and interpretation, decision to publish or preparation of the manuscript.

Availability of data and materials

The raw 16S rRNA gene sequencing data are deposited at the NCBI SRA database under the BioProject PRINA555355. Other raw data and code for reproducing our results are available from the GitHub repository (https://github.com/yanxianl/Li_AqFI2-Microbiota_ASM_2020).

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The experiment was conducted in compliance with the Norwegian Animal Welfare Act 10/07/2009 and the EU Directive on the Protection of Animals used for Scientific Purposes (2010/63/EU).

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Department of Paraclinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Oslo, Norway. ²Department of Agriculture, Food, Environment and Forestry, University of Florence, Florence, Italy.

References

- United Nations. World population prospects 2019: Highlights [https:// population.un.org/wpp/Publications/. Accessed 3 Oct 2020.
- Hunter MC, Smith RG, Schipanski ME, Atwood LW, Mortensen DA. Agriculture in 2050: recalibrating targets for sustainable intensification. Bioscience. 2017;67:386–91.
- Tacon AGJ, Metian M. Fish matters: importance of aquatic foods in human nutrition and global food supply. Rev Fish Sci. 2013;21:22–38.
- Khalili Tilami S, Sampels S. Nutritional value of fish: lipids, proteins, vitamins, and minerals. Rev Fish Sci Aquac. 2018;26:243–53.
- 5. FAO. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture. Rome: FAO; 2020.
- 6. FAO. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture. Rome: FAO; 2018.
- Aas TS, Ytrestøyl T, Åsgård T. Utilization of feed resources in the production of Atlantic salmon (*salmo salar*) in Norway: an update for 2016. Aquac Rep. 2019;15:100216.
- Sánchez-Muros M-J, Barroso FG, Manzano-Agugliaro F. Insect meal as renewable source of food for animal feeding: a review. J Clean Prod. 2014; 65:16–27.
- Glencross BD, Huyben D, Schrama JW. The application of single-cell ingredients in aquaculture feeds—a review. Fishes. 2020;5:22.
- Barroso FG, de Haro C, Sánchez-Muros M-J, Venegas E, Martínez-Sánchez A, Pérez-Bañón C. The potential of various insect species for use as food for fish. Aquaculture. 2014;422-423:193–201.
- Bondari K, Sheppard D. Soldier fly, *Hermetia illucens* L., larvae as feed for channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus* (Rafinesque), and blue tilapia, *Oreochromis aureus* (Steindachner). Aquac Fish Manage. 1987;18:209–20.
- Devic E, Leschen W, Murray F, Little DC. Growth performance, feed utilization and body composition of advanced nursing Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) fed diets containing black soldier fly (Hermetia illucens) larvae meal. Aquac Nutr. 2017;24:416–23.
- Hu JR, Wang GX, Huang YH, Sun YP, He F, Zhao HX, Li NN. Effects of substitution of fish meal with black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal, in yellow catfish (*Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*) diets. Isr J Aquac. 2017;6:1382–90.
- Kroeckel S, Harjes AGE, Roth I, Katz H, Wuertz S, Susenbeth A, Schulz C. When a turbot catches a Fly: evaluation of a pre-pupae meal of the black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) as fish meal substitute — growth performance and chitin degradation in juvenile turbot (*Psetta maxima*). Aquaculture. 2012;364-365:345–52.
- Li SL, Ji H, Zhang BX, Zhou JS, Yu HB. Defatted black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal in diets for juvenile Jian carp (*Cyprinus carpio* var. Jian): growth performance, antioxidant enzyme activities, digestive enzyme activities, intestine and hepatopancreas histological structure. Aquaculture. 2017;477:62–70.
- Lock ER, Arsiwalla T, Waagbo R. Insect larvae meal as an alternative source of nutrients in the diet of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) postsmolt. Aquac Nutr. 2016;22:1202–13.
- Magalhaes R, Sanchez-Lopez A, Leal RS, Martinez-Llorens S, Oliva-Telesa A, Peres H. Black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) pre-pupae meal as a fish meal replacement in diets for European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Aquaculture. 2017;476:79–85.
- Renna M, Schiavone A, Gai F, Dabbou S, Lussiana C, Malfatto V, Prearo M, Capucchio MT, Biasato I, Biasibetti E, et al: Evaluation of the suitability of a partially defatted black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens L*) larvae meal as ingredient for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) diets. J Anim Sci Biotechnol. 2017;8:57.
- Sealey WM, Gaylord TG, Barrows FT, Tomberlin JK, McGuire MA, Ross C, St-Hillaire S. Sensory analysis of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, fed enriched black soldier fly prepupae, *Hermetia illucens*. J World Aquac Soc. 2011;42:34–45.
- St-Hilaire S, Sheppard C, Tomberlin JK, Irving S, Newton L, McGuire MA, Mosley EE, Hardy RW, Sealey W. Fly prepupae as a feedstuff for rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. J World Aquac Soc. 2007;38:59–67.
- Vargas A, Randazzo B, Riolo P, Truzzi C, Gioacchini G, Giorgini E, Loreto N, Ruschioni S, Zarantoniello M, Antonucci M. Rearing zebrafish on black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*): biometric, histological, spectroscopic, biochemical, and molecular implications. Zebrafish. 2018;15(4):404–19.

- Bates JM, Mittge E, Kuhlman J, Baden KN, Cheesman SE, Guillemin K. Distinct signals from the microbiota promote different aspects of zebrafish gut differentiation. Dev Biol. 2006;297:374–86.
- Rawls JF, Samuel BS, Gordon JJ. Gnotobiotic zebrafish reveal evolutionarily conserved responses to the gut microbiota. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004; 101:4596–601.
- Falcinelli S, Picchietti S, Rodiles A, Cossignani L, Merrifield DL, Taddei AR, Maradonna F, Olivotto I, Gioacchini G, Carnevali O. Lactobacillus rhannosus lowers zebrafish lipid content by changing gut microbiota and host transcription of genes involved in lipid metabolism. Sci Rep. 2015;5:9336.
- Semova I, Carten JD, Stombaugh J, Mackey LC, Knight R, Farber SA, Rawls JF. Microbiota regulate intestinal absorption and metabolism of fatty acids in the zebrafish. Cell Host Microbe. 2012;12:277–88.
- Wu GD, Chen J, Hoffmann C, Bittinger K, Chen YY, Keilbaugh SA, Bewtra M, Knights D, Walters WA, Knight R, et al. Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. Science. 2011;334:105–8.
- Muegge BD, Kuczynski J, Knights D, Clemente JC, González A, Fontana L, Henrissat B, Knight R, Gordon JI. Diet drives convergence in gut microbiome functions across mammalian phylogeny and within humans. Science. 2011;332:970–4.
- De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, Ramazzotti M, Poullet JB, Massart S, Collini S, Pieraccini G, Lionetti P. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:14691–6.
- David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, Ling AV, Devlin AS, Varma Y, Fischbach MA, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. Nature. 2014;505:559–63.
- Wang Z, Klipfell E, Bennett BJ, Koeth R, Levison BS, Dugar B, Feldstein AE, Britt EB, Fu X, Chung YM, et al. Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes cardiovascular disease. Nature. 2011;472:57–63.
- Hryckowian AJ, Van Treuren W, Smits SA, Davis NM, Gardner JO, Bouley DM, Sonnenburg JL. Microbiota-accessible carbohydrates suppress *Clostridium difficile* infection in a murine model. Nat Microbiol. 2018;3:662–9.
- Gajardo K, Jaramillo-Torres A, Kortner TM, Merrifield DL, Tinsley J, Bakke AM, Krogdahl Å. Alternative protein sources in the diet modulate microbiota and functionality in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Appl Environ Microbiol. 2017;83:e02615–6.
- Jin Y, Angell IL, Rod Sandve S, Snipen LG, Olsen Y, Rudi K. Atlantic salmon raised with diets low in long-chain polyunsaturated n-3 fatty acids in freshwater have a *Mycoplasma*-dominated gut microbiota at sea. Aquac Environ Interact. 2019;11:31–9.
- Schmidt V, Amaral-Zettler L, Davidson J, Summerfelt S, Good C. Influence of fishmeal-free diets on microbial communities in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) recirculation aquaculture systems. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2016;82: 4470–81.
- Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Bernstein CN, Purdom E, Dethlefsen L, Sargent M, Gill SR, Nelson KE, Relman DA. Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. Science. 2005;308:1635–8.
- Gajardo K, Rodiles A, Kortner TM, Krogdahl Å, Bakke AM, Merrifield DL, Sorum H. A high-resolution map of the gut microbiota in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo* salar): a basis for comparative gut microbial research. Sci Rep. 2016;6:30893.
- Looft T, Allen HK, Cantarel BL, Levine UY, Bayles DO, Alt DP, Henrissat B, Stanton TB. Bacteria, phages and pigs: the effects of in-feed antibiotics on the microbiome at different gut locations. ISME J. 2014;8:1566.
- Lyons PP, Turnbull JF, Dawson KA, Crumlish M. Exploring the microbial diversity of the distal intestinal lumen and mucosa of farmed rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum) using next generation sequencing (NGS). Aquac Res. 2017;48:77–91.
- Huyben D, Sun L, Moccia R, Kiessling A, Dicksved J, Lundh T. Dietary live yeast and increased water temperature influence the gut microbiota of rainbow trout. J Appl Microbiol. 2018;124:1377–92.
- Jaramillo-Torres A, Rawling MD, Rodiles A, Mikalsen HE, Johansen LH, Tinsley J, Forberg T, Aasum E, Castex M, Merrifield DL. Influence of Dietary Supplementation of Probiotic *Pediococcus acidilactici* MA18/5M During the Transition From Freshwater to Seawater on Intestinal Health and Microbiota of Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar* L). Front Microbiol. 2019;10:2243.
- Rimoldi S, Gini E, Iannini F, Gasco L, Terova G. The effects of dietary insect meal from *Hermetia illucens* Prepupae on autochthonous gut microbiota of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Animals. 2019;9(4):143.
- Terova G, Rimoldi S, Ascione C, Gini E, Ceccotti C, Gasco L. Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) gut microbiota is modulated by insect meal from Hermetia illucens prepupae in the diet. Rev Fish Biol Fish. 2019;29:465–86.

- Bruni L, Belghit I, Lock E-J, Secci G, Taiti C, Parisi G. Total replacement of dietary fish meal with black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) lavae does not impair physical, chemical or volatile composition of farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L*). J Sci Food Agric. 2020;100:1038–47.
- Li Y, Kortner TM, Chikwati EM, Belghit I, Lock E-J, Krogdahl Å. Total replacement of fish meal with black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae meal does not compromise the gut health of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture. 2020;520:734967.
- Belghit I, Liland NS, Gjesdal P, Biancarosa I, Menchetti E, Li Y, Waagbø R, Krogdahl Å, Lock E-J. Black soldier fly larvae meal can replace fish meal in diets of sea-water phase Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture. 2019; 503:609–19.
- Dehler CE, Secombes CJ, Martin SA. Seawater transfer alters the intestinal microbiota profiles of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L*). Sci Rep. 2017;7:13877.
- Dehler CE, Secombes CJ, Martin SAM. Environmental and physiological factors shape the gut microbiota of Atlantic salmon parr (Salmo salar L). Aquaculture. 2017;467:149–57.
- Gupta S, Feckaninova A, Lokesh J, Koscova J, Sorensen M, Femandes J, Kiron V. *Lactobacillus* dominate in the intestine of Atlantic salmon fed dietary probiotics. Front Microbiol. 2019;9:3247.
- Gupta S, Lokesh J, Abdelhafiz Y, Siriyappagouder P, Pierre R, Sorensen M, Fernandes JMO, Kiron V. Macroalga-derived alginate oligosaccharide alters intestinal bacteria of Atlantic salmon. Front Microbiol. 2019;10.
- Llewellyn MS, McGinnity P, Dionne M, Letourneau J, Thonier F, Carvalho GR, Creer S, Derome N. The biogeography of the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) gut microbiome. ISME J. 2015;10:1280–4.
- Webster TMU, Consuegra S, Hitchings M, de Leaniz CG. Interpopulation variation in the Atlantic salmon microbiome reflects environmental and genetic diversity. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2018;84:e00691–18.
- Fogarty C, Burgess CM, Cotter PD, Cabrera-Rubio R, Whyte P, Smyth C, Bolton DJ. Diversity and composition of the gut microbiota of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) farmed in Irish waters. J Appl Microbiol. 2019;127: 648–57.
- Godoy FA, Miranda CD, Wittwer GD, Aranda CP, Calderon R. High variability of levels of *Alivibrio* and lactic acid bacteria in the intestinal microbiota of farmed Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* L. Ann Microbiol. 2015;65:2343–53.
- Karlsen C, Ottem K, Brevik ØJ, Davey M, Sørum H, Winther-Larsen H. The environmental and host-associated bacterial microbiota of Arctic seawaterfarmed Atlantic salmon with ulcerative disorders. J Fish Dis. 2017;40:1645– 63.
- Zarkasi KZ, Abell GCJ, Taylor RS, Neuman C, Hatje E, Tamplin ML, Katouli M, Bowman JP. Pyrosequencing-based characterization of gastrointestinal bacteria of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L) within a commercial mariculture system. J Appl Microbiol. 2014;117:18–27.
- Zarkasi KZ, Taylor RS, Abell GC, Tamplin ML, Glencross BD, Bowman JP. Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) gastrointestinal microbial community dynamics in relation to digesta properties and diet. Microb Ecol. 2016;71: 589–603.
- Urbanczyk H, Ast JC, Higgins MJ, Carson J, Dunlap PV. Reclassification of Vibrio fischeri, Vibrio logei, Vibrio salmonicida and Vibrio wodanis as Aliivibrio fischeri gen. nov., comb. nov., Aliivibrio logei comb. nov., Aliivibrio salmonicida comb. nov., and Aliivibrio wodanis comb. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2007;57:2823–9.
- Dunlap PV, Ast JC, Kimura S, Fukui A, Yoshino T, Endo H. Phylogenetic analysis of host–symbiont specificity and codivergence in bioluminescent symbioses. Cladistics. 2007;23:507–32.
- Egidius E, Wiik R, Andersen K, Hoff K, Hjeltnes B. Vibrio salmonicida sp. nov., a new fish pathogen. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 1986;36:518–20.
- Lunder T, Sørum H, Holstad G, Steigerwalt AG, Mowinckel P, Brenner DJ. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of *libiro viscosus* sp. nov. and *Vibrio wodanis* sp. nov. isolated from Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) with 'winter ulcer'. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2000;50:427–50.
- Webster TMU, Rodriguez-Barreto D, Castaldo G, Gough P, Consuegra S. Garcia de Leaniz C: environmental plasticity and colonisation history in the Atlantic salmon microbiome: a translocation experiment. Mol Ecol. 2020;29: 886–98.
- Anderson JF, Johnson RC, Magnarelli LA, Hyde FW, Andreadis TG. New infectious spirochete isolated from short-tailed shrews and white-footed mice. J Clin Microbiol. 1987;25:1490–4.

- Brown RM, Wiens GD, Salinas I. Analysis of the gut and gill microbiome of resistant and susceptible lines of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2019;86:497–506.
- 64. Tapia-Paniagua S, Vidal S, Lobo C, Prieto-Álamo M, Jurado J, Cordero H, Cerezuela R, de la Banda IG, Esteban M, Balebona M. The treatment with the probiotic Shewanella putrefaciens Pdp11 of specimens of Solea senegalensis exposed to high stocking densities to enhance their resistance to disease. Fish Shelfish Immunol. 2014;41:209–21.
- Heys C, Cheaib B, Busetti A, Kazlauskaite R, Maier L, Sloan WT, Ijaz UZ, Kaufmann J, McGinnity P, Llewellyn MS. Neutral processes dominate microbial community assembly in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2020;86(8):e02283–19.
- Holben W, Williams P, Saarinen M, Särkilahti L, Apajalahti J. Phylogenetic analysis of intestinal microflora indicates a novel *Mycoplasma* phylotype in farmed and wild salmon. Microb Ecol. 2002;44:175–85.
- 67. Razin S, Yogev D, Naot Y. Molecular biology and pathogenicity of mycoplasmas. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 1998;62:1094–156.
- Cheaib B, Yang P, Kazlauskaite R, Lindsay E, Heys C, De Noa M, Schaal P, Dwyer T, Sloan W, Ijaz UZ, Llewellyn MS: Unpicking the mysterious symbiosis of *Mycoplasma* in salmonids. *Preprint at* https://wwwbiorxivorg/ content/101101/20200717209767v1 2020.
- Van den Abbeele P, Van de Wiele T, Verstraete W, Possemiers S. The host selects mucosal and luminal associations of coevolved gut microorganisms: a novel concept. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2011;35:681–704.
- Kennedy M, Rosnick D, Ulrich R, Yancey R Jr. Association of *Treponema* hyodysenteriae with porcine intestinal mucosa. J Gen Microbiol. 1988;134: 1565–76.
- Milner J, Sellwood R. Chemotactic response to mucin by Serpulina hyodysenteriae and other porcine spirochetes: potential role in intestinal colonization. Infect Immun. 1994;62:4095–9.
- Witters NA, Duhamel GE: Motility-regulated mucin association of Serpulina pilosicoli, the agent of colonic spirochetosis of humans and animals. In Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. Volume 473: Springer; 1999; 199–205.
- Bruni L, Pastorelli R, Viti C, Gasco L, Parisi G. Characterisation of the intestinal microbial communities of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fed with *Hermetia illucens* (black soldier fly) partially defatted larva meal as partial dietary protein source. Aquaculture. 2018;487:56–63.
- Huyben D, Vidaković A, Hallgren SW, Langeland M. High-throughput sequencing of gut microbiota in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fed larval and pre-pupae stages of black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*). Aquaculture. 2019;500:485–91.
- Borrelli L, Coretti L, Dipineto L, Bovera F, Menna F, Chiariotti L, Nizza A, Lembo F, Fioretti A. Insect-based diet, a promising nutritional source, modulates gut microbiota composition and SCFAs production in laying hens. Sci Rep. 2017;7:1–11.
- Kawasaki K, Hashimoto Y, Hori A, Kawasaki T, Hirayasu H, Iwase S, Hashizume A, Ido A, Miura C, Miura T, et al. Evaluation of black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*) larvae and pre-pupae raised on household organic waste, as potential ingredients for poultry feed. Animals. 2019; 9(3):98.
- Jozefiak A, Nogales-Merida S, Mikolajczak Z, Rawski M, Kieronczyk B, Mazurkiewicz J. The utilization of full-fat insect meal in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) nutrition: the effects on growth performance, intestinal microbiota and gastrointestinal tract histomorphology. Ann Anim Sci. 2019;19:747–65.
- Jozefiak A, Nogales-Merida S, Rawski M, Kieronczyk B, Mazurkiewicz J: Effects of insect diets on the gastrointestinal tract health and growth performance of Siberian sturgeon (*Acipenser baerii* Brandt, 1869). BMC Microbiol. 2019; 15(1):348.
- Jiang CL, Jin WZ, Tao XH, Zhang Q, Zhu J, Feng SY, Xu XH, Li HY, Wang ZH, Zhang ZJ. Black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetici illucens*) strengthen the metabolic function of food waste biodegradation by gut microbiome. Microb Biotechnol. 2019;12:528–43.
- Bruno D, Bonelli M, De Filippis F, Di Lelio I, Tettamanti G, Casartelli M, Ercolini D, Caccia S. The intestinal microbiota of *Hermetic illucens* lavae is affected by diet and shows a diverse composition in the different midgut regions. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2019;85:e01864–18.
- Wynants E, Frooninckx L, Crauwels S, Verreth C, De Smet J, Sandrock C, Wohlfahrt J, Van Schelt J, Depraetere S, Lievens B. Assessing the microbiota of black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*) reared on organic waste

streams on four different locations at laboratory and large scale. Microb Ecol. 2019;77:913–30.

- Zheng L, Crippen TL, Singh B, Tarone AM, Dowd S, Yu Z, Wood TK, Tomberlin JK. A survey of bacterial diversity from successive life stages of black soldier fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) by using 16S rDNA pyrosequencing. J Med Entomol. 2013;50:647–58.
- Emerson JB, Adams RI, Roman CMB, Brooks B, Coil DA, Dahlhausen K, Ganz HH, Hartmann EM, Hsu T, Justice NB, et al. Schrodinger's microbes: tools for distinguishing the living from the dead in microbial ecosystems. Microbiome. 2017;5:86.
- Cody R. Distribution of chitinase and chitobiase in *Bacillus*. Curr Microbiol. 1989;19:201–5.
- Askarian F, Zhou ZG, Olsen RE, Sperstad S, Ringo E. Culturable autochthonous gut bacteria in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L) fed diets with or without chitin. Characterization by 16S rRNA gene sequencing, ability to produce enzymes and in vitro growth inhibition of four fish pathogens. Aquaculture. 2012;326:1–8.
- Maynard CL, Elson CO, Hatton RD, Weaver CT. Reciprocal interactions of the intestinal microbiota and immune system. Nature. 2012;489:231–41.
- McLaren MR, Willis AD, Callahan BJ. Consistent and correctable bias in metagenomic sequencing experiments. Elife. 2019;8:e46923.
- Brooks JP, Edwards DJ, Harwich MD, Rivera MC, Fettweis JM, Serrano MG, Reris RA, Sheth NU, Huang B, Girerd P. The truth about metagenomics: quantifying and counteracting bias in 16S rRNA studies. BMC Microbiol. 2015;15:66.
- Sinha R, Abnet CC, White O, Knight R, Huttenhower C. The microbiome quality control project: baseline study design and future directions. Genome Biol. 2015;16:276.
- Costea PI, Zeller G, Sunagawa S, Pelletier E, Alberti A, Levenez F, Tramontano M, Driessen M, Hercog R, Jung F-E. Towards standards for human fecal sample processing in metagenomic studies. Nat Biotechnol. 2017;35:1069.
- Santiago A, Panda S, Mengels G, Martinez X, Azpiroz F, Dore J, Guarner F, Manichanh C. Processing faecal samples: a step forward for standards in microbial community analysis. BMC Microbiol. 2014;14:112.
- Lazarevic V, Gaia N, Girard M, Schrenzel J. Decontamination of 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequence datasets based on bacterial load assessment by qPCR. BMC Microbiol. 2016;16:73.
- Kim D, Hofstaedter CE, Zhao C, Mattei L, Tanes C, Clarke E, Lauder A, Sherrill-Mix S, Chehoud C, Kelsen J, et al. Optimizing methods and dodging pitfalls in microbiome research. Microbiome. 2017;5:52.
- Jousselin E, Clamens AL, Galan M, Bernard M, Maman S, Gschloessl B, Duport G, Meseguer AS, Calevro F. Coeur d'acier a: assessment of a 165 rRNA amplicon Illumina sequencing procedure for studying the microbiome of a symbiont-rich aphid genus. Mol Ecol Resour. 2016;16:628–40.
- Jost T, Lacroix C, Braegger C, Chassard C. Assessment of bacterial diversity in breast milk using culture-dependent and culture-independent approaches. Br J Nutr. 2013;110:1253–62.
- Jervis-Bardy J, Leong LEX, Marri S, Smith RJ, Choo JM, Smith-Vaughan HC, Nosworthy E, Morris PS, O'Leary S, Rogers GB, Marsh RL. Deriving accurate microbiota profiles from human samples with low bacterial content through post-sequencing processing of Illumina MiSeq data. Microbiome. 2015;3:19.
- Glassing A, Dowd SE, Galandiuk S, Davis B, Chiodini RJ. Inherent bacterial DNA contamination of extraction and sequencing reagents may affect interpretation of microbiota in low bacterial biomass samples. Gut Pathog. 2016;8:24.
- Davis NM, Proctor DM, Holmes SP, Relman DA, Callahan BJ. Simple statistical identification and removal of contaminant sequences in marker-gene and metagenomics data. Microbiome. 2018;6:226.
- Salter SJ, Cox MJ, Turek EM, Calus ST, Cookson WO, Moffatt MF, Turner P, Parkhill J, Loman NJ, Walker AW. Reagent and laboratory contamination can critically impact sequence-based microbiome analyses. BMC Biol. 2014;12:87.
- Kulakov LA, McAlister MB, Ogden KL, Larkin MJ, O'Hanlon JF. Analysis of bacteria contaminating ultrapure water in industrial systems. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2002;68:1548–55.
- 101. Grahn N, Olofsson M, Ellnebo-Svedlund K, Monstein HJ, Jonasson J. Identification of mixed bacterial DNA contamination in broad-range PCR amplification of 16S rDNA V1 and V3 variable regions by pyrosequencing of cloned amplicons. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2003;219:87–91.

- Cantas L, Fraser TWK, Fjelldal PG, Mayer I, Sorum H. The culturable intestinal microbiota of triploid and diploid juvenile Atlantic salmon (*salmo salar*) - a comparison of composition and drug resistance. BMC Vet Res. 2011;7:71.
- Navarrete P, Fuentes P, De la Fuente L, Barros L, Magne F, Opazo R, Ibacache C, Espejo R, Romero J. Short-term effects of dietary soybean meal and lactic acid bacteria on the intestinal morphology and microbiota of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquac Nutr. 2013;19827–36.
- Hatje E, Neuman C, Stevenson H, Bowman JP, Katouli M. Population dynamics of *Vibrio* and *Pseudomonas* species isolated from farmed Tasmanian Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L): a seasonal study. Microb Ecol. 2014/68679–87.
- He XP, Chaganti SR, Heath DD. Population-specific responses to interspecific competition in the gut microbiota of two Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) populations. Microb Ecol. 2018;75:140–51.
- Laurence M, Hatzis C, Brash DE. Common contaminants in next-generation sequencing that hinder discovery of low-abundance microbes. PLoS One. 2014;9:e97876.
- 107. Lauder AP, Roche AM, Sherrill-Mix S, Bailey A, Laughlin AL, Bittinger K, Leite R, Elovitz MA, Parry S, Bushman FD. Comparison of placenta samples with contamination controls does not provide evidence for a distinct placenta microbiota. Microbiome. 2016;4:29.
- Barton HA, Taylor NM, Lubbers BR, Pemberton AC. DNA extraction from low-biomass carbonate rock: an improved method with reduced contamination and the low-biomass contaminant database. J Microbiol Methods. 2006;66:21–31.
- Weyrich LS, Farrer AG, Eisenhofer R, Arriola LA, Young J, Selway CA, Handsley-Davis M, Adler CJ, Breen J, Cooper A. Laboratory contamination over time during low-biomass sample analysis. Mol Ecol Resour. 2019;19:982–96.
- Tanner MA, Goebel BM, Dojka MA, Pace NR. Specific ribosomal DNA sequences from diverse environmental settings correlate with experimental contaminants. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1998;64:3110–3.
- Eisenhofer R, Minich JJ, Marotz C, Cooper A, Knight R, Weyrich LS. Contamination in low microbial biomass microbiome studies: issues and recommendations. Trends Microbiol. 2019;27:105–17.
- de Goffau MC, Lager S, Salter SJ, Wagner J, Kronbichler A, Charnock-Jones DS, Peacock SJ, Smith GCS, Parkhill J. Recognizing the reagent microbiome. Nat Microbiol. 2018;3:851–3.
- Roeselers G, Mittge EK, Stephens WZ, Parichy DM, Cavanaugh CM, Guillemin K, Rawls JF. Evidence for a core gut microbiota in the zebrafish. ISME J. 2011;5:1595–608.
- 114. Vandeputte D, Kathagen G, D'Hoe K, Vieira-Silva S, Valles-Colomer M, Sabino J, Wang J, Tito RY, De Commer L, Darzi Y, et al. Quantitative microbiome profiling links gut community variation to microbial load. Nature. 2017;551: 507–11.
- Ramseier CA, Kinney JS, Herr AE, Braun T, Sugai JV, Shelburne CA, Rayburn LA, Tran HM, Singh AK, Giannobile WV. Identification of pathogen and hostresponse markers correlated with periodontal disease. J Periodontol. 2009; 80:436–46.
- Rasmussen R: Quantification on the LightCycler. In Rapid cycle real-time PCR. Springer; 2001: 21–34.
- Hellemans J, Mortier G, De Paepe A, Speleman F, Vandesompele J. qBase relative quantification framework and software for management and automated analysis of real-time quantitative PCR data. Genome Biol. 2007;8: R19.
- Illumina I: 16S Metagenomic sequencing library preparation. Preparing 16S Ribosomal RNA Gene Amplicons for the Illumina MiSeq System 2013:1–28.
- 119. R Core Team: R: A language and environment for statistical computing. 2013.
- Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Rosen MJ, Han AW, Johnson AJA, Holmes SP. DADA2: high-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat Methods. 2016;13:581–3.
- 121. Bolyen E, Rideout JR, Dillon MR, Bokulich NA, Abnet CC, Al-Ghalith GA, Alexander H, Alm EJ, Arumugam M, Asnicar F, et al. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. Nat Biotechnol. 2019;37:852–7.
- Bokulich NA, Kaehler BD, Rideout JR, Dillon M, Bolyen E, Knight R, Huttley GA, Caporaso JG. Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with QIIME 2's q2-feature-classifier plugin. Microbiome. 2018;6:90.

- Quast C, Pruesse E, Yilmaz P, Gerken J, Schweer T, Yarza P, Peplies J, Glockner FO. The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. Nucleic Acids Res. 2013;41:D590–6.
- Janssen S, McDonald D, Gonzalez A, Navas-Molina JA, Jiang L, Xu ZZ, Winker K, Kado DM, Orwoll E, Manary M. Phylogenetic placement of exact amplicon sequences improves associations with clinical information. mSystems. 2018; 3:e00021–18.
- 125. Bisanz JE. qiime2R: Importing QIIME2 artifacts and associated data into R sessions; 2019.
- McMurdie PJ, Holmes S. phyloseq: an R package for reproducible interactive analysis and graphics of microbiome census data; 2013.
- 127. Lahti L, Shetty S, Blake T, Salojarvi J. Microbiome r package. Tools Microbiome Anal R. 2017.
- Kembel SW, Cowan PD, Helmus MR, Cornwell WK, Morlon H, Ackerly DD, Blomberg SP, Webb CO. Picante: R tools for integrating phylogenies and ecology. Bioinformatics. 2010;26:1463–4.
- 129. Weiss S, Xu ZZ, Peddada S, Amir A, Bittinger K, Gonzalez A, Lozupone C, Zaneveld JR, Väzquez-Baeza Y, Birmingham A. Normalization and microbial differential abundance strategies depend upon data characteristics. Microbiome. 2017;5:27.
- Martino C, Morton JT, Marotz CA, Thompson LR, Tripathi A, Knight R, Zengler K. A novel sparse compositional technique reveals microbial perturbations. mSystems. 2019;4:e00016–9.
- Silverman JD, Washburne AD, Mukherjee S, David LA. A phylogenetic transform enhances analysis of compositional microbiota data. Elife. 2017;6: e21887.
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. J Stat Softw. 2015;67:1–48.
- Goode K, Rey K: ggResidpanel: panels and interactive versions of diagnostic plots using 'ggplot2'. 2019.
- Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RHB: ImerTest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. J Stat Softw 2017, 82.
- 135. Lenth R. emmeans: estimated marginal means, aka least-squares means; 2019.
- Anderson MJ. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral Ecol. 2001;26:32–46.
- 137. Anderson MJ. Distance-based tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions. Biometrics. 2006;62:245–53.
- Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Friendly M, Kindt R, Legendre P, McGlinn D, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, Simpson GL, Solymos P, et al: vegan: community ecology package. 2019.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- · rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- · gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



ISBN: 978-82-575-1851-6 ISSN: 1894-6402



Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås, Norway +47 67 23 00 00 www.nmbu.no